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Affair

The dramatic story of one of the great
failures of British policy in the twentieth
century—revealed here for the first time

DAVIDWALDER



The “Chanak Crisis” in the years of
peace and “normalcy” following World
War 1 destroyed Lloyd George, threw
Winston Churchill out of Parliament
and brought Britain to the brink of
war with a strong and newly unified
Turkey. Now tor the first time British
historian David Walder reveals the secrets
of the most serious British crisis in
the Middle East prior to Suez.

In 1922 Britain was faced with the
prospect of waging war with a handful
of troops against the entire Turkish
army. This confrontation, centering
around the insignificant little seaport
of Chanak, was the culmination of a
series of disastrous diplomatic decisions
made by the same British statesmen
who had designed the strategy of the
First World War.

In 1919, Lioyd George had given the
Greeks a large part of defeated Turkey
as a reward for joining the Allies.
Three years later the Greeks were in a
state of ruin. Their king was dead of a
monkey bite, the Turks, under Kemal
Ataturk, had swept the Greek army into
the sea, and only hopeless refugees
and tiny Allied garrisons at Constanti-
nople and. Chanak stood between the
Turks and the final destruction of
Greek integrity.

The other partners of the Grand
Alliance made their peace with the
Turks—the French and Italians made
secret agreements, and Canada and
Australia disassociated themselves from
Britain. London nevertheless gave orders
to. open fire and then sat back to see
what would happen. The result would
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Prelude

& “Who is to have Constantinople?’
Napoleon

September 1922.
The autumn of the first real year of peace after the
Great War.

In the United States President Harding had coined the T

.~ word ‘normalcy’, and it mirrored accurately what most
people were seeking. In Britain war memorials were still
being unveiled by the Royal Family and distinguished
admirals and generals but unofficial Britain was trying to
forget the war. The song of the moment on both sides of the

4 Atlantic was ‘Ain’t we had fun’. It was more of a wish
than a statement. '
Still, in thousands of homes, pride of place was given to

the photograph of the uniformed son, husband or brother
who would not return; but now after four years, although .

the photograph was always dusted with a bit of extra care,

the memories were fading. The British were beginning to
feel that at last they were at peace. Not that peace had
produced any of the results promised during the course of
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the war by the politicians. Lloyd George, he was still Prime
Minister, had promised ‘a land fit for heroes to live in’,
but it had not come to pass. There were still over a million
unemployed, and whether in stagnant industry or depressed
agriculture many men counted themselves lucky to have a
job at all.

Abroad, too, the era of peace and plenty scheduled to
follow ‘the war to end wars’ had somehow failed to mater-
ialise. The Germans and the French were uneasy, there was
fighting on the Polish border and in Russia a civil war still
raged. Since early 1919, too, Greeks and Turks had been
killing each other on the dusty plains of Anatolia.

Yet 1922 had a different look from the years immediately
after the war. The moustaches that so many had grown in
the trenches were being shaved off. At the Universities of
Oxford and Cambridge the serious young men in dyed
army greatcoats had disappeared, to be replaced by a new
generation with longer hair and consciously aesthetic
manners. In London at the end of February the wedding of
King George’s only daughter Mary, the Princess Royal, to
Viscount Lascelles had given society an opportunity to
appear again in all its pre-war finery. Winston Churchill
had been there, dressed in his uniform of an Elder Brother
of Trinity House. With a dozen campaign medals, gold
epaulettes, a cocked hat and a naval sword he looked more
like an admiral than a civilian Cabinet Minister. There was
a mood of escapism about, although that particular word
had not yet been invented. In the London theatre that year
there were some revivals but nearly all the new plays were
light comedy. Only one serious play made any mark:
Loyalties, by the established John Galsworthy. The Last
Waltz, with music by Oscar Straus, and Lilac Time, which
used Schubert’s frothier melodies, were both performing
to packed houses. At the ‘picture theatres’ Nanook, ‘the life
of an Eskimo ’mid Eternal Snow’, was the great draw, and
there was a newsreel of the Prince of Wales on his official
visit to Japan. It was the year when the British Broadcasting
Company was formed and those with £5 for a ‘wireless
receiving set’ could enjoy a new form of entertainment.

2
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Jack Hobbs scored his hundredth century.

/ Suddenly the headlines in all the newspapers announced

// the imminence of war. War with Turkey. For those who
read them in Britain in that autumn of 1922 the crisis
seemed to have blown up, incomprehensibly, overnight.
Photographs appeared again of khaki-clad troops weighed
down with Field Service Marching Order, the familiar
F.5.M.0. to thousands in the war, embarking for active
service. Regiments were being inspected by royal personages
and marching to the stations, there to be waved away by
wives, children and sweethearts. To many it seemed like
1914 again. The Guards had left Windsor, the Rifle Brigade
had left Winchester. Battalions of infantry and batteries of
artillery were being shipped from Egypt and Malta. The
Mediterranean Fleet with reinforcements from the Atlantic
was steaming eastwards.

To fight the Turks. The veterans of Gallipoli, Meso-

v potamia and Palestine shook their heads. They knew the
Turkish soldier as a stubborn, doughty fighter and one for
whom they had developed a kind of affection. ‘Johnny , —
Turk’ was not a bad chap in their view. It had been a pity
that his country had been dragged into the last war, and
now apparently the British were going to fight him again, at
a little town called Chanak, which one had never heard of
a week ago. The more thoughtful attributed the situation
to the aftermath of the war and the wrangling that had gone
on over the peace treaties. In the immediate sense they , -
were right but the British have traditionally short memories
so far as their own history is concerned. In fact the crisis
had a longer ancestry.

For two nations, both with much longer memories, the
recent battles in Anatolia had been but the continuation
of a conflict which seemed to have its roots almost as much
in legend as history. For the Greeks it was 500 years old.
Still, to the superstitious among them, Tuesday was a day t
of ill omen, in memory of that Tuesday, May 29th, 1453, f
when Constantinople, capital of the Byzantine Empire, fell |
at last to the conquering hordes of the Sultan Mehmed II.
The Turks could point to the year 1683, when the army
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of another Sultan had been driven back from the walls of
Vienna by John Sobieski, King of Poland. A defeat which
signalised the beginning of the slow decline of Turkish
power in Europe, a process which had taken over two
hundred years. Even the Turkey which had entered the
war in 1914 had been a considerable empire, the Ottoman
Sultan ruling, as well as the Turkish homeland, Syria,
Mesopotamia, Lebanon, Jordan, Palestine and part of
Saudi Arabia, and having a nominal suzerainty over
Egypt as well. A hundred years before, at the conclusion of
the Napoleonic wars, the Ottoman Empire had stretched
from the Polish border to the valley of the Euphrates and
had included the North African coastal lands and, in
Europe, the whole of modern Greece, Bulgaria, Yugoslavia,
Romania and Albania. In 1922 men in their seventies of
all these nations had been born subjects of the Sultan,
ruling his vast multi-racial conglomeration from Constanti-
nople. Even the present Prime Minister of Greece, M.

* Veniselos, born in Crete in 1864, had started life not as a

! Greek but as a Turkish subject.

The history of Eastern Europe in the nineteenth century
had been, simply, the waning of Turkish power in all these
territories and the consequent creation of a number of
independent nationstates. The manner, however, in which the
Balkans had achieved their independence had been far from
simple. The removal of the Turks left as many if not more
problems in their wake than had been generated by their
presence. The filling of the vacuum by over a dozen rival
races of diverse tongues and religions had finally made the
very adjective ‘Balkan’ synonymous with double-dealing,
conspiracy and violence. It would be unfair, however, to

. lay the blame entirely on the native peoples. Turkish rule,

| fantastically incompetent and unbelievably oppressive by

turns, had over the centuries done little to improve the
character of its subjects. Massacre or indifference, there had
seemed to be no middle course, had not bred ready-made
nations of democrats ripe for responsibility once the Turkish
flag was lowered. Unfortunately, too, for the peoples of the
Balkans, their struggles for independence were never a
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matter entirely for themselves. For the core of the Ottoman
Empire was Constantinople, on the most strategic waterway
in the world, the Bosphorus, the Sea of Marmora and the
Dardanelles, linking the Black Sea and the Mediterranean.
Every move in the power complex in this sensitive area was
in consequence of immediate concern to the Great Powers:
the Russian and Austrian empires, France, Britain, and
later the German Empire. The Balkan nations and Turkey
herself became mere puppets but occasionally took revenge
on their masters. From 1821 to 1922 crises in the Balkans
twice involved the Great Powers in war and on countless
other occasions brought them to its brink.

This whole mass of complicated actions, motives and issues,
statesmen, diplomats and historians almost despairingly
labelled ‘the Eastern Question’.

The Greeks were the first to seek their independence.
In 1821 they took up arms against their Turkish overlords.
Curiously enough with little immediate reason, for among
the Christian subjects of the Sultan they occupied almost

" a privileged position. The Turks recognised religious but

not racial divisions in their empire, and though certain
posts and professions were barred to non-Moslems, within
those limits many Greeks of the Phanariot or official class
had gained both power and wealth under the Crescent.
All, of course, was subject—life, land and property—to the
whim and caprice of the Sultan, who was truly absolute and
irresponsible. The Greeks, perhaps because of their religious
unity, perhaps because of their very power and prosperity,
bore this yoke less willingly than the other subject races.
The first revolutionary outbreak in the Peloponnese swiftly

! developed into a full-scale war of independence. Officially

the Great Powers, still recovering from the French and
Napoleon, were against revolutions. A mixture of self-
interest and sentiment, however, drove them towards
interference. Russia savoured the delightful combinatien of
concern for fellow members of the Orthodox Church and
the possibility of establishing in Greece a satellite state
carved out of the territory of Turkey, her rival in the Black
Sea. Britain and France were both concerned with their

T.C.A—B 5



maritime and commercial interests in the eastern Mediter-
ranean, while at the same time yielding to the pull of the
classical association, of people called Greeks fighting for
liberty. Only the Austrian Empire under its Chancellor,
Metternich, with its own quota of subject nationalities and
its trade from the Danube carried in Turkish ships, could
remain aloof.

Unofficially, in Europe, sentiment was overwhelmingly
on the side of the Greeks. For the literate and romantic
there were the words of Schiller, Hugo, Pushkin, Byron and
Shelley. For the religious the sense of kinship with fellow
Christians fighting the infidel. Admittedly the language of
Homer was as incomprehensible to a Morean peasant as

: Mandarin Chinese, and the conduct of the Greeks and their
' belligerent priests was indistinguishable from that of the
i Turks; nevertheless money poured into the funds of the
- Philhellenic societies and volunteers sped to Greece. From

France, unemployed veterans of Napoleon’s army; from
Britain, Admiral Lord Cochrane to command the Greek
navy and General Sir Richard Church to attempt to
command the land forces. In April 1822 George Jarvis of
New York, the first volunteer from the United States,
celebrated Easter in Corinth. He was to be wounded and see
much action and eventually rise to the rank of general,
leaving behind him a journal which reveals his feelings, of
alternating admiration and exasperation, for the Greeks he
led. In January 1824 there arrived, wearing an Achilles
helmet of his own design, the most famous volunteer of all,
Lord Byron, whose death at Missolonghi crystallised the
romantic view of the Greek cause.

It was not, however, this mixed crowd of adventurers
and idealists, outcasts and eccentrics which struck the
final blow for Greek freedom but three admirals, British,
French and Russian. George Canning, British Foreign
Secretary and then Prime Minister, had welded the three
nations into an uneasy alliance. In 1825 the Sultan, losing
to the Greeks, reluctantly sought the aid of his powerful
vassal, Mehemet Ali, ruler of Egypt. Mehemet, not without
ambitions of his own in Greece, sent his son, Ibrahim
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Pasha, with a fleet of sixty ships and an army of 16,000 men
to subdue the rebels. The rumour spread through Europe
that Ibrahim intended to clear the whole of the Peloponnese
of its native inhabitants and re-populate with Egyptian
Arabs and Sudanese from his father’s domains.

Britain, Russia and France determined to impose an
armistice upon the belligerents. On October 20th, 1827,
Vice-Admiral Sir Edward Codrington in H.M.S. Asia
sailed into the Bay of Navarino where the Egyptian fleet
was anchored. Behind him, Admiral Heiden and Admiral
de Rigny led the Russian and French squadrons respectively.
Ibrahim Pasha was ashore, encouraging his troops to further
slaughter of the Greeks. Muharrem Bey, his naval comman-

der, was a proud and obstinate man. An explosive situation |

exploded. The multi-coloured flags fluttered from the
signal-yards of the Asia, ‘prepare for action’. In a few hours
the most formidable obstacle to Greek independence was |
reduced by gun-fire to a few burning hulks, some spars and
driftwood, and a large number of corpses floating in Navarino
Bay.

Soon after the battle the Allies disagreed. Canning was

v
/

dead and with him his skill. The Duke of Wellington, now :

Prime Minister, fearful of Turkey’s total collapse, back- ;

pedalled so furiously that Greeks and Turks, French and |
Russians all believed he must be playing some deep double
game. Russian armies threatened Constantinople and a
French army cleared Greece of Ibrahim’s Egyptians.
Finally, despite the wvolte-face of the British government,
in 1832 the Greeks did achieve their independence as a
constitutional monarchy, with Otto, second son of the
philhellene King of Bavaria, as their first king. The guaran-
tors of the new kingdom were Britain, Russia and France.
When Admiral Codrington died in 1851 the Greek
Deputies decreed that his name, surmounted by a wreath of
laurels, should be carved on a tablet in the Assembly
Chamber. By his own countrymen he deserves to be better
remembered, for his actions gave them a not untypical
introduction to the problems that were to come.

* * *



In the 1830’s and 40’s the British had more trouble
with Mehemet Ali, whose ambition overreached itself when
he tried to extend his empire from Egypt both eastwards and
westwards. Twice more, as he ruefully observed, he was
to be thwarted in his aims by a British fleet, acting this
time in support of the Sultan. It was in the 1850’s, however,
that Britain fought her only European war until 1g14. In
the Crimea, against the Russians, with the French and the
Turks as allies.

The causes werefootling, the conduct of the war deplorable;
yet, certainly in its early stages, it was the most popular war
the British ever fought. The Prime Minister, Lord Aberdeen,
and Albert, Prince Consort, who were opposed to it, were
vilified in both right and left wing press in terms which no
modern journalist could hope to get past his sub-editor.
At one time there was a hopeful rumour that Albert had
been confined to the Tower as a traitor.

The cause of all this passion, surprising to those who
think of the Victorians as staid and quiet, was that Britain
had found a new enemy—the Tsar of Russia. Nicholas I,
‘the Autocrat’, the ‘Cossack Tsar’ of the British press,
oppressor of the Poles, subjugator of the Hungarians, had
plans to divide up the decaying Ottoman Empire. On at
least three occasions the Tsar used his picturesque similes

L ’ about the Turks, ‘the sick man of Europe’, ‘the dying bear’,

i to persuade British ambassadors or cabinet ministers that

: Britain might take Egypt and Cyprus or Crete while
. Russia would ‘protect’ Bulgaria and Serbia and the princi-
! palities of Moldavia and Wallachia (now modern Romania).
Unfortunately the more Nicholas expounded his schemes
the more frightened British officialdom became, for the
same reasons as Wellington had recoiled from the victorious

1 Greeks. Britain could not afford to allow the Ottoman

Empire to collapse because Turkey sat astride the spinal
column which linked Britain with her proudest possession,
her Indian Empire.

Better a thousand times the corrupt incompetent Otto-
mans than the powerful Russians, the volatile Greeks, or
some Slav nation controlled from St. Petersburg. The
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mutterings about Russian imperialism grew in the corridors
of the Foreign Office and the British Embassy in Constanti-
nople. The Black Sea would become ‘a Russian lake’, the
Russian fleet would rival the British in the Mediterranean,
the Tsar, master of a million men, would cut Britain’s land
communications with India. So Turkey had to be bolstered
up against Russia. At the same time a dispute between
Orthodox and Catholic clerics over the custody of the Holy
Places in Jerusalem, in Turkish territory, became a matter
of prestige between the two protecting Powers, Russia and
France. In Paris there was what Alexander Kinglake, the
historian, called ‘a small knot of middle-aged men who were
pushing their fortunes’. Their leader was the new Emperor
Napoleon III, anxious to appear publicly patriotic, Catholic
and respectable. So the second Bonaparte to rule France
opposed himself to Russia and became the ally of Britain.
At the last moment dlplomacy failed to avert a war. Britain
had as Ambassador in Constantinople, Stratford de Red-
cliffe, of immense prestige and admired by the Turks. The
Russmns sent Prince Menshikov, a blunt, short-tempered
soldier. In the cifcumstances the Turks found it easy to
reject Russian demands, confident of British help.

Soon the Russians had occupied Moldavia and Wallachia,
notionally to extract terms for the welfare of the Sultan’s
Christian subjects. Turks and Russians fired on each other.
In November 1854 Admiral Nakimov, commanding the
Russian Black Sea Squadron, sank a complete Turkish
fleet in the Bay of Sinope on the southern coast of the Black
Sea. As Turks and Russians were already fighting on land
it was a perfectly Justlﬁable act of war. The British, however,

called it ‘a massacre’. Queen Victoria, a good barometer of
her subjects’ feelings, wrote of ‘the selfishness and ambition
of one man [the Tsar] and his servants’.

In March 1855 the British and French demanded the
evacuation of Moldavia and Wallachia; on the 277th France
declared war and on the 28th Britain followed suit. Soon
the Queen, with Albert and the children, was waving
farewell from the Buckingham Palace balcony to her
guardsmen in scarlet and bearskins en route for the East. The
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mood was still one of high optimism. The British had got
their war with Browning’s ‘icy Muscovite’, and the cheers
of the London crowd literally drowned the band of the
Scots Fusilier Guards as it led the regiment to Waterloo
Station. '
Two years later there were 21,000 British dead in the
Crimea. Lord Raglan, the army commander, had died, of
a broken heart, it was said. Lords Lucan and Cardigan, a

_pair of aristocratic, military ‘ianiacs, had between them

perpetrated the military disaster known as the Charge of
the Light Brigade. A large fleet had been taken off to the
Baltic by Admiral Sir Charles Napier, who in better days
had coerced Mehemet Ali, and had achieved nothing. At the
battles of the Alma, Balaclava and Inkerman and the siege
of Sebastopol, the courage of the British private soldier
and regimental officer had just saved their elderly, incom-
petent commanders from defeat. The Tsar had died and
in Britain the government had fallen. Queen Victoria was

much concerned, the Turks had generally run away, the

+ French were weary. Only two people, Florence Nightingale
} and William Howard Russell, Tke Témes war correspondent,
! had made enviable reputations and they had fought not the
. enemy but fools and worse among their fellow countrymen.

Peace was signed in Paris in 1856 and Napoleon III
had his brief moment of glory as host and victor. For
fourteen years Russian naval and military power was
excluded from the Black Sea. The Sultan gave bland
assurances as to the future welfare of his Christian subjects.
Moldavia and Wallachia combined to become the semi-
attonomous state of Romania. Of the custody of the Holy

“Places in Jerusalem, officially the cause of the war, there

was no mention whatsoever. The British, who had been
forced by their losses to recruit a foreign legion of German
volunteers, consoled themselves with the distribution of the
newly instituted Victoria Cross and an orgy of street naming.

In London alone there are fifteen Almas, a Balaclava,
an Inkerman, a Sebastopol, seven Raglans, seven Cardigans,
a Lucan, a Napoleon and, with justice, nineteen Nightin-
gales.
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By contrast, there are only fourteen Waterloos, and
Waterloo was a great victory.

* * *

The private of the Royal Fusiliers who, on his way to
the Crimea, had described the preservation of the Ottoman
Empire as ‘a rotten cause’ would, twenty years later, have
had no reason to revise his opinion. Turkish promises of
reform remained what they had always been, mere paper
words to pacify allies in the West. The condition of the
Christian subjects of the Sublime Porte! did not change and
whether Russian statemen wished it or no Bulgars, Serbs,
Slovaks, Croats and Montenegrins looked to Russia, the
most powerful Slav state in the world, as their protector and
potential liberator.

Romania was virtually autonomous, Serbs and Montene-
grins had never really been subdued, but only Greece
could call herself an independent state. Perhaps because they
were seafarers, perhaps because they were neither satellites
of Austria nor Russia, the Greeks alone enjoyed the interest
of Britain. Originally they had taken Otto as king ‘so that
all division and rivalry for preference should cease among
us’, but Otto had not been a success. The harshly bureau-
cratic rule of his Bavarian advisers grated upon his subjects.
In 1843, as a result of a totally bloodless revolution, he had
bound himself to choose his ministers only from Greeks.
During the Crimean War in a foolish venture he had attemp-
ted to regain the regard of his subjects by invading Thessaly
and the Epirus. He had been saved from his own mistake by
Britain and France, at the time the allies of Turkey. In
1863, with few regrets and without violence, Otto left his
troublesome kingdom for ever. The Greeks were again in the
market for a king. They organised a plebiscite and voted
overwhelmingly for Prince Alfred, Duke of Edinburgh,

1 The Sublime Porte. Originally the gateway to the palace where the
Sultan or his Grand Vizier conducted official business. The metonymy
became official and the expression came to mean either the Ottoman
government itself or the empire. Frequently abbreviated to ‘the Porte’.
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Victoria’s second son, and had begun to celebrate his
victory when they were informed by Britain, France and
Russia that Alfred, as a British prince, was, by the 1832
convention between the three guarantors, inelegible. The
. angry mob stormed the British legation in Athens, but

finally Prince William George of Glucksberg, the second
son of Prince Christian of Denmark, accepted the throne.
With the Prince, whose sister was engaged to Edward,
Prince of Wales, the British threw in the Ionian isles as a
makeweight. Thus in 1863 an eighteen-year-old Danish
* prince, later to be the brother-in-law of Edward VII and
the Tsar Alexander III, assumed the style of ‘George I,
King of the Hellenes’, thereby aceepting, with his title,
“his subjects’ ambitions with regard to all those Greeks not
yet included in the Greek kingdom.

In 1868 George’s first son was born and named, by
popular demand, Constantine, after the first Byzantine
Emperor. Christened into the Orthodox faith, he became
Prince of Sparta and the Diadoch (successor) and was
Greece’s first native-born prince. His father had rapidly
made himself a model constitutional monarch and Con-
stantine’s future seemed assured. Greece was not, it was true,
a settled nation; her politicians still entertained ambitions
with regard to ‘the unredeemed Greeks’, those of their
co-nationals under foreign rule. They formed sizable
minorities throughout the Balkans and in Turkey itself.
They dominated the trading population of Constantinople,
and in Asia Minor the port of Smyrna was practically a
Greek town. Greek-populated islands were also in the
possession of the Turks, notably Crete and Cyprus. Never-
theless in the 1860’s and 70’s Greece stood out among the
Balkan countries as being both relatively stable and free
from interference by the Great Powers.

An uneasy quiet hung over the rest of the Balkans ruled
by the Turks until 1875, when by a process of sympathetic
combustion Bosnians, Serbs, Montenegrins and finally
Bulgars in turn took up arms in revolt. Against the Bulgars
the Turks moved with unaccustomed haste and more than
usual savagery. Over sixty villages were razed to the ground

12



—

by ‘irregulars’ and over 12,000 men, women and children
were butchered. As news of the ‘Bulgarian atrocities’
filtered through the consulates to their home governments
the Great Powers braced themselves for another Near
Eastern crisis.

The Crimean alignments had shifted and changed and
there was an important addition to the ranks of the great,
Bismarck’s five-year-old German Empire. France had been
defeated by Germany and was now again a republic. The
Austrian Empire had also gone down in battle and in
consequence was forced to make terms with her most
powerful minority, the Hungarians. Henceforth the Habs-
burg domains were Austro-Hungarian, the Dual Empire,
and her ambitions Balkan rather than German. Bismarck
had then created his Dreikaiserbund, his league of the three
emperors, German, Austro-Hungarian and Russian, and
hoped thereby to contain the ambitions of all three. In his
view ‘the Eastern Question was not worth the bones of a
Pomeranian grenadier’, but its complications were to defeat
him in the end.

The reports from Bulgaria sent a wave of pan-Slav
sentiment sweeping through Russia. Prayers for a Serbian
victory were said in the churches, large sums of money
were collected for the rebels, and volunteers, like Vronsky
in Anna Karenina, left to aid the Serbian cause. In the most
despotically ruled state in Europe its absolute ruler, the
Tsar, had to bow to public opinion. As before, diplomacy
was tried first and the Dreikaiserbund demanded of the
Turks independence for Bosnia and Herzegovina and a
minimum of rights for the Ottoman Christians. Disraeli,
the British Prime Minister, not greatly concerned wi
‘Bulgarian horrors’ and obsessed with Turkey’s relationship
to India, refused to add his weight to the protest. Queen
Victoria wrote: ‘[The Queen] fears our refusal to join the
other countries may have a serious effect and may encourage
the Porte to refuse to listen to advice and to look to us for
support in their difficulties.” The Queen, who did not often
disagree with Disraeli, was right and her Prime Minister
was wrong.

13



The Turks murdered one Sultan, deposed his subnormal
successor, and produced within a year Abdul Hamid, who
promised to rule according to a constitution and with the
advice of a parliament. He was also determined to defeat
the Serbs. When Turkish troops were within marching
distance of Belgrade the Russians intervened and, using the
mobilisation of six army corps as an argument, imposed an
armistice. A conference in Constantinople failed because
Britain was still lukewarm and Austria-Hungary feared
Russian ambitions. Once more Russia was on her own and
within weeks was again at war with Turkey. Russian troops
by agreement moved through Romania, so Turkey declared
war on Romania as well. The Russians were by no means as
successful as had been expected, but by January 1878 they
had captured Sofia_and Adrianople. In Britain public
opinion was divided between the opposing camps of Glad-

stone, violently anti-Turk, and Disraeli, the ever-sensitive

Imperialist, but Disraeli was Prime Minister. It looked as
if the Russians were about to occupy Constantinople. The
Mediterranean Squadron sailed into the Sea of Marmora.
The Russians reached San Stefano, eight miles from Con-
stantinople, and there signed an armistice. The British
ships moved to within sight of Constantinople, preparations
were made to mount an expeditionary force, reserves were

. recalled and troops moved from India to Malta. Again

>

the British Empire was coming to the rescue of the
Turks.

The Russians yielded reluctantly and the terms of their
armistice were submitted to a European conference to
meet in Berlin. The Congress of Berlin was Disraeli’s swan
song. ‘The old Jew, that is the man,’ said Bismarck, who
presided. Under pressure from Britain” and, to their fury,
their allies Germany and Austria-Hungary, the Russians gave
up the ‘big Bulgaria’ they had hoped to create as a satellite,
allowed Austria-Hungary to ‘protect’ Bosnia and Herze-
govina and saw Disraeli rewarded by the Turks with Cyprus.
The British Prime Minister, having confided to the Crown
Princess of Prussia that he didn’t think the settlement would
last seven years, returned home to announce ‘Peace with
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Honour’, and received the Order of the Garter from a now
reconciled Victoria,

* * *

The Congress of Berlin was the end of an era and the

settlement in the long run disastrous.
y The three emperors’ league was broken up and henceforth
Austria-Hungary and Russia were to be rivals in the Balkans.
/ Bulgaria, divided, was to unite, and to prove, after a number
of vicissitudes, unwilling to be a Russian dependency.
Abdul Hamid was to show himself to be the worst tyrant
even in Turkish history, and became ‘Abdul the Damned’,
¢ ‘the Red Sultan’ and, in Anatole France’s atrocious pun,
‘Le Grand Saigneur’. Britain, involved in Egypt, was to
make Alexandria her naval base in the eastern Mediterranean
and not need Cyprus, which was to become a severe irritant
in the twentieth century.

Overall, after Disraeli’s death in 1881, Britain lost
interest in both Turkey and the Balkans. The Suez Canal,
although curiously Disraeli had not seemed to realise it,
‘made Turkey unimportant as the guardian of the route to

~TIndia. The British occupation of Egypt, technically a
““Turkish possession, destroyed the image of disinterested
friend. For thirteen of the remaining twenty years of the
century the Prime Minister was Gladstone, whose detestation
of the Turk and all his works was only equalled by the
feelings entertained at Constantinople for Mr. Gladstone.
He was passionately concerned with the oppressed Christians
in the Ottoman Empire, but ironically Gladstone, the
| anti-imperialist, was to have his hands full with Egypt,
/| South Africa, Afghanistan and Ireland. The cause of the
Balkan Christians, however worthy, had to be neglected.
[ In the mind of Lord Salisbury, Gladstone’s Tory rival,
there lingered no feeling of regard for the Sultan as Sultan
or even as Caliph, spiritual head of the Moslem faith. Of
Disraeli’s championship of the Turks he admitted, “We
put our money on the wrong horse.’
In the Balkans, during the last twenty years of the nine-
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teenth century, there were three springs of action: the
rivalry of two Great Powers, Russia and Austria-Hungary,
the activities of the Balkan nations, and those of Turkey
itself. This was the period during which Bismarck’s carefully
preserved pattern of alliances shifted and re-formed.
Austria-Hungary and Germany came closer together as
partners and took in Italy as a half-hearted third. Russia,
on her own, eventually came to an understanding with the
other outcast, France. Britain stayed aloof for the moment.
Bulgaria, Romania, Serbia and Montenegro went through
their own internal troubles and tended to reproduce in
microcosm the groupings of the larger Powers. Greece, secure
in British friendship, by contrast enjoyed the most peaceful
period of her existence. In the Ottoman Empire Abdul
Hamid, cruel, calculating and cowardly, took advantage
! of European dissension to go his own way. Reactionary
{ forces were encouraged; Westernisation was only toler-
~ated "in the army and the police so that they could be
“more efficient as instruments of repression. No power in
Europe was prepared to risk a war with her rivals to put
Turkey’s internal affairs to rights, so the Armenian
Christians were massacred in their thousands without
redress. Germany and Austria-Hungary were indifferent.
Russia would not interfere, as she had Armenians within

——

her own borders and theré were enough internal problems

~already. France and Britain were suspicious of each other’s

“colonial ventures so would only make ineffective protests
and hope that one day the Ottoman Empire would dis-
integrate of its own accord.

Then in the new century the unbelievable happened
and there was a revolution in Turkey. In 1908 the hitherto
secret Committee of Union and Progress declared itself in
Macedonia, won over the army and prepared to march on
Constantinople. The movement drew its strength from young
army officers, one of them called Mustapha Kemal. Abdul
Hamid’s regime collapsed overnight, a constitution was
accepted and a parliament summoned. When, characteristi-
cally, the Sultan attempted to go back on his word he was

easily deposed and replaced by Mohammed V, a mere
16 T i




cypher in the hands of the revolutionaries. At first sight all } -~
was sweetness and light. Turks and Christians danced in the |
streets; even the surviving Armenians were given hope and
in Europe ‘the Young Turks’ were hailed as idealists and
liberators. Unfortunately, they were ncither. Their leaders,
Enver, Talaat and Djavid, were only determined that
"Turkey should be modernised in order to regain Rer former
‘power, Fervent nationalists, there was no consideration in
“their programme for the lot of non-Turks. The Bulgars,
Serbs and Greeks were further oppressed, more taxes were
imposed on the Albanians, and the Greeks in Crete were
given no hope of freedom. In less than two years the Young | ..
Turks proved that the force of nationalism, Turkish nationa-

lism, could be invoked to hold an empiﬂre_utoge"ther as well as

S

“destroy it Among the Balkan states the realisafion quickly
“grew that to free their minorities they would have to resort to
arms and for once agree among themselves. The Young
Turks succeeded where Abdul Hamid had failed and united
Greeks, Bulgars, Serbs and Romanians against them. The
architect of the Balkan League, formed of these states,
was Eleftherios Veniselos, first active in his native Crete,
now Prime Minister of Greece.

When Italy, provoked to imperial ambition by German
and French intentions in Morocco, declared war on Turkey
and sent an army into Libya, Veniselos decided that the =
time to strike the Turks had come. Greeks, Serbians and
Bulgarians attacked on all fronts. The Greeks took Salonika, ) v
the Serbs, Monastir and Macedonia; the Bulgarian army :
drove the Turks into the Chataldja lines, a stone’s throw
from Constantinople. Within six weeks European Turkey
had ceased to exist outside Constantinople.

In 1912 the London Conference assembled to redraw the
map of the Balkans, and by the creation of Albania managed
to appease Austrian demands on behalf of Bulgaria and i v
Russian demands on behalf of Serbia. While the Conference
was still sitting, Enver, killing the War Minister with his |
own hand, carried out a coup in Constantinople and re-
opened the war. Again the League was successful, but
dissent was growing among the victors. King George of
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Greece was assassinated in Salonika, where he had accom-
“panied his men to forestall the Bulgarians, who coveted
Constantinople as well but realised that the Russians would
deny them that prize. Resentment drove out reason and
the Bulgarians turned on their allies, only to be defeated by
Greeks and Serbs plus Romanians.

-~ The peace treaty signed in Bucharest recognised the
final military situation. The Bulgarians were cast down,
the Turks in the confusion had taken back some territory,
the Greeks were elated, and the Serbians were the most
powerful nation in the Balkans. The Great Powers regarded
these changes with apprehension. Austria-Hungary saw
Bulgaria, her favoured friend, humiliated, and Serbia,
patronised by Russia, raised up. Germany, who had been
wooing the Turks, covered her disappointment by making
the new Greek king, Constantine, now the Kaiser’s brother-

ii-law, a German field marshal. No one thought of the
“setilement as permanent. The soldiers in Vienna were
convinced that Serbia, now the focus of Slav ambitions in

Austrian-ruled Bosnia and Herzogovina; fust be cut down

~t5 sizé. The Germans were prepared to befriend the
friendless Turks for their own advantage. Behind the
Serbs stood their protector Russia, France’s ally, in turn
now allied to Britain.

On June 28th, 1914, Mr. Jones, the British Vice-Consul
in Sarajevo, the capital of Bosnia, sent a telegram to Sir
Edward Grey, the Foreign Secretary. ‘According to news
received here heir apparant and his consort assassinated
this morning by means of an explosive nature.’ Mr. Jones
was wrong. The Archduke Franz Ferdinand, heir to the
Austro-Hungarian Empire, had been killed not by a bomb
but by bullets from an automatic supplied to a Bosnian
youth by agents of the chief of Serbian military intelligence.

As Bismarck had prophesied, ‘some damned foolish thing
in the Balkans’ had sparked off a European war.
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“This damned system of alliances’
Gottlieb von fagow,
German Foreign Minister

The causes of the 1914-18 War have been rehearsed and
investigated too many times for another attempt. Sufficient
is it here to echo the complaint of Gottlieb von Jagow,
the German Foreign Minister, as he watched Europe
divide itselfin two in those fateful days of July. Conveniently
forgetting the part his own country had played in their
making, he laid the blame on ‘this damned system of '
alliances, which were the curse of modern times’. i
On July 28th Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia.
Russia, to lend support to her ally, began the slow ponderous
process by which the Tsar’s army was mobilised. The
Germans, honouring their alliance with the Dual Empire,
demanded that Russian mobilisation should cease. Russia
refused, both unwilling and unable to sacrifice a potential
advantage. Therefore on August 1st Germany declared war g
on Russia and two days later on Russia’s ally France. In
attacking France Germany invaded Belgium and so on
August 4th Great Britain, pledged to defend Belgian
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neutrality, declared war on Germany. On August 6th
Austria-Hungary declared war on Russia, and four days
Jater on France, and Britain completed the circle by de-
claring war on Austria-Hungary. On August 11th the
Austro-Hungarian army, leisurely to the last, when all the
major European powers were at war, began in earnest its
invasion of Serbia.

The “ifs’ and ‘buts’ of this incredible chain reaction have
been posed and analysed countless times. The chief partici-
pants, the princes, the statesmen, the generals and the
ambassadors, have all testified to the feelings of reluctance
with which they signed their orders, delivered their ulti-
matums and asked for their passports.

The crowds gathered in the various capitals and cheered
and sang their national anthems, but some were less enthusi-
astic. The Russian liberals had been hesitant, the German
Social Democrats reluctant. Two members of the British
Cabinet, Lord Morley and John Burns, had already re-
signed. David Lloyd George, then Chancellor of the Ex-
chequer, was in two minds to the last, and talked of the
German entry into Belgium as ‘only a little violation’.

Yet despite the reluctance and the doubts, within little
more than a month of an assassination in an obscure
Bosnian town British troops were in France, ready to
fight, as they sang ruefully, ‘all because of a bounding
Balkanite’.

Really the most fantastic feature was the speed and the
efficacy with which von Jagow’s system did work, and the
reason for that lay not in the wishes of the statesmen but
in the fears of the generals and the admirals who advised
them. The pressure for speed was exerted by them, armed
with their maps and charts, protractors, slide rules and
compasses. For each one of the belligerents had a war plan,
from the German, most exact and detailed, to the Russian,
slipshod, vague and unpractised. Whatever the worth of the
plan, each and all depended on the vital element of time
and time was important because every nation thought in
terms of a short war.

The Germans had to invade and conquer France as
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/ quickly as possible, so as to be ready to transfer their forces

to fight the slow-moving Russians. The whole of French
| military strategy was based upon an immediate invasion of
Germany. The Commander of the British Grand Fleet,
Admiral Jellicoe, expected action within days, perhaps hours,
of the expiry of the British ultimatum to Germany.

At much lower levels, too, quick conquests were thought
of as the essence of the coming war. An officer of the Russian
Imperial Guard worried about his “uniform for the cere-

“monial entry into Berlin. A German officer had named the

“Yestaurant for his first dinner in Paris. French reservists
marching to the railway stations echoed the shouts of the
crowds, ‘@ Berlin’, All ranks in all armies agreed with the
Kaiser’s prophecy to one of his departing regiments: “You
'will be home before the leaves fall from the trees.’
—Only i England did anyone raise a dissident voice: the
new Minister of War, Field Marshal Lord Kitchener of
Khartoum, the victor of Omdurman, the conaﬁmme
Sudan and South Africa, Sirdar of the Egyptian army and
Commander-in-Chief in India, and lately de facto ruler of
Egypt. At his first Cabinet meeting in his new post he
announced, in his oracular way, ‘we must be }repared to.
put armies of millions in the field and ‘maintain them for
several years’. His hearers, his civilian Cabinet colleagues,
who up to that moment had been thinking in terms of
months, if not weeks, charitably assumed that the great pro-
consular figure had spent too much time in the sun.

Lloyd George said of Kitchener that he arrived at his

conclusions by flashes of intuition rather than the slower
processes of reasoning. What light illuminated the mind
behind the enormous sweeping moustaches and the staring,
almost hypnotic, eyes on that occasion is not known. The
Field Marshal was to be drowned on his way to Russia in
June 1916, so he did not live to see his prediction fulfilled in
its entirety. Nevertheless he was to survive at the centre of
affairs long enough to see the concepts of speed, quick
victories and a war of movement disappear into the muddy
trenches of France and Flanders, to see the efforts made by
the Western Allies to escape that deadlock end in failure,
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and to see the war extended by one stroke to embrace
another continent.

For a brief moment or two, however, in the autumn of
1914, it did appear as if the war would be a short one and
confined to Europe. A vast stretch of Europe, admittedly:
from the West, where obedient to the plan of the dead von
Schlieffen the German armies endeavoured to encircle
Paris, to the pine-covered desolations of the East, where the
Czechs, Croats, Slovenes, Slavs, Austrians, Hungarians and
Poles who made up the Habsburg army, with their German
allies, held back the ill-armed and ill-led Russian hordes.

Britain and France, and to a lesser extent Germany,
were all colonial Powers, of course, but it did seem as if
the contribution of their overseas possessions was to be
confined to the sending of troops to the Western Front.
Consequently, in those early days, grave, bearded Sikhs,
moustached Punjabis and cheerful Gurkhas came to suffer
the mud and cold of that first winter for the King Emperor,
regarded by and regarding the equally picturesque Moroc-
cans, Algerians, Spahis and Foreign Legionaires of the
French colonial army. o

The concept of a European cockpit was to last for only
a few more months; it was soon to be destroyed by the
actions of a German admiral. Admiral Souchon, as the
hours of the British ultimatum wefe 1 Funning out, was in
command of the new, fast battle cruiser Goeben and the
light cruiser Breslau, steaming ‘through the Mediterranean
and anticipating in his mind that if war broke out his
first task would be to intercept troop convoys from French
North Africa. However, on the morning of August 4th he
received new instructions from the Gerrian Admiralty:
‘Proceed at once to Constantinople’, the capital of a neutral
state, indeed the only one of the Great Powers of the Balkan
crises of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries not at war.
Neutral at the moment but, as Admiral Souchon was
informed by wireless, the Turks were a nation of whom the
Germans had hopes. The system of alliances may have
caused the war, but the search for allies was still to continue.

Turkey had been neglected in the last few years by those
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nations previously most interested. The Young Turk
revolution had come and gone, and apparently the Ottoman
Empire, even under new direction, was not capable of
reforming itself internally. Externally her defeats in the
Balkan Wars had revealed her military incompetence and
although her territories were still vast it was as if Britain,
Russia and France had given up in disgust. Some day this
decaying hulk would die, but at the moment it was best
left to moulder on its own.

Britain, it is true, still had some contact with her old
ally, and in 1914 a British Naval Mission under Admiral
Limpus advised the Turks on their navy. Nevertheless
under the Liberal government, which had succeeded to
power in 1906, many of whose members had inherited
Gladstone’s view of the ‘unspeakable Turk’, any closer
relauonshlp between Britain and Turkey was unthmkable.
So in 1911 tentative approaches put out by the Turks for
a ﬁrm alliance w1th Britain had been re_]ected What was
soon to decay, ‘whose 1nterna1 regime was anathema, and
“whose support would have meant the enm1ty of Greece
and the Balkan states? In short, in the British view Turkey
was not worth an alliaice.” ™~ T

“One nation in Europe, however, thought differently: the
German Empire.

So Kaiser Wilhelm II, who in 1889 and 1898 had paid
state visits to the” Sultan, the only European’ monarch to
do so, during his tour of the Near East posturéd on a white
horse in Jerusalem, had himself photographed in Turkish
uniform with a fez, and called upon the Sultan and his
subjects to regard him as their friend. On a more practical
level the Germans, under the direction of General Liman
von Sanders, began to provide the Turkish army with arms,
~Tunitions; and an increasingly large number of officers and
instructors. The Berlin-Baghdad railway too, which had
caused so much disagreement with Britain, provided an easy
introduction to the economic wooing of the Ottoman, and in
the wake of the soldiers there followed the engineers, the
bankers and the businessmen.
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From 1908 to 1914 this process of military and economic
advances continued with increasing momentum, and
although many Turks were apprehensive of the embraces
of their new and powerful friend, after the defeats of the
Balkan Wars it seemed as if in Europe they had no one else
to turn to but this beneficial provider of military advice
and cheap goods. War clouds were gathering in Europe and
many Turks had not relinquished the idea of an opportunity,
in a general conflict, of revenge upon their late enemies,

especially the Greeks.

In July 1914 Djemal Pasha, Minister of Marine and a
powerful member of the Turkish Cabinet, had journeyed to
Paris and raised there the question of the return of the
Aegean islands, seized by Italy in the 1911-12 War. Both the
British and French were unco-operative. The snubbing of
Djemal, a staunch Anglophile, confirmed the view that in
the event of a war Turkey had nothing to gain from an
alliance with Britain.

This impression was underlined on the very eve of the
war by a piece of incredible bungling on the part of the
British government. In 1913 the Turks, still smarting from
their defeat by the Gréeks, Serbians and Bulgarians, were
determined to equalise their naval position in the Aegean
#nd had bought a far from modern battleship from Brazil.
“Despite the protests of Djemal Pasha to the U.S. Ambassador,
Henry Morgenthau, a violent Philhellene who rejoiced in
his discomfiture, the U.S.A. immediately sold two_modern
ships, the Idako and the Mississippi, to the Greeks.

“"Turks who contemplated a renéwal of their conflict with
the Greeks now looked elsewhere, and their hopes were

" concentrated on two other battleships, the Sultan Osman and

the Reshadieh. As part of British naval advice and assistance,

. apparently not open to the same moral objections as military

‘or diplomatic help, these two first-class ships, modern and,
‘in the case of the Osman, equipped with 13-5 inch guns,

L

‘were nearing comPIcudﬁ on the Tyne in the spring of 1914.

The Sultan Osman was compléted in May and the Turkshad
paid half of her purchase price; the Reshadieh was ready in
early July and Turkish crews were ready to take over.
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Their overall cost was £7,500,000, but it was not only

{ their cash value that was important to the Turks. The
(-{ money had been raised by popular, if not perhaps always

voluntary, subscription, and every Anatolian peasant felt
he had a share in these magnificent new ships which at one
move would wipe out the effect of the Greeks’ sharp deal
over the Idaho and Mississippi.

The British, however, ignored all this, and in July began
a process of delaying the departure of the ships, which they
thought could be better employed by the Royal Navy.
Accordingly, as soon as war seemed inevitable, Winston
Churchill, the impetuous and bellicose First Lord of the
Admiralty, ordered their seizure. The Turkish captain,

I with his 500 sailors already on board a transport in the Tyne,
{threatened to hoist the Turkish flag and take his ships

|

away. Churchill, from the Admiralty, ordered the use of
force if necessary and there was a clash, with a few casualties

5" on both sides. The Turkish government was informed of

the seizure in the bluntest possible terms and the question
of compensation for the financial loss was not mentioned.
Winston Churchill, in justification some years after the
event, was to talk, in his History of the Great War, in a rather
vague way of Turkey’s plans to attack not Greece but
Russia, as if Turkey intended to attack Russia before the

; two ships were seized. Such plans were known to Churchill,

but strangely enough to no one else.

It was only on August 2nd that the Turkish government,
succumbing to the blandishments of Baron Wangenheim,
the German Ambassador, secretly promised to enter the
conflict on the side of the Central Powers if Russia intervened
in the Austro-Serbian War.

It was towards this situation in the Turkish capital that
Admiral Souchon with his two battleships now steamed at
full speed. After August 4th all other warships he would
see would be enemies, as the British and French navies
dominated the Mediterranean. The French, as Souchon
had originally surmised, were occupied in convoying their
troops from North Africa to France, so the task of intercep-
ting the Goeben and Breslau fell to the British.
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A number of factors unimagined by Souchon operated
in his favour. No one, either at the Admiralty or in the
British fleet, ever dreamed that the German ships were
heading for Constantinople; presumably Churchill’s fear
of the Turks had evaporated once he had carried out his
coup on the Tyne. So, although the Goeben and Breslau were
followed by units of the Royal Navy, it was assumed,
incredibly, that Souchon’s course to the east was dictated
by prudence not design.

Again, Churchill’s instructions to the Admiral in the
Mediterranean, Sir Archibald Berkeley Milne, were am-
biguous to a degree. There was talk of avoiding superior
force, which the First Lord much later on was to say referred
to the Austro-Hungarian fleet of slow and superannuated
vessels in the Adriatic. Milne and his second-in-command,
Rear-Admiral Sir Ernest Troubridge, rather naturally
assumed this to mean that their individual ships, unless
stronger than the Goeben, were not to engage her. The
Austro-Hungarian navy may have been in the First Lord’s
mind but not in that of the naval officers who had the two
German warships and no others in their view. Nelson would
have engaged, but years of peace and easily held supremacy
had had its effect on the Royal Navy, and neither Milne
nor Troubridge was a Nelson. So, aided as well by incredible
luck, Souchon found himself, his ships untouched, on
August 11th at the entrance to the Dardanelles, under the
guns of the fortress of Chanak.

Now came the real crunch. Would the Turks, still
outwardly neutral, allow the Germans to penetrate the
Dardanelles? Souchon’s telegraphic communications with
his Ambassador in Constantinople produced a flurry of
diplomatic activity. The Turkish Cabinet met hurriedly to
consider the unwelcome news. Unwelcome, that is, to those
Ministers like the Grand Vizier, Said Halim Pasha, who still
hankered after neutrality, or to those like Djemal who still
had a sentimental attachment to the British.

The decision was taken out of their hands by Enver
Pasha, the Minister of War. A soldier trained at the military
academy in Berlin, and retaining from that period the
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waxed moustache with upturned points in flattering imita-
tion of the Supreme War Lord himself, Enver had an
admiration for all things German, particularly military
efficiency. The most ruthless and determined member of the
Committee of Union and Progress which ruled Turkey,
never doubting that Germany would be victorious, he was
impatient to put his own country on the winning side.

Ignoring his Cabinet colleagues, on his own responsibility,
he ordered the commander at Chanak to allow the Goeben
and Breslau to steam up to Constantinople.

Still the British failed to grasp what was going on. When
the news reached the Admiralty Milne was ordered to
establish a blockade of the Dardanelles to prevent the
German ships coming out. The British Ambassador de-
manded that the ships be interned. Slowly it was realised
that the Turks welcomed the Germans, and that the arrival
of these two powerful ships was regarded as the most poetic
justice, rivalling as they did the two sold to the Greeks
and the two stolen by the British.

The proceedings soon entered the realm of farce. French,
British and Russian Ambassadors, in President Poincaré’s
words, ‘moved heaven and earth’ to persuade Turkey back
to the side of the Entente. It was announced that the
‘Germans had, in fact, sold the battleships to the Turks.
The crews put aside their caps and donned the fez, the
Star and Crescent was hoisted, the Goeben became the
Sultan Y. avuz Selim and the Breslau the Midilli, and in their
Tnew guise they were solemnly inspected by the Sultan.
Souchon replaced Limpus in command of the Turkish
fleet and on the gth September the British Naval Mission
was dismissed. The ambassadors still argued, bargained
and threatened, although their bargains were unco-ordina-
ted. The French, with their large economic interests,
would not resign ~the™ Capitulations whereT)y'”forelgners

enjoyed special rights in Turkey, while neithéf the British
nor thé Russians would guarantee Turkish territory against
the Balkan nations but were prepared to let the Capitula-

[ tions go.
The Turks wavered, but could not ignore the final
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argument of kings: the guns of the still German-commanded
ships anchored in the Sea of Marmora, threatening the iced-
cake facade of the Dolma Bagtche Palace.

For three months the matter stayed suspended in the
balance, the Turks were never speedy negotiators, and then
on October 28th Souchon, with the connivance of Enver,
acted. The Sultan Yavuz Selim and Midilli, still German-
crewed, accompanied by some small Turkish vessels,
entered the Black Sea and shelled the Russian ports of
Odessa, Sebastopol and Theodosia.

The Ottoman Empire willy-nilly had been pushed into
the war. Russia, in retaliation, declared war on November
4th, followed by Britain and France a day later. The
voyage of the Goeben and the Breslau had come to an end.

The whole pattern and scope of the war had been changed.
Russia, sensitive over the Straits for a century, had lost
her exit to the Mediterranean; her only ports now were
Archangel, ice-bound half the year, and distant Vladi-
vostock, 8,000 miles from the battlefront. Her exports and
imports reduced to almost nothing, from now on she was
cut off from her allies. Equally important, by the addition
of the Ottoman Empire to the ranks of the Central Powers
the field of military action was spread into the Turkish
dominions: Mesopotamia, Palestine and the Arab lands.
Further, with Turkey a belligerent her neighbours in
Europe, Bulgaria, Romania and Greece, became automati-
cally desirable allies for both the Entente and the Central
Powers. '

The Goeben and the Breslau, which were to stay in the
Sea of Marmora for the rest of the war little used, rusting
and collecting barnacles, had extended the ‘damned
system’ halfway round the world.

Winston Churchill remained as First Lord of the Admir-
alty, Admiral Milne had retired from the Navy on August
18th, but Rear-Admiral Troubridge was court martialled
in November and, although acquitted, never held a sea
command again.
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“The interests of Greece demand that she
should observe complete neutrality’
King Constantine of the Hellenes

The manner in which Germany had succeeded in pushing
Turkey into the war occasioned many reflections in Britain
on the devilish cunning of her adversaries, the perfidy of
old friends and, to a lesser extent, the inadequacies of
British diplomacy. However, so far as actual military
operations were concerned, Germany’s new ally at first gave
the British little trouble, mainly because the triumvirate
of ‘Young Turks’, Enver, Talaat and Djavid, curiously for
men who had begun their careers as modernisers, relied on a
very old-fashioned concept indeed: the dual position of
their Sultan as ruler of Turkey and also Caliph, Commander
of the Faithful, spiritual head of all Moslems.
Encouraged by the declaration of Abbas Ailmi, Khedive
of Egypt, of his loyalty to his titular overlord, an unim-
pressive decision as the Khedive was on a visit to Constanti-
nople at the outbreak of war and it is difficult to see how
he might have returned to his British-occupied domains,
the Sultan was prevailed upon to declare a Jihad, a holy
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war, to be fought by Moslems against the infidel. Thus
fortified Enver adapted the aims of the Turkish war effort
accordingly: the conquest of Egypt and the Suez Canal,
the domination of Persia and Transcaucasia and, as he
never lacked ambition, perhaps the eventual invasion of
India through Afghanistan.

British statesmen, over-sensitive to the religious suscepti-
bilities of subject races since the Indian Mutiny, had a
moment of anxiety which disappeared quickly as all Enver’s
plans failed ignominiously. An attempted Turkish invasion
of Egypt in February 1915 was repulsed with ease, and
behind a screen of British and Indian troops the native
population remained torpidly indifferent to the appeals of
their co-religionists. Hussein Kamal, a benevolent elderly
gentleman, became by edict of the British the successor of
his deposed nephew, with the new title of Sultan, and
Egypt apathetically became a British Protectorate,

Moslem Indian troops under their British officers,
" whether in India or elsewhere, remained loyal to ‘Garge
Panjam’ (King George V), and showed no inclination to
mutiny or desert for the sake of the Ottoman Sultan hoist-
ing the banner of religious war in the rather curious com-
pany of the Lutheran German and the Catholic Austrian
emperors,

Both French and Russians had Moslems in their army
and these, too, stayed true to their oath of allegiance.
Indeed it was against the Russians, in an almost forgotten
episode of the war, that Enver suffered the biggest setback
of his career. At the end of the year he led an army of
05,000 German-trained Turks against the Russians in
Caucasia. A final attempt at rousing a local Moslem popu-
lation was to prove fruitless, and this time in conditions of
overwhelming military disaster. At Sarakamish, in the
bare freezing mountains, there perished of shell, bullet
and frostbite more than 30,000 Turkish soldiers. Of the
whole Turkish army engaged there survived some 18,000,
and Enver Pasha, who fled from the scene of his
defeat.

After Sarakamish, one of the simplest and most signal
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defeats of the war, although Turkey’s military fortunes
fluctuated, the initiative was henceforth with her enemies.
Of Sarakamish, a point on the map between Kars and
Erzerum, the statesmen in the West heard and knew little.
Their minds were concentrated upon the enormous casualty
lists from the battlefields of northern France, an ever-
mounting toll as both sides began to dig themselves in and
war deteriorated into the sacrifice of hundreds of lives for
a few yards of shell-torn mud.

The lists of names lengthened and with them the estimates
of the war’s duration. Soon the voices of those who favoured
some attempt to break away from the deadlock of the
Western Front were to be heard, if not necessarily heeded.
Among them were Winston Churchill, the First Lord of

i the Admiralty, longing to employ Britain’s greatest asset,
- command of the seas, and David Lloyd George, the ener-
getic Minister of Munitions, who distrusted generals on
principle and especially when they maintained that the only
way to beat the Germans was by head-on, bloody collision.

This difference of opinion, ‘Westerners’ against ‘Easter-
ners’, was exacerbated by the fact that on one side were
arrayed the most controversial politicians of the day and
on the other nearly all the generals. In the contemptuous
terms of their rivals: ‘the Frocks’, the civilians, and the
‘Brass Hats’, the soldiers. Distrust was mutual and became
a permanent feature of the War Cabinet and General Staff,
and consequently of the conduct of the war.

Dislikes and personalities were both larger than life.
Winston Churchill, in his time a flamboyant cavalry officer
and war correspondent, the enfant terrible of pre-war politics,
distrusted by those with more conventional careers and
minds. Douglas Haig, the commander of the British armies
in France, dour, Scots, uncommunicative, but possessed of
an iron will and unshakeable faith in his own prescience.
Lloyd George, like Churchill the terror of the British upper
class before the war, long hairéd and with a fiery eloquence,

~soon to be called, with all his faults, to the supreme direction

of the war. Haig’s devoted admirer Sir William Robertson,...

the Chief of the Imperial General Staff, the only British
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soldier to rise from trooper to field marshal, and still unable

i "fimes of emotion to distribute correctly his aspirates.

More outspoken than Haig he didn’t even bother to conceal

his contempt for those such as Lloyd George who, from his

experience as a Welsh solicitor and a parliamentarian,

presumed to argue with one who had been a soldier all his

life. To Lloyd George when the latter was Prime Minister

he said, ‘It is a waste of time explaining strategy to you.

;| To understand my explanation you woiild have had to have
my experience.’ '

The arguments put by these and other advocates were
to continue throughout the war. Was it only possible to
win by defeating the German army in the field, by pouring
men into the mincing machine of the Western Front, or were
there any alternatives? Was Lloyd George’s idea of ‘knocking
away the props’ possible? Were the generals wrong to
oppose his ‘constant wish to strike the enemy where he was
weakest’?

The argument could never be put to the test either way.
Tt was never possible to use one strategy to the exclusion
of all others, and in the event the war was eventually won
for a combination of reasons, some not contained in either
brief.

It is fair, however, to say that ‘the sideshows’, so described
by their opponents, were only allowed to be staged in a
half-hearted, necessarily ill-prepared manner, always sub-
ject to the superior demands for men and material on the
Western Front. In the second and third years of the war
two such operations, intended to outflank the enemy and

/ at the same time give succour to a hard-pressed ally, were
mounted. One, Gallipoli, is notorious; the other, Salonika,
is less well known. With both were intertwined the fate of
the Balkans and especially that of Turkey’s age-old enemy,
Greece.

The entry of Turkey into the war had placed before each
Balkan nation an almost insoluble problem and at the
same time a gambler’s choice. As w and th/eg_eqr_lgr_@
Powers sought allies, so Bulgaria, Romania and Greece
strove to decide where the ultimate profit and loss of parti-
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cipation might lie. In short, the agonising unanswerable
question: who would win? For no nation was this problem
posed so acutely as for the Greeks.

Leaving aside any question of partiality or sentiment

, there were three possible courses open to Greece. The
first, neutrality, was attractive to a nation whose armed
forces and finances had not yet recovered from the Balkan
Wars. Could such neutrality be preserved, however, in the
face of Turkey’s participation and possibly that of Bulgaria?
The second was alliance with Germany and Austria-
Hungary, seemingly in those early months possessed of
overwhelming military might. Such an alliance, though,
meant alliance with the traditional enemy, the Turk, and
would expose the vulnerable Greek coastline to the British
and French navies which, despite the Goeben fiasco, ruled
the Mediterranean. The third course was alliance with the
Entente, which appealed to many liberal-minded Greeks,

~Who could not fail to observe at the same time that one
partner in the Entente was Russia, extremely unlikely in
the event of victory to allow Greece to reap much territorial
advantage in an area where she regarded her own interests
as paramount.

The view from London and Paris was scmewhat different.
As is the way of belligerents in times of war arguments by
others in favour of neutrality were not well received, but
were regarded as in some way despicable or, even worse, as
cloaking some sinister intent to side with the enemy. Con-
sequently a grossly over-simplified view was taken of the

. Greek problems, which had at its roots the attitude that
those who were not for the Entente were against it. Un-

J fortunately the situation in Greece tempted Allied statesmen
to come to snap conclusions.

When Turkey entered the war it had been confidently
assumed that Greece, who little more than twelve months
before had been fighting Turkey, would happily move into
the Allied camp. That she did not do so was a disappointment

v/ and one did not have to look far, it was thought, to find the
reason: the man who ruled Greece, King Constantine.

» The man who had been educated at Heidelberg University

33



[ and the Berlin Military Academy, who was married to
, | the Kaiser’s sister and had been created a German field
! marshal by his Imperial brother-in-law.

‘ That Wilhelm II had not looked favourably on his
sister Sophie’s marriage, that he had objected to her having
to change her religion, were forgotten. That German
foreign policy had been consistently pro-Turk and therefore
anti-Greek, particularly in the recent matter of Crete and
the Aegean islands, was ignored. In their disappointment,
too, the Allies forgot that dynastic relationships and military
dignities had not prevented a war breaking out. Wilhelm II
and George V were both grandsons of Victoria. The Colonel
of the British Royal Dragoons was that same Wilhelm, old
| Franz Josef of Austria-Hungary was Colonel of another
British regiment, the King’s Dragoon Guards, just as
; George V himself was the Colonel of a Prussian regiment,
/ % an appointment which had caused his mother, formerly

L a Danish princess, to exclaim: ‘Now our Georgy is a filthy

pickelhaube blue-coated Prussian!’

To take the absurd argument about Constantine’s
honorary rank to its absurd limits, the British seemed to
have forgotten that the Kaiser himself was an Admiral of the
Fleet in the Royal Navy, and that when he first donned the
uniform he had said that it was the proudest moment of his
life to be thus honoured by the greatest navy in the world.

So much then for the platitudes of princes. More seriously
the Allied statesmen chose to ignore the fact that at the
beginning of the August crisis Wilhelm had formally asked
Constantine for his help, and, as formally, Constantine
had refused. Needless to say, the Greek King’s letter to the
Kaiser had contained in its first sentence some vague
sentiments of personal sympathy, again the platitudes of
princes, but the letter had been one of refusal. Its most
important sentence, which infuriated the Kaiser, read as
follows: ‘It seems to me that the interests of Greece demand

v that she should observe strict neutrality and the maintenance
| of the status quo in the Balkans as created by the Treaty of
| Bucharest.” The letter was countersigned by the Greek

Foreign Minister.
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Constantine, then, favoured neutrality, but the Allies
found it difficult to believe that he was sincere, for it was
the King’s fate always to be judged in contrast with his
Prime Minister, Eleftherios Veniselos.

In 1914 Veniselos was fifty and had been Prime Minister
for the last four years. Alone among Balkan statesmen of the
period he was known and liked in the West. His political
apprenticeship had been served in his native Crete. The
only son of a family of small merchants, in 1887 he had
qualified as a barrister, and within a few years had taken
to the often related profession of politics. It was a career
pattern familiar in England, but anything less like the
gentle English political scene than Crete in the 80’s and
go’s it would have been difficult to imagine.

_~ The island was still ruled by the Turks, but a minority

of the Cretans were themselves Moslems, bitterly opposed
to their Christian co-nationals. The young Veniselos, like
most Cretan Christians, longed passionately for ‘Enosis’,
union with Greece, but this could not be achieved by verbal
argument. When Veniselos became leader of the Cretan
Christian Defence Force in 1896, he and his followers were
guerrillas, carrying on a war from their hiding places in
the peninsula which separates Canae from Suda Bay.

Years later, at the Paris Peace Conference in 1919, the
Greek Prime Minister was to enchant Lloyd George and
Woodrow Wilson by telling of the manner in which he had
perfected his English, sitting in the Cretan hills translating
the reports in The Times of the international complications
caused by his own rebellion, all the time with a loaded
rifle across his knees.

In 1897 The Times certainly had a great deal to report,
for the Cretan disturbances had produced all the elements
in microcosm of the War of Independence of seventy years
before. In February Britain, France and Russia had sent
naval squadrons into Suda Bay to persuade the Cretans to
accept autonomy but not independence. In April the Turks,
typically losing patience, declared war on Greece. An army
under Crown Prince Constantine was soundly defeated in

/Thessaly, but in September a mob of hysterical Cretan
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// Moslems massacred a small party of British blue-jackets at

Candia. The admirals, in their turn, lost patience, and without
consulting their governments bombarded Turkish fortresses
and put ashore landing parties. There were excellent
historical parallels and doubtless the shades of Codrington,
de Rigny and Heiden approved. Eleftherios Veniselos was
enabled to improve his English conversation with a number
of naval officers. By the next year Prince George of Greece,
the King’s younger son, was High Commissioner of Crete,
with Veniselos as his Councillor of Justice.

The subsequent progress of Crete to union with Greece
was, however, not smooth but complicated, violent and
passionate. Veniselos disagreed with Prince George, the
prince resigned, and the conflict spilled over into Greece,
where on occasions revolvers were brandished in the
Assembly. In 1910, by a coup in Athens organised by the
Military League, a body of disaffected officers, Veniselos was
hoisted into power as Prime Minister of Greece.

Once there, it is true, he began his avowed task of re-
forming the chaos of Greek government. His ambitions
were Western, but it would have been better if his admirers
in the West had occasionally remembered that romantic
as the apprenticeship of Veniselos had been compared with
their own staid progress to office, something also might
have been learnt from it of the nature of Greek politics.

Of admiration abroad Veniselos always had more than
his fair share. In 1899 Clemenceau, on returning from
Greece, had announced to the Comtesse de Noailles a
discovery which he had placed higher than the architectural
and archeological splendours: ‘A young advocate, a M.
Venezuelos or Venizelos. Frankly I cannot quite recall

' his name, but the whole of Europe will be speaking of him

in a few years.’

The prophecy was to be proved true. As the architect of
the Balkan League and the victor of the Balkan Wars
Veniselos was to achieve an international reputation. At
the London Conference in the winter of 1912-13 Prince
Lichnowsky, the German Ambassador, described him as
‘the most distinguished personality’ present, and further:
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‘His prepossessing charm and ways of a man of the world

secured him much sympathy.” This, then, was the man who

stood against the stern brusque military figure of his King,

who was advised by the undoubtedly pro-German Chief of
/~ Staff Colonel Metaxas.

The Allies in their disappointment came to an obvious
conclusion, and in their desperation made a hasty choice.
The actions of the two principals, Constantine and Veniselos,
seemed to confirm their judgment.

As early as the autumn of 1914 Veniselos had been most
attentive to the British, French and Russian ambassadors
in Athens, throwing out suggestions as to how the Balkans
might be divided after the war. Flatteringly, he always
assumed that the Entente would be victorious, and by
implication that Greece would be somehow, at some time,
at their side. From the circle of army officers and courtiers

/| who surrounded the King there came only prognostications
of a German victory. So it was to Veniselos and not Con-
stantine that on January roth, 1915, the British, supported
by the French and the Russians, offered their price for
Greek participation.

In Sir Edward Grey’s Note of that date the actual ex-
pression used was ‘important territorial concessions on the
coast of Asia Minor’, and it included the town of Smyrna
with its hinterland the vilayets (provinces) of Smyrna and
Aidin. There is no evidence that Sir Edward Grey, the
Foreign Secretary, or any other member of the War Cabinet,
had thought deeply about the implications of the offer.
Sir Edward Grey himself, who had held the direction of
British foreign policy since 1906, was both ignorant of and
curiously indifferent to anything that smacked of military
as opposed to diplomatic considerations. Apparently no
military opinion was taken as to how after the war the
Greeks might take and hold this particular stretch of
Anatolian territory, nor of the likely reaction of the native
Turkish population.

This was a period when the Allies were very prodigal with
territorial bribes to likely allies; bribes, of course, which
could be taken up enly after the war and at the expense of
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defeated enemies. At various times attractive offers were

made to Bulgaria, Romania and Italy, and from these offers

and counter proposals for participation or benevolent

neutrality there were born the Secret Treaties, which with

their extravagant and often mutually contradictory promises

_- were to prove the bane of the Peace Conference. Ironically

i Greece was on more than one occasion offered Cyprus, a

| plece of rare generosity as it was the only such offer that

i was made at the expense of one of the allies herself, namely

. Britain. Such generosity, like the concessions in Anatolia,

was normally limited to territories which at the time
belonged to someone else.

So much for one party to the bargain. What of the other?

To the Greeks it was not an entirely new idea. Smyrna, the

prosperous, bustling seaport on the eastern shore of the

Aegean, had been regarded covetously before. With a

populatlon of over 400,000 of whom well over half were

Greek, it could not help but engage the attention of all

patriots who wished to liberate the ‘unredeemed Greeks’,

those thousands of their fellow countrymen still under

| foreign rule. Formerly a part of the Ionian Empire, the

original city had been laid out at the command of Alexander

¢ . the Great and completed by his generals Antigonus and

Lysimachus. Substantial arguments could be advanced to

. show that this city had been the birthplace of Homer.

" More practically, from the present Greek population came

the bankers, merchants and traders not only of Smyrna

but of the whole coast and hinterland which it served. All

this, the claims of Greeks to be added to the Hellenic King-

dom, the traditions of the glorious past, and the present

opportunities for trade and commerce, made Smyrna a

glittering prize to offer any Greek, even one less ambitious

than Veniselos. Strangely enough, the Greek Prime Minister,

unlike the British Foreign Secretary, had had an opportunity

. of considering the disadvantages. In 1913, at the time of

' the Balkan War, Colonel Metaxas, now the King’s closest

military adviser, had considered the possibility of taking

© and holdmg Smyrna. He had prepared a report, seen by

. Veniselos, in which for sober, well-argued reasons he came
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to the conclusion that in the long term it was a dangerous,
if not an impossible, project.

In 1913 Metaxas had been examining the plan in terms
of Greece acting on her own. Now, in 1915, Greece would
not be on her own but would have the encouragement, if
not the help, of Britain, France and Russia in taking for
herself some of the territory of their joint enemy. Charitably
one can only assume that this difference acted on Veniselos’
mind, for seemingly with no sign of hesitation or reluctance
he accepted. His acceptance was to change the history of
his country. For the present he had the immediate task of
fulfilling his part of the bargain and bringing his country
into the war on the Allied side. Naturally, but unfortunately,
his friends and admirers in London and Paris decided to
help him. -



‘I cannot refrain from expressing my
astonishment and regret’

King George V

The period from Edward Grey’s offer to Veniselos in
January 1915 until the actual Greek entry into the war in
July 1917 provides éxamiples of some of “the Allies” most
_ —curious diplomatic and tilitary actions of the whole war.

In January 1918 Sir Edward Grey, no longer in office
and suffering from increasing blindness, had a long after-
dinner talk with his old friend Professor Gilbert Murray
and rather sadly reviewed the part he had played in those
events. He had hoped, he said, to unite the Balkan countries
against the Turks despite what his own experience during
the Balkan Wars should have told him: that this was
virtually an impossibility.

The conflicting claims of Serbia, already engaged, and
Bulgaria, Romania and Greece, not yet committed to either
side, had been difficult enough to reconcile, but these
were not the only problems which had plagued the British
Foreign Secretary. Russia, already showing alarming signs
of her eventual military and economic collapse, had to be
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kept in the war, and consequently her power of veto on any
arrangements in the area had to be respected. France, too,
proved a difficult ally, suspicious of what she thought were
likely extensions of British influence abroad after the war.
Sir Edward, apparently, always had at the back of his mind
the fear that either or both of his allies might make a -
separate peace with Germany.

One is left with a very distinct impression of a kindly,
peace-loving idealist, not really at ease in his wartime role,
fearful of coercion, despising bribery and offended by the
extortionate demands of would-be foreign allies. For one
foreigner, however, Sir Edward had a very definite enthusi-
asm, the Prime Minister of Greece. He ‘admired Veniselos
more than any statesman in Europe’, and this attitude
was understandably common in English political circles,
for seemingly alone in the Balkans Veniselos stood out as a
genuinely disinterested friend.

So then, thus ran the simplified reasoning of wartime,
Veniselos was a friend; therefore his opponent Constantine,
who disagreed with him and thwarted his plans, must be
an enemy, itching to join the ranks of his Imperial brother-
in-law as soon as a favourable opportunity presented itself.
It was with this convenient piece of logic in mind that both
the British and French War Cabinets set about the task
of influencing and persuading the Greeks. :

In April 1915 the Allies embarked on their expedition
to the Dardanelles, with the triple objects of knocking
Turkey out of the war, bringing assistance to Russia by
breaking through the Straits and turning the flank of the
Austro-German bloc stretching across Central Europe.
When the plans were first mooted Veniselos, always fertile
with helpful suggestions, proposed an Anglo-French landing
at Salonika to be combined with the entry of Romania into
the war. Unfortunately ' the proposal fell to the ground
because the Romanians were not prepared to move and their
intervention was regarded as essential to prevent a Bulgarian
attack on Greece’s northern frontier.

So the plans for the Dardanelles expedition went forward
" alone. Still Veniselos remained helpful and on his own
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initiative offered to send a Greek division and the fleet to
aid the British and the French. The proposal produced two
typical reactions: the pro-Veniselos British Cabinet was
delighted, but Sazonov, the Russian Foreign Minister, was
horrified, and insisted that on no account must Greek troops
be allowed into Constantinople and that Greece must
receive no territory in the neighbourhood of the Straits.
At home in Greece, on March grd and again on the 5th, a
Crown Council met in Athens under King Constantine and
forbade any such intervention. On March 6th Veniselos,
never long-suffering with his fellow countrymen, resigned
as Prime Minister.

In fact no Allied troops entered Constantinople. The
initial impetus of the naval attack faded away when a few
obsolescent battleships were sunk or damaged by mines.
Admiral de Robeck, the British naval commander, became
over apprehensive at the very moment when victory might
have been his. On April 25th began the landing of British
and Dominion troops on the inhospitable shore, which the
Turks had been allowed time to fortify.

Soon another military stalemate developed as thousands
of troops dug themselves in and began to die as their com-
rades in France died. The fresh divisions landed in August
suffered 38,000 casualties in three weeks, without being able
to improve their position one whit. By the autumn the whole
enterprise was beginning to smell of failure.

Way back in April, when there had been hope of success,
Rupert Brooke, the gilded young poet unromantically dead
of a mosquito bite, had received a rather more civilised
burial than most. Lieutenant Asquith, son of the Prime
Minister, watched as a Greek interpreter wrote on the back
of the cross at the head of the grave: ‘Here lies the servant
of God, sub-lieutenant in the English navy, who died for

, the deliverence of Constantinople from the Turk.” There
. were now 46,000 others, British, Australian, New Zealand
and French, and nearly 220,000 wounded.

Only one man had made a reputation at Gallipoli, a
Turkish general who had successfully disobeyed and over-
ruled his German superiors, Mustapha Kemal Pasha.
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In Athens Constantine could doubtless be forgiven for
congratulating himself on having kept his subjects out of
this holocaust. Elsewhere, too, the fortunes of the Allies
looked grim. The Russians were retreating and dying in
Poland; the French had recently lost 100,000 men in ten days
in order to advance little more than two miles into the
German lines. Paradoxically it was from this decline in the
fortunes of the Entente that there arose the next clash
between King and Prime Minister.

On June 13th there had been a general election in
Greece which had given an overwhelming vote of confidence
to Veniselos and his liberal party, 184 seats out of g1o.
Ten weeks later, the delay being caused by the King’s
illness, he was asked to form a government.

On September 22nd the King of Bulgaria, with justifi-
cation known to contemporaries as ‘Foxy Ferdinand’,
influenced by the Allies’ failure at Gallipoli, signed the
order of general mobilisation for the Bulgarian army. In
one move he intended to join the Central Powers and, with
the aid of the Austrian and German divisions now massing
along the Danube and the Drave, pay off his old score
against the Serbs. That tough, fighting race whose problems
had sparked off the war, which had repulsed the first .
Austrian invasion at the bloody battle of the River Kolubara,

and produced their proud communiqué: ‘Having liberated

Belgrade not one enemy soldier remains at liberty on the
soil of the Serbian kingdom’, were about to be swamped.
In London Lloyd George, lately Chancellor of the
Exchequer in a Liberal government and since May 26th
Minister of Munitions in the new Coalition government, his
enthusiasm fired by the plight of a small nation and also the
possible prospect of another way of shortening the war,
devoted his thoughts to methods of aiding the Serbs.
Veniselos too, so very similar in his enthusiasms and his
impatience with military advice, saw an opportunity and
an excuse. The Serbs had asked for aid. By the Convention
of June 1st, 1913, which arose out of the Balkan Wars, the
Greeks had bound themselves to aid the Serbs if attacked
by Bulgaria, each ally being bound to contribute 150,000
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men to the joint war effort. Now the Serbs were to
be attacked by Austrians, Germans and Bulgarians, and
they could certainly not provide anything like 150,000
effectives. Veniselos, however, regarded Greece as being
bound in honour to help her old ally; perhaps, too, the
deficiency in men could be made up by Britain and France.
As Serbia had no sea coast any help would have to be
channelled through the largest port in Greek Macedonia,
Salonika. The attractions of the plan for Veniselos were
obvious. On September 23rd, armed with his arguments, the
Prime Minister had an audience of his King, alone.

Both men have left differing accounts. Veniselos main-
tained that he told the King that by their decision in
the general election the Greeks had shown their support
for this policy, which meant not permitting Bulgaria to

. destroy Serbia and asking the British and French for

assistance. ‘Your Majesty, he said, ‘as representative of
the sovereign people, I must tell you that you have no
right on this occasion to differ from me.” To which the

. King is said to have replied: ‘As long as it is a question of
internal affairs, I must bow to the people’s will, but in

foreign affairs I must decide what shall or shall not be done,
for I am answerable before God for my people.’

Whatever the exact words, undoubtedly some such
exchange took place, and critics of Constantine, from
Winston Churchill downwards, have poked fun at the
King’s rather pompous sentiments. Yet with the benefit of
hindsight years later Churchill could write: ‘King Constan-
tine had been trained all his life as a soldier. The road to his
heart was through a sound military plan, and this he was
never offered.’ What the Allies did offer and Veniselos
advocated was very far from being a sound military
plan.

The overall situation was fantastic. British and French
troops in their tens of thousands were barely holding their
own in the West. The British were committed in Egypt
and were becoming increasingly involved in Mesopotamia.
The evacuation of Gallipoli was fast becoming an obvious
necessity. Not surprisingly the Coalition government was in
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woeful disagreement with its military advisers, with the
French and within itself.

Now it was proposed to bring aid to Serbia, about to be
invaded by an Austro-German army from the north and a
Bulgarian from the east, by landing troops at Salonika,
more than 300 miles from the Serbian capital, Belgrade;
more than 300 miles as a very hardy crow might fly over
some of the most mountainous and difficult country in
Europe. It is small wonder that Constantine, faced with this
proposal, thought that his primary duty was to his own
people and not to the doomed Serbs and their desperate
allies.

What followed as a result of the confrontation between
these two irreconcilable men is even now a matter of
controversy. Veniselos maintained that he again tendered
his resignation; the King refused to accept it, but did
agree to mobilise the army as a precautionary measure and
in addition to seck the aid of the British and French. Con-
stantine, on the other hand, claimed that though he agreed
to call his army of 180,000 men to its war stations, he did
not request any Allied military assistance, but was informed
by letter from Veniselos that such a request had been made
after the Prime Minister had seen the British and French
Ministers in Athens.

Whatever the truth, and the King’s story would seem
more consistent with his own reluctance and his Prime
Minister’s enthusiasm, confusing telegrams reached London
as to Veniselos’ wishes and intentions, and on October grd
in Athens the proceedings began to degenerate into farce.
Veniselos summoned the British Minister, Sir Francis
Elliott and his French colleague, M. Deville, to his office.
There he first asked that Allied troops should be landed at
Salonika and promised that all the port facilities would
be put at their disposal. That done, he read out a formal
protest at the breach of Greek neutrality which would be -

| involved, which is strong evidence to suggest that the King
' had not agreed, and handed a written copy of this note to
' the French Minister. The Allies, confused but determined

to read between the lines, decided that Veniselos would
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support them and gave orders for the landings to take place,
the first British troops to be taken from Gallipoli for the
purpose. They were to be joined by the French and Russians.

In the Greek Parliament Veniselos forcefully and success-
fully defended his actions, but on October 5th he was again
summoned by the King, who told him bluntly that in his
view, and that of the General Staff, participation would

! mean suicide for Greece. Again Veniselos offered his resig-

nation which this time was accepted, and the King called on
M. Zaimis to form a new government.

The mixed force of British, French and Russians dis-
embarked on the quays of Salonika but precisely what
their function was to be no one was quite clear. Much
would depend on the character and actions of their com-
mander, General Sarrail. Under the Second Republic there
were two types of French general officer. The first, they were
roughly in the majority, were aristocratic, Catholic and
still with a vestige of sentimental royalism in their make-up.
The second were avowed Republicans of middle-class
origin, anti-clerical and ferociously liberal and great
politicians. It was to the latter category that Maurice
Sarrail belonged. Indeed, as in the French army a nice
balance in preferment had to be preserved between the two
types, it was for that reason rather than for any particularly
outstanding military qualities that he had been chosen.

Such subtleties were lost on the British, but of the man
himself General Sir William Robertson, the C.I.G.S., had
this to say: ‘He was a fine-looking handsome man of the
swashbuckler type, he completely captivated the Prime
Minister who has formed the opinion that he is an exception-
ally good man. In my opinion he is a man who will one day
pull off a good coup, but he is quite as likely, perhaps even
more so, to do the reverse and land us in difficulties. I am
quite sure that he means to have trouble with Greece if he
can possibly create it and I do not think that he would
regret having a few troops cut up it that would suffice to
bring about a row. We do not want a war with Greece if we
can possibly avoid it, it would be as bad as going into
Afghanistan. It would be like attacking a swarm of wasps.’
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The judgment was correct. Sarrail had no objection to
having trouble with Greece nor to attacking wasps. In
Salonika he soon began to stir up the swarm. The foreign
consuls, German, Austrian, Bulgarian and Turkish, who .
were undoubtedly sending military information home, were
arrested and shipped off to France. He then persuaded the
reluctant British commander, General Mahon, to assist
him in taking the Greek fort of Karaburun, which covered
the estuary of the Vardar. King Constantine, when asked
for its surrender in peremptory terms, said that he would
not be treated by the Allies like a native chieftain. His
officers on the spot did not share his indignation, however,
and Karaburun was handed over without a shot being
fired.

Sarrail was elated, and even more so when the Germans
carried out an air raid and dropped a bomb near a squadron
of cavalry commanded by Constantine’s brother, Prince
Andrew. The General’s reasoning, sentimental for a repub-
lican, was that such near aggression to a prince of the royal
house was bound to provoke the Greeks to fight the Ger-
mans. Temporarily disappointed on this point, the General
soon received other encouragement. The Bulgarians began
to advance into Greek Macedonia. A Committee of Public
Safety sprang up in Salonika, and from it there developed
the League for National Defence. There were demonstrations,
more or less spontaneous, in favour of France and Veniselos.

Meanwhile in Athens the Allies had opened up a diplo-
matic offensive. A large number of minor diplomats,
intelligence officers, military and naval attachés and
vaguely Secret Service persons invaded the city and en-
deavoured to encourage the Veniselist cause. One among

“them, Compton Mackenzie, then a young temporary
captain in the Royal Marines, invalided from the Darda-
nelles, gives in his Athenian Memories a witty, bitter-sweet
impression of those days. But there was a less humorous side
and there were many who were less scrupulous than the
genuinely philhellene, pro-Veniselist Captain Mackenzie.
Captain de Roquefeuil, the French naval attaché, for
instance, whose activities later provoked a French parlia-
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mentary inquiry. The French with enthusiasm, and the
British without, were dragged into the seamier side of
Greek internal politics. A propaganda war was waged in
the Greek press, free, uncensored, outspoken and easily
bought. Greeks, perhaps some were genuine patriots, were
bribed by secret service funds to spy, to demonstrate, and to
create trouble.

Constantine endeavoured still to tread the narrow path
of neutrality, and in order to balance the Allied occupation
of the Aegean islands and Fort Dovatepe, north of Salonika,
allowed the Central Powers to occupy Fort Roupel in
Eastern Macedonia. He also permitted the secret supply
of 20,000 artillery shells to the Serbians from the Greek
reserve at Salonika.

~ Unfortunately as between Constantine _and Veniselos
| the Allies had made up their minds: the King could do no
| right and the Prime Minister no wrong. Enthusiasm for the
i Allied cause was equated with patriotism for Greece; those
' who supported the King were dubbed traitors and in some
cases driven into the arms of the Germans. However,
propaganda was not enough, so by the autumn of 1916 a
large part of the French Mediterranean Fleet, including ten
battleships, assembled itself off Salamis. ‘It is time that we
finished with these diplomats,’” remarked de Roquefeuil to
~Compton Mackenzie.

The French seized Austrian and German merchant ships
interned at the Piracus, demanded the expulsion of German
agents and the right to supervise postal and telegraph
services. Also present, though somewhat reluctantly, as part
of the naval demonstration, were units of the Royal Navy.

In London the high-handedness of the French was
beginning to cause concern. Sir Edward Grey’s conscience
troubled him. King George V wrote to his Prime Minister,
Mr. Asquith: ‘I cannot help feeling that in this Greek
question we have allowed France too much to dictate a
policy and that as a Republic she may be somewhat intoler-
ant of, if not anxious to abolish, the monarchy in Greece.
But this I am sure is not the policy of my Government.’
Apparently the Tsar too thought that France and Britain
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were immersing themselves too much in Greece’s internal
affairs. The King went on: ‘I cannot refrain from expressing
my astonishment and regret at General Sarrail’s arbitrary -
conduct towards those troops who, loyal to their King and
Government, refused to join the Revolutionary movement
at Salonika. Could not a protest of some kind be sent to the
French government against General Sarrail’s proceedings,
which are so strongly deprecated by M. Zaimis?’ The King
concluded: ‘Public opinion in Greece, as well as the opinion
of the King, is evidently changing and if the Allies would
treat her kindly and not, if I may say so, in a bullying
spirit, she will in all probability join them.’

That Constantine might have been persuaded to join
the Allies was also the opinion of Lord Kitchener, who had |

. paid the King a lightning visit when he cameé to pronounce

his final verdict on the failure in the Dardanelles. It was
also the view of Sir Francis Elliott, the Minister in Athens.
Events were soon taken out of their hands. On September
25th Veniselos, with French assistance, fled to Crete, where
he received, naturally enough, an enthusiastic reception.
Joined by Admiral Kondouriotis and General Danglis,
both heroes of the Balkan Wars, he toured the islands of
Chios, Samos, Lesbos, and the Sporades, asking for recruits
to fight the Bulgars and the Turks.

On October gth, the crews of Greek naval vessels having
declared for him, he met Sarrail at Salonika and declared
himself the head of a provisional government. By November
three battalions of a new Greek national army were serving
under British command and volunteers were still flowing
in. The British, having had to use the Nottinghamshire
Yeomanry to put down disturbances among these enthusiasts,
were understandably not quite so delighted as Sarrail, who
tended to interpret all Greek events in terms of his own
country’s Revolution.

Still, by the end of the year ncarly 23,000 Greeks were
prepared to fight in some way or another on the Allied
side. In Phaleron Bay, off Athens, another Frenchman
who did not share Sarrail’s passion for parallels with 1789
was less happy. Vice-Admiral Dartiges du Fournet, com-
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manding the Allied fleets, had an aristocrat’s sympathy
with the King of Greece but unfortunately also his orders
from Paris. At the beginning of October he was ordered to
demand from the Greeks control of their navy. The British
admiral protested, but 300 French marines were landed
and the Greek ships in the Piraeus were handed over to the
French, as well as control over the shore batteries.

The incident, said du Fournet, ‘afforded him neither
pleasure nor pride’. The marines were sent into Athens,
naval patrols took over the Piracus and soon the French
also controlled the railways round the capital. Again the
British protested, their protests were ignored, and in the
interests of Allied solidarity the cruisers Exmouth and Duncan
and a number of smaller craft remained under French
command, joined on the same principle by the occasional
Italian and Russian vessel. Among the Greeks old memories
of British and French naval interference began to be revived

- and a large number of naval officers turned away from the

Veniselist cause. Queen Sophie, naturally enough but
fruitlessly, complained to her brother the Kaiser.

Paris increased its demands through the Admiral; the
army in Thessaly, loyal to Constantine, must be withdrawn
from its position on the flank of the new Macedonian army
and artillery batteries were also to be surrendered. With
this latter demand the King somewhat surprisingly was
prepared to comply, but not his government, nor some of
his officers. The idea of handing over their own guns to
the French was too much. The Admiral sent an ultimatum
threatening to send 3,000 men into Athens.

What followed was confusion piled on confusion. On
December 1st, 1916, French and British marines and sailors
were landed and fired upon, or were fired upon by, Greek
troops. The losses on the Allied side were slightly over
200 killed and wounded. Accusations of treachery were rife
on both sides. The Allies withdrew to their ships, leaving
the Athenians to their own devices. In the resultant explosive
atmosphere a minor civil war broke out. Veniselists and
Royalists fought in the streets. Dartiges du Fournet contem-
plated shelling the city to quell the riots, but happily was dis-
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suaded, because of the risk to the Parthenon.
But the Allies were beyond the point of no return. The
riots continued. The King blamed the Veniselists and the
y | British and the French who had conspired with them. The
Allied Ministers were withdrawn on December 1gth and the
' Salonika government recognised officially. As the year o
ended there were two Greek governments, one in Athens and -
theother in Salonika, and Greece itself was divided into
“"Veniselist and Royalist territory. In Paris, Briand had
fallen, to be replaced by Ribot, and in London the energetic
Lloyd George had ousted the leisurely Asquith. Greece, it
was decided, had to be settled and settled quickly.
. Charles Jonnart, the overbearing former Governor-
_ ¥ | General of Algeria, became the ‘High Commissioner’ in
Athens to a nation both independent and neutral. Harking
#_ | back nearly a hundred years, and doubitless congratulating
! themselves on the non-availability of the Tsar, who had
' troubles of his own, the British and the French resumed their
' mantle as protecting powers under the Treaty of London,
which had made Greece independent, and informed
- Constantine, with colossal arrogance, that they could no
' longer tolerate the exercise of his authority.

Veniselos became impatient. Field Marshal Sir Henry
Wilson, the new C.I.G.S., remarked ‘doubtless we have
played fast and loose with Tino’ (King Constantine), and
French troops landed in force near the Corinth Canal,
encountered and overcame resistance and moved on into
Thessaly. Greece was to be occupied.

On June 15t the King announced his intention of vacating /
the throne in favour of his younger son Alexander as the
Allies would not accept the Crown Prince. ‘How are things /
today, Papa?’ asked Prince Alexander one morning. “They
are as bad as they can be,” replied Constantine, ‘you are
King.’ By the 14th the French had taken over Athens
completely, the King left, and three days later his son, now
the new King of Greecg, received his new Prime Minister,
Eleftherios Veniselos.

Three years after its beginning Greece had officially
entered the war. What the Germans had achieved with the
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Turks in 1914 the Allies achieved with the Greeks in 1917
and by methods equally questionable. Somewhat curiously
perhaps, the three Greek divisions under the overall control
of British or French generals fought not Turks but Bulgarians
for the remainder of the war.

It was doubtless excusable if Allied statesmen almost
lost sight of a promise made to Veniselos way back in

January 1915.
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“These ignorant and irresponsible men’ &

Harold Nicolson

On the afternoon of November 11th, 1918, Kaiser Wilhelm
II, having crossed the Dutch frontier into exile, met Count
Bentinck, who had been given the duty by the Dutch
government of being his temporary host. Having ascertained
to his relief that the rather unwilling and apprehensive
Bentinck was not a Freemason, the former Supreme War

Lord then asked for ‘a cup of tea, hot, English tea’. ’

The war was over.

That night all along the Western Front, their first attempts
at fraternisation having been forbidden, the British, French
and German troops fired off Very lights, rockets and signal
flares from their trenches, no longer needing them to
illuminate an enemy. '

All the Kaiser’s allies had preceded him in defeat. The .
soldiers of the last Habsburg Emperor, Karl, had found
that they were fighting for an empire that no longer existed,
and on the last front in Italy the subject nationalities had
just faded away. The Bulgarians had signed their armistice
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at Salonika on September goth. On October 1st Damas-
cus, the last important city of the Ottoman Empire, had
fallen to the British and their Arab allies. In London the
War Cabinet expected daily that the Turks, shorn of their
empire and with their army in dissolution, would soon
indicate their inability to carry on the struggle. Reports
came of Turkish emissaries attempting to open peace negoti-
ations through British diplomats in Switzerland and Greece.

Already the terms of an armistice had been drafted in
London, and they were approved on October 7th by the
Prime Ministers of Britain, France and Italy at Versailles.
On October 8th the pro-German Turkish Cabinet, in which
Talaat was Grand Vizier and Enver Minister of War,
resigned. On the 13th the Turkish chargé d’affaires in
Madrid asked the Spanish government to invite the U.S.
President to take upon himself the task of re-establishing
peace. Before, however, Woodrow Wilson could consult his
allies, the Turks had surrendered to the nation which had
formerly been their ally but had become their most formid-
able adversary.

On October 20th at Mitylene the worn and weary figure
of Major-General Sir Charles Townshend was helped

. aboard H.M.S. Agamemnon, the flagship of Vice-Admiral Sir
/ Somerset Gough-Calthorpe, the naval Commander-in-Chief

in the Mediterranean. The General, who had the unenviable
distinction acquired at Kut el Amara in Mesopotamia of
being the only British senior commander during the war to

. have surrendered to the enemy, had been released by his

captors to ask for terms.

Whatever the Turks might have hoped to gain from this
rather unofficial approach, the Admiral had to communicate
with London. Still the negotiations preserved an air of
informality; Britain communicated with her allies but
Gough-Calthorpe was authorised to receive representatives.
They arrived on the island of Lemnos on October 26th.
They were rather a scratch team: Rauf Bey, the bearded
Minister of Marine, himself an ex-sailor, Reshid Bey, the
Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs, and a Lieutenant-

Colonel Sadullah Bey of the General Staff. For five days, in
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their morning coats and fezzes, with the Admiral and his
staff and General Townshend, they sat round some tables
improvised by the captain’s coxswain in the Admiral’s day
cabin. Sometimes cheerfully resigned, more often in tears,
they agreed to the signing away of the Ottoman Empire.

Finally, on October goth, ‘on board His Brittanic Majesty’s
ship Agamemnon at Port Mudros, Lemnos’, the Armistice

“was signed, ‘to take effect from noon local timé on Thursday
g1st October 1918’. Drinks were served by the white-coated
stewards, Rauf Bey gave the captain’s coxswain his largest
Turkish treasury note as a souvenir, and it was all over.
So informal had the proceedings been that Admiral Gough-
Calthorpe forgot to ask the senior French Admiral to be
present to attach his signature to the convention. This
omission was subsequently officially regretted.

By the terms of the document signed on the Agamemnon
the Allies were to occupy the Dardanelles and Bosphorus
forts, and the Dardanelles were to be cleared of mines
and secure access given to the Black Sea. All Turkish war
vessels were to be surrendered and the Turkish army
demobilised, except for a few troops required for the main="

“fenance of internal order. All ammunition and equipment
Was to be handed over. Allied prisoners of war and Armenian -

' “interned persons were to be collected in Constantinople. At .

the same time all German and Austrian soldiers and civilians
were to be evacuated from Turkish territory.

Finally the Ottoman Empire outside Turkey was to
disappear. Much of it was in Allied hands already; the
holy cities of Mecca, Baghdad and Jerusalem were all
occupied. What students of the Eastern Question from Tsar

Nicholas I onwards had been predicting for more than half = **

a century had come to pass. Turkish garrisons in the Hejaz,
Hazir, the Yemen, Syria and Mesopotamia were to surrender
to the nearest Allied commander. The Turks were to
withdraw from north-west Persia, Transcaucasia and Cilicia.
In Tripolitania and Cyrenaica they were to surrender to
the Ttalians and the British were to occupy Batum and Baku.
The possessions of the sick man of Europe were to be divided
up at last.
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The Mudros Agreement, however, was merely an armi-
stice, the military terms on which hostilities should cease,
and so for a time decisions continued to be made by the
military and naval commanders on the spot. General Sir
Edmund Allenby in Palestine and Syria, General Sir
Francis Wingate in the Hejaz, and General Sir William
Marshall in Mesopotamia, each administered the areas
which their armies had conquered. The Allied army on the
Salonika Front, now under General Franchet d’Esperey,
divided itself into two. The mainly French half, not without
reflections upon the campaigns of Napoleon, moved towards
the Danube. The other half, under General Sir George
Milne, consisting of three British, three Greek and one
French division, with some Serbian and Italian detachments,
swung eastwards to Constantinople.

Admiral Gough-Calthorpe was appointed British High
Commissiener at Constantinople; the French appointed
Admiral Amet and the Italians, Count Sforza. The Bos-
phorus and Dardanelles defences were occupied, and
British, French and Italian troops were distributed through-
out the Gallipoli peninsula and on both sides of the shores
of the Sea of Marmora. One British battalion, the grd
Middlesex Regiment, the ‘Die-Hards’ since Albuera in the
Peninsula, made the ceremonial entry into Constantinople
in the traditional manner, King’s and Regimental Colours
flying, band playing and bayonets fixed, watched by the
curious, and seemingly not unfriendly, Turks. The only
function of the battalion was to provide guards for the
various headquarters being set up in the city, for complete
calm reigned. Among the population of one and a half
million only a few Turkish soldiers were to be seen. Nine
thousand Germans and 1,000 Austrians under Liman von
Sanders obeyed their orders and took themselves off quietly
to Haider Pasha, a suburb on the Asiatic shore, there to
await repatriation.

The atmosphere was hardly that of a conquered army
capital. The population went about its daily tasks. The
Sultan himself was still in his villa on the Bosphorus; his
officers of state and his ministers remained in their Offices.
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The French 148th Regiment placed itself in reserve at San
Stefano and other Allied regiments made their camps on the
sites of old conflicts of the Balkan and Russo-Turkish wars. .
The Greeks, though there was now no Tsar to object to their
presence, merely provided guards for their Embassy and
Consulate. '

On November 15th Lieutenant-General Sir Henry
Maitland-Wilson took over as G.O.C. of all the Allied
forces, establishing his headquarters in the English Girls’
School in the Grande Rue de Pera, in the European quarter
of the city. The British soldiers under his command, many
of whom had served all through the war, began to prepare
themselves for demobilisation and as they returned home
were replaced by young men straight out from England and
- a number of Indian battalions. These latter, the Moslems
among them going to worship in the many mosques, were
the final addition which made Constantinople even more
cosmopolitan than it had ever been before in its chequered
history.

Apart from the native population, which was itself mixed
enough, there were now British, Greeks, Italians and
Frenchmen. There were Romanians and Serbians. There
were Poles who had been Austrians, there were Poles who
had been Germans, and Poles who had been Russians. All
these various nationalities had gained by the victory the
status of allies and it was the High Commissioners’ and the
G.O.C.’s task to administer this vast population, which the.
war had introduced into the city.

The Turks, with their own authorities and police force,
were left to administer themselves. Lord Curzon, Lord
President of the Council, observed that ‘the Turkish
government, if not cowed, was subservient.” He might just
as well have said the Turkish people, for there was no
distinction. As Winston Churchill put it: “Turkey, prostrate, 1.4
looked up and saw with relief that her conquerors were
British.’ The picturesque phrase was hardly an exaggeration.
All over the Ottoman Empire Turkish soldiers surrendered
themselves and their arms to small bodies of British troops,
in many cases to individual officers and N.C.O.s. The
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process of disarmament went on smoothly; weapons and
warlike stores flowed in and were collected in enormous
dumps guarded by handfuls of British or Indian soldiers.
The hero of Gallipoli, Mustapha Kemal, now a general
without a job, sent a large consignment of machine-guns.
So co-operative and compliant were the defeated Turks,
with their many expressions of regret for being pushed into
the war against their old ally by the Germans and the now
exiled Enver and Talaat, that authority became a little
worried. General Maitland-Wilson issued an order to his
subordinate commanders: ‘In view of the special mentality
of the Turkish ruling classes the British government consider
it probable that Turkish propaganda may take the form of
attempting to secure the sympathies of senior British officers.
You will therefore issue strict orders that all offers of Turkish

\ hospitality are to be refused pending the conclusion of

- peace....

2

For although British troops wandered round Constanti-
nople, as did their allies, enjoying the favourable exchange
rate and the cheap drink, trying suspiciously the strange and
exotic foods and disregarding the advice of their superiors
about the sleazier night spots, peace had not yet been signed.
For that they had to wait for the decisions being made in
far off Versailles. ‘

On November 18th, 1918, in the House of Lords, it
had fallen to Lord Curzon to move the ‘humble address
congratulating His Majesty on the conclusion of an Armistice
and on the prospects of a victorious peace’. Speaking of
those prospects Curzon said: ‘peace is in no danger whatso-
ever. The armies have already won peace: it will remain
for the statesmen to see that it is honourable and lasting.’
Such was the mood of confidence and hope not only of the
noble lord but of nearly all the Allied statesmen.

The representatives of twenty-seven nations had gathered
together in Paris, In attendance were 500 journalists who
had taken literally President Wilson’s declaration about
‘covenants openly arrived at’, waiting for every word, hint
or suggestion that fell from the lips of the great men who
were re-drawing the map of Europe, if not of the world.
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Waiting, too, were the millions of people whose lives were
to be lived out within lines drawn on that map. Like the jour-
nalists they had to wait a long time. For the first, elementary,
criticism of the Peace Conference was that it had no form,
no pattern, hardly an agenda. As Winston Churchill
testified, weeks and months were wasted on pointless
committee talk. Thus the principal victors, Britain, France,
the United States, Italy and Japan, frittered away their
immediate advantage of supreme military power and the
moral effect of their victory.

By the time that the Council of Ten, two representatives
from each nation, had reduced itself to a Council of Four,
Clemenceauy, and Orlando,_thé”l’ffrﬁE’Minisféf; of Britain,
France and Italy, it was too late. Originally the French
had proposed logically and harshly that the victors should -

simply impose their terms. This, however, was just the -

sort of peace that President Wilson had sailed across the
Atlantic to prevent. The only Head of State at the Conference,
he had taken the unprecedented step of attending on behalf
of the nation which had suffered least from the war in order
“to put Europe to rights on the principles of his Fourteen
oints. A less determined, less self-righteous, man would
“have been deterred sooner by the immediate results.
What had seemed reasonable and just in Washington,
the principle of self-determination for the subject peoples
of the two defeated empires, Habsburg and Ottoman, when
applied at Versailles created chaos. The Conference became
a sounding board for all the problems of Europe and the
Near East. A score of new nations and a number of older -
ones argued among themselves about their frontiers and
sought by fair means or foul to persuade the Big Four to .
their own point of view.
Further to disillusion the President there was the matter
/| of the Secret Treaties: the agreements entered into by the
British and the French before the date of the U.S.A.’s entry
into the war. Their nature was such as to confirm his
worst suspicions of the old secret diplomacy.
, / On May 18th, 1915, Britain, by the Constantinople
/
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Agreement, had promised Constantinople and the Straits

sl . . . s .
outright to Russia in return for concessions mn Persia.

On April 26th, 1915, in an excessively badly drafted docu-
ment known as the Treaty of London, Italy had been given

her first price for entering the war: vague concessions in
Asia Minor with the right of occupying Adalia. On May
16th, 1916, the ,Sykes-P’ic‘d_anéggg_tM had been entered
into on behalf of Britain and France, its object, among others,
to reassure the French as to their future share of the Arab
lands of Syria, the Lebanon and Adana. This agreement was
intended to allay French suspicions that Britain, who had
sponsored and encouraged the Arab revolt, intended to use
it as a means to increase excessively her own sphere of
control and influence. The agreement satisfied the French
but enraged the Italians, so that by the Treaty of St. Jean-de-
Maurienne of April 17th, 1917, Lloyd George was forced
to give them a second and better price: 70,000 square miles
of Asia Minor including Smyrna.

Now the Constantinople Agreement had been made with
the government of the Tsar, and was simultaneously pub-
lished and denounced by the Soviet government in 1917.
The Treaty of St. Jean-de-Maurienne contained the proviso
‘subject to the consent of Russia’, and that was no longer
obtainable or valid. Still, despite the absence of one former
ally the Secret Treaties remained, revealing the desperation
of wartime, shocking the high-minded President with their
immorality, and bedevilling his well-laid schemes with what
remained of their obligations.

There were two other points worth observing: the
promises made to the Italians contradicted Edward Grey’s
original promise to the Greeks, and, while all the agreements
were made at the expense of the Ottoman Empire, in the case
of those two contradictory bargains the territorial promises

" were to be carved out of Turkey proper.

Not that any of the delegates at Versailles or their advisers
gave much thought to Turkey. The memoirs and biographies
of the period testify to the feelings of exasperation and
frustration which slowly crept over the overworked partici-
pants, as they wrestled with the countless, contradictory
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issues of peace. The American President’s failure to under-
stand the Europe which he was determined to reform; his
preoccupation with the League of Nations. The French
determination to neutralise Germany militarily and econo-
mically for ever. The ‘sacred egoism’ (the phrase was that
of an Italian Prime Minister, an expert in the field), of
those nations, Italy and Japan in particular, determined
to claim the bribes for their past services. The Congress of
Vienna in 1815 had, so it was said, danced. The Conference

of Versaiiles had little time for dancing w}ﬁafwgfféa,
Plotted; argued and intrigued to reconcile _the claims,
~teligious, racial, geographical and ‘economic, of the new
Europe. Each elected representative was spurred on by the
knowledge that at home there was an electorate ready to
hurl him from power if his demands in the sacred cause of
nationalism were not as rapacious and intolerant as its own.

Against this background must be judged the actions of
the two Prime Ministers, David Lloyd George and Eleftherios
Veniselos. Lloyd George was the only Allied premier to
submit himself to a general election between the ending of
the war and the opening of the peace negotiations. On
December 14th Britain had voted, and the results were out
a fortnight later: a sweeping victory for Lloyd George, with
474 of his supporters returned as against a mixed opposition
of 222, of whom seventy-three were Sinn Feiners who refused
to take their seats at Westminster.

Yet it was a curious victory. Lloyd George had been
Prime Minister of a Coalition government since he had
replaced Asquith in December 1916. The Asquithian
Liberals, including Sir Edward Grey, had gone into oppo-
sition and Lloyd George had reigned supreme, relying on
Conservative and Coalition Liberal votes. In 1918, in
agreement with Andrew Bonar Law, the unassuming,
colourless Conservative leader who during the last two
years of the war had been Chancellor of the Exchequer,
Lloyd George had taken his Coalition to the polls. Each
candidate loyal to the Coalition had been provided with a
letter signed by Lloyd George and Bonar Law: ‘a coupon’,
Asquith had contemptuously called it.
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Ostensibly his motive was to preserve unity in the difficult
post-war period and to gain a mandate for the Peace Confer-
ence, but the Prime Minister’s critics, and there were many,
maintained that ‘the Coupon Election’ was a piece of sharp
practice whereby he capitalised, and quickly, on his wartime
reputation. In the short term, sharp practice or no, Lloyd
George’s tactics seemed justified, but in the long term there
were dangers. Only twenty-six opposition Liberals had been
returned, Asquith himself had lost his seat, the old Liberal
Party was vitually destroyed, but Lloyd George was himself
a Liberal. Henceforth he relied ofi Conservative votes, and "

T

Conservatives, although they acknowledged the reputation
and abilities of ‘the Welsh wizard’, owed their ultimate
party loyalty not to the Prime Minister but to Bonar Law,

now Lord Privy Seal, Leader of the House of Commons, and
in all save mame, Deputy Prime Minister.

At the moment there was no sign of rift or dissension
between Lloyd George and his loyal Conservative lieutenant.
There were a few clouds on the horizon, it is true, but they
were but the size of men’s hands. The Times and the Daily

i Mail disapproved of the Government, but that was to be
“expected of papers owned by the megalomaniacal Lord
i Northcliffe, notoriously anti-Lloyd George since the Prime
“Minister had curtly refused his demand for a seat at the
Peace Conference and a place in the Cabinet for his son.
_The House of Commons, like The Times, had changed.
Asquith described it as the worst he had ever seen, but then
doubtless the defeated Asquith was a trifle biased. The
comment, attributed to Stanley Baldwin, a future Conserva-
tive Prime Minister, that it was ‘full of hard-faced men who
looked as if they had done well 6ut of the war’, summed
it up. The leaders of the Cénservative Party with business
backgrounds, such as Baldwin himself and Bonar Law, were
men of undoubted integrity, but over many of theirsupporters
on the back benches there !}‘;‘Bg an aura of quick money made
. while better men died.
" “The “Government, after the election, had, perhaps
unfortunately, changed very little. The wartime pattern of
an inner caucus of powerful men lingered on, exacerbated
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by the Prime Minister’s habit of taking advice from whom-
soever he chose rather than conforming to any regular method
of consultation. These powerful men formed an ill-matched

team.
_F. E. Smith, now ennobled as Viscount Birkenhead, the
ord Chancellor, was a brilliant lawyer, with a tongue like =
_a razor whether drunk or sober. Consumed by personal
ambition he also fancied himself as a philosopher and a
politician and was neither. A. J. Balfour, soon to relinquish
the Foreign Office to his second-in-command Lord Curzon,
was an ex-Prime Minister and an elder statesman retaining
the manner and the habits of thought of a previous gener-
ation, with no aptitude for the new, harsh world of post-war
politics.
His successor, Lord Curzon, had been Viceroy of India -
at the age of thiﬁ?—ﬁfﬁé;iﬁd hoped to be Prime Minister:
“before he died. Undoubtedly the best-informed Foreign
Secretary, especially upon the East, that Britain had ever
had, there was something not quite right about Curzon.
v With his Roman face, his back and shoulders rigidly encased
v | in a surgical steel corset to correct a curvature of the spine,
he seemed determined to live up to the couplet of his

undergraduate days:

‘I am George Nathaniel Curzon,
I am a very important person,
To lesser men I do not speak,

I dine at Blenheim once a week.’

This, however, was the exterior he presented to the
world. Beneath there was an over-sensitive, intelligent man
with vast industry, application and knowledge, but lacking
in that last ounce of resolution necessary in a statesman.
Pontifical, verbose, opinionated, prone to see slights where

__none existed, the Foreign Secretary was not an easy colleague.
Nor was George Nathaniel Curzon, Baron Curzon of
Kedleston, Baron Ravensdale, Viscount Scarsdale, 1st Earl

/| Curzon of Kedleston, Knight of the Garter, Knight Grand
Commander of the Star of India, Knight Grand Commander
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of the Order of the Indian Empire, politically a person with
whom to go tiger-shooting.

At the other end of the spectrum was Lloyd George’s
Secretary of State for the Colonies and also the Air Depart-
ment, Winston Churchill. Himself a Liberal, an admirer
and pre-war colleague of the Prime Minister, he possessed
in abundance that loyalty and resolution which Curzon
lacked. Unfortunately the Gallipoli failure still hung round
his neck like an albatross, and his re-introduction to office

in the last year of the war was described as ‘an insult to

e e,

~the Army and Navy’. He was unpopular with the public and
“many of his colleagues, who regarded him, with some justice,
as impulsive, bellicose and unduly obsessed by the new
Bolshevik menace. Perhaps the only true friend Lloyd
George had in the government, it was unfortunate that his
friendship was a very mixed blessing indeed.

It was not, however, the quality of the men he had chosen
that was the Prime Minister’s immediate concern but the
mood of the electorate. The release at last from four years
of war had left the British public in a mood for revenge.
The recent election campaign had produced phrases such
as ‘Hang the Kaiser’ and ‘Germany must pay’. Fantastic
suitis were bandied about which it was hoped would be
forced out of the defeated enemy by way of reparations.
Both Lloyd George and Bonar Law had been very careful
themselves to give little actual encouragement to such
possibilities, but they had exercised no restraint over their
supporters and fellow candidates. So the grossly inflated
estimates of self-styled economic experts had, in fact, been
promised from the election platforms, and had no doubt
contributed to the Coalition victory. Now the lack of
vigilance and the passive acquiescence of the two party
leaders had come home to roost. Lloyd George was Prime
Minister and at Versailles to produce results, and results
which he knew he could not produce.

So too was Veniselos, but his objects were clear cut and in
the event easier to attain. For three years he had fought and

. argued to take Greece into the war. Finally he had succeeded,

Y l but in the process the King had been deposed, foreign soldiers
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had invaded Greece and Veniselos had entered Athens
escorted by Cretan soldiers in French steel helmets, while
the Allied fleet lay off the city. Many of his fellow country-
men had been alienated in consequence. Greece, it is true, i
was now a victor, but the Prime Minister had to return
home with the fruits of victory. '
Using all his sagacity and charm Veniselos set about the
task of persuading the Council of Four to accept the Greek
case for territorial compensation. Apart from his own
abilities, which were considerable, he had many advantages
on his side and many arguments which he could deploy. The
right of self-determination was an_obvious one; did not
his include all those of Greek race still"fﬁ_l:qw@l_t_hﬂ urks?
fter all; ‘one of the many half-formed plans which foated™
about in the air of the Peace Conference was one for the

creation of ‘British, Frénch and Italian spheres of influence’
in Turkey. Originally the Russians, too, had been included.
The U.S.A., it was thought, might become the protector
of the Armenians. Only Lord Curzon objected to this, and
offered three lengthy, erudite memoranda to his govern-
ment on the subject which were ignored, but even he
was in favour of the internationalisation of Constantinople.

Unlike Lord Curzon, the other Allied statesmen had no
knowledge of Turkey, or Asia Minor for that matter, and
Veniselos’ request to take up Edward Grey’s offer had the
advantage of simplicity and directness, plus the fact that
it imposed no extra tasks on anyone except the Greeks.
Reparations, the Rhine, the Ruhr, Silesia, Poland—these
were the big questions. Why should not the so persuasive
M. Veniselos have a bit of the Aegean coast? Only the
Italians objected to an extension of Greek influence in the
Eastern Mediterranean, but this was simply jealousy, and
perhaps that could be assuaged by giving them some other
convenient bit of Turkish territory.

So Veniselos, in his curious square black silk skull cap,
argued” before the Council of Four, and charmed Lloyd
George with a reference to the Welsh language and flattered
Woodrow Wilson with a compliment on the efficiency of
American schools in Albania and a nicely assumed interest
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\ in the League of Nations. In the evenings he entertained in

! his over-heated hotel suite with the two evzone sentries at
the door, and delighted his guests by reciting Homer and,
more up to date, by relating stories of his struggles in the
Cretan hills. The atmosphere distilled was, as Harold
! Nicolson,! at the time one of Lloyd George’s advisers,

described it, ‘a strange medley of charm, brigandage, welt-

politik, patriotism and courage’. So taken was Nicolson

, that in writing to his father on February 25th, 1919, he

said: ‘I can’t tell you the position Veniselos has here. He
and Lenin are the only two really great men in Europe.’

An observer from a smaller nation, envious of Veniselos’
facility, grudgingly admitted that ‘every time Veniselos

sees Wilson the map of Europe is changed’. Yet it was not

~ Wilson but Lloyd George who finally tipped he balance in

i
i

{
!

\

Veniselos’ favour. “There were so many reasons why the
two men should warm to each other. Both were in origin
lawyers with humble backgrounds; both were members of
“proud minority races in their own country; both were
impatient of generals and somewhat contemptuous of kings;
both, though unfortunately neither realised it, were prone
to self-delusion.

"~ Therehad been many philhellenic English statesmen before

in Greece’s history, aristocrats reared on the classics and
consequently often disillusioned by contact with the living
Greek. Men who could dissert with warmth on the Pelo-
ponnesian War, but who were very cool with regard to the
political rivalries of the present Hellenic kingdom. Lord
Curzon was one such, and could have thrown in a history
of the Byzantine Empire for good measure, but Lloyd

1 Harold Nicolson followed his father, Lord Carnock, into the Foreign

* Office in 1906, Delegation to the Peace Conference in 1919. He resigned
from the Foreign Office in 1929, and there followed an uneasy period
in politics. In 1931 he was a candidate for Mosley’s New Party. From
1935 to 1945 he was a National Labour M.P. In 1947 he joined the
Labour Party.

Happier in literature than diplomacy or politics, he wrote, among
many works, studies of Byron (dedicated to Veniselos), of his father, of
Curzon and the official biography of George V. Knighted in 1953,
he died in 1968.
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George’s enthusiasm was not based on Thucydides. The
old Liberal Nonconformist feeling for a small Christian
nation oppressed by the unbeliever was strong in him, and
the mantle of Gladstone had fallen on his very un-Gladsto-
nian shoulders. It was not the sea battle of Aegospotami in
405 B.c. which intrigued him, but the future of the Greeks,
as he told Churchill, as a seafaring nation, friendly to
Britain, dominating the Eastern Mediterranean and pro- .
tecting the route to India.

The Prime Minister of Great Britain had to his own

satisfaction rediscovered the Greeks and had fallen under the

spell of Veniselos. Marshal Foch might advise the French
against the project and Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson
might also be very doubtful from the military point of view,
but soldiers had never been his favourite counsellors. Lloyd
George himself was a little hazy about the details in his
enthusiasm; for instance, when negotiating with the Italian
delegation he had taken a contour map to be an ethno-_
graphic one and had pointed out green valleys as Greeks
and brown hills as Turks to further his argument. Finally
{here was the virtually unvoiced argument, but one which
was understood and appreciated very well by the British
delegation and particularly the Prime Minister: if the
Greeks returned from the Peace Conference empty handed
the chances of Veniselos, the friend of Britain, staying in
power were very slim indeed.

So, while the Conference moved in its ponderous way
towards its main concern, the peace treaty with Germany,
Veniselos, with the blessing of Lloyd George, was given
his reward in Turkey.

On May 14th, 1919, Harold Nicolson wrote to his wife,
Vita Sackville-West, describing how as a member of the
‘Greek Committee’ he had been called in by Lloyd George to
the final consultation the day before. ‘So I went in. There
were Wilson and Clemenceau with their armchairs drawn
close over my map on the hearth rug. I was there about
half an hour—talking and objecting . . . The President was
extremely nice and so was Ll. G. Clemenceau was cantank-
erous. The “mais voyons, jeune homme” style. It is appalling
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! that these ignorant and irresponsible men should be cutting

; Asia Minor to bits as if they were dividing a cake. And with
| no one there except me, who incidentally have nothing to
do with Asia Minor.’

Nicolson, full of foreboding, went off to draft the appro-
priate resolutions. Wilson, Lloyd George and Clemenceau
had taken advantage of the absence of the Italian Prime
Minister, Orlando, who had withdrawn his delegation in

. a huffover Fiume and was the only objector, to give Veniselos
' his head. Unofficially their permission had been conveyed
' to him beforehand, so that he could forestall any possible
action in the same area by the Italians, who might rely on
the St.-Jean-de-Maurienne Treaty.
~ So on May 15th, under the protection of the guns of
" their own and the Allied fleets, the Greeks landed three
divisions at Smyrna.

Lloyd George was not familiar with Thucydides, but
Veniselos was to occupy one of his periods of exile with the
translation of that particular author. Doubtless, therefore,
he could have recalled the passage in Book VI where
Alcibiades, encouraging the Athenians on their way to
their disastrous invasion of Sicily, says:

“In the assurance therefore that in going abroad we shall
increase our power at home, let us set out on this voyage . ..
Our security is guaranteed by our navy, so that we can either
stay there, if things go well, or come back again. ...

68



Y,

“The Turk was still alive’
Winston Churchill

The entry of Greek troops into Smyrna provoked no head-
lines in the world press.
Turkey, like Germany and Austria-Hungary, was a

defeated nation. Germany had been forced to accept Allied

armies of occupation. The empire of the Habsburgs had
obligingly split itself into its component parts. Austria and
Hungary were now merely two penniless ill-fed republics.
The Allies seemed all-powerful. Doubtless in time at Ver-
sailles they would get round to a formal peace treaty with
the Ottoman Empire as well, but at the moment it seemed
a useful territorial pool from which to reward old friends.

M. Veniselos, noted Harold Nicolson, was perturbed
to hear that the Greek troops had behaved badly on entering
Smyrna, but no one else was particularly concerned. No one,
that is, save the British sailors on board their warships in
the harbour who watched the scene.

The remnants of the Turkish army still in Smyrna were

in no condition to offer any resistance and the Greeks i
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/. entered the city like conquerors. Monsignor Chrystosomos,
the returned Archbishop of Smyrna, stood on the quay in
full canonicals and blessed the troops as they disembarked.
Any Turkish soldiers who could be found were disarmed and
led off as prisoners of war. Then suddenly the centuries-
old hatred of Greek for Turk became too much for a nation
never renowned for its calm in either victory or defeat.
The Greek inhabitants of Smyrna, inflamed by the sight of
defeated Turks, began to join in. The hated fezzes, symbols

, of foreign rule, were knocked from the heads of prisoners
and the Turks were forced to tread on them. Any Turk who
showed signs of resistance was manhandled or humiliated.

Tempers frayed and shots were fired. Within hours over

* thirty Turkish officers had been killed, and numbers of dead
and wounded soldiers, shot or bayoneted, lay along the quay.

More Greek soldiers were disembarked from the troop-
ships and under their protection the Smyrna Greeks began to
avenge their years of subservience. Soon the whole port area
was in complete disorder, any Turk was in danger. Indeed
a few old-fashioned Greeks, or persons of mixed race with
which any port abounds, who on this side of the Aegean
wore the fez as their normal headgear, were taken for Turks
by the troops and suffered accordingly.

At Versailles the statesmen and their staffs, Greeks and
Turks forgotten, returned to their maps and their resolutions,
and their triple task of drawing up peace treaties, redistri-
buting Europe and giving form and substance to Woodrow
Wilson’s concept of a League of Nations. From his ship in
Smyrna harbour a British naval officer saw a Greek woman y,
crouch over a wounded Turkish soldier who had cried out
for water and urinate into his mouth. Other officers were
astounded and horrified to see that neither Greek officers )
nor soldiers showed any inclination to prevent such abomi-
nations, but were content to let their compatriots run riot.
Soon British sailors were watching the bodies of dead Turks
floating past in the water of the harbour.

. Eventually Admiral Gough-Calthorpe, in his capacity

| as High Commissioner, demanded of the Greek admiral that

/ order be restored, and also complained officially to M.
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Stergiades, also a ‘High Commissioner’ and in effect the
new Civil Governor of Smyrna. Unfortunately, matters were
out of the hands of Stergiades. He, a reasonable man, a
Veniselist who wanted to see the Prime Minister’s policy
succeed and who consequently wished to reconcile all the
inhabitants of Smyrna to Greek rule, was powerless and in
despair. For far more typical of the attitude of the new
'Greek colonists was that of the reinstated Archbishop
Chrysostomos, who saw the invasion in simple terms of cross
against crescent. The Governor soon had cause to disagree
with the Archbishop’s public utterances which were more
suited in tone to the times of the Greek War of Independence
than to the twentieth century. Nevertheless Chrysostomos, a
not uncommon type of Greek political priest, persisted and '
sed inflammatory language whenever the opportunity .
occurred.

One such occasion was when the Archbishop was con-
fronted with Nourredin Pasha, the outgoing Turkish
governor, who was being allowed to return to Constantinople.
The Archbishop objected, saying that he would have
preferred to see Nourredin shot. Archbishop and Governor
were to meet again. At present, however, despite the efforts
of Stergiades on the spot, and the concern of Veniselos who
was still in Paris, the Greek occupation seemed to have
started in the worst possible way. On the insistence of
Veniselos an inquiry was later held into the violence of
those first days, but it did nothing to eradicate the impression
that the new rule in Smyrna and the vilayet of Aidin was
to mean oppression for the Turks. The British and U.S.
consuls telegraphed their home governments pointing out
that their worst fears had been confirmed. The American
missionaries in Anatolia, who had been opposed to the
settlement from the start, again sent their views to President
Woodrow Wilson. What notice was taken of these com-
munications by the busy men in Paris is not known, but

* it was too late now: the Greeks were committed and in any

event showed no signs of being in the mood to listen to

advice.
Anyhow, what had they to fear? The Turks were defeated
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and the now ‘redeemed’ Greek population of Smyrna danced
in the streets, treading underfoot any Turkish flags or
symbols they could find and shouting ‘Zito Veniselos’.
After all, were there not as many Greeks as Turks in Smyrna,
and were not the British and French, the allies of Greece,
all powerful?

Actually, in fairness, nothing said or done at this time by
the British and French or even the Italian governments
gave the Greeks any cause to think otherwise. The co-
operation of wartime looked as if it would continue. Indeed,
only three weeks before the Smyrna landing, Greek troops
had actually been fighting alongside French in the only
sphere of operations where Allied troops were still on
active service in any numbers: in the chaos of post-
Revolution Russia. For some time two of their divisions,
provided by the ever-helpful Veniselos, had been engaged

~ with_two French divisions, plus a Polish and a Romanian

contingent, in trying "to stem the Bolshevik advance

I around Odessa and in the Crimea. However, to the disgust

of Clemenceau, who like Churchill had hopes of the
venture, the French troops became disheartened and

\disaﬁ'ected. They began to sport red rosettes, circulate

| subversive pamphlets and news sheets, and were soon on

| the verge of mutiny.

On April 6th, 1919, the last French troopship sailed
from Odessa, on hurried orders from Paris, leaving the
Crimea, except for Kertch at the eastern extremity, to the
Soviets. The Greek troops, still staunch, left with them, and
it was thought advisable in these last stages that each
French warship on which the crews had refused to obey their
officers should be ‘marked’ by a vessel of the Greek navy.
Many Greek soldiers and sailors were transferred, no doubt
to their own relief, to the less onerous task of swelling the
occupying forces in Anatolia. For that operation, at this
time and for a considerable time to come, was regarded as
being, militarily speaking, a walk-over. In fact, hardly a
military operation at all.

The Turks, with their army disintegrated and their
capital occupied, were not thought capable of resistance.
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The Sultan, it was said, had burst into tears of impotent e
rage at the news of the Smyrna landing, but what could the
Sultan, looking at the guns of an Allied battle fleet from

his palace window, do? Somehow the distinction was never
made between the Sultan, a prisoner in Constantinople, and

his subjects. The Allies observed the effete cosmopolitan
society of the capital and dealt with a government of polite
puppets, but saw no difference between such as these and the
tough, simple peasantry of the Anatolian uplands.

Yet there were warning signs for those who had eyes
to see them.

Even the British, who had slipped easily into the role of
benevolent rulers to yet another Asiatic nation, were
beginning to notice a change in the attitude of the Turks
in Anatolia after Smyrna. The arms stopped rolling in, v

.~ isolated sentries and outposts were sniped at, and the orders
of British officers were no longer obeyed. The mixed British
and Indian force occupying the Ismid peninsula opposite
Constantinople might even have been excused for thinking
that the war had broken out again. In July, 1919, they
suddenly found that a body of over 400 Turkish soldiers
had infiltrated into the peninsula and blown up the bridge
at Gebze and occupied the village. The communications of
all the British forces ran along the coast and the bridge was
a vital link in the chain. So, on the 12th of July a combined
force of cavalry, Indian infantry and an artillery battery
set out from the base at Touzla to recapture the village and
repair the bridge. On the 13th the first object was achieved
and the bridge was rebuilt by sappers within three days,
but not before a minor battle had been fought. It was
distinguished by a charge by the 20th Hussars which, as it
turned out, was to be the last ever executed by a complete
British cavalry regiment.

The Hussars, wielding their swords in the thin morning
sun, and killing twenty-five Turks in the process, went down
the path of military history, but there was another perhaps
more significant aspect of the action round the village of
Gebze. The conduct of the Turks. Although described as )
a mere ‘band of Turkish Nationalists’ they ‘behaved most / L

73



admirably’. They did not panic, although surprised by the
goth Hussars who charged right through them, then wheeled
and charged again. Even after the second charge they stood
their ground, firing back and hitting several horses and
wounding an officer and a trooper. Finally, threatened by
a battalion of advancing Garhwalis they retired, but
‘deliberately and quite coolly’, dispersing into the rough
~surrounding countryside. The British, with their imperial
background, could class the incident with one of a thousand
such others on the North-West Frontier of India, but there
were obviously still soldiers in Turkey who, if given a
Cause and a leader, would have to be taken into account.
~—THe cause was in—fact there already, the one form of
nationalism not considered at the Peace Conference, that
of the Turks themselves. Now it had been fanned into flame
in the hearts of the dour Anatolian peasants by the invasion
“of their homeland by the despised and hatéd Greeks. The
~mews of the Smyrna landing had spread like wildfire and
~meedless to say the details of the atrocities lost nothing by
‘tepetition. In the Turkish view these atrocities were the
final humiliation suffered at the hands of a former subject
race, which had only achieved its own independence with
the aid of foreign arms, and had now been set by those same
powerful friends to rule over Turks.

All that was needed was a leader and he was provided
largely through the negligence and short-sightedness of the
British.

On April goth, 1919, Mustapha Kemal had been appoin-
ted Inspector-General of the gth Turkish army in Anatolia
and~6ii May 19th had landed at Samsun on the southern
shore of the Black Sea, over 300 miles from Constantinople.

The appointment of the thirty-eight-year-old General, the
hero of Gallipoli, was by order of the Sultan’s puppet
government and neither his appointment nor his transfer
to Anatolia were objected to by the British authorities.
Indeed Kemal, with his past record of disagreement with
both the Germans and the Young Turks, was regarded quite
favourably. Anatolia was known to be in a state of turmoil,
with disbanded soldiers forming themselves into brigand
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. bands. Perhaps this general, apparently still loyal to the
Sultan, to whom he had been appointed an A.D.C., would
use the remaining regular forces to restore some discipline - '
and order. So it was hoped that on one hand the Greeks
could be allowed to invade Anatolia, while at the same time

_ - the Turkish army could be employed to restrain the indig-
nation provoked by that same invasion. What was not

realised until too late was that Kemal had hidden his own
feelings of resentment at the Greek invasion under a stern.
professional exterior and that he had virtually engineered
his own appointment in order to rouse up his fellow country-
men in Anatolia.

He moved with incredible speed. In little over a month,
using a mixture of cajolery and threats, now posing as a
Ioyal officer of the Sultan, now appearing as a revolutionary,
e gathered round him the nucleus of a resistance movement.
Certainly he was not alone, there were many willing helpers,
but without him it would not have been done. A loosely
constituted but grandly named National Congress met at
Sivas and hammered out a Declaration of Intent. At a two-
week-Iong meeting which began on July 23rd at Erzerum,

=~

the capital of Eastern Turkey, the Declaration was expanded.
There, far from possible interference by the occupying
forces, the National Pact was produced. It was a simple
document of short paragraphs and set out in general terms
a nationalist constitution and limited boundaries for a new
Turkey, independent of the old Ottoman Empire. Ifit had been
~prodiuced by one of the new European nations, Poland,
/ Czechoslovakia or Yugoslavia, its terms would have been
regarded as unexceptionable, even welcome. Yet for Turkey,
| occupied in part by the British, French, Italians and Greeks,
it was a declaration of war.

A few weeks before, when the nature of his activities had
become known, the Sultan’s government had demanded
Kemal’s return to Constantinople, and when he had not
obeyed he had been dismissed from the Turkish army. In
fact Kemal had already anticipated his own dismissal by
resigning voluntarily; he realised that from now on he was
in truth a revolutionary.
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In October the government in Constantinople under
Damad Ferid, finding itself in an impossible position,
resigned. The Allies were now hoist with their own professed
doctrines of nationalism and self-determination. As a
possible way out they determined to use the machinery
granted on paper in 1878 by the Sultan Abdul Hamid and
never used. The Turks were to have a general election and

| it was hoped that the result would show Kemal’s movement

,up as but a temporary enthusiasm. The composition of the
newly elected parliament was announced on November

| gth; it had a large Nationalist majority. As Winston Churchill

| put it, “The Allies were loyal to the principal of representa-

tive government: accordingly the Turks had voted. Unhap-
pily, they had almost all of them voted the wrong way.’

In Anatolia, Mustapha Kemal’s status increased, and
even in Constantinople processions began to march through
the streets carrying Star and Crescent banners proclaiming
the new Turkey for the Turks. By the beginning of 1920 it
was becoming plain that Allied control of Turkey went just
“as far-and no farther than their naval guns could fire and
their soldiers march. The Allies were naturally confused,
unjustifiably surprised, and quaintly indignant. Again in
Churchill’s words, written after the event and with the
consequent advantage of hindsight: ‘Loaded with follies,
stained with crimes, rotted by misgovernment, shattered by
battle, worn down by long disastrous wars, his empire falling
to pieces around him, the Turk was still alive.” Unfortunately
the lesson being painfully learnt week by week, almost day
by day, by the Allied representatives in Constantinople and
by their soldiers in the rest of Turkey did not seem to be
absorbed by their political masters at home.

In February of the new year the House of Commons
was getting restive. In January the Cabinet had virtually
overruled the Prime Minister by deciding that the Peace
Treaty with Turkey must allow the Turks to remain in
Constantinople. In accord with good constitutional
practice it therefore became Lloyd George’s unhappy lot
to defend this decision in the Commons. A number of
backbenchers were considerably annoyed by the fact that
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Above The Allies. The Kaiser, the Sultan and Enver Pasha in
Constantinople, 1917

Below The Victors. Lieutenant-General Sir Henry Maitland-
Wilson welcomes General Franchet d’Espérey to Constantinople,
February 1919



Above Harington (in light uniform) watching reinforcements
arrive in Constantinople

Below The first refugees from Wrangel’s White Russian Army
arrive in Constantinople, November 1920




King Constantine

King Alexander




Lloyd George with Poincaré after lunch at 1o Downing Street,
19 June 1922 (left to right, seated, Balfour, Poincaré, Lloyd
George, Pétain; standing, between Balfour and Poincaré,
Worthington-Evans—with cigar)
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the decision had been first telegraphed to Admiral de Robeck,
the new High Commissioner in Constantinople, and at a
later date to the Viceroy of India, Lord Chelmsford, for
public announcement without Parliament being given an
opportunity to first debate the matter. The move had been
an obvous one to placate local feeling in the Turkish capital
and Moslem sentiments in India as quickly as possible.
Though when the question was finally debated on February
2oth, Lloyd George was given no cause to regret the timing
whereby, according to Sir Donald Maclean (the temporary
leader of the Liberal party until Asquith could be found a safe
seat), ‘the House and the country had not been fairly treated
by the government’.

It was an acrimonious debate and the opinions expressed
were various and largely irreconcilable. The Commons was
worse than the Cabinet. Sir Donald went on to quote from
some of the Prime Minister’s previous speeches. In November
1914, for instance, when he had described the Turks as
‘2 human cancer, a creeping agony in the flesh of the lands
which they misgoverned’, and in December 1919 when,
referring to the Straits, he had said: ‘Can we leave those
gates which were slammed in our face under the same
gate-keeper? They were shut treacherously in our face.
We cannot trust the same porter.” Sir Donald wondered why
we were now going to trust the same porter and at the same
time do nothing to help the Armenians and other Christian
minorities still ‘under the heel of the Turk’.

Lieutenant-Colonel Guinness was equally concerned
about the Christian minorities but felt that driving the
Turks out of Constantinople would not help. In his opinion
“We should go in and help Turkey to govern herself.” Many
members talked of ‘the British pledge’ to India and seemed
to think that in some strange way Indian Moslem troops had
fought Turks only on the understanding that Constantinople
should remain Turkish. On the other hand Mr. Adamson

wanted the League of Nations to take over and make the

city its h&id'cﬁfar—@}s——‘THéCahphcouldﬁremam there like
the Pope in Rome, with no temporal power.” Lord Robert
Ceail “also felt that intefiational government by the
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League would be the best solution, for ‘to leave the Turks
there would be to fail in the purpose for which we went to
war’. Mr. T. P. O’Connor had the courage to say that he
thought that Indian concern was largely artificial. The holy
cities of Mecca, Medina, Baghdad and Jerusalem had all
been taken from the Turks and ‘the history of Constantinople
was no source of pleasure or pride to thinking Moslems’.
Lieutenant-Commander Kenworthy endeavoured to keep

! the temperature down by suggesting that the Dardanelles
. would soon be obsolete strategically because of the increasing
. use of air routes.

Lloyd George in his speech pointed out that previous
arrangements on the future of Constantinople had depended
in turn on Russian co-operation and then on American help.
Neither was now forthcoming. He then endeavoured to
placate the ‘Indian lobby’ by talking of India’s war effort,
her influence at the Peace Conference and by a complimen-
tary reference to the Aga Khan. It was not his best speech.
He did however re-define for the benefit of the House
Britain’s present ‘peace aims’. They were the freedom of the
Straits, the freeing of non-Turkish communities, but the
preservation of Turkish self-government in communities
mainly Turkish. There must be adequate safeguards for
minorities and ‘the Turk must be deprived of the power to
veto the development of the rich lands under his rule’.
To ensure these aims, apparently the Allies would continue
to garrison the Straits with the help of the Navy.

Bonar Law, who summed up for the government at the
end of the day, followed his chief’s line and said little about
means but something about ends, the ends that at the
moment satisfied the House of Commons, ‘that Constanti-|
nople shall cease to be a focus for war’, and ‘that the power
of the Turks over subject races shall be prevented’.

When the language of apparent power was used by
Ministers of the House of Commons it was not surprising
that many honourable members seemed to think that the
return of Constantinople to the Turks was too large a
concession to a beaten foe. That view was, needless to say,
not shared by the Turks. The announcement did nothing
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to reconcile Nationalist opinion ‘which was more outraged .

by the Greek invasion than by the Allied occupation, which

it had never regarded as being permanent. On January 28th

~the newly elected Chamber of Deputies in Constantinople
had adopted Kemal’s ‘National Pact’. There was now the
distinct possibility that the Allies as well as being faced
with a revolt in Anatolia might have one on their hands in
Constantinople at the same time. Accordingly on March
16th to prevent such a possibility the city was occupied
militarily by British, French and Italian troops. Henceforth
the only government there was to be that of the military
-eommanders.

On both sides open antagonism was growing. On April
11th the Allies dissolved the unsatisfactory Chamber, the
“first properly elected one the Turks had ever had, and |
arrested a number of Deputies. By way of retaliation and

“object Iesson combined, twelve days later, invulnerable in
his new headquarters in Ankara, Mustapha Kemal opened
the first meeting of the Turkish Grand National Assembly.

—These events might never have been, ‘however, so far
as their effect was apparent on the statesmen of Britain,
France, Italy and Greece, for on May 13th, at last, | the terms___ '
of the peace treaty with Turkey, the Treaty of Sevres,

~were made public. It was nearly a year and a half from the
“onclusion of hostilities with Turkey. The treaty was the”

“product of many conferences and discussions and by the
time its terms were announced, as many wits remarked, they
were about as durable as the famous porcelain from the
same town. Even the manner of the treaty’s announcement
did little to make its acceptance by the Turks more likely.
The first they heard of the terms came, not from the Supreme
Council at Paris, but from M. Veniselos in Athens. He had
been given advance information and decided to use it to
boost his own prestige.

Moderate Turkish opinion had been offended by the
cavalier treatment meted out to the Ministers and Deputies
of their first Parliament and by the high-handed manner
of the military occupation of Constantinople. The terms

of the Treaty of Sévres were the last straw; the occupation
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was temporary, these were to be the permanent conditions
of peace. Constantinople, as they knew already, was to
remain Turkish. The Arab lands were to be lost, that was
inevitable. The French were to have Syria and the British
to administer mandates in Palestine and Mesopotamia. The
Bosphorus, the Sea of Marmora and the Dardanelles were in
some ill-defined way to be converted into an open waterway

under international control. That again might have been .

reasonably expected from a study of past history.

It was the remaining terms which provoked the headlines
in the Constantinople newspapers and created sympathisers
overnight for the resistance movement in Anatolia. Greece
was confirmed in her possession of Smyrna and its hinterland,
with some paper talk of a plebiscite which deceived no one.
In addition she was to have a majority of the Aegean islands
and the Gallipoli peninsula. Western and Eastern Thrace
were also to be hers, so that all that remained to Turkey
on the European shore was an indefensible strip of land to
the west of Constantinople. The Dodecanese islands were
confirmed as an Italian possession. A separate independent
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state of Armenia was to be created on the Russian border
et - . - . - <
* “with Erzerum as its centre. Kurdistan was to be autonomous.. -

Overall, the hated Capitulations, whereby foreigners enjoyed
special rights under the law, were to be reintroduced.

““The Turkish armed forces were placed under Allied super-
vision, a gendarmerie was to be established under Allied
officers. Turkey’s finances were to be effectively in Allied
hands. Finally, coincident with the treaty and dependent
upon its ratification, Britain, France and Italy agreed upon
their future spheres of influence in Turkey on the lines of
their old wartime agreements. Turkey, independent Turkey,
was to be reduced to Constantinople and the north-western
quarter of Anatolia.

In the face of the warnings of Lord Curzon, backed up
by the reports of Admiral de Robeck, contrary to the
advice of Churchill and the War Office and despite clear
indications of lukewarm support by the French and Italians,
somehow Lloyd George’s enthusiasm and personality had

carried the day and at the Villa Nirvana at San Remo the
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final draft had been agreed. As if Turkey had been in a
vacuum for the last seventeen months a treaty had been
produced to be ratified by the Turks and enforced if neces-
sary by the Allies.

At the time of the military occupation of Constantinople
Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, the C.I.G.S., had confided |

to his diary: ‘The Frocks are completely out of touch with

realities. They seem to think that their writ runs in Turkey
in Asia’. They were to be brought face to face with realities
in a very short time indeed. On the same day as the announce- |
ment of the terms of the Treaty of Sevres was made in |

Athens the French commander in the ancient Cilicia of | - o
a4

s
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the Crusaders, the area north of the Syrian border round & ¢
the Iskenderon Gulf, was forced to sign an armistice with >

the Turkish Nationalist forces. This in part of an area bl
confirmed by the Sévres Treaty as a French sphere of] © a
influence. The French after ejecting the Emir Feisal from ' =
his throne in Damascus had found themselves faced with g
guerrilla attacks by not only the Syrians but the Turks as < +
well. With weak forces on the spot and with little enthusiasm cff s
for what looked like developing into a full-scale war the S =
French, under their one-armed, bearded and normally fire- S o
eating commander, General Gourand, had decided to come g .=
to terms. The first of the Allies had broken under the strain. 3\ 5

Before the end of the year the French were to evacuate
their troops from Marash and retire back to the confines

of Syria. T
It was an ill omen for the future and a lesson not lost
on Mustapha Kemal. In June, under his inspiration but
not his control, a small army of irregulars advanced into
the Ismid peninsula to try conclusions with the British.
They, more resolute than the French, replied with an infan-
try attack by the Gordon Highlanders—supported by a
noisy if relatively harmless barrage provided by the big guns
of the Royal Navy. The Turks retreated out of range but
the Allied commanders were worried. In Constantinople
General Sir George Milne, the G.O.C., had rapidly made his
dispositions to defend the city from attack and also to put
down sympathetic uprisings from within. As Churchill
81
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wrote, ‘At last peace with Turkey: and to ratify it, war with g

Turkey!” The wartime allies were in an impossible position.

True, Britain, France and Italy had considerable forces

both naval and military deployed in the Near East. Their

position however was far from being ‘all powerful’, as it

has so often been described. Nor were_they united in their

degree of resolution. The illness of Presidént Wilson,
“Vfollowing his failure to persuade an isolationist Congress to
V isupport his grandiose aims, meant that the U.S.A. was no
longer actively concerned in Near Eastern affairs. One ally

‘had disappeared and France and Italy were _becoming

anxious lest they lose the friendship of Turkey. Only Britain’s
-~Prime Mifister still retained his enthusiasm for putting the

world to rights. Though even he shrank from the prospect
,[ of asking the electorate to sanction the all-out use of military
‘ and naval force less than two years after the end of the most
* costly war Britain had ever waged in her history. The means
to coerce Turkey did exist but the will to use them was
lacking. '

Only one army remained, apparently willing, apparently
able, to enforce the demands of the Allies, the Greek. The
. army of a small, poor nation which had been mobilised
' almost continuously for the last nine years. A nation whose
' King had been sent into exile by Britain and France. A
\ nation which then had been dragged into the Great War.
This was the army, and the nation, which the Allies chose,
because they had no choice, to do their dirty work for them.

It was a military decision but it was taken by two politi-
cians, Lloyd George and Veniselos.

Years later Lloyd George was asked by Frank Owen,
his biographer, his opinion of Haig. The then ex-Prime
Minister went to a portrait of the Field Marshal and placed
his hand horizontally across the top of the highly polished
cavalry boots. ‘He was brilliant,’ he said, ‘up to there.
Admittedly Douglas Haig was a dull dog and there had been
many disagreements and clashes of temperament between
the two men. Unfortunately Lloyd George had a similarly
poor opinion of all British generals above their boots. It
was a prejudice compounded of many elements. Dislike of
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the social class from which they came, contempt for their
frequent lack of intellectual qualities and impatience with
their insistence upon details and precision. Consequently
when Veniselos ‘appeared in the guise of the good fairy’,
Churchill’s phrase, to solve the Allies’ problems for them,
it was fatally easy for Lloyd George to ignore the professional
caution of his military advisers. He knew they failed to
share his own enthusiasm for the Greek cause in Asia Minor.
\ He knew they had a low opinion of the military qualities
y‘ of the Greek army, especially its officers. The current mess . '
~%-1 joke was that in battle each Greek officer knew that he
\/\ himself would run away but hoped that his comrades would
3 | not. The British generals, like the Conservatives in govern-
L}b | ment “and in parliament, were all hopelessly pro-Turk,
artly because they respected them as soldiers, partly out
of deference to Moslem opinion in India. Any sentiment that -
the generals bad for Greece they reserved, in their snobbish
way, for the despised Royal House. The Chief of the Imperial
General Staff had expressed the opinion of them all when he
complained of the unfair treatment meted out to King
Constantine in 1917.
So, when the generals doubted the Greeks, Lloyd George,
prejudiced, doubted the generals, and dismissed their views
as prejudice. The generals’ caution was not, however, .
unjustified. -
When Veniselos had been in London prior to the publi- .
cation of the Treaty of Sévres he had been submitted to
some searching cross-examination by Winston Churchill,
the Secretary of State for War, and Field Marshal Wilson.
Their questions on the army in Anatolia were precise and
| detailed. Cost, morale, leave, strategy and tactics, eventual
" aims and prospects of success. These were some of the_
questions put to the Greek Prime Minister, to which his
‘overall answer, while admitting the difficulties, was that
the Grecks were where they were in response to the requests
of Lloyd George, Clemenceau and Woodrow Wilson. With
—the support of such powerful allies how could he fail? This
as not really the sort of answer his interrogators had been
seeking, and so on March 24th Churchill had written to the
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t Prime Minister as follows: ‘With military resources which

the Cabinet have cut to the most weak and slender pro-
portions, we are leading the Allies in an attempt to enforce
a peace on Turkey which would require great and powerful
armies and long, costly operations and occupations. On

i this world so torn with strife I dread to see you let loose the

Greek armies—for all sakes and certainly their sakes.’

To this appeal Lloyd George remained unresponsive.
Like the later advice of his generals it conflicted with his
nclination”and his inclination was to support and use the
Greeks. Veniselos was delighted to be so used and the

“Greek army began its task as a maid of all work almost
immediately. With speed and comparative ease Eastern
"Thrace was cleared of Turkish soldiers and Adrianople
occupied. At the same time two Greek divisions were moved

: "northwards from Smyrna and quickly neutralised the army

of irregulars which pestered the British and French in the
Ismid peninsula. Lloyd George was elated; for the second
time in his life he had shown his superiority to the conven-
tional military mind.

There were mutterings in the War Office of overstrained
resources, overlong lines of supply and communication and
warnings about the increasing danger of organised Turkish
resistance. Lloyd George shrugged his shoulders. Veniselos
was certain that he could give the Allies further assistance.

““THe Greek generals, perhaps they weren’t so concerned about

the brilliance of their boots, seemed to be equally sure of
themselves. So on June 22nd the Greek army began a
general advance €astwards into Anatolia. Once again the
~confiderice of the Greeks and their champion Lloyd George
seemed justified. Brusa was captured and the Turks appeared
disorganised and more inclined to retreat than stand and
“fight. The British and French observers and advisers
—attached to the GFéek army were impressed, despite them-
sélves, and wondered sometimes what Mustapha Kemal
was doing. ' T
““They were soon to learn. Despite the presence of a large
| Greek army on Turkish soil his activities at about that time

e e e e e e

v | were more diplomatic than military. His representatives
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were in Moscow. In the Russian capital there was a regime
—somewhat similar if more secure than his own. Uncertain,
still in danger, without allies and with no feelings of friend-
ship towards the British, French and Greeks who had
attempted to reverse the course of the Revolution. More
important perhaps, with no more desire than Kemal to
see the Armenian state of the Sévres Treaty established on
its borders. The agreement initialled in Moscow was not
over particularised but it was enough. For the moment the
interest of the two parties coincided, “Turkey’s . age-old

iy s

“eremy was neutralised, the long Russo-Turkish border was

in no danger. Kemal the soldier had secured his flank.
"On September 28th Turkish forces moved into Armenia and
captured Kars. Henceforth Kemal could concentrate on
the Greeks.

In Athens, however, in that autumn of 1920 spirits were
still high. A Te Deum had been celebrated in the Cathedral
for the capture of Brusa. Veniselos, recently returned from
Paris where he had narrowly escaped ‘assassination at the

~Fands of two Greek ex-naval officers, was still the man of
“the hour. '

It was then that fate dealt the Greeks and their leader
its unkindest and strangest blow.

Alexander, King of the Hellenes, was now twenty-seven
years old and, despite the circumstances of his father’s exile,
his- felationship with his masterful Prime Minister was
improving. There had been difficulties at first. For a time
the young King had been virtually a prisoner in the Tatoi
Palace outside Athens. He had seen his parents’ portraits
removed from official buildings, and from the Palace itself.
Even his father’s military exploits in the Balkan Wars had
been expunged from the school history books. Although he
had been forced to drink of the cup of bitterness that seems
inseparable from Greek politics, at last, in 1920, King and
chief Minister were drawing together.

The reason was a_curious one. A year before Alexander
had married Aspasia, the attractive daughw

mﬂﬁ%mﬁé, in Greece a minor
salaried position, not as in Britain a stafe post for a great
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nobleman. Paradoxically the only marriage ever to be
contracted between a Greek king and a woman of native
birth and blood was not popular. An allegedly egalitarian
nation was jealous of the raising up of Aspasia Manos and
would have preferred a foreign princess as the wife of the
King. So the love match could only be recognised by a
morganatic marriage. Alexander’s children would not be
in the line of succession to the Greek throne. Veniselos,
however, disagreed with his countrymen. He was never a
petty-minded man and had developed an affection for the
young couple, and in 1920 was working hopefully towards the
recognition of the King’s wife as Queen. In London, in
conversation with Veniselos, King George V had also
favoured such a course.

It was not to be.

On October 2nd Alexander was walking his_spaniel in
the palace gardens and stopped to watch the play of two
monkeys, pets of the vineyard keeper. The spaniel joined
in and was bitten by the female monkey. Alexander inter-
vened and was himself bitten in the leg by the male. The

bite was very painful but not considered serious. Then /

blood poisoning set in. There were eleven emergency
operations. Finally the King was too weak for his leg to be
amputated. Two eminent French surgeons en route from
Marseilles on a Greek destroyer provided by Veniselos were
delayed by fierce storms in the Mediterranean. They arrived
too late. Within three weeks of the bite the King had died
in agony in the arms of his young wife who was expecting
their first child.

With a title, ‘The Monkey’s Bite’, more appropriate
to Conan Doyle than the annals of a nation, the Greeks now
entered the most disastrous period of their history.
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‘I do not know what is happening in Greece’
David Lloyd George

The immediate question was who would be King of Greece?

The demise of the sovereign in an ordinary constitutional
monarchy normally brings about few public changes save
those of interest to the numismatist and the philatelist.
Greece, however, was no ordinary constitutional monarchy,
and in addition in 1920 there were special circumstances.

King Constantine, who had never abdicated, was in
exile, but an exile which had been imposed upon him by the
British and French wartime governments. Prince George,
the former Crown Prince, to whom the British and French
had also objected, was with his father, as was his younger
brother Prince Paul. Aspasia, the morganatic wife of the
late King Alexander, was, it was true, expecting a child,
but even if it were a boy and proclaimed King on birth
there would have had to be a regency in Greece at least until
1938, Veniselos certainly considered the possibility but

1 The child was a girl, Alexandra, who married King Peter of Yugo-
slavia, in exile in Britain during the 193945 war. Aspasia was created
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rejected it, partly because of the permanently precarious
state of the Greek monarchy and partly because the estab-
lishment of a regency would only have posed another
equally difficult question. Who would be Regent? The
Prime Minister, although he had been in violent disagree-
ment with one monarch, was not on general principles a
republican. So, finally, an invitation was sent to Prince
Paul to return to Greece and" accept “the crown. He replied,
whether on his own initiative or'on paternal advice can only
be conjectured, that he could only become King if the
Greek people first Tejected his father and his elder brother,
both of whom had claims superior t6 his own. The Greek
constitution did not specify that a general election had
to be held on the death of the monarch, but now there
seemed to be no other method of ascertaining public opinion
and resolving the deadlock. Accordingly, Veniselos called
the first general election the Greeks had experienced since
Constantine had gone into exile.

Properly speaking, the election issue was Veniselos
plus Prince Paul versus Constantine. With a mixture of
tremendous self-confidence and a sense of fair play the
Prime Minister allowed back into Greece his old exiled
opponents of the Royalist party to campaign against him.
So, as the election got under way, the campaign simplified
1tself Into a two-party ‘fight, with Veniselos at the head of

marty anH"Ct—)nstantme aft the’ head 'of the other. The
“Greeks were now belng 1nv1ted not only to choose a king,
but to give their “judgment on the last five years Nowhere

" was theré any doubt of the resulf, whether in the Veniselist

north or the Royalist south. In London Paris and Rome
the inevitable Veniselist victory was antlclpated compla-
cently. After all, so it was thought, the name of Veniselos was
practically synonymous with Greece. On the evening of
November 14th the results were announced. Lhey were

U,'\: nbeliévable. Two hundred and fifty seats to the Royalist

party, for Veriselos 2 meré 114. As an 1 added hum1T1at1on

a Princess by a relieved Constantine. If her Chlld had becn a son,
King Alexander had wanted him to be called Philip. Prince Andrew as a
sign of affection ‘reserved’ the name, and gave it to his son, born in 1g21.
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the Prime Minister and his chief supporters all lost their
own seats. Despite the view of his many admirers in Britain,
! France and Italy, at home, apparently, Veniselos was not
i Greece.

In the election campaign, fought bitterly on both sides,
the Royalists had_successfully “raked up the past. The
blockade of Athens by the Allied flects, the landing of troops
and marines, the return of Veniselos in 1917 backed by
foreign bayonets. The half-forgotten humiliations were
remembered. Not all the propaganda had to be directed
against the foreigner, however. Venisclos had been in
Paris too long; in his absence the rule of his lieutenants had
been neither light nor impartial. There were many grievan-
ces, many allegations of corruption. On_November 14th,

\ 1920, Veniselos learned the lesson already learned by
v
not

Woodrow Wilson, that statesmanlike prestige abroad does _
guarantee political success at home. Surprised; hurt, and
| angry, he immediately Tesigned both as Prime Minister and
party leader and three days later left Greece by sea for Italy,
despite the entreaties of his supporters whom he left to
fend for themselves as best they might.

In London, when he received the news, Lloyd George,
conquering his dismay, merely shrugged his shoulders an
turning to Churchill said with a grin, ‘Now I am the only
one Ieft.” It was true. Of the great men of thHe war and the

“Peace Conference Wilson was an invalid with little time
to live, Clemenceau, the old ‘Tiger’, had been pushed aside,
and Orlando had also been defeated in a general election.
Their decisions, however, had placed a Greek army in
Asia Minor and at the same time roused the Turks to a
dangerous mood of hatred not only against Greeks but any
foreigner still on Turkish soil. Now Lloyd George, as the
sole legatee of those policies, had to face the fact that
Veniselos, his hero and trusted agent, had been ousted and
the despised Constantine was to return. Not by some
military coup, that would have been almost tolerable, but
by popular acclaim. It was a poor time for a man who had y .~
been brought up in the nineteenth century Liberal belief that ,
universal suffrage cured all political ills.
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¢ The Turks had been allowed to vote and had opted for

, ; Mustapha Kemal. The Greeks had gone to the polls and

. | chosen Constantine. ‘It almost makes one despair of demo-

j cracy’, wrote Lloyd George to Veniselos, now in Paris.

Still, democracy had to be served, and at home the Cabinet,

at least, had no doubts as to Britain’s proper attitude to
the newly elected government in Greece.

On December 2nd Sir Donald Maclean, the Member for
Midlothian and Peebles, asked a Private Notice Question of
the Leader of the House of Commons with regard to the

“Greek sitaation. Bonar Law produced the prepared answer
in reply to the arranged question and announced the text
" of the Note which had been sent that day to Athens. “The
British, French and Italian governments have constantly
in the past given proof of their good will towards the Greek
people and have favoured the attainment of their secular
aspirations. They have therefore been all the more keenly
surprised by the events which have just occurred in Greece.
They have no wish to interfere in the internal affairs of
Greece, but they feel bound to declare publicly that the
restoration to the Throne of Greece of a King whose disloyal
attitude and conduct towards the Allies during the war
caused them great embarrassment and loss could only be
regarded by them as a ratification by Greece of his hostile
acts. This step would create a new and unfavourable
situation in the relations between Greece and the Allies,
and in that case the three governments reserve to themselves
complete liberty in dealing with the situation thus created.’

On December 6th Cecil Harmsworth, the Under Secretary
of State for Foreign Affairs, he was Lord Northcliffe’s son,
gave some indication of the ‘new and unfavourable
situation’. In February 1918 the British government had
offered credit of over £10 million to the Greek government.
Veniselos had so far drawn £6} million. ‘The new Greek
government have now been informed,’ said Mr. Harmsworth,
‘that in the event of the return of the ex-King Constantine
to the throne of Greece no further financial assistance will
be afforded. ...’

The Note and this piece of polite blackmail arrived in

go
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“"| which was held on the straight issue: should Constantine

|
|

—

Athens just before the Greeks embarked on a plebiscite

return or not? Neither was published by the Greeks, but
perhaps it would have made little difference. The plebiscite
reiterated more forcefully the verdict of the general
election. On December 1gth Constantine, with his Queen
and the Crown Prince, disembarked from the cruiser
Averoff which had brought them from Venice and entered
Athens to acknowledge the welcome of the cheering crowds.
In 1917 he had said, ‘Alex is King only in my place. I shall
return.’ ‘

"" 'When to their surprise he did, the first reaction of the

Allied statesmen had been conditioned entirely by their
memories of his attitude during the war. Their pride was
hurt by the fact that the tiny Greek nation, for which they
felt they had done so much, should presume toreinstate aking
who had failed to throw his subjects happily into a world
war on their side. The Kaiser was now peacefully sawing
logs in exile at Doorn; that his brother-in-law should return
to his kingdom was thought to be intolerable. Only Lloyd
George and Curzon, who agreed about little else, from their
very different points of view felt that Constantine or no,

Greece could not be deserted entirely. The majority opinion

was summed up by Churchill: ‘For the saké of Veniselos
much had to be endured, but for Constantine less than
nothing.’

The first quick reaction was anger; the second, and more
lasting, was relief. The return of King Constantine, it was
realised, provided the Allies with an excellent excuse for
quietly ditching the Greeks, for the affairs of Greece and
Turkey were becoming very troublesome indeed. Looking
back on the old year of 1920, the Allies could find little
cause for self-congratulation. True, the Treaty of Sévres
had been ratified by the Turks. It had been presented to
the Sultan’s government on June 1oth and had been signed
on August 1oth. The interval had been taken up in finding a
government spineless or cynical enough to sign it. Finally
Damad Ferid, who had married one of the Sultan’s sisters,

had been appointed Grand Vizier, and had formed just such
91 .
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. a government. He was an acknowledged expert in these

matters, but this time he had to concoct a complete admini-
stration of nonentities. For the signature was a farce, and
actually more of a farce than the Allies realised, for even the
despised, compliant Ferid, ‘a very good imitation of an
English gentleman’, thought ‘Count Sforza, was secretly in
“communication with the Nationalists. - -
It was becoming painfully obvious that the Turks were not
going to submit tamely to the Treaty of Sevres. The noble
concept of an Armenian state had disappeared under the
hooves of the occupying Russian and Turkish cavalry in
. December. The peacemakers had achieved a minor miracle
and had driven Russians and Turks to co-operate for the
" first time since the days of Peter the Great. Armenia was
now divided between the new Russia and the new Turkey,
and there was nothing its creators in London, Paris and
Washington could do to save it or its unhappy, persecuted
population. Other provisions of the shortest-lived treaty
in modern history were being not so much torn up as quietly
—consigned to the wastepaper basket. The spheres of influence,
British, French and Italian, it was becoming plain, would
be denied those nations by force of arms if necessary. At
the change of the year all that remained were the zones of
occupation: the Greek spreading out from Smyrna, and the
international zone on both sides of the Straits. As a guarantee
of the latter the Allies had their soldiers on the spot, their
warships in the Sea of Marmora and, for the moment, their
possession of Constantinople.

The Treaty itself, although founded on a number of
false premises, such as the continued active interest of the
U.S.A. and the passivity of the Turks, had possessed
a certain Draconian logic. Now the Allies were left with
a few rags and tatters of that document, and little of either
political or military logic remained.

Greek action in Anatolia had originally been tolerable
and possible within the framework of a grand design,
however ill conceived. Now the grand design was fading
away. The Allies began to recall the cost of assisting Greece.

l// The British taxpayer alone had lent nearly £16 million
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since 1914. The Italians, jealous of the Greeks from the start, ___ .
and the French, with financial interests in the old Empire,
"bégan to think of the advantages, political and economic,
“Which might bé gained by friendship with the new Turkey.
The British had troubles enough in the ex-Turkish domains .

of Palestine, Egypt and Mesopotamia. The French were

still trying to subdue Syria. The Greeks, of course, had
helped out in the past, but it looked as if it was going to be
difficult to give them any help in return. None of the three
involved nations, Britain, France and Italy, in declining —
~otder of enthusiasm, were prepared to go to war with
“Tarkey to enforce the peace terms of a war which had ended
“only two years before. For the sake of Veniselos much that
could not be performed had been half-promised, but had

not the return of Constantine conveniently wiped the slate
clean?

Three days after King Constantine entered Athens and

just before it adjourned for the Christmas recess, the House

of Commons debated the situation in the Near East.

Like most debates on foreign affairs it was often imprecise _____
and rambling. Memibers, as is their wont on these occasions,

rode their own hobby horses into the ground. Yet there was

one significant common factor discernible: the change in
attitude of Britain’s elected representatives in less than a. -
year, especially among the Conservatives who formed the
majority of the Government party. Gone were the old
arrogant assumptions about Turkey, to be replaced by a
desire, as Members frequently put it, to be ‘realistic’ and
‘practical’. Members had experienced some disappointments

in the last year and there was no dearth of criticism of the
government from the government side of the House.

Lieutenant-Colonel Guinness, the Member for Bury St.

Edmunds, was typical. He began by saying that he hoped

that the Allies had at last realised the trué position in?&éia?

o

Minor and were now ‘prepared to base a new policy not
on dreams but on hard facts’. Those who had made The
Treaty of Sévres had been ‘misled owing to the influence of
the Greek argument’, and had made the mistake of judging

the strength of a 'whole people ‘by the power and genius of
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one exceptional man who has since been very emphatically

repudiated by Greece’. The Greeks had now, he believed,

‘chosen a King and a Prime Minister who stand for a policy
of peace’. Therefore, went his argument, the prop of the
whole Near Eastern policy had disappeared. ‘The two

other Powers concerned, France and Italy, show every wish
"o reconsider the Turkish position in a manner favourable

“towards Turkey’. The unfortunate 1mpre551on was that
"Britain still held out; therefore, he concluded, in our own
1nterests ‘the first step would seem to be for the Allies to get
“Ifto touch with the Ankara government either through
“Constantinople or better still direct’. One speaker who had
" had direct experience of negotiating with the Turks was
Major-General Sir Charles Townshend, the emissary at
Mudros in 1918 and before that a Turkish prisoner of war.
Now an M.P., he agreed with Guinness, but was even more
direct and soldlerly, and considerably briefer. ‘I only wish
_to say we ought to approach Kemal’

""Oné¢ did not need to be as Celtic and responsive as Lloyd
George to sense the new feeling. Consequently, when the
Prime Minister came to reply, with his back to the wall,
he relied, as so often before in that situation, upon his
_ powers of oratory. Yes, he was prepared to negotiate, but
* with whom? The Constantinople government was still the
legal government. ‘I do not say it is the de facto government
but it is the government we have set up.” Therefore the
British could not negotiate with a general who was in revolt.
It had been suggested that this general with his army could
drive the Greeks into the sea and the Allies into the Bos-
phorus. But, said the Prime Minister, look what had
happened. ‘In ten days it was scattered, by Greek forces,
without the slightest difficulty and the Greeks assured me
that they could march right through to the Dardanelles, and
that if the Powers asked them, they would march right
through to Ankara. I have not the slightest doubt about
that.” Honourable gentlemen had suggested that Smyrna
should be returned and that Britain should negotiate for
peace. ‘Peace with whom? Peace with Mustapha Kemal,
who is here today and will vanish tomorrow?’
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The Welsh wizard was warming to his work, and having
disposed of Kemal he turned to the Greeks. ‘Because there
is a little trouble in Erzerum, because there is a general
election in Greece, the result of which we abhor, do not
let us change the whole of our policy in the East. The
Mediterranean is vital to Britain. We want the friendship
of the Greek people, a people whose friendship is vital to
us in that part of the world, whatever we do. They will
multiply and wax strong; they will make their political
blunders, just like any other people, but they will grow,
they will become stronger. They are a people of vital
intelligence, of energy and they have shown they have
courage.’

Then a note of humility and togetherness. ‘Do not let
us rush into this matter. I do not know what is happening
in Greece. I do not quite know what is happening in Asia
Minor. Who does?’ It was a measure of the Prime Minister’s
oratorial power that there were no interjections at this stage.

The final appeal was to caution, which the House of
Commons generally finds irresistible. The House and the
British public were begged not ‘to rush into tearing up

~treaties which took a great deal of reflection’ and so ‘restore
conditions which very nearly proved fatal to us in the
“Great War’. The Prime Minister was triumphant, the
“House was quietened and doubtless the Greek Ambassador
reported to Athens what he had seen and heard from the
Diplomatic Gallery.

Much now depended on what Constantine and his Prime
Minister M. Rhallis would do. Their first action did much
to reinforce the view that he should be abandoned to his

~own devices, especially in Britain. There, since the Great
Reform Bill ninety years ago, it had been a sort of national
joke that, in countries less well regulated than their own, N
parties victorious at elections promptly replaced not only
Ministers but state officials and employees as_ welll" Tt

“didn’t happen in Britain, thank God, where democracy -
worked properly, but the poor misguided foreigner, so itwas .

understood, changed EvEFyone ‘down to the village post-
master’. This was precisely what Constantine did do.

e,
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Churchill found himself echoing the classic phrase: “The
new government busied themselves in expelling from every
form of public employment all Veniselist officials from
bishops, judges, university professors and schoolmasters,
down even to the charwoman in the public offices.” Doubtless
the fact that all of them had first been given their posts
because they were Veniselists was Constantine’s excuse, but
his wholesale purge of public offices further blackened the
King’s name in the West and did real harm to one institution
on which he would have soon to rely—the Greek army.
There the reorganisation took on fantastic proportions.

_General Paraskeropoulos, the Commander-in-Chief in

_ Smyrna, resigned and left for France on the day the King

“entered Athens. A purge was expected, of course, but it is

~doubtful if even the General estimated its character correctly.

. Over 1,500 officers, from generals to lieutenants, previously

"7 dismissed under Veniselos, were reinstated and promoted to

"“the Tank they would have held if their service had been

“unbroken. Conversely, a smaller number of senior Veniselist

““officers were demoted or dismissed. Their juniors who
remained automatically became trouble-makers.

The army in Asia Minor was turned completely upside
down. It was political tit-for-tat, but it was military madness.
Experienced officers, known and trusted by their men,
were whisked away to be replaced by unknowns who had
been out of the army for four years, and in many cases had
seen no active service since the Balkan Wars. At the same
time, attempts to inculcate a new spirit of subservience and
devotion to the Sovereign merely irritated and antagonised
soldiers who in some years of fighting on the Salonika Front,
in Russia, and in Anatolia, had developed their owAn\esAm\it
de corps independent of politicians or kings in thens.
Only in his appointment of a new commander-in-chief did
Constantine show any wisdom. Genéral Papoulas had risen
from the ranks, and in 1911 and 1912 had proved himself an
excellent infantry commander. Promoted to general, in
December 1916 he had stood by the King, and had been
tried later by a Veniselist court martial in consequence.
Significantly, he was acquitted. He was, as even his enemies
g6 2
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had recognised, a simple, loyal, non-political soldier,

~something of a rarity in Greece. From the day of his
appointment in Smyrna he devoted himself to the task of
re-establishing unity; he at least was completely impartial
and concerned only with military efficiency. He became in
time a popular if not brilliant commander, but the task he
had set himself, of healing the rifts in the Anatolian army,
was well beyond the capabilities of any one man.

Meanwhile the Royal Hellenic Navy suffered in a similar,
if less sensational, way than the army, so that there too
the first fruits of the new regime were distrust, jealousy
and dissension. Visiting British officers found that Greek
naval officers on the same ship would niot speak to each

““other. A poor preparation for Constantine’s next move,
“whith took the most experienced diplomats and foreign
observers completely by surprise.

As the Royalist ‘ticket’ at the recent election had been
basically the reversal of all that Veniselos had stood for and
done in the last five years, they, like the Member of Parlia-
ment for Bury St. Edmunds, had reasonably assumed that

_the war in Anatolia would soon be brought to “an end:
That course would have had a great deal to recommend
it. Greece was a poor country, now deprived of foreign aid,
and the army in Anatolia was costing a million pounds a
month. Tt would also have had the virtue of consistency.

~Constantine had been pushed off his throne because he
refused to be dragged into what he regarded as a dangerous
and possibly unsuccessful war. In 1917 he had refused because
‘he was answerable before God’. In 1921, the terms and
responsibilities of his kingship presumably unchanged, in ‘a
mad outbreak of regal vanity’ as Lloyd Georgesawit, the King
decided to out-Veniselos Veniselos. Egged on by his military
advisers, Constantine decided not only to follow the policy
of his rival but, though deprived of all semblance of
Allied support, to step up the war against the Turks.
Colonel Exadactylos of the General Staff said that Anatolia
could be pacified in three months.

Foreign statesmen who had thought, wrongly, that
Veniselos had been rejected because of the unpopularity of
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the war were thunderstruck. The charm of the great Cretan
statesman still dazzled their eyes, and the fact that even he
had used the old device of a grandiose foreign policy to allay
discontent at home had escaped them. The war, or at least
the idea of territorial gain, was still popular. Constantine
could only have abandoned it at his peril. His fault was not,
as Lloyd George suggested, megalomania, but merely a
desire to please.

So in the early days of January, 1921, the Greek army
in Anatolia moved over to the offensive and began a series
of reconnaissances in force eastwards. For the moment at
least, military logic was on the side of its new commanders.
In the previous year, while Veniselos had still been in power,
the Greek army had followed no particular strategic pattern
in its movements. It had fanned out from Smyrna; it had
taken Brusa; but overall it tended simply to conform to the
tactical demands made upon it by the irregular warfare
waged by the Turks. The army had taken its opponentsm ‘
where it had found them, or else where the Allies had | v
indicated. Indeed, one of the last acts of the Veniselists had !
been to discontinue penetration eastwards at the request of
their allies, when the General Staffs in London and Paris !
had become concerned as to just how far the Greeks intended :
to go. Consequently the line was an haphazard one, neither
offensive nor defensive, extending from Smyrna on three
virtually disconnected fronts. ’

Now, with the severance of relations between the Supreme
Allied Council and Constantine’s government, all foreign
military advice had been withdrawn. The Ambassadors
remained in Athens, but were instructed to have no dealings
with the King and his court, although they could continue
to communicate with the government if necessary. Nothing
more, however, was to be allowed. Rear-Admiral Kelly, the
Chief of the British Naval Mission, who had in December
accepted the Grand Cross of the Redeemer from the King
for his services to the Greek Navy, was curtly ordered by
Lord Curzon to return it. In a proclamation to his troops the
King still referred to ‘the Allied Army in Anatolia’, but
that was a mere puff for home consumption to boost morale.
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A few British, French and Italian officers remained with
the army but only as observers; there was no more advice,
no more restrictions. The Greek army, then, under General
Papoulas, was free to proceed to tidy up its front preparatory
to the spring offensive, for it was no secret that there was
to be an offensive. The war was to be ended not by a
negotiated peace, nor by some territorial formula devised
by the Great Powers, but by a straight Greek victory over
the Turks. The quick successes of the Balkan Wars were
to be repeated, and this time by the Greeks alone. Certainly
there was a new spirit of ambition abroad among the officers
of the General Staff in those early days. Gaining something

in panache from their new royal master and taking their cue -

from him, they began to talk confidently of two rather

| disparate objectives, Ankara and Constantinople. Whether
| either was attainable would remain to be seen, for in both

cities, simultaneously with the Greek advance, events were
taking place which were significantly to affect the future.

A state of civil war now existed between the two. In
Constantinople a combination of the Sultan, the Allies’
minion, Damad Ferid, and the Sheikh of Islam, the supreme
religious authority, had denounced Kemal and his associates
as rebels, sentenced them to death and technically imposed
a duty on all Moslems to kill them as a religious duty.
Kemal had retaliated by arranging for a tame ulema
(religious council) in Ankara to return the compliment,
making an exception, of course, for the person of the Sultan
and Caliph, whom it was convenient and politic still to
represent as an unwilling prisoner of the Allied Powers.
On behalf of the Sultan men were now being recruited
into an army to oppose Kemal; an army which, legally at
least, was still the Turkish Regular Army, but in composition

i

was more akin to the Irish ‘Black and Tans’ and considerably -

less effective. This force was pushed into the Ismid peninsula
and occupied a sector of north-western Anatolia.

So now, in Constantinople on the one hand, the Sultan
and Caliph, with the Grand Vizier and the empty panoply
of the old Ottoman Empire; on the other, in Ankara,
Mustapha Kemal and the Grand National Assembly. It
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suited the Allies to boost the status of the legal government,
as Lloyd George had done in the House of Commons,
and conversely to minimise the influence of Mustapha Kemal.
It was not, however, a confrontation between equals, and
the Allies knew it. Throughout 1920 the divergence between
the two cities had become more clearly defined, as if iron
filings had been scattered over the two opposed poles of
a magnet. In size, appearance, population and atmosphere
alone they could not have presented a more striking contrast.

Constantinople, the capital of an empire, with its fascina-
ting mixture of architectural styles, races, languages and
manners. A city, too, poised between Europe and Asia,
acquire an indefinable atmosphere of "Ottoman decadence
overlaid with something akin to the tawdry gaiety of Napoleon
IITs Paris.

Ankara, on the other hand, was still no more than an
“overgrown country town, with a few large buildings and
fewer still hotels and restaurants, its primitive streets filled
with archaic horse or bullock-drawn transport. Situated on
an arid plain in the middle of nowhere, it had no pretensions
to be anything more than what it was: a simple, backward,
provincial Turkish town, with little apart from a railway
station and a telegraph office to show for its contact with
the twentieth century. Its population, a mere 20,000,
consisted of dour, insular “Anatolian peasants, seemingly
almost indifferent to the events taking place under their
noses. Yet Ankara was Turkey, and Constantinople just a
city.

At all levels Turkish opinion was turning towards Kemal
and recruits were flowing into Anatolia. Statesmen, soldiers
and private individuals would just slip away from Constanti-
nople and make their secret ways past Allied guards and
cordons to emerge as members of the Nationalist movement

in Anatolia. One such was an able career soldier, Ismet *

Pasha, lately at the Ministry of War ifi’ Constantmople, soon

“to become Kemal’s trusted Chief of Staff and destined one

day to be the second President of Turkey. That eventuality,
though, could not have been even remotely contemplated
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in 1920, for the access of men and enthusiasm had- its
considerable embarrassments and dangers. At times Musta-
pha Kemal’s position was as precarious and difficult as his
worst enemies could have desired. As in any resistance
movement at the beginning there were rival groups, and
many of the leaders of irregular bands were jealous of
Kemal’s position, which they were convinced they could
fill better themselves. Some were mere power-seekers, others
genuinely disagreed with Kemal’s conduct of affairs or were
impatient with his apparent delay in getting to grips with
the Greeks. Often the Grand National Assembly with its
369 members was less than helpful. Privately, Kemal had
scant respect for such a body; Carlyle’s description of the
British House of Commons as ‘a talking shop’ would have

sumrmied up his view. Nevertheléss, the Assembly, however
irritating, impractical and disorderly, was his claim and
justification for power, so it had to be soothed, flattered
and persuaded.

Typically, the loss of Brusa to the Greeks had much
affected the Assembly; not so much as a military objective, |
but for sentimental and religious reasons, for Brusa had | &
been the original Ottoman capital in the fourteenth century. !
There was situated the famous Green Mosque, and there
lay, under magnificent tombs, Osman, the founder of the | .
dynasty, the Sultan Murad I, killed in the hour of his |
victory over the Serbs at Kossovo, and Murad 11, conqueror :
of Salonika and Corinth. When the loss of this holy city -
was discussed some of the Deputies literally wept. Kemal,
who cared no more for the mouldering heroes of the dynasty
than for the living incumbent in Constantinople, hid his
feelings of contempt, mollified the Deputies, and made his
practical military plans for the future with his small band
of intimates in his headquarters at the Agricultural School.

The Deputies, who were well meaning if weak and silly,
received soft words, but to those among the rebel leaders
who coveted his place Kemal offered nothing save force.
An army had to be formed in Anatolia and an army with
only one leader. Quite ruthlessly, therefore, Kemal broke
or destroyed his rivals, and their followers were converted
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from rifle-carrying brigands into disciplined soldiers.
Ruthlessness was part of his nature, but Mustapha Kemal
had in any event ample excuse in the difficulties and dangers
of his position.

There were perils from without as well as within. The
U.S.S.R. had not given its friendship to him entirely
platonically. Financial assistance (he had now received a

' million roubles) and military co-operation in Armenia were

neither without strings. The propagandists in Moscow wrote
enthusiastically of the Nationalist movement in Turkey as
yet another manifestation of the coming world revolution,
and in the autumn of 1920 a large Soviet embassy arrived
in Ankara. Kemal’s brief pleasure at this first sign of
official recognition was severely tempered by the fact that
at the same time Communist agents descended on Turkey
and commenced their undercover activities, Some Turks
had already become converted to Marxism, and many were
intrigued, at a time of change and revolution in their own
country, by its success in Russia. Kemal, totally opposed to
its doctrine, was realistic enough to appear friendly to
Soviet diplomats and the Soviet government while at the
same time systematically extirpating any signs of nascent
Communism in his own ranks. He had no illusions about the
long-term intentions of his Russian neighbour and quickly
saw the danger of the Communists ‘taking over’ his own
revolution. In extreme cases his methods were swift and
violent. Mustapha Subhi, one of the Soviet’s foremost
agitators and agents, when he became dangerous, simply
disappeared from the deck of his ship in the Black
Sea.

It was not always so simple, however, to deal with
a threat which had the twin advantages of apparent inter-
nationalism and social revolution. Furthermore, the two
former leaders of the old Committee of Union and Progress,
Enver and Talaat!, were now in Moscow advising and

1 Both met violent ends: Enver in Turkestan leading a minor revolt,
Talaat in Berlin at the hands of an Armenian. Djavid, the third member
of the trio, was executed in 1926, allegedly for complicity in an attempt
upon Kemal’s life.
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helping their new masters, and it was some time before
Kemal would really be convinced that Turkey had freed
herself from the embraces of the Russian bear.

Both Admiral de Robeck, the High Commissioner at
Constantinople, and the British War Office, in an appreci-
ation, had predicted the likelihood of ‘Kemal being driven
into the hands of the Bolsheviks’, and in 1920 their pessi-
mistic forecast was only prevented from becoming true
by the resolute actions of Mustapha Kemal himself. For
in this, as in other matters, 1920 was really Kemal’s year of
crisis. The energy, patience, guile and courage expended by
this one man in overcoming the troubles that beset him were

truly prodigious. It was in this period, now wheedling }
acquiescence from the Assembly, now paying lip service to |

fanatical Moslems, now facing over-mighty irregular leaders /
with rifles, and at the same time warding off Moscow and
putting necessary heart into his closest associates, that |
Kemal developed what his most perceptive biographer, |
Lord Kinross, has called his ‘third dimension’. The inde- |
finable quality of leadership. - '
He was not a particularly pleasant man. His humour,
such as it was, was brusque and coarse. His manners and
habits were still of the camp rather than the drawing-room.
It is almost impossible to find a gentle anecdote about him;
his manner recalls that curious mixture of directness and
gaucherie which characterised the young Napoleon. Napo-
leon later acquired a thin veneer of civility. Kemal never
did. He shocked those of his followers who were strict
Moslems by his heavy drinking habits and offended others
by his entirely emotionless but energetic pursuit of women.
He seemed to possess few humanising qualities; he relaxed
only with his drinking cronies and soldiers in the field.
Despite his curiously Western appearance and his determin-
ation to drag or push his fellow countrymen into the twentieth
century, he still retained much of the arrogance and insensi-
tivity of the old Turk. He was admired and feared but not
much loved. Nevertheless, by the early weeks of 1921 when
the army he had fashioned, and behind it the people he had
inspired, prepared to face a renewed assault by the Greeks,
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he was undoubtedly the leader of the Turkish nation.

* * *

In Constantinople the question posed by Admiral de
¢ Robeck to Lord Curzon in June 1920 was still unanswered.
| ‘We are already fighting Turkey,’ telegraphed the Admiral,

s . ‘are we to continue a new war observing that the Peace

* | Treaty has united practically all Turks?’ If the Allies were

' contemplating such a war they were ill prepared to wage it.

In the early part of the year General Sir George Milne,

who commanded the British Army of the Black Sea, had

cause to complain, not for the first time, of the high-handed

actions and attitude of General Franchet d’Esperey, the

.+ Supreme Commander of the Allied Armies in Constantinople.

~~Eventually the French Ambassador in London confessed to

Lord Curzon that the General ‘had shown a complete lack

of tact and judgment’. Soon Franchet d’Esperey was granted

long and indefinite leave. “The French government realised

that it would be agreeable news to His Majesty’s Govern-

ment,” remarked Sir George Grahame, the Minister in
Paris, when he confided the decision to London.

The removal of one tempestuous general, ‘desperate

Frankie’ as he was known to the British, did not, however,

-~ solve” the basic problem of co-operation. By a personal

appeal to the French President which included many pointed

_references to French supreme military command in the war,

»  Lloyd George managed to establish that in future the

: armies in Turkey would be commanded by a British general,

" but still the Allies continued to drift apart. Reports flowed

in to London testifying to speeches and actions by senior

French and Italian officers and officials in occupied Turkey

! whichshowed clearly that both nations were undoubtedly try-

v ! ing to curry favour with the Nationalists while placing all the

' blame for Turkey’s plight upon the British. It was still just

possible to place some trust in the French but the Italians

" plainly had gone over to the enemy. “They are already on

"“bad terfns with the Greeks in the Aidin vilayet’, reported

“the War Office, ‘and the whole trénd of their policy has
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| been rather less than loyal to the Allies.” On occasions
l/J Italian and Greek soldiers fired on each other. So bad did
| {he situation become that Lord Curzon raised the matter
with the Italian Foreign Minister when the Allied Council
met at Spa, but with no success. As he informed the Ambas-
! sador in Rome: ‘Count Sforza appeared throughout our
conversations to be animated personally by most friendly
intentions but he made no great effort to disguise that his
countrymen were not always similarly inclined.’ Even this was
a favourable estimate, and Count Sforza, who had been the
Italian High Commissioner in Constantinople in 1919, was,
if not anti-British, certainly anti-Greek. R
~ Tt was rapidly becoming, it seemed, a military problem,
and one that was being left to be solved by the British and
the Greeks, who were, after Constantine’s return, no longer
allies. The War Office appreciation of the situation which
' was presented to the Cabinet put the matter bluntly. Of
the Turks it said, ‘political power had passed to the Nationa-
lists’, and therefore, so far as the position of the British
forces was concerned, ‘the occupation of the War Office at
Constantinople may therefore not have much effect from
y \) the point of view of military control’. Of the Greek army in
J
]
{
!

Anatolia: “The Greek position is not tactically or strategically ..

_good. It is"divided into sectors by ridges Tunning east and
west with very little transverse communication. The Greek
morale is rather uncertain.’

Finally, as seemed possible, if it came to the British alone,
‘the military assets of England are barely sufficient, if even
they are sufficient, for the needs of the British Empire and
beyond our present efforts in Batum, Constantinople and
the Straits, Palestine, Egypt and Mesopotamia nothing
more can be done with the forces at our disposal. ™ o

The forces at the disposalof the government in Britain were
forty-nine infantry battalions in England, of which some -
were earmarked for use in case of industrial unrest and others
were largely made up of newly joined recruits. In Ireland,
pinned down by what was still a civil war, there were

“fwenty-eight infantry battalions, an irreducible minimum. .
Towards the end of the year the approximate numbers of
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Allied troops in Turkey, including Constantinople, were
10,000 British, 8,000 Indians, 8,000 French and 2,000 Italians.
The Indian troops were, however, soon to return home, and
the British and French garrisons be drastically reduced.
The Greek army then numbered approximately 100,000
soldiers on active service. There were no reliable estimates
for the size of the Turkish Nationalist Army, but it was
thought to be a few thousands less than the Greek.

This was the situation in late 1920, when the personalities
at Constantinople changed. Damad Ferid, having served
his purpose, had retired to Carlsbad for, it was said,

" a cure. His place as Grand Vizier was taken by Tewfik

Pasha, who included at least two Ministers of known

" “Nationalist sympathies in his new Cabinet. Admiral de
" Robeck, who had doubled the posts of High Commissioner

in Constantinople and Commander-in-Chief of the Mediter-
ranean Fleet, reverted to purely naval employment and was
replaced by Sir Horace Rumbold, a professional diplomat,
whose last “post had been as Minister in tranquil Berne.
The third change of face, and it was to be far the most
significant, was that of military commander. In November
General Sir George Milne handed over to Lieutenant-
General Sir Charles Harington.

On December 3ist, 1920, Sir Horace Rumbold, from his
new post, telegraphed a New Year message to Lord Curzon
at the Foreign Office. ‘The general outlook is very obscure
and unsatisfactory,’” he said.
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“The whole thing is a ramp’
Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson

In 1918, even before the ‘Coupon Election’, Bonar Law,
the faithful Tory lieutenant, had said of Lloyd George:
‘He can be Prime Minister for life, if he likes,” The result of
that general election had seemed to confirm the view held
{ by many politicians, Liberal as well as Conservative, that
| Lloyd George was unbeatable, and his own view that he
| ‘Was indispensable. The public at large was perfectly content
" that the architect of victory should also shape the peace.
Accordingly the Prime Minister was almost entirely absent
from Britain and the House of Commons until the end of
1919, occupied at Versailles and elsewhere with the making
of peace. A
Now, by the end of rg20, Balfour’s half-condescending,
half-admiring ‘Little Man’ of the Peace Conferences had
deteriorated, in Parliamentary conversation, to ‘the Goat’.
The expression was not meant kindly and alluded to more

Than the Prime Minister’s Welsh ancestry. Lord Vansittart,!

s s gt
1Robert Vansittart. Secretary to Curzon, 1920—24. Assistant Under
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, Permanent Private Secretary to
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then at the Foreign Office, has observed: ‘He had qualities.
His wife had virtues, she needed them.” The point was not
Lloyd George’s private life. Other Ministers of the Crown,
before and since, have had faults, amorous or alcoholic,
winked at by their colleagues and, when in the know, the
public as well. The point was that the sly jokes and innuendoes
were merely symptoms; in little more than a year Lloyd
George’s political reputation had declined and his status
had diminished. Some part of the process was not his fault
and was as near inevitable as history can be.

The high hopes raised among the victors by the conclusion
of the war and their dashing by its aftermath is now a
platitude. At the time, however, the contrast was seen as the
great disillusionment. Especially was this so in Britain,
. where a pacific and prosperous nation which had entered the
war reluctantly and with no territorial ambitions, found that
after an enormous expenditure of men and money it was
in debt, with a mounting toll of unemployment and as many,
if not more, unsolved problems as in 1914.

This disappointment both among politicians and the
public may have been naive but it was felt none the less, and
in such times, irrespective of responsibility, the public.blames
those it has elected. One of the problems which had soured
pre-war politics was still unsolved after the war. In Ireland,
sparked off by the Easter Rebellion in 1916, civil war still
raged; fought out with a Balkan intensity between rival
groupings of Irishmen, while the British attempted the
thankless task of maintaining law and order and endeavoured
to protect the pro-British Ulstermen at the same time.
Lloyd George was no more destined than any of his pre-
decessors at Westminster to produce a magical solution to
the Irish problem, but his failure in a sphere where success
was impossible was held against him just the same.

Baldwin and Ramsay MacDonald. Permanent Under Secretary of
State, 1930—38. Chief Diplomatic Adviser to the Foreign Secretary,
1938—41. The latter post had more prestige than power, for though
successively M.v.0., C.M.G., C.B., K.C.B., G.C.M.G., G.C.B., P.C. and a peer,
he was unpopular with cautious governments for his outspoken views,
especially on Nazi Germany. He died in 1957.
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In another part of the British dominions, equally emotive

in effect but vastly more important, the war and its aftermath

had produced unrest. During the war India had raised the
largest volunteer army il the Empire and had been promised

~“Fésponsible government within the framework of the

British Empire’_as its reward. The India Act of 1919,
based on the joint recommendations of Edwin Montagu,
the Secretary of State for India, and Lord Chelmsford, the
Viceroy, went part of the way. Montagu himself believed
that India should have had immediate Dominion status, but
the Act only allowed self-government by progressive but
slow and complicated stages.

Political disappointment thrived on current economic
depression and an ex-lawyer called ‘Gandhi became active
among the mill hands of Ahmadabad and Amritsar. The
government armed itself by the Rowlatt Act with wide
powers of coercion. In April 1919 martial law was declared
in the Punjab and on the 13th of that month, in Amritsar,

_Major-General Dyer ordered his troops to open fire on an_
“narmed crowd of demonstrators, killing 379 of them. The

“Tnassacre in the Jallianwala Bagh cast a shadow over India
and precluded for years to come any chances of co-operation
between moderate Indian opinion and the British.

So far, in Ireland and India, it can be argued that Lloyd
George’s government had been dogged by ill-luck. Unfor-
tunately, however, it was a government which had at the
same time quite cheerfully taken on further Imperial
responsibilities. Egypt was now in effect ruled by Britain,
and mandates had been accepted for Iraq (formerly Meso-
potamia) and Palestine. All three territories became almost
immediately, for differing reasons, trouble spots, necessita-
ting the presence of considerable garrisons of troops. In
fact in the early 20’s it became increasingly difficult to find
among the spheres of administration or influence abroad
any place on the map where trouble of one sort or another
was not brewing for the British. Soon Persia and Afghanistan
were to be added to the crisis list. The British commitment
was enormous, particularly in the Middle East and AsiaLL
particularly in countries which had Jarge or predominant |-
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Moslem populations. In this context it was beginning to

Seem as if further involvement with Turkey and Constanti-

nople and the sensitive problem of the Caliphate could only
_increase Britain’s unpopularity.

To his critics Lloyd George seemed to be living in a
dream world, a hangover from the palmy days of the wartime
alliances. Conferences, meetings and discussions abroad
still occupied a great deal of his time and energy. The
British, the French, the Italians, and the Japanese continued

" to meet as the Supreme Allied Council in an atmosphere of
~great importance and solemnity, as if they still controlled
their ex-enemies and many others besides. The conferences

were now known, however, as Lloyd George’s Circuses, for

7o judge by results the Allies were neither co-operating very
*“well nor very effectively. In Germany extreme Right and
‘extreme Left were at each other’s throats. Further east the
Poles under Pilsudski had, after years of oppression, become
expansionist themselves, and were simultaneously fighting
Germans and Russians. Hungary, it appeared, was well on
the way to becoming a second Russia. The Italians were
prepared to fight the Yugoslavs over disputed frontiers on
the Adriatic, but washed their hands of larger problems.
The French and Belgians wished to occupy the Rubr in
the hope of extracting reparations from the near bankrupt
Germans. The British through compassion or realism hung
back, and were accused of disloyalty in consequence.

In November 1920, General Baron Wrangel, sometime
commander of the Tsarevich’s own Guard Cossacks, the last
and most efficient White commander fighting the Red army,
followed in the wake of General Yudenitch, Admiral Kolchak
and General Denikin, and admitted defeat. = -

In seventy-five overcrowded ships he, with what remained
of his army and their dependents, left the Crimea and arrived
in Constantinople. Many were wounded, many suffering
from cholera, all pitiful, starving and penniless. The last
active attempt by the Allies to stem the course of the Russian
Revolution had failed. Something like £3 millions’ worth
of armaments and aid recently supplied to Wrangel had been
thrown away, and in a dramatic manner the problems of
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British foreign policy had overlapped. For the clothing,
feeding and lodging of this vast influx of refugees was the
first problem that faced General Harington within days of
his arrival as the new Commander-in-Chief.

So, while Lady Harington organised a system of coloured
tickets, coloured tubs and helpers with coloured aprons °
whereby go,000 refugees, who spoke no English, could be
fed swiftly from soup kitchens, the victorious General

Tuchachevsky was able to turn round his Red Army and™

—concentrate it against the Poles. In theTurkish capital useless

R

Russian currency fiotes of enormous face value were collected
by British soldiers as curios and the bazaars were deluged
with the personal valuables of the refugees: jewellery, fur
coats, Cossack hats and daggers, officers’ swords, medals and
decorations. The soldiers of the garrison gave up their
rations so willingly to the refugees that in the case of the
Hampshire Regiment they had to be forbidden by order of
the G.0.C. Today in Britain there are a number of old
soldiers who still tell the time by exquisite, blue-enamelled
watches, decorated with the two-headed eagle of Nicholas 11,
the last Tsar of all the Russias, sold by their original
recipients for food.

Wrangel’s ex-soldiers took any job they could find with
the British or the French, cleaning barrack rooms or tending
horses. The more skilled attached themselves to units as
interpreters and signals linesmen. A descendant of one of
Tsar Alexander’s marshals who had fought Napoleon earned
a pittance by driving a fatigue wagon. Sir Horace Rumbold
reflected gloomily on the fate of the many Russian women
who drifted into the night life of a city not renowned for
its high moral tone, even without the complication of an
invasion of destitute Europeans. ‘I don’t think I've behaved
worse in my life,” said one British officer later, confirming
Sir Horace’s fears; ‘they all said they were countesses in
their own country, of course, but 1 doubt it.

So the Russians, who had coveted the city for a century,
came to Constantinople, and the thundering choruses and
reponses of the Orthodox Church were at last heard in the
city: drifting up from the refugee camps where the inmates
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lived on British and French charity. The irony was certainly
not lost on General Harington, who had been appointed by
an ebullient Churchill three months before. The Secretary
of State for War had just received a telegram which said
that Wrangel was advancing. ‘Only ninety-eight more miles

. to Moscow and Winston Churchill comes into his own,’

" he had said on that occasion. Churchill, perhaps because

" he feared Bolshevism most, had always entertained high
“hopes of the policy of intervention. Lloyd George had not,
and now that the cause was irretrievably lost could con-
gratulate himself on his prescience and concentrate on more
important issues.

As 1921 began there were many, but the most important
was his own position. It was unique. A Liberal all his life,
‘he was in office as Prime Minister by courtesy of the Tory

“majority in the House of Commons. He was that very curious
“thifig, in Lord Beaverbrook’s” phrase, ‘a Prime Minister
without a party’. In the sphere of home policy this didn’t
matter a great deal. The problems of unemployment,
industrial unrest and strikes, and even Ireland, were such
that out of desperation government and majority party hung
together. At best it could be regarded as unity in_the face
of commén danger; at worst as mere desire to cling to
power and office. Whichever it was, and it was frequently
“something in between, for the moment it worked, if not very
well.,

In the sphere of foreign policy, however, there were
already real and alarming disagreements. Within the
Cabinet the Prime Minister was passionately pro-Greek.
The Foreign Secretary, Lord Curzon, in his magisterial
way, favoured some equitable settlement between Greeks
and Turks and still hankered after the internationalisation
of Constantinople. Edwin Montagu, the Secretary of State
for India, was hyper-sensitively concerned about the

- millions of Moslems ruled by his department and was
anxious for a settlement, any settlement, with the Turks.
.He was soon in receipt of powerful support from New Delhi.
: The newly appointed Viceroy, Rufui}ggg_skMaEgg_ig‘ of

| Reading, who had already in a fantastic career been Lord
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Chief Justice and Britain’s wartime Ambassador in the q -

United States, was, like Montagu, a Jew and a Liberal, and
- The two men formed a powerful partnership. Because of their
own race and religion, they felt that they were peculiarly
~fitted, certainly more so than their Gentile colleagues, to’
appreciate and interpret the desires and aspirations of the
numerous races and religions of India. Winston Churchill,
who had first seen action as a cavalry subaltern in India and
never forgot the Imperial heritage, was equally concerned
about Moslem sentiment and was unimpressed by the Prime
Minister’s vision of a new Greek Empire. The Lord Chan-
cellor, Birkenhead, who tended to accept his political
opinions second-hand, as usual sided with Churchill.

On March 17th, 1921, Lloyd George suffered a serious
loss. Bonar Law, his trusted Tory second, whose duller,
more prosaic qualities so complemented his own erratic
brilliance, was forced to resign through ill health. He went
to France for a long convalescence. The Tory party elected
in his place Austen Chamberlain, a ‘boring, correct man
who-had inherited few if any of the qualities of Joe’, his
famous father. Chamberlain, who had been Chancellor of
the Exchequer, took Bonar Law’s place as Lord Privy Seal,
and was succeeded as Chancellor by Sir Robert Horne,
whom Lord Curzon thought ‘a vulgar fellow’.

These were the ‘strong men’ of the government. Few of
them supported Lloyd George’s foreign policy; most of them
had deepening doubts about his home policy; nearly all
of them disliked each other. With the rest of the curious
collection of Ministers who visited the luxurious house at
Lympne of Sir Philip Sassoon, the Prime Minister’s rich
but otherwise undistinguished Parliamentary Private Secre-
tary, they sang comic songs of an evening (a favourite
diversion), and hoped that Lloyd George would find a way
out. The Prime Minister, when persuaded to participate,
would sing a Welsh hymn.

Their trust, such as it was, was not reflected in the House
of Commons. Among other things the Tories were worried'

about the Near East; they placed littlé reliance on_the

Greeks and were beginning to Tévert to the_traditional
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‘grand old Turk’ mentality of Disraeli’s day. Miss Frances
Stevenson, Lloyd George s secretary and his intimate
companion, recorded in her diary that the Tories were
beginning to use the phrase ‘the Turk is a ‘gentleman’. For
" a party which has always cloaked its realism with sentiment
that phrase was enough. The Turk looked as if he was going
to be a successful gentleman.

On the Opposition side of the House of Commons, in
the diminished ranks of the old Liberal Party and the new
Labour party, there were a number of M.P.s who wished
the Greeks well, but none treasured the same sentiment
towards Lloyd Georgc Lord Beaverbrook, himself an arch
intriguer and privy to many secrets, dates the beginning

"7 of ‘the Plots’ against the Prime Minister by his Cabinet

. colleagues from this period. Beaverbrook himself, of course,
' had his own axe to grind; he was seeking a new Prime
Minister who would advocate a less adventurous foreign
policy and put into practice his own pet scheme of Empire
Free Trade. Nevertheless his general diagnosis was
correct.

Hitherto Lloyd George had stayed in the saddle with
the ease of 2 man adept at cycling with no hands. From now
on he was forced more and more often to make convulsive
grabs at the handlebars.

* * *

On January 6th, 1921, the Greek army began a general
advance into Anatolia. Their ultimate aim was the capture
of Ankara, but the short-term objectives were the taking of
Eskishehir and Afyon Karahisar, key junction towns on the
main Smyrna-Ankara railway line.

The Greek army was divided into two groups, the
northern concentrated at Brusa and the southern at Ushak.
The northern group consisted of four infantry divisions
(18,000 men) and the southern was made up of seven infantry
divisions and a cavalry brigade (33,000 men). The front of
aboutforty miles between these two concentrations was lightly
held, as was the rest of the Greek line which stretched from
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the Sea of Marmora in the north down to the south of Smyrna.

There was little subtlety about the battle which followed. .
Against the Greek northern group the Turks assembled
nine divisions, six infantry and three mounted infantry
(23,000 men) to the west of Eskishehir. To protect Afyon
Karahisar to the south they concentrated a force of ten
infantry and two cavalry divisions (25,000 men). Overall,
at the two concentrations and along the connecting front, .
the Greeks had a slight superiority in numbers, something *
like 3,000 more men than the Turks. In addition they were
superior in field artillery and had more than twice the .
number of machine-guns per battalion than their opponents.
In fact, where technical and mechanical equipment,
transport, aircraft and weapons were concerned, the advan-
tage was decidedly with the Greeks. The only apparent
factor in the Turks’ favour was that they would be fighting
a defensive battle in difficult terrain over which the Greeks
would have to advance, in most cases with the gradient
against them. Nevertheless there were no doubts in the
minds of the officers on the Greek General Staff that the
operation would be successful.

On January 1oth the main thrust was made on the
northern sector from Brusa towards Eskishehir. Later the
Turks were to talk of the first battle of Inénii. The battle, .
compared with those of the Great War, was a small affair.
For a day, fighting in snow and slush, the Turks commanded
by Ismet Pasha resolutely held their ground in their pre-—

~—pared position in the valley of Insnii. On the second day
they counter-attacked with great persistence and courage.
Greek confidence turned to surprise and consternation, and
the new Royalist commanders were compelled to admit
defeat and order a retreat back to Brusa. It was a small
Victory, but there were mammoth celebrations in Ankara.
For the first time a disciplined and trained Turkish army
had met the Greeks on anything like equal terms and it
had repulsed them. The disappointed Greeks retired to lick
their wounds and prepare for their next offensive in the
better weather that would come with the spring. Before that
could happen, however, and no doubt influenced by the
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surprise result at Inonii, the Allies decided to take a hand.
There was to be another conference.

In February an invitation was sent to the Greek govern-
ment, the Sultan’s government in Constantinople, and to
the Ankara government, to attend a conference in London
to discuss the terms of the Treaty of Sevres. The chair at
the conference was, needless to say, to be taken by the
British Prime Minister. Lloyd George undoubtedly believed,
as another Prime Minister, Harold Macmillan, was to
put it forty years later: jaw, jaw is better than war, war’;
but the conference was from the beginning to end a solemn
farce. The invitation to the three governments, at first
sight reasonable, was in fact ridiculous. The Constantinople
government would obviously not recognise what it regarded
as a rebel regime in Ankara. Kemal and his Grand National
Assembly, with the facts on their side, refused to accept
that Constantinople had any jurisdiction over Anatolia.

" The Greeks saw that if they accepted that Kemal’s govern-

ment was the lawful government of Turkey they destroyed the
basis of their own case, and with it the reasons for their
presence in Turkey. The only party who derived any
satisfaction from the triple invitation was Kemal, who had

- thereby received his first recognition from the Allies as the

de facto ruler of Turkey.

Still, perhaps because Lloyd George’s name possessed
some residual magic, more likely because each thought that
they could lose nothing by appearing to be reasonable, the
three delegations came to London. Tewfik Pasha, the Grand

" Vizier, headed the representatives of the crumbling power

of the Ottomans; Kemal sent Bekir Sami Bey, his Foreign
Secretary. The Chief of the Greek delegation was M.

" Kalogeropoulos, a former Prime Minister* and now Foreign

Minister. He was accompanied by a trio of colonels, Exa-
dactylos, Sariyannis and Lacon.

1 The category was substantial. The Prime Ministers of Greece were;
in 1914, Veniselos; 1915, Veniselos, Gounaris, Veniselos, Zaimis,
Skouloudis; 1916, Zaimis, Kalogeropoulos, Lambros; 1917, Zaimis,
Veniselos; 1918, Veniselos; 1919, Veniselos; 1920, Veniselos, Rhallis,
Kalogeropoulos; 1921, Gounaris; 1922, Gounaris, Kalogeropoulos.

116



By some piece of superb Foreign Office administrative
bungling, or perhaps it was subtle policy, the two Turkish
- delegations were accommodated in the samié hotel, the
- . Savoy. They occupied separate floors and at first refused to
- speak to each other. Unfortunately neither delegation gave
Lloyd George any reason to change his poor opinion of the
Turks.
‘ Tewfik Pasha appeared to be ill and spent a great deal
. s | of time confined to his bed. His subordinates took their cue
\5/ from him and hardly attended the conference proceedings
¢V | at all, leaving the ficld clear to the Nationalists. :
N Bekir Sami Bey, nattily dressed in European morning g
< dréss, both irritated and offended Lloyd George. On his |
way to London he had stopped off at Rome to visit the
Italian Foreign Minister, Count Sforza, who was also to:;
attend the conference as the head of his own country’s
delegation. The Italians were rightly suspected by the : y
British of being the least reliable of the Allies. Sforza, the
inheritor of a famous Renaissance name not exacily associ- ;
ated with straight dealing, was doubly unpopular, being |
regarded as outrageously vain (Vansittart “Calls him ‘the
Peacock Man’) and equally dishonest.
Once at the conference table Bekir Sami displayed, to
Lloyd George’s mind, the typical Oriental habits of nego-
tiation. He first claimed the Straits, Smyrna and Constanti-
nople, the maximum Turkish demand, and then relapsed
into language which made it increasingly difficult for the
Allies to know what he really did expect. No doubt the
British Prime Minister’s patience was strained to breaking
point when Bekir Sami was absent from the conference fora
_whole day, and, as Lloyd George reported indignantly to
King George V later, ‘finally was traced to a sodomy house
in the East End’. T e
—Tt'wa§ Tiot a very successful conference. The negotiations -
lasted from February 23rd to March 12th. Tewfik remained
at the Savoy Hotel and the Greeks predictably refused to .
sit down in the same room as the delegates from Ankara.
The Greek demands under Constantine were substantially
the same as under Veniselos: eastern Thrace up to Constanti-
T.C.A—I 117 -
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nople and the Smyrna province. The French and British
suggested, true to the old and previously ignored Wilson
principles, the holding of plebiscites. The Turks accepted,
the Greeks refused. Forced to climb down, Briand for France
and Lloyd George for Britain relented on the Straits and
Constantinople, conceded Kurdistan, and suggested that
the newly created Leagiie of Nations might look into the
question of Armenia. As Armenia, and a large number of
Armenians, were no more, this last suggestion was an empty
and pointless gesture which only served to make the other
terms less acceptable to the Turks.

The real question though was Smyrna. Should the
Greeks be allowed to remain there? The Allies’ suggestion was
that the province should become autonomous, independent of
Turkey and technically independent of Greece as well.
It was a transparent fiction and doubtless Bekir Sami saw
it as such. Without expressing agreement the three dele-
gations returned to Constantinople, Ankara and Athens.
All that Lloyd George had succeeded in doing, despite
the warnings of Churchill, Curzon, Field Marshal Wilson
and General Gourand, who accompanied Briand, was to
convince the Turks that he was opposed to their aspirations
and to leave an impression with the Greeks that he would
help them to achieve theirs. This atmosphere of partiality
was heightened by the arrival in London, during the
conference, of M. Gounaris, the Greek Prime Minister,
apparently for private talks with Lloyd George.

So far as the Turks were concerned perhaps this didn’t
matter; Lloyd George, though not his government, was anti-
Turk, and Bekir Sami would have been blind and foolish
not to recognise it. So far as the Greeks were concerned,
however, the impression remaining after the London
Conference was positively dangerous. Founded on nothing
more substantial than their own hopes, buoyed up by en-
couraging and sympathetic expressions, they left London
with the conviction that the most famous statesman of the
day would give them help. '

On the principle, therefore, that the British Prime

. Minister, like the gods, would help those who helped them-
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selves, on March 23rd the Greeks renewed their offensive in

Anatolia. By a word here and a smile there Lloyd George

had started the guns firing again. The Greek official excuse -

was that they were acting in self-defence. Field Marshal

Wilson was unconvinced. During the London Conference
—te had attended several Cabinet meetings and tendered

advice which had not been accepted. The comments in his

diary are revealing: E e e
~Marck znd. During the duration of the Conference.

‘The Greeks have refused Lloyd George’s proposal for
a Commission to sit at Smyrna to decide who the place
belongs to! They very wisely stand pat on the fact that the
Frocks gave it to them.’

Moarch 11th. The day before the Allies formulated their
proposals.

‘Amazing volte-face on the part of the Frocks at 10.30
last night in regard to Turkey. They have agreed to withdraw
the Allied troops from Constantinople, to withdraw the
Greek troops from everywhere in Asia Minor except Smyrna
town, to allow the Turks to have troops in Constantinople
etc. All this at last in the right direction, but why it was done -
I cannot imagine. An amazing performance. I suppose the
Frocks think it quite natural. Perhaps they hope that by
keeping Greeks in Smyrna the Turks will refuse the whole
thing and so they will throw the whole blame on Turkey.” '

,  March rgth. Two days after the conclusion of the Confer-
ence. o

¢, .. several indications that the Greeks are going to attack
the Turks at Afyon Karahisar and Eskishehir. If this is
done at Lloyd George’s instigation it will be pretty hot
stuff. The Turks meanwhile have occupied Batum. What a,
rotten peace the Frocks made.’

March 22nd. After the Cabinet meeting of that day. The
Cabinet had discussed the Greek offensive.

‘. . . Fisher [H. A. L. Fisher, President of the Board of
Education] put up a feeble protest. But Lloyd George said
there was a great concentration of Turkish troops in front
of the Greeks and that it was impossible to prevent the
Greeks attacking in self-defence. So far as our (and Greek)
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information goes, there is no concentration of Turks on
that railway, and therefore the coming attack is entirely
uncalled for and wholly unprovoked. And Lloyd George
. knows this. The whole thing is a ramp and a disgusting
ramp.” The Field Marshal in the same entry goes on to say
that the Greek chargé d’affaires had been to see him in the
hope that the Manissa Division (of the Greek army) could
remain under General Harington’s command. ‘. . . this of
course to embroil us’, wrote Wilson, and concluded: “The
whole thing is disgusting. In my opinion the end of this will
~be the total ruin of the Greeks—the friends of Lloyd George.’
" The day after the Chief of the Imperial General Staff
# put down his pen the Greeks began their week-long battle.
The objectives were the same as in the January fighting.
In the south they captured Afyon Karahisar comparatively
easily and advanced along the road to Konya, nearly due
south of and less than 200 miles from Ankara. Once again

in the north the fighting was heavy before Eskishehir. The
Greeks again reached Inénii and once again were held by
 “Tsmet Pasha. The difference though between the second
~and the first battle of Inénii lay in the duration of the battle
and the intensity of the fighting. The Greeks committed
all their available forces and threw them at the Turks’
defensive positions and artillery. It was the familiar situation
of the Great War: the advantage lay with the defence.
Greek losses were very heavy indeed and after their troops
were exhausted the Turks counter-attacked. After the first
battle of Inénii the Greeks retired; after the second they
vetreated, beaten and in confusion. =~
Two foreign correspondents with the Greek army have
left their impressions. Both were to become known to posterity.
The Toronto Daily Star had sent out an American called
Y  FErnest Hemingway, and the Manchester Guardian had
commissioried an academically inclined young man named
./ Arnold Toynbee. As might be expected, Hemingway was
“taken by thé drama and violence of it all. The steady, slow
persistence of the Turks; the evzones of the Greek Royal
Guard lying dead in their ballet-length kilts, stocking caps
and pom-pommed shoes. Like many Americans he was
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hopelessly biased against the Royalist regime, and attri-
buted the defeat of the Greek army entirely to the absence
of its Veniselist officers. Toynbee was more sober, serious .
and analytical. Like so many Englishmen of his education
and inclinations he had begun by being pro-Greek, but
gradually, acting on the evidence of his eyes, he had come to
doubt the justice and the wisdom of their cause. As he
accompanied the Greeks on their chaotic retreat by lorry,
ox-cart and mule, he noticed the emergence of a myth.
The myth of foreign intervention.

Previously the Greeks had been superior militarily to the
Turks. If not in courage then technically: in expertise, in -
organisation, in the use of equipment and weapons. Now
the despised, s1mp1e, illiterate Turk had won. The explan-
ation must lie in the help of the Russians, the Fﬁa;alLand
the Itahans Oﬂicers and advisers of these nationalities were
sworn to by eye ‘witnesses as bemg presen‘t—‘*"tﬁelr Qyn
wmiforms, assisting the Turks. In time many philhellenes
were to Beheve this, but it was nonsense. What Toynbee
heard was the Greeks beginning subconsmously to formulate

their excuses for defeat.

* * *

For Lloyd George, the friend of the Greeks, the news of
the second battle of Inonii came at a period of depression.
The post-war economic boom, aided by the reopening
of export markets closed during the war, began to peter
out in the winter of 1920, and had disappeared entirely by
the spring of 1921. Unemployment more than doubled ’
between December 1920 and March 1921. In June 1921 it
was to reach the record figure of over two millions. In thel
coal mines there was a lock out and the three most powerful
trades unions, the National Union of Mineworkers, the
National Union of Railwaymen and the Transport and
General Workers’ Union, ‘the Triple Alliance’, seemed to
be on the verge of calling a general strike. In the delicate
sphere of local authority housing Christopher Addison, the
Minister of Health whose responsibility it was, having spent
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vast sums of public money in an inflated market, was forced
from office in March 1g21. Lloyd George made him Lord
Privy Seal for the moment, but ‘the Housing Scandal’ threat-
ened to engulf not only Addison but also the Prime Minister
who had appointed him.

Across the Irish Channel there was, as always, ‘John
Bull’s other island’, which engaged so much of England’s
attention and generated so much Irish and Anglo-Irish
passion. The Republic, with de Valera as President,
existed side by side with the old British government at
Dublin Castle. The situation would have been ludicrous if it
had not also been tragic. There were nearly 50,000 troops
there; 10,000 men of the armed Royal Irish Constabulary
plus the Black and Tans and the even tougher and less
scrupulous Auxiliary Division, and it was not enough.
Assassination, terrorism and savage reprisals were the order
of the day. Field Marshal Wilson, like so many professional
soldiers an Ulsterman, told Lloyd George that only a full-
scale war could restore law and order.

Feeding on the atmosphere of crisis and failure ‘the
Plots’, as Beaverbrook called them, to replace Lloyd George,
increased. Now the plotters, and they consisted of practically
all the members of the government, were presented with two
failures in an area of foreign policy which was peculiarly
Lloyd George’s own. The London Conference had failed
ignominiously and, as was suspected but not known at the

" time, both the French and the Ttalians had tried to do
economic deals with Kemal behind Britain’s back. The
" British government had officially declared its neutrality in
~ the Graeco-Turkish war, but it was impossible to ignore the
" fact that British influence and prestige were still linked to
the fate of the Greek army. By his behind-the-scenes en-
couragement and his public utterances Lloyd George had
bound up his own destiny with that of the Greeks. He had
created in the public mind, in both Britain and Greece, a
relationship which didn’t exist.

The British were no longer the allies of Greece; they
suppliéd no afms, o money or assistance. They had no
control over the decisions of the Greek King, his politicians
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or his generals. Yet the Turks could not believe this and were
convinced that all Greek actions were somehow inspired by
the machinations of Lloyd George. Worse still, in their turn
the Greeks, from the King downwards, were equally con-
vinced that in an emergency the British, or at least their
leader, would come to their aid. In Churchlll’s words, the
Greeks still believed ‘the great man is with us, ‘and in his -

own way ‘and in his own time and by his own w1zardry he
_will bring us the vital aid we need.” The Greeks were, of
course, deluded, but in fairness to them it must be said that
Lloyd George never could bring himself to disillusion them.
It was a dangerous situation for the Greeks, and it was to
prove equally dangerous for Lloyd George.
It was at this time that he confided to Miss Stevenson
that he had no friends. Politically at home that was true.
"~ Foréign statesmen remarked on the fact that he no longer
v | controlled his Cabinet colleagues. If there had been such
a thing in 1921 as a National Opinion Poll it would have
shown that his popularity rating had slumped. By the strong
line that he was forced to take over strikes he had forfeited
the support of the working class. The propertied classes
were in favour of his measures, but both disliked and
distrusted him personally. The two press barons, Lords
Northcliffe and Beaverbrook, opposed Hif; the former
“pathologically, the latter on grounds of pohcy Their
; %spectwe newspapers, The Times and Daily Mail, anm
Daily Express, dutifully reflected the views of their proprietors,
"The rest of the press was at best lukewarm, with the exception
of the Daily Telegraph, which pursued a ‘patriotic’ coalition
line.
He toyed with the idea of forming a new party and, more

of a pending general clectmn got about and h1s colleagues
prepared themselves to knife their leader and each other.
Lloyd George had to deny the possibility of a general
election and disavow his own responsibility for the rumour.
Distrust consequently increased.

Paradoxically the Prime Minister, who though bellicose
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and militant was not a militarist, had in the Near East to
rely on military men. Lloyd George, who had said ‘the
difference between Winston Churchill and me is that he likes
““war and I don’t’, was now forced to depénd upon soldiers, the
Greek and his own. The man who had an aversion to the
military caste, who had at times both despised and disliked
them in the Great War, had now again to give them his
orders and rely on their abilities and discretion because
there was no one else upon whom he could rely. Lloyd
George’s opinion of soldiers could be summed up in the
words of his friend H. G. Wells, who in his Qutline of History
' had written, ‘the professional military mind is by necessity
‘an inferior and unimaginative mind: no man of high intel-
! lectual quality would willingly imprison his mind in such a
{_ calling’. Yet Lloyd George’s fate, and so much else besides,
now depended upon a war being fought out between Greeks
and Turks and on the advice of one British soldier in London
\ and the actions of another in Constantinople: in London
-, Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, the Chief of the Imperial
" General Staff; in Constantinople Lieutenant-General Sir
' Charles Harington, the Commander-in-Chief of the Allied
* armies.

There was nothing about either to recommend them to
Lloyd George as agents of his policy. Wilson was an
incredibly tall Anglo-Irishman who happened, owing to
French governéssess when a boy, to be able to speak perfect
French. He was energetic, impulsive and stupendously
“outspoken. When Commandant of the Staff College before
the Great War he had met General Foch, his French
opposite number, and they had immediately struck up a
firm friendship. Together after the war they had been
resolutely opposed to thie introduction of the Greeks into
'Anatolia. Few British generals admired politicians; Wilson

" positively Ioathed them. “The Frocks’ to him were both

‘ignorantand ‘contémptible and none more so than the

present incumbent of the position of His Majesty’s First

Minister. The Field Marshal, not surprisingly, had a sort of
genius for rubbing politicians up the wrong way. During /
v

the Curragh ‘mutiny’ in 1914, when officers in Ireland
%
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| had appeared to prefer resignation rather than be employed
j to coerce Ulster, he had made enemies in the Asquith
| government. In 1921 he was still passionately convinced that
it was the politicians alone who were responsible for the
chaos that was his native country. He regarded Lloyd
George’s fatalistic attitude over the Arméfifans as contemp-
\'Ble and hlS ambltlons for Greece as 1nsane Vemselos was

totally dworced Trom reality. Perhaps Winston Churchill
was the only politician for whom he had any regard at all,

but only on the occasions when he agreed with the Chief of
the Imperial General Staff. Imbued with a tremendous
down-to-earth common sense, reinforced by his professional
training and experience, the hazy, meandering generali-
sations of politicians in committee were agony to him, and
their often-revealed self-interest despicable. At the time of
the Peace Conference he had written: “The poor Frocks still
seem to think that someone is listening to them. It is pathe-
tic.’

Charles Harington was another Irish professional soldier;
less of a character than Wilson, whom he greatly admired,
but just as much a type that was basically antipathetic
to Lloyd George. Forty -eight years old in 1920, he was the
son of an Indian 1nd1go ‘planter. Educated at Cheltenham
‘and Sandhurst, passing in 2oth and passing out 120th, he
had entered the King’s Regiment in 18g2. He had served
in the war in South Africa, but his main interest at this
period was games, at which he excelled, especially cricket.
At this time, too, he was almost entirely lacking in ambition.
While an instructor at Sandhurst he had applied for the
permanent post of messing officer because that position,
although it would have necessitated his retirement from the
active list, offered unrivalled opportunities for cricket,
rackets and hockey. He was not accepted, and later gained
entrance to_the Staff College, much to his own SUFpIie.

“The Coémmandant at the timé ~wasBrigadier-General

Henry Wilson.

/ At Staff College something happened to Harington which
changed his image of a conventional Anglo-Irish games-
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. loving soldier, married to a soldier’s daughter and with
" little apparent interest in the higher reaches of his profession.
- He left Staff College in 1908 and from then on his career was
' that of the model, rising, able staff officer.

At the War Office from 1908 to 1911, he was then appoin-
ted Brigade Major to the 6th Brigade stationed at Aldershot.
Its commander was Brigadier-General Douglas Haig.
After a year with his regiment, in the crisis-laden months
of June and July 1914 Harington was in the vital Mobili-
sation Branch of the War Office. When war came he was
promoted and became a colonel on the staff of 111 Corps;
then Brigadier-General, General Staff, to the Canadian
Corps, and on June 13th, 1916, Major-General, and Chief of
Staff to General Sir Herbert Plumer, the commander of the
ond Army. By general consensus of opinion Plumer, despite
his old-fashioned, white-moustached, pot-bellied appearance
was the ablest British commander in France. ‘Plum’, as he
“was universally called, was also the only general who had
the slightest claim to be known by and be popular with the
troops under his command. At a time of distant incompe-
tence and indifference to casualties, ‘Plum’ and his Chiefof
Staff stood out as exceptious to both rules.

Sir Philip Gibbs! described Harington at this period:
‘A thin, nervous, highly strung man, with extreme simplicity
of manner and clarity of intelligence, he impressed me as a
brain of the highest temper and quality in Staff work. His
memory for detail was like a_card-index system, yet his
mind was not clogged with detail. For the first time, in his
presence and over his maps, I saw that after all there was
such a thing as the science of war and that it was not always
a fetish of elementary ideas raised to the nth degree of
pomposity as I had been led to believe by contact with other
generals and staff officers.” Later Harington served in Italy,
and after the war as Deputy Chief of the Imperial General
Staff under his old mentor, Sir Henry Wilson, before being
appointed to Constantinople.

1 Philip Gibbs, literary editior of Daily Mail, Daily Chronicle and Tribune.
1915-18, war correspondent for Telegraph and Chronicle. Novelist. Knigh-
ted 1920.
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What Lloyd George knew of Harington’s character and
abilities can only be surmised, but it is interesting to observe
one difference of degree between Wilson’s and Harington’s
attitude to their political masters. Wilson, perhaps because,
as his detractors alleged, he wanted to play the politician
himself, disliked politicians; Harington was simply indiffer-
ent. Only once, he recalled, did he ever bother to ensure
that he was on a register of electors. During the general
election he went and listened to all the parliamentary
candidates. None of them mentioned the defence of the
Empire, so he went home and voted for none. To ‘Tim’
Harington it was as simple as that. Needless to say, to David
Lloyd George this attitude would have been genuinely
incomprehensible.

Poles apart, then, though they were in character and atti-
Tude, almost archetypes of their respective professions, these
two totally different men were to be brought by the events
in the Near East very close to each other indeed.
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‘As unpleasant towards Kemal
as possible

David Lloyd George

In Anatolia, in the spring of 1921, two armies, Greek and
Turkish, counted their casualties and prepared to face
each other again. Both sides were beginning to realise that
the next battle would decide the fate of Turkey. Those
British soldiers, however, who came to Constantinople at
that time, could well have been excused for not thinking
of it as a city at the centre of a crisis.

The soldiers of ‘the Army of the Black Sea’, as it was still
called, could be divided into types, whether officers or other
ranks. The distinguishing mark was the medal ribbons, or
lack of them, on their tunics. The little oblongs of coloured
ribbon stitched tightly over their left breast pockets effec-
tively divided up those who had served in the Great War,
whether as Regulars, volunteers, or conscripts, from the
newly joined Regulars of the peacetime army. Many of the
wartime soldiers had held higher ranks than their present
ones. It was common to find captains with brevets and
D.S.O.s or M.C.s who had commanded battalions, and
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sergeants with D.C.M.s or M.M.s who had been regimental
sergeant-majors.

The young subalterns and recruits were intrigued by
their first spell of overseas service, but the older men who
had survived Flanders or Palestine hardly took the present
situation seriously. There was a slight spice of danger in
that no one quite knew what the Turkish population of
Constantinople might do, and outside the city limits arms
and ammunition were carried as a matter of course. On
the other side of the Bosphorus, in the Ismid Peninsula and
at Chanak, positions were manned on an emergency basis,
armed patrols were sent out, and there was always the

ossibility of being sniped at by Nationalists or brlgands,
\—cl;j’t,e“_r_l‘1nd1st1ngulshable Still it was nothing Tike active

service as many had known it. Perhaps the closest parallel

was the North-West Frontier of India, with one important
difference. There the warlike Afridis and Mahsuds meant
business; in Turkey there was no enemy, just a state of
chaos created by the politicians.

The soldiers’ view of the local population was a simple
one. The Turks as shopkeepers and traders were relatively
honest and straightforward. Greeks, Armenians and all the
other mixtures of races loosely classified as Levantines, were

not. For them there was none of the respect which the -
British entertained for the fighting qualities of their former

énemy. Soldiers, as always, simply took the locals as they
Tound them, and ‘the old Turk was all right’. There was
also something in this -attitudé of the automatic British
Imperial preference for simple Asiatic races as opposed to
complicated Latins. The average British soldier had no more___
regard for the Greeks, their erstwhile allies, than they | had
“for the French or the Italians, their present ones.

“The French and Italian private soldiers they regarded

v

as dirty and slovenly, and their officers as overdressed,

strutting turkey-cocks. At the highest levels 6T diplomacy
and military command there were attempts at co-operation
which were more or less successful. At lower levels, however,
the highly trained and disciplined British soldier simply

did not take his country’s allies seriously. A dapper little
w
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Italian major who rebuked a brawny Scots private for not
salutmg him had his hat knocked off, his fly buttons ripped
" open, and was then pushed contemptuously into the gutter.
The man in the ranks in those days was neither as well
informed nor as sophisticated as his equivalent today.
Empbhatically not Wellington’s soldier enlisted for drink,
nor Kipling’s, he was still a man who wanted a bit of
adventure, a bit of travel, and whose life was therefore
bounded by his regiment, his comrades, the sergeant and
‘the officer’, as he called him, meaning his platoon or troop
lieutenant. The unemployment situation helped to fill the
ranks: ‘I wasn’t too keen on guns or horses, but I lived near
the depot at Woolwich and there were five of us in the
family’, was how one gunner summarised his reasons for
taking the King’s shilling in 1920. Promotion was slow in
- peacetime. From private to R.S.M. could take twenty years;
from the ranks to a commission was a rarity save as a
quartermaster. Socially a vast gap still yawned between
private soldier and commissioned officer.
" If niot the aristocracy or the gentry, certainly the upper
middle class officered the British army. The majority of
officers came from the public schools. In the ‘smart’ regiments
the Guards, the cavalry and horse artillery, the Rifle
Brigade and the King’s Royal Rifle Corps, a few hundred
pounds a year was still a necess1ty In the line infantry and
the artillery it helped. Only in the ‘technical’ and less
socially ambitious corps such as the Engineers and Signals,
or the Service and Ordnance Corps could a junior officer
hope to live on his pay. In passing, and in part explanation,
it may be observed that such considerations were not only
relevant in the armed services. Nevile Henderson, the deputy
High Commissioner in Constantinople at the time, said
that without £400 per annum of prlvate income as a young
_man he could tiot have remained in the Diplomatic Service.
"Not only socially but in a sense militarily as well, it was
an old-fashioned army. The Battle of Cambrai is popularly
supposed to have ushered in the era of mechanised warfare.
For the Army of the Black Sea, at least so far as equipment
was concerned, that battle might never have been fought.
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There were no tanks, few armoured cars; cavalry was still
cavalry—on horses, still carrying swords. Field guns were
pulled by teams of six horses; medium artillery by eight heavy
Clydesdales. The R.A.S.C. moved their supplies by horse-

drawn wagons and each infantry battalion had its allocation .- - .

of horses to pull its unit transport. Pack artillery, with guns
in sections on the backs of mules, wasstill much in evidence.
The only concession to modernity was a few heavy gun
tractors and some rickety lorries, plus the presence of a

squadron of R.A.F. biplanes and some seaplanes supplied .

by the navy.

Weapons were the same as they had been in 1914: the
Lee-Enfield rifle and long bayonet, the officers’ 45 revolver;
the only automatic weapons were the Lewis gun and the
Vickers machine-gun, belt-fed and mounted on a tripod.
Uniform, too, had not changed: the tight-buttoned khaki
tunic, trousers, puttees and boots for the infantry, breeches
and puttees for mounted soldiers. Highland regiments still
retained the kilt on active service. Officers of the rank of
major and above, in all arms, still wore breeches, boots and
spurs. In one respect the Black Sea Army prcsented an even
“more old-fashioned aspect: in summer they wore the large
cumbrous and useless ‘Wolseley’ sun helmet. The Turkish
climate was something of a problem, hot in summer,
freezingly cold in winter, and a few brave or nonconformist
spirits took advantage of it to wear the far more comfortable
peaked cap all the year round. For the majority, however,
Regimental Orders and the eye of the adjutant and the
R.S.M. preserved them in summer in headgear which would
not have been unfamiliar to Queen Victoria.

Perhaps because of the headdress with its overtones of
Imperial wars, the contemporary photographs of the period
look older than their forty-six years. Two points have to be
remembered. First, this was essentially an army coming
back to peacetime habits, dress and attitudes of mind. Hence
there was a quite definite drive, as always after any war,
to return to the pre-war style of military behaviour. Secondly,
although the British army was beginning once again to
insist on punctilious ceremonial and general ‘spit and
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polish’, which had received a nasty knock in the mud and
“lice of the Western Front, comparatively this was the most
efficient army in the Middle East. Better trained, better
dlsc1p11ned well fed and well cared for mechcally, it was '

superior to both the French and Italian forces and, needless

to say, to the ill-equipped Greek and Turkish armies. Its |

morale was high. Partly because of its efficiency, partly
because of the automatic advances in welfare which had
been brought about by the war, but also because of the
personality of its commander, General Harington.

All those who knew him testify to what they call, simply,
‘his kindness’, not always an outstanding characteristic
‘of generals. Nevile Henderson, who as Deputy High Com-
“Hiissioner saw him daily, regarded it as almost a fault.
The army, he admitted, was ‘super efficient’, but its com-
mander, he thought, was ‘too gentle and nice’.

Harington’s subordinate officérs and the men under his
command would not have agreed. The General spared no
effort to make their lot as pleasant as possible. It would
have been very easy in a city such as Constantinople to
allow a situation to develop whereby the officers enjoyed
all its many facilities for expensive sports, hunting, polo,
shooting, fishing and yachting, and amused themselves in
the evening in the night clubs, whil€ their men languished
in barracks, or spent all their money in cheap drinking dens
cum brothels. Harington spared no effort to encourage team
games and other recreations in which the men could take
part.

Some idea of the problems he encountered can be gained
from the Y.M.C.A. Guide to Constantinople, a pocket
book issued to all soldiers. As well as giving information
on money exchange, shops, curios, restaurants and cafés,
trains, trams, steamers and sports grounds, it included a
warning about counterfeit paper money which was palmed
off on the unsuspecting, and advised soldiers how to avoid
offending Moslem religious susceptibilities. The most
illuminating section was at the end, under the heading
‘Health Hints’. “Take at least seven hours’ sleep if you can
get it. Take a sponge bath every morning if you can get
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nothing better. Eat only those foods which you know to be .

good and properly cooked, drink water only when you
know the source to be pure or after it has been boiled, do
not drink or eat too much of anything. Take some form of
vigorous exercise if you wish to preserve your health. Get
into the game, form high ideas of sex relations, sexual
intercourse is not a physical necessity for the preservation
of virility. Remember the folks at home, think clean thoughts,
eat clean foods, drink clean drinks.” A trifle paternalistic
and naive by modern standards maybe, but Harington
himself, who contributed a foreword, never hesitated to
make a simple approach to simple men and was repaid
by their loyalty.

His relations were also excellent with his two opposite
numbers: General Charpy, who commanded the French
forces, and General Mombelli, who commanded the Italian.
The three generals were, if fact, in better accord than the
three High Commissioners, Sir Horace Rumbold, General
Pellé and the Marquis Garroni. Henderson described Pellé
as ‘a gentleman’, but did not use that expression, his highest
compliment, when referring to the Italian marquis. All
three High Commissioners were, however, in complete
agreement in one respect: their dislike of Admiral Bristol
of the United States Navy, who arrived in 1921 and behaved
“as if Ke too were a High Commissioner.

" The United States had not been at war with Turkey
and the Admiral’s presence with a few “Warships was a
hangover from the Wilson period and his duties were
consequently ill defined. He was a difficult, pugnacious man
and did nothing to lesséni the resentment of the High
Commissioners by his habit of trying to interfere in what
they regarded as their exclusive sphere of action. The High
Commissioners did not admit him to their consultations.
The Admiral retaliated by ordering the crews of his ships
to refrain from paying the usual compliment of manning
ship and saluting when the High Commissioners’ yachts
passed them in the Bosphorus.

Meanwhile, despite these diverting squabbles in high
places, life in Constantinople continued almost as if the

|
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Allied fleets and armies were not there at all, and the city
itself was still the capital of Turkey. Wrangel’s Russians,
although at times, as Henderson observed, they made the
Grand Rue de Pera ‘more like the Nevsky Prospect of St.
Petersburg’, were slowly being absorbed into the population.
The more enterprising opened up stalls and little shops, or
got work in the restaurants and night clubs; the unlucky
ones came to be accepted as part of the scene, selling flowers
mournfully on street corners. The wife of an officer in the
Essex regiment used to notice one in particular: a Cossack,
still bristling with weapons, trying to sell bunches of
Madonna lilies.

The Russians were not the only refugees. In addition
some thousands of Turks, fearful of Kemal, or simply
displaced in one way or another from Thrace or Anatolia,
flooded into the safety of the city. Among them, as the Allies
suspected, were a fair number of Kemalist agents who, as
well as sending back information, occupied themselves with
the ever-increasing traffic of arms and volunteers into
Anatolia. The majority, though, were genuine refugees;
part of the flotsam of any war and delighted to enjoy the
comparative security of Allied protection. To them too
Constantinople must have appeared a peaceful city. Apart
from the Allied soldiers to be seen in the streets, 1t must
have seemed as if the events of the last eight years had
never been, The Sultan, Mehmed Vahid-ed-Din, Mehmed
VI, Caliph of all the Mussulmans, still resided in the Dol
) Bagtche Palace. On Frldays he could be seen taking his part
~ in the solemn procession to prayer, the Selamlik, in the
Great Mosque. Surrounded by troops, courtiers and
functionaries and travelling in an open landau, the elderly,
moustached gentleman in a blue uniform and crimson fez
gave no indication to the spectators that he was no longer,
like his predecessors, ‘the shadow of God on earth’, absolute
and omnipotent. His fleet lay rusting in the Bosphorus; one
of its few seaworthy vessels, the Makouk, was now Sir
Horace Rumbold’s official yacht. His once powerful army
owed allegiance to another, and the men he could rely on
had dwindled to a handful of retainers and household troops.
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Though paid every outward sign of respect, he was no longer
even a pawn in the diplomatic and military game being
played out around him. His fate, and that of so many
others, would be decided in Anatolia.

One of the players in the game, Lloyd George, received
in the late spring and early summer a measure of domestic
encouragement which quickly restored his mercurial spirits.
Duly reported in the British Wireless Press, a two-page
newsheet compiled by the Royal Corps of Signals, the
British troops in Constantinople learned that there would
not now be a General Strike in Britain and that a truce had
been declared in Ireland.

On the 15th of April, the ‘Black Day’ of the Brltlsh
Labour movénient, as iany socialists called 1t, the Triy ole

~—Alliance of the b1g unions broke apart. Two union leaders,
“Ernest Bevin of the dockers’ wing of the T. & G.W.U., and
J. H. Thomas of the N.U.R., both destined in their time to
become Cabinet Ministers,! decided that they could not
support by joint strike action the demand of the miners for
higher wages and better conditions. The T. & G.W.U. and
the N.U.R. were prepared to negotiate; the N.U.M., under
its president Herbert Smith, wanted to fight. The miners,
on their own, lost, and were forced to return fo-work for
“-their old wages and with no improvement in the harsh”
conditions of their employment. The middle classes, and
others who had never been down a coal mine in their lives,
purred with relief. Wages soon fell in other industries as
well, and Lloyd George thought that he had gained another
lease of political life.

The Irish truce, which was signed on July 8th by De

Valera, the President of the Irish Republic, brought fighting

! Thomas, between 1924 and 1936, was Colonial Secretary, Lord

t  Privy Seal and Dominions Secretary, but had to leave public life after

) revealing Budget secrets. Bevin was a member of the War Cabinet
1940—5 and Foreign Secretary 1945-50. Both retained their working-
class accents, Thomas for conscious effect. When he remarked publicly
that he had ‘an ’ell of an ’eadache’, Birkenhead said, ‘What you need
is a couple of aspirates.” Thomas did not speak to Birkenhead again.
Bevin once mystified the Foreign Office by reference to ‘addock arrange-
ments’ (ad hoc).
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to an end three days later. The agreement, and the secret
negotiations which had preceded it, had arisen out of the
lengthy and fantastically complicated Government of
Ireland Act, which Lloyd George had devised in an effort
to satisfy everyone. The Act was unworkable but, because
the Irish Republican Army was nearly beaten, as one of its
leaders admitted, and because the British were tired of
repression, it provided a basis for peaceful discussion. The
Irish were not to be reconciled, that was too much to be
hoped, but the truce of July paved the way for the Treaty
of December, 1921. Henceforth the Irish might fight among
themselves in the Republic, and Ulster would be separate,
but Britain would no longer be directly involved, and the
last British troops were to leave almost exactly a year later.

It was not a victory but it was a relief to all save the
ultra-Conservative, often of Irish ancestry, who persisted
in regarding it as a surrender. Their attitude was bigoted
and unreasonable, but those who had influence stored up
their resentment and added to their growing list of criticisms
of the Prime Minister. Lloyd George himself could reason-
ably think that some of his troubles were over, bask a little
in the glow of the Dominion Prime Ministers’ Conference,
which assembled in London in June, and return again to
what Count Sforza called his obsession—the Greeks and
the Turks in the Near East.

Like a juggler he had caught two balls but another was
still in the air.

* * *

Events in Anatolia had not stood still. The reverse in
the spring had exacerbated the differences within the Greek
army. The easy explanation of these differences lay in the
return of the Royalist officers and the removal of the
Veniselists. Actually, the situation was far more complicated
than that.
 Originally, in 1917, Veniselos had dismissed nearly

3,000 officers who had not supported his revolutionary
government. As the Greek army had expanded, their places,
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53 /and more, had been filled by quickly promoted men regarded

as reliable by the new regime. Foolish measures had been

& . A
o) /[ resorted to in order to provide the necessary numbers. Many

: nj ;. L
BAWE VRN /lfm%d B el T o

\n/ D»J

/v/ov}.’l-fﬂg {3;‘.\\{

i
B

|

‘.l/

s/

P

/

N.C.O.s had been commissioned as junior officers and then

) literally had to be taught to read and write like many of
i the new recruits. British officers working with the Greeks

were considerably surprised, then and later, to find company
and platoon officers who were for all practical purposes

i illiterate.

With the return of Constantine as many as possible of
the dismissed officers, including Prince Andrew, the King’s
brother, were reinstated. Senior Veniselist officers, especially
those who had actively campaigned against the King’s
return, were, not surprisingly, in their turn dismissed.
Others, fearing dismissal or demotion, tried to foment
mutiny, resigned, or just deserted. General Papoulas had
endeavoured to forget the past and had retained as many
former Veniselists as possible. At the same time he had to
try to satisfy the demands of the Royalist officers, who felt

. that their loyalty to the King should guarantee preferment.

In consequence the army had what Prince Andrew called
“a pléthora of generals and colonels’, both in" Anatolia and
“Greece, under-employed and of divergent political loyalties.
~In June, 1921, King Constantine, hoping to recreate some . -
sort of unity, reverted to his first profession and love, and
[ was proclaimed Supreme Commander of the Greek forces
{ in Asia. With a fanfare from the Athens press he sailed for
© Smyrna, there to set up his headquarters. For the loyal
. Journalist there appeared to be many happy and encouraging
- portents. A second Constantine had landed in Asia Minor;
- the first Christian king to do so since Richard I of England,
. Geeur de Lion, during the Crusades.

Landing at Smyrna in the uniform of a field marshal, he
received a rapturous reception from saluting officers and
cheering crowds of Greek civilians. Not content with

i the blue and white Hellenic flags exhibited from every
i building, one enthusiastic well-wisher produced a Turkish

| flag for the King to walk over. Constantine acknowledged

j the cheers and declared himself confident of defeating the .
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Turkish army and thus destroying the power of Mustapha
Kemal. A few days later he embarked on a large-scale
inspection of his armies, encouraging all those he met with
talk of the coming offensive.

Prince Andrew also went to Anatolia at this time to take
command of the recently formed 12th Division, and has
left his impressions of the morale of the army. Undoubtedly
Constantine’s presence acted as a fillip; he had a way with
soldiers and talked to them as a fellow soldier and not a
king. Nevertheless there were still serious dissensions,
especially among the officers, many of whom were still
declared Veniselists. The army itself had been increased
in strength from 110,000 in January to nearly 200,000 men,
the largest army the Greeks had ever been able to put into
the field. The new units were a valuable addition, of course,

_ but they were formed, like Prince Andrew’s own command,

" for the most part of untried, young recruits. Their officers

i —also were in many cases over-conﬁdcnt and inexperienced.

" Yet the most serious fault of the Greek army was not the
training and certainly not the courage of its private soldiers,
but lay in the higher reaches of command.

It is not clear precisely what authority the King himself
wielded. He was an experienced soldier and not an unskilled
one; nevertheless he wore a field marshal’s uniform because
he was King, and a king who had to accept the advice of
his military advisers. Advice was often conflicting; intrigue
and self interest were rife. No one in the Greek army,
despite its crowned commander, had the clear monolithic
authority of its enemy, Mustapha Kemal. Despite these
disadvantages, on July gth the Greek army, in Churchill’s
words, began ‘marching steadily forward through harsh and
difficult country to engage in the greatest campaign under- |
taken by Greece since Classic times’.

In London, a few weeks previously, on the 1st, 2nd and
gth of June, a special Cabinet committee had been meeting.
It was called the Committee on the Future of Constantinople,
but it also considered other matters. On June 1st the
committee: Lloyd George, Curzon, Edwin Montagu,
Churchill, now Secretary for the Colonies, his successor at
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the War Office, Sir Laming Worthington-Evans, and Sir
Alfred Mond, the Minister of Health, had the benefit of the
advice of Sir Henry Wilson and General Harington.

Lord Curzon spoke first, and what he had to report spoke
volumes for the attitude of the British government. Con-.

_ stantine might rule in Greece but the Cabinet was still™™

" more 1nterested in ‘the views of Greece’s exiled ex-Prime
~“Minister. Curzon had had a conversation with Sir John
“Stavridi, formerly Consul-General in London. Stavridi had
undertaken to see Veniselos on Saturday next in Paris and
return with his views on the Sunday. The Prime Minister
was in a pessimistic frame of mind. Kemal had now become
__‘a formidable menace’, and France, because of Hier exténsive

ﬁnanc1a1 1nterests and Ttaly also, had surreptitiously ranged_
“"themselves on his side. Lloyd George suggested that Britain '
“should ‘make herself as unpleasant towards Kemal as
possible’, and ‘support the Greeks on condition that they
accepted our advice as to military command organisation
and strategy and our guidance as to policy’.

At the same time it was suggested that Greek ambitions
should not be furthered, and new terms of peace be devised to
put before the Turks. Perhaps the Aga Khan, ‘who could _
speak as Mohammedan to Mohammedan’, mlght be sent_

" to explain the alternatives of opposition or peace to Kemal'r’_

‘Apparently the Aga Khan, whilst undergoing a cure in
Switzerland, had been approached by ‘moderates from
Ankara’. Unfortunately moderates such as Bekir Sami Bey,
of the London Conference, had now been replaced by
extremists.

The Prime Minister hoped that active co-operation
could be obtained in India for a policy of ‘arming to make
peace’. Concessions to the Turks, as to the Irish, were wasted;
both nations would merely ask for more. Regrettable though
the French and Italian attitudes had been, they did not
seem to have profited either, as their overtures appeared
to have been rejected. On the other hand ‘there was no__

reason to beheve that the Turks Fad Iost their fundamental

confidence in British good faith’. The Committee discussed

the robablhty of early offensive actions by both Grceks
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and Turks. General Harington did not regard the Greek
prospects as favourable, mainly because of ‘the disastrous
policy’ of superseding tried officers on account of their
Veniselist sympathies.

Nevertheless, it was wondered if Lord Curzon might
ascertain the views not only of Veniselos but of King
Constantine as well. The Prime Minister thought that
perhaps the King too might have misgivings about the
prospects of success. In those circumstances would not the
Greeks welcome British mediation? Constantinople would
have to be held as a bargaining counter for use against Kemal.
The Greeks might, of course, withdraw their troops from
the Ismid peninsula, in which case ‘it would be a great
responsibility to order the small number of British troops
to remain in Constantinople against the expressed views
of the Chief of the Imperial General Staff and General
Harington’.

Edwin Montagu pointed out that he had informed Indian
Moslem representatives of the concessions offered at the
London Conference. He had assured them that their
religious sentiments had been, and would be, fully respected.
Rather surprisingly he then went on to say that if Ankara
would not accept the London terms, he was in favour of
-assisting the Greeks. Sir Henry Wllson said that it was as

“imipossible to deal with Kemal merely by holding a position

at Constantinople as it was to deal with Sinn Fein by sitting
at Dublin. He, like Harington, doubted the ability of the
Greeks to hold their position. Bluntly, either the British
made a sufficient effort to inflict a decisive defeat on the
enemy or they withdrew.

The Committee concluded its deliberations with a
general discussion. The difficulties of dealing a serious
. blow at Kemal. What pressure could be put on the Greeks if

. they refused to o accept our offers? Could Thrace be guaran-

: Teed? Was any arrangément pos51blc with Bulgaria? No one
knew what the French would do in Constantinople.

On the next day General Harington was no longer
present, although Sir Henry Wilson was, being joined by
Mr. H. A. L. Fisher, the President of the Board of Education,
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an historian, a Liberal, pro-Greek and anti-Turk. Wilson
began by saying that he had consulted the War Office, the
Admiralty and the Air Staff as to tMgctlcablllty of
holding the Gallipoli peninsula. The Admiralty had cbvious™"
Ty 1ot lost its fears provoked by the Gallipoli campaign.
Both sides of the Straits would have to be held by land forces
if ships were to be passed through. There were fears that
the Turks would obtain mines, perhaps even submarines,
‘from the Bolsheviks’.

Once again the Committee wondered what offer would
secure thefriendship of Mustapha Kemal. Smyrna? Constanti-
nople and the Straits? Batum and Baku? No one knew

whether the Greeks would place themselves in the hands of
the British, and if so ‘whether they were worth supporting’.

"It was empha31sed that the Greeks must have no justification
for thinking that Britain had betrayed them. ‘It was Klng
t Constantine who had ruined their prospects and we must -
not allow the odium to be transferred to our shoulders.”
"~ "'The basic difficulty was still to ascertain the true position
of the Greeks. Lord Curzon undertook to invite Veniselos
to London. Lloyd George asked Sir Henry Wilson to send
an officer to make a special report on the Greek army, but
not, however, until Veniselos had been sounded ‘as to how
such a proposal was likely to be received by the present
Greek government’. Lord Curzon expressed his willingness
to go to Paris to discuss the whole question with the French
government. It was decided, as Wilson had informed the
Committee, that ‘there was no day-to-day danger’ at
Constantinople, that the forces there should not be rein-
forced at present. Finally, reference was made to the
situation in Afghanistan, where it was thought that now that
‘Kemal had thrown in his lot with the extremists and
Bolsheviks’ the rulers in Kabul would be more disposed to
favour the British,

The most interesting point about this Cabinet Committee
mcetmg was the consideration of a letter from Winston
x { Churchill to the Prime Minister which contained a number
‘of proposals. The letter was dated June 2nd, 1921, and read

fas follows:
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‘Y My dear Prime Minister,

I am trying to sum up in a short space what I think we
ought now to do about the Middle Eastern situation. I do
not go into the past, but we are now very nearly at the end
of our means of dealing with it. I do not feel sure that it is
not too late, whatever we do, to Tetrieve the position. We

Tare drifting steadily and rapidly towards what will in fact
be a defeat of England by Turkey. That is a terrible thing
to happen, undoing all the fruits of the victories we have
gained and exposing us to disastrous consequences through
all the large Middle Eastern provinces where we are so
vulnerable. The only hope I see lies in the following course
of action, which I put forward on the assumption that the
situation is not altered decisively one way or the other by
the battle believed to be impending between the Greeks
and the Turks.

(1) Go to the Greeks at once and demand from them—

(a) Their acceptance of the terms which we prescribe.
(What these terms should be will be mentioned
later.)

(b) The reorganisation of their army in accordance
with British advice.

(c) Accept British military guidance in their dispo-
sitions, which should comprise without delay a
backward concentration much nearer the Smyrna
coast.

(d) A division of troops for Ismid and another for
the Dardanelles under General Harington.

Offer the Greeks, subject to the above, the support of

Britain—
(e) Moral.
(f) Naval.
(g) Munitions.
(h) Credit.
Tell them that unless they accept these conditions we
shall—

(i) Disinterest ourselves absolutely in their future.
(j) Hold ourselves perfectly free to make any arrange-
ments with the Bulgarians or Turks calculated to
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safeguard our position in regard to Constantinople
and.to keep the Straits open.

(2) If the Greeks accept—and they must do so within
about the next ten days—send someone like the Aga Khan
to Mustapha Kemal to say ‘We are willing to make peace
with you, and between you and the Greeks on the terms set
out below, and, in addition, to extend British friendship and
commercial assistance to Turkey. If you do not within a brief
period of time accept these terms, we shall make operative
the arrangements set out in paragraph (1) with the Greeks.”

(3) Reinforce Constantinople with every available man
and ship.

(4) Tell the whole story quite plainly to the French,
inviting their co-operation in the plan both by joining
us in the diplomacy and by reinforcing Constantinople.
Make it perfectly clear to them that if they fail to help us
in this matter it will be another disastrous episode in the
Alliance and force us more and more to reconsider our °
general position. (I think you will find the French are
genuinely disturbed at the undue growth of Kemal’s
power and demands, and that there has been a great change
of attitude in the last few weeks.)

(5) Now for the terms. I think they should be the recent
London terms, as modified in detail by your later under-
standings, plus the evacuation of Smyrna by the Greek
troops, with special guarantees to Christians. I do not think
there is any chance of getting peace without the evacuation
of Smyrna. The fact that we are ready to countenance
it will prove to the French the sincerity of our desire for
peace with Mustapha Kemal and make them more ready
to co-operate with us.

(6) Before you reject this unpalatable view, I hope you
will realise what the alternative is in the absence of some
great Greek victory:

g (i) The Greeks will either be driven out of Smyrna
A or else kept defending it at great expense so
long that they will be ruined. :
(ii) We shall have to leave Constantinople very quickly

and in circumstances of humiliation.
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(iii) The French will invite Mustapha Kemal to come
into Constantinople and try to curry favour with
him there. The Italians will support the French.

(iv) Mustapha Kemal will return to Constantinople or
send his agents there. He will raise a considerable
army out of the discontented and desperate men
who throng the city. In his own time he will
attack and re-conquer Thrace.

(v) We shall not be able to hold our position on the
Gallipoli Peninsula. It is much too large to be
held except for a very short time by the forces
which we can afford to supply.

(vi) We shall be disturbed in Mosul, the reduction of
troops will be arrested, and I shall have to come
to Parliament for a very heavy Supplementary
Estimate. We may even have a general rising there.
The same applies to Palestine, where Arabs and
Turks will easily make common cause against us
in consequence of the Arab hatred of Zionism.
Egypt you have got on your hands already. Then
there is the Afghan position.

(7) I now learn that the League of Nations wish to
postpone the Mandates for Palestine and Mesopotamia until
the Americans are satisfied, i.e., indefinite postponement.
I ought to warn you that if this course is followed, and if at
the same time the Turkish situation degenerates in a
disastrous manner, it will be impossible for us to maintain
our position either in Palestine or in Mesopotamia, and that
the only wise and safe course would be to take advantage
of the postponement of the Mandates and resign them both
and quit the two countries at the earliest possible moment,
as the expense to which we shall be put will be wholly
unwarrantable.

Yours, etc.,
WINSTON S. CHURCHILL

The Cabinet Committee ‘felt, however, that it would be
useless to approach the Greeks with an offer of this kind’.
The third meeting took place not in the Prime Minister’s
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room at the House of Commons, as had its two predecessors,
but at Chequers, the Prime Minister’s official residence
in Buckinghamshire, as Lloyd George was unwell and had
been ordered by his doctors not to travel to London. Curzon,
Churchill, Montagu, Worthington-Evans and Mond atten-
ded, with Sir Henry Wilson. The meeting commenced at
12 noon, and with a short break for lunch continued through
until 3.30 p.m. There was a lot to consider. Veniselos had
visited London earlier in the week and had been seen by
Lord Curzon, the Prime Minister, and Sir Henry Wilson.
Curzon having, at some length, rehearsed the present
situation, had then asked Veniselos if he had been in power
in Athens would he have regarded an Allied attempt at
mediation, which involved some sacrifice of Greek claims,
as an act of treachery?

M. Veniselos, although naturally disclaiming any know-
ledge of the views of the actual Greek government (Curzon
himself had said ‘they were difficult to ascertain’), went on
to say that he could see ‘nothing incompatible with the
dignity of Greece’ in such an approach. If he had been in
the place of the existing Greek government he would not
have resented such an overture. ‘The Allies,” he said, ‘would
of course have to safeguard themselves against the possibility
of an accusation that they had given away the Greek
people.” At the present time, however, he was doubtful of the
likelihood of success; if they intended to act the Allies’
__should act promptly. He - thought the Allies should approach™
both Ankara and’ Constantmople If the proposed negoti-

-

ment could not malntam ‘their posxtlon in Asia Minor for_~

~more than six months without Allied support’. Curzon could”
~only“counter by stressing the extreme unpopularity in
Britain and France of any new war with Turkey.

Lloyd George told the Committee that when he had seen
Veniselos, the ex-Prime Minister had insisted that if Kemal
refused to negotiate the only alternative for the Allies to
active support for Greece was a humiliating surrender,
involving not only being driven out of Constantinople but
eventually also from Mesopotamia, Syria and Palestine. The
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} more, Lloyd George said, he had dwelt on the impossibility
. of another war with Turkey, the more Veniselos had insisted
. that the Greek army was the only barrier between the
* Allies and a humiliating succession of withdrawals. Veniselos

had also impressed upon him that any attempt by the Allies

+ to get rid of King Constantine would ‘only rally the Greeks
. to him and establish him more firmly on the throne’.

Sir Henry Wilson had confined his discussion with
Veniselos to purely military matters. Veniselos had said
that he wished to make it clear that he had no part in a
proposed coup d’état said to be contemplated against the

present Royalist officers. Nevertheless ‘if the Greek army |

continued to be conducted as at present, within six months
it would cease to exist’. In order to re-establish the Greek
army General Paraskeropoulos would have to be reinstated,
and most of the officers changed, ‘down to battalion com-
manders’. ‘In return for these concessions King Constantine
would demand good terms.’

When the Committee had digested the views of their
old ally they considered the result of the labours of the
Foreign Office and the War Office. A great deal of infor-
mation had been gathered and none of it made pleasant
reading. From the French Military Attaché in Athens it was

ilearned that: ‘la moral de Parmée grecque en Asie- Mineure

! aurait baissée. Les soldats seraient mécontents de leur logement et

aussi de la nourrtture qu’ils recotvent. On constaterait d’assez nom-
breuses desertions et méme les deserteurs formeraient des bandes qui

» parcourent le pays. Enfin beaucoup de soldats se plaignent des chefs
nouveaux qui leur ont été donnés.’

General Harington reported that: ‘The return to the
Army of Royalist officers as exemplified in the III Corps
at Brusa, has resulted in a general loss of efficiency. It
appears to be the practice either to employ Royalists in
sinecures at the base or give them commands, while retaining
at hand under their orders a senior National Defence Officer
capable of giving advice. It is urged against the Royalist
officers that not only have they had no practical experience
but that they lack the offensive spirit, and in many cases
have no desire to run into any personal danger. The troops
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realise this and, on their return from the reconnaissance in
force, were openly calling for their old officers and deriding
the Royalists.” Lord Granville, the Ambassador in Athens,
reported that General Nider, who had been replaced by a
Royalist, had told the head of the French Military Mission
that morale at the front was excellent because the troops had
been told that this was to be the last offensive, but ‘that it
will go to pieces if this is shown to be false’.

G.H.Q. in Constantinople listed a whole host of defects.
There was no intercommunication between columns on the
march. By day it was restricted to liaison by officers and by
night to field W/T sets. “Visual and telegraphic communi-
cations did not exist.” Barbed-wire entanglement posts had
to be pulled out by hand under machine-gun fire because
there were no wire cutters available and artillery had failed
to cut a path beforehand. Transport was badly organised
and cavalry ill-used. ‘Greek intelligence as usual was very ~
__bad.” The only bright spot was the soldiers’ boots which
““were reported to be good’, although all other equipment
made of leather had broken. Sir Harry Lamb, the Consul-
General, reported from Smyrna that over 10,000 new troops
had landed during April and were moving towards Ishak.
‘Discipline of troops arriving appears defective and much
. bad feeling is being excited by their behaviour towards
Mussulman population, ﬁrlng at minarets and molp_stEg
men, women and children in the streets. Author1t1cs fully

‘\Iive to possible danger but unable to restrain men.’

The Italian military representative with the Greek army
reported ‘rebellion among the troops and other minor
difficulties’. Both sides in the conflict ‘were afraid to appeal
to the Powers as they feel it would be an acknowledgment
of weakness’. The British military representative in Smyrna
reported as follows: ‘M. Stergiades, the Greek High Com-
missioner, informed me that he was far from satisfied with
the state of affairs in the Greek occupied zone. Till a few
months ago the population of the area under Greek control
had been quiet and contented and the administration of the
country had begun to show good results. With the arrival,
however, of new officers and soldiers from Greece who were
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ignorant as to how to behave in Asia Minor (I imagine M.
Stergiades meant those officers and men who arrived after the
elections but it is difficult to fire a question when the Greek
High Commissioner has commenced his conversational bar-
“rage), trouble started and the Turkish population became
“~incensed at various undesirable incidents which took place.’

The Greeks too were convinced that the Bolsheviks were

supplying arms and equipment to the Turks. They had
" over 200 guns on the front and apparently unlimited
* ammunition, and this could not allhave come from the Italians
~ or from Constantinople. The supplies must be coming by
way of the Black Sea ports. The British representative had
cross-examined a staff officer, Colonel Sarryanis, and asked
him how this had been discovered, for before that there had
been ‘Italian and Constantinople help’, and then latterly
‘French help’. The Colonel replied that it had long been
known, ‘but only since the last operations had the Greeks
begun to realise to what extent the Bolsheviks must have
helped Kemal’. Finally Gounaris, the Prime Minister,
accompanied by Theotokis, the War Minister, had visited
the Greek army, being alarmed by reports received in Athens
of low morale. “Their reception everywhere by the soldiers
was moderately enthusiastic but not wildly so.”

On top of all this melancholy information the Committee
had also for its consideration two long telegrams. The first
was from G.H.Q. in Constantinople and informed them
in great detail of a plot to take over the Greek army in
Anatolia. The moving spirits were Stergiades, Argyropoulos
and Admiral Kondouriotis. The Admiral, despite the denial
given to Sir Henry Wilson, was without doubt in touch with
Veniselos, who was prepared to be ‘High Commissioner’
in London. It was hoped that the government in Athens
would flee, but if not, there were plans for a repeat of the
1917 revolution. The Greeks were told by Sir Horace
Rumbold and General Harington that British assistance
could not be expected, as it was ‘an entirely Greek affair’.

The second telegram was from the Viceroy of India,
who was much disturbed by Mosleni agitation, and even

~more by the likely effect of actions by the British govern-
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! ment which could be represented as ‘another proof of the

“! desire of the Christian to destroy the Moslem’. These views

had also been communicated to the Secretary of State for

India. Deteriorating relations with Ankara were prejudicing

the concliision of a satisfactory treaty with Afghanistan,”

The propaganda and intrigues of the ubiquitous Bolshevik

were also much feared.

In the face of this glut of information the Cabinet Com-
mittee decided to ask for more. The British Military Attaché
in Athens would make a special report on the command,

staff and officers of the Greek army. In addition a General -

Officer was to be sent to Asia Minor qualified ‘to give
authoritative advice to the British government on the impor-

tant military aspects of the problem confronting them’."
Meanwhile, in the sphere of action, the War Office was to -

prepare plans for assisting the Greeks with munitions, war"
material and money but not men. The Admiralty was to
examine the possibility of blockading Turkish ports to prevent
munitions arriving across the Black Sea from Russia.
The Greeks could have all this and perhaps permission
to engage British ex-service men who ‘might be willing to
volunteer’. The London Conference terms modified would
be offered. Smyrna might be autonomous but the Greek
army would have to leave Asia Minor. The Turks would
have the prospect of extensions of territory to the east,
though unspecified, and ‘friendly assistance’ after the peace.
The terms would be presented to the French government and
Lord Curzon undertook to visit Paris and talk to Aristide
Briand, the new Prime Minister, and the only French
“politician that the English could bear.
~ Tt might have worked. The pliable Briand was persuaded.
_The Greeks, however, refused. All issues would be put to
the wager of battle. On the 10th of July their army resumed
“the offensive and to everyone’s surprise captured Eskishehir
and continued to advance towards Ankara. Doubtless
Lloyd George was confirmed in his belief, shared with
another British Prime Minister, that ‘no lesson seems to be so
deeply inculcated by the experience of life as that you should
never trust experts’,
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‘Anything short of decisive victory was defeat’
Winston Churchill

The Greeks had elected to put the fate of their country
to the final test of battle. They had lost in the region of
8,000 men killed and wounded to gain Eskishehir and
Afyon Karahisar. On the 20th of July, the day they entered
Eskishehir, King Constantine returned from Athens to
resume command in person. He was in time to witness a
general Turkish counter-attack on the next day. It was
repulsed, and the Turkish army began to retire beyond the
Sakarya river. They retreated thirty miles and were now
only fifty miles from Ankara. They began to prepare to
defend their new capital. Ismet Pasha, who commanded, was
in despair; as a general anda man he was prone, in any
“event, to fits of despondency, but he had reason. Turkish
losses were at least the equal of the Greek, and in addition he
had lost 4,000 prisoners. His only consolation was that, despite
the Greek victory and their occupation of Turkish territory,
the Turkish army, though defeated, was still intact.
King Constantine and his military advisers were corre-
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spondingly elated. The capture of Ankara now seemed
a distinct possibility. It was not, however, a purely military
objective, and Constantine had no intention of permanently
w occupying the city or of ruling the Turks. Ankara was to be___
)l __captured to drive out and humiliate Kemal’s Natlonahst
overnment. Once that was done it was assumed that a new
Turkish government, either in Anatolia or Constantinople,
would be forced to accept the Greek occupation of Smyrna
and its hinterland, perhaps even cede Constantinople itself,
still the ultimate goal in the minds of many ambitious
Greeks.

It seems that General Papoulas, the Commander-in-Chief,
was more cautious, and would have preferred to dig in west.
of the Sakarya w1th the intention of defeating the inevitable
Turkish counter-attack. He still hoped to destroy the Turkish
army, but his advice was overborne by the rest of the General
Staff in favour of the chances of a more spectacular political

( victory. None of the Greek general officers appeared to
realise that they were now fighting a wholé nation, and ™
that even if the Turkish army were forced to retreat, even
if Ankara were captured, fighting would still continue,
whether by regular soldiers or by guerrillas. Many of the
Greek senior officers, like Constantine himself, had been
trained or influenced by German military methods, but even

/"paigns of Napoleon It was a pity that no officer of influence
L m ‘Greek army in Anatolia had absorbed the lessons to
| be learnt from his invasion of Russia. The parallels were
’ very close. The great distance involved, the difficult terrain,
the inhospitable climate: freezing cold in winter, blisteringly
hot in summer. The danger to lines of communication
from guerrillas, the virtual impossibility of subduing a whole
population. Even the Turkish strategy of retreating before
an invading army into the intéfior was similar to that adopted
by the Russians under Kutusov in 1812. Most~ important of ~
all, Ankara as an ultimate objectivé “was likely to prove
as illusory as Moscow. In 1812 Napoleon, in Danzig, had
asked his staff, ‘How many miles to Moscow?’ His marshals
had stayed silent. Finally Colonel Rapp, a blunt man from
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i Alsace, had replied, ‘Too many, sire.” The distance from
Smyrna to Ankara, even as the crow flies, is over 320 miles,
| but presumably Constantine never asked the question.

On August 10th, 1921, the Greek army began its general
advance across the most difficult country it had yet en-
countered: the arid steppe land of Anatolia. It did not meet

/\1t._s/§13emy in force until August 23rd, but by then its effec-
tiveness had been considerably reduced. Almost everything
that could go wrong with an army did go ‘wrong. Owing to

“bad ‘maps and faulty reconnaissance, the line of route

planned for some of the formations led across near-desert,
with no water supplies to be found. Cavalry and artillery

horses, being Greek-bred and therefore unadaptable to a

regime of little water and scarce food, died first. Motor
transport, in which the Greeks had a decided advantage
over the Turks, was simply knocked to pieces by the ground
it had to cover. Ox-carts, camels and mules had to be used,
but this meant that much heavy equipment had to be
jettisoned and the rate of the advance was reduced to the
speed of the slowest ox. The army was not prepared for
what was in fact a desert campaign; there were nothing like
enough water trucks and food was short as well. Further
‘west the Greeks had been able to live off the country; on
the dusty sun-baked plateau there was nothing. Many
soldiers fell ill with stomach complaints, sunstroke, heat
exhaustion and malaria. Medicines and other necessities
ran short; luxuries such as coffee and cigarettes did not
exist. On the 23rd of August, weary and dispirited, the

Greeks met the enemy which had been waiting for them.

Mustapha Kemal had now assumed full command in the
field, but for weeks previously he had been functioning as
d1ctator of the Turkish people to prepare them for this
battle. Almost literally, as Lord Kinross remarks, plough-
shares had been turned into swords. War equipment had
been turned out by every little factory in Ankara, in some
cases virtually by hand. Every household had been asked
to prov1de one sheet to serve as material for bandages. For
the first time in their history Turkish women had taken an
active part in warfare. Their Moslem seclusion put aside,
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they served in any capacity from nurses to beasts of burden
carrying shells, ammunition and supplies. Every man and
boy was used in an attempt to redress the balance of the
Greek’s numerical superiority, for they had 50,000 men
committed to the battle as against the Turkish 44,000,
although 8,000 more Turks were on their way from Cilicia.

Kemal’s advantage lay in his position: to the east of
Ma river, hemmed in on both Manks by its tribu-
taries. Behind him the Ankara railway, vital for supplies
and reserves. He, at least, had learnt some of the lessons
of the Great mantage which lay with the defence,

“the importance of speed of reinforcement. There was one other
mﬁe Russians at Plevna and at the
Chataldja lines in the nineteenth century, the British at
Gallipoli in the twentieth century, had both been forced to
recognise the superb qualities of the Turk as a defensive
soldier. Dour, dogged, stubborn and unimaginative, the
hardy Anatolian peasant was the ideal infantryman. Not
in attack, where he lacked the élan of other contenders for
the palm such as the Scottish Highlander, the Gurkha, or
the Greek evzone, but in defence, in the situation where
he had to stand, fight and die; and that was precisely what
Kemal required of him at the Sakarya river.

This was the wall against which General Papoulas threw
his men for the next twenty-two days and nights. It was one
of the longest pitched battles in history. The fighting was
" bloody and savage. The Greeks suffered at the outset from
a last-minute change of plan. Originally Papoulas had inten-
“ded to approach the Turkish position by a flanking move-
ment from the south, but the overstretching of his line and
a rumour of Turkish troop movements, false as it turned out,
dissuaded him. He therefore decided to bridge the main
Sakarya river and the two armies met virtually head on.
Bearing in mind the circumstances of their approach march
the Greeks fought with incredible gallantry and there were
moments when the battle seemed theirs. Kemal, however,
hung on. Still recovering from a broken rib caused by a fall
from his horse, dressed, as other military dictators mock

Humble before - and after hlm, in"the uniform of a prlvate
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soldier, the Turkish commander suffered torments as
companies, regiments and divisions were halved. Forced by
his injury to be static, drinking coffee instead of his customary
heavy intake of alcohol, he nevertheless preserved his
clarity of mind and purpose. The two armies fought them-
selves to a standstill. Both were short of ammunition and had
suffered enormous casualties. The Greeks had lost 18,000
men, the Turks nearly as many.
By the gth of September their earlier privations were
; telling on the Greeks; the first request of prisoners was for
- food. The Turks were just capable of one more counter-

_ attack; the Greeks were not. They made a brief attempt to

"dig themselves in but it was beaten down. On the evening

- of September 11th, on the orders of its king, the Greek

army retreated westwards across the Sakarya river, protected
to the last by its artillery, which sacrificed itself in the process.
Apparently it was stalemate, but in reality it was defeat.
Churchill put his finger on it when he wrote: ‘the Greeks
had involved themselves in a politico-strategic situation
where anything short of decisive victory was defeat; and
the Turks were in a position where anything short of
overwhelming defeat was victory’. Henceforth, although
there was to be a large Greek army in Anatolia, it was to
be an army on the defensive. The tables had been turned.
The Grand National Assembly in Ankara, which had not
been slow to express its doubts, fears and jealousies in the
past, gave Mustapha Kemal the rank of Marshal and the
ancient title of Ghazi, politely rendered as ‘conqueror’, but
literally and historically, ‘destroyer of the Christians’.

* * *

After the battle of the Sakarya river, again in Churchill’s
words: ‘There was a pause in the march of events; an
interlude in discussion; a gap in policy.” In one respect he
was wrong, discussion continued. Most of it was to no
purpose, but it took time and occupied men’s minds, and
allowed them to persuade themselves that they were doing
something while in reality they were merely waiting.
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Certainly this was so in Britain. Three very different
observers have left their assessments of the character of Lord
_Curzon. Harold Nicolson, who had an affection for him,
“Sforza, the Ttatian Forelgn Minister, who disliked and
'HE‘sTﬁscd him, and Winston Churchill, who poached on his .
foreign policy preserves and was irritated when rebuked.
All three agreed that he somehow lacked moral courage,
‘biit, more important, that in his conduct of foreign affairs
‘he liad one fatal defect. Sforza wrote: ‘Lord Curzon’s
“greatest plcasure in life, at any rate when I knew him and
we were colleagues in a great many Inter-Allied conferences, -

was to state a case in a long and flowery speech, or in a dozen .

pages of beautiful English, and then—then to lose almost

all interest in the further development of the idea. For all - .

his Enghsh pride it never occurred to him that he might .
use the immense power of the British Empire to enforce
certain recommendations or wishes of his . . . .> So Lord
Curzon in his capacity as Foreign Secretary and also in his
dealings with his Cabinet colleagues. Lloyd George knew -
perfectly well that although Curzon disagreed with him and
actively disliked him, he would never push his disagreement
and dislike to the point of resignation.

The diplomatic vice of stating a case, however well, and -

then leaving lesser mortals to profit from it or act upon it - -

if they chose, seemed to be catching in late 1921 and
early 1922. It had affected Curzon’s colleagues as well.
Only Winston Churchill was prepared to take action to stop _
‘the Anatolian war, if not against the Turks, then against ~
“the Greeks. Could not the Mediterranean fleet blockade
‘their ports and thus force them to see reason? He put the
suggestion in an official memorandum to Lloyd George and
Curzon. Neither replied. So for almost a year after the
Sakarya battle the British government, officially neutral,
seemed to do nothing. The Greek army, in the winter of
1921-2, suffered incredible hardships. In the Anatolian win-
ter, short of all supplies, frequently unpaid, its morale
sank even further, but somehow it remained in position,
watching and waiting for the Turks to move. There was no
longer any question of the Greeks themselves taking the
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initiative. They had suffered 30,000 battle casualties since
the beginning of their advance, and their numbers were
being reduced daily by sickness.

Prince Andrew, who now commanded the Second Army
Corps on the right of the line, completely disillusioned with
the conduct of the war and after several dlsagreements with
the General Staff, resigned his command in disgust and
rét'ﬁ"fﬁéawto “_Greece Many, no doubt, would have liked
“to follow his example The miracle was that the Greek
army did remain. The tragedy was that they still cherished

"hopes of assistance, assistance from the man who had
so often praised their fighting qualities and encouraged

their imperial ambitions: David Lloyd George, known to

. the Greeks, who knew no other foreign statesman, by the

only bit of his name they could pronounce, simply ‘George’.

Of course, and it has been the excuse of statesmen since
time immemorial, there were many other matters to claim
his attention, domestic, foreign and Imperial. Europe was
still a problem, more especially Germany, and as usual
there was no dearth of conferences. One, pregnant with
troubles for the future, did not necessitate the presence of
the Prime Minister. Arthur Balfour, still Lord Privy
Seal, ‘the hack negotiator’, as he called himself, was des-
patched to the Washmgton Naval Conference at the end

» of the year. "It ‘'was genuine disarmament. Brltam, ‘the
. U.S7A. and Japan all greed to limit their building of naval

i vessels. Unfortunately the Japanese felt aggrieved at not

"’Bemg treated as a first-class Power and being cold-shouldered

[ out of the ‘parity’ which was to exist between the U.S. and

| Britain. Unknowingly the seeds of a future war were sown;
Britain failed to maintain her strength in the Far East a and
lost her ally. Singapore was not thought to need fortification
or reinforcement, and Balfour returned to his countrymen to
be invested with the Order of the Garter, soon to be followed
by an Earldom.

In October, 1921, another envoy had left Britain with
rather more ceremony than the self-effacing Mr. Balfour.
On the 26th H.M.S. Renown had steamed out of Portsmouth
harbour to the boom of a twenty-one-gun salute, bearing the
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Prince of Wales on the first part of his tour of India and
the Far East. In Canada, Australia and New Zealand he had
been a huge, literally a riotous, success. It was now thought
that he should visit the other Imperial possessions to which
he would succeed in the fullness of time.

The Prince arrived in India in November and was at
once involved in a highly organised tour of both British
India and the Princely States. In fact the visit itself had
been a cause of some concern to the Viceroy, Lord Reading,
and Edwin Montagu, the Secretary of State. Gandhi was
increasing his activities and his following and was begmnmg

“to be” worshlpped ‘almost as a saint. His ‘non-co-operation’

“movement was “taking hold, and the business of keeping

law and order was becomlng increasingly difficult. It was
feared that the presence of the Heir to the Throne would
inevitably provoke demonstrations, perhaps even violence.
As it turned out, the form of protest chosen by Gandhi and
his rising lieutenant Jawaharlal Nehru, who was jailed as
a precaution for the duration of the visit, took the form 6f

‘the “boycott, the ‘hartal’. British officialdom’s counter

measure, the traditional distribution of free food and re-
freshments to the poor on the visit of a great personage, was

¢ itself countered by a rumour spread by Gandhi’s agents

i

|

that the food was poisoned. Appalled by evidence of poverty
the Prince had commanded that something be done about
it, so the Indian Government had decided to remove the
poor! The Prince of Wales, welcomed by ‘official’ India and
the native princes, had also to drive through some deserted
streets and attend functions where Indian civilians were
noticeably absent. Characteristically, at the end of his tour,
he wrote in a mood of self-criticism to Lord Reading,
Montagu and his father, George V, complaining of a feeling
of inadequacy and also of the excessive measures taken
for his protection, which prevented him from meeting
Indians. George V’s reassuring reply to his son is not
without interest. Speaking of the general deterioration of

1 British-Indian relations he wrote: ‘The war and the situation

|

in Turkey and Montagu’s reforms have no doubt produced
the unrest which now exists.’
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The ‘situation in Turkey’ was one which the Viceroy
and the Secretary of State were perpetually urging the
government to remedy. Politicians, such as Lloyd George,
with no experience of India, forgot the basic facts of the
Indian Empire. ‘The brightest jewel’ in the Imperial crown
was a conquered state. Since the Great Mutiny of 1857 its
British administrators had always hidden away in the inner
recesses of their minds the fear that it could happen again.
India was an armed camp. The Princes, from the Nizam

of Hyderabad, reputedly the richest man in the world, who

ruled an area as large as a Balkan state, down to petty
Nawabs who had a few villages, all maintained their own
state forces. In Hyderabad, Gwalior and Kashmir these were
each equivalent to a division; in the smallest states the
army diminished to a platoon. Eighteen thousand of these
soldiers, paid for and sometimes led by their rulers, had
served overseas in the Great War, in France, Egypt, Gallipoli,
Mesopotamia and Palestine. “The Princes’, as George V

i pointed out to his son in the same letter, ‘are all loyal and

if there was real trouble they would at oncé come to the
assistance of the Government with all their troops. . . .
For in addition to the ever-turbulent North-West Frontier,
there was always the prospect of ‘trouble’ in India. ‘A
certain amount of discontent’, as it was put officially, was
to be expected. To deal with it in British India (i.e. those
territories not ruled by the princes) an Indian army officered
by the British was maintained at something like 200,000
men. (In the Great War it had risen to 573,000.) In addition
there was a vast garrison of the British army which, a lesson
of the Mutiny, until 1935 controlled all the artillery save
a few light mountain guns.

Now in the Indian army, the permanent residents, so
to speak, the larger part of the recruits came from the
so-called ‘martial Taces’ of the Punjab and were Moslems.
"There were also, of course, Sikhs, Rajputs and Dogras, as well
as the mercenary Gurkhas, who were all differing castes of
Hindu, but since the Mutiny the British had tended to rely
more and_more upon Moslems from the ‘north as soldiers
“and as pohcemcn. Moslems too, as a minority fearful of
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being engulfed in an independent Hindu-dominated India,
tended to support the British Ra_] They w were, in the King

. signs of disaffection, the administration, from district

officer to Viceroy, became concerned. Gandhi’s followin,

| _was largely Hindu. If at the same time large $éctions of the

Moslem populatlon were becoming anti-British because of the

British attitude to Turkey, then the principle of ‘divide
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“and rule’, never voiced but often practised, was in danger
“of coTlapsc Consequently Lord Readmg, by telegram from
New Delhi, and Edwin Montagu, in Cabinet, constantly
tried to impress upon Lloyd George the harm that was being
done in India by Britain’s continued occupation of Constan-
tinople and her apparent intention to hand over a large part
of Turkey to the Greeks.

It is easy to see why their arguments fell on deaf ears,
The counter-arguments were simple. The alleged strength
of Moslem religious feeling was not difficult to decry.
During the war, Arabs led by the Sherif of Mecca had
fought the Sultan and Caliph. Moslem soldiers of the
Indian army had cheerfully fought the Turks. Even at the
moment there were eight Indian battalions under Sir
Charles Harington’s command. In 1920 the War Office, in
an appreciation of the Turkish situation under the heading
‘Psychological and sentimental’, had said on the subject
of the occupation of Constantinople: ‘In Anatolia and
Kurdistan where it might be expected to be of supreme
“importance, it seems doubtful if it is really vital.’ Of the
Moslem religion: ‘Itis useful as a rallying cry, as propaganda
and as a stalking horse in foreign politics.’

The War Office was in fact right. Mustapha Kemal was
indifferent to religion and impatient to jerk his countrymen
into the twentieth century. The observances and the
prohibitions of Islam were anathema to him. Nevertheless
he was prepared to use any means that came to hand to
embarrass the Allied Powers. If pan-Islamic sentiment
could gain sympathy for Turkey then it should be utilised.
The British rule over millions of Moslems in India was an
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obvious target. From January 1921 until November, Sir
Henry Dobbs was engaged in Kabul in the task of hammering
out some sort of treaty between the government of India and
Afghanistan to conclude the Amir’s abortive and un-
successful war. The mountain kingdom, almost perpetually
at odds with India, provided a happy hunting ground for
Kemalist agents spreading doubt and dissension.

In India proper the Khalifat movement of active Moslems,
with a little encouragement, practically did Kemal’s work
for him. There was a genuine sentiment not so much for
the Caliph or the ‘holy place’ aspect of Constantinople as
for the fact that Turkey, the only truly independent
Moslem country in the world seemed to be oppressea by
from whom many Indian Moslems wanted their freedom. At
the same time as petitions were presented to the Viceroy
and deputations organised to argue that a just peace should
be made with Turkey, in Indian towns and villages collec-
_ tions were made to aid Keéfnal in his fight to throw off

now found himself, as sp1r1tua1 head of the Ismaili sect of the
Shia Moslems, using all his considerable influence to per-
" suade Lloyd George a personal friend, to drop his pro-Greek
policies. To no avail. As Curzon reported: ‘The Prime
_ Minister is as philhellene as ever.’ R

“Onr March 1st, 1922, still under constant bombardment
from leaders of Moslem opinion, Reading sent to Montagu
a telegram which again stressed the intensity of Moslem
feeling in India. The Government of India regarded as
! essential three conditions: ‘The evacuation of Constantinople,
the Sultan’s suzerainty over the Holy Places, and thirdly
i restoration of Ottoman Thrace including the sacred Moslem
¢ city of Adrianople and the unreserved restoration of Smyrna.’
- They were a curious set of contradictory demands, ignoring
. as they did the division which existed between Kemal and
the Sultan. Nevertheless they represented the Indian view
and Reading asked that they might be published. M%
without consulting the Cabinet, authorised publication.
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Reading, assuming he had Cabinet authority, published _
“thé whole télegram in India. Curzon, when told by Montaga
“what he had done, was speechless, but did manage to write

a letter. It contained some good Curzon broadsides. “That

I should be asked to go into Conference at Paris while a

subordinate branch of the British government 6,000 miles

away dictates to the British government what line it thinks

I ought to pursue in Thrace seems to me quite into-

lerable.

. If the Government of India, because it rules over a
large body of Moslems, is entitled to express and publish
its views about what we do in Smyrna or Thrace, why not
equally Egypt, the Sudan, Palestine, Arabia, the Malay
Peninsula, or any other part of the Moslem world? Is
Indian opinion always to be a final Court of Moslem appeal?
I hope this may be the last of these unfortunate pronounce-
ments.” It was. On March gth, two days later, Lloyd
George summoned Montagu and sacked him.

Montagu had acted stupidly, and his excuse, that he
didn’t think there was going to be Cabinet meeting early
enough to consider what he regarded as an urgent matter,
was feeble in the extreme. On March 11th, overwhelmed by
his dismissal, he made an excessively bitter speech to his ™
Cam br_ldge constituents. He had been sacrificed to the

ie-Hard Tories who did not like Lloyd George’s Irish
policy. All the Liberals were being sacrificed. (The ill-fated

Addison had recently resigned.) The Coalition was breaking

up. The Tories, he said truthfully, disliked him. So ‘the

great genius who presides over our destinies had done for
them what they could not do for themselves and presented
them with what they so long desired, my head on a charger’.

With such a man in charge the official reason for his dis-

missal, Cabinet responsibility, said Montagu, was a joke.

Lloyd George was variously rcferred to as ‘genius’, ‘wizard’

and *dictator’. ‘I have never,’ said Montag, ‘been able to

understand from what motive his pro-Greek policy was
dictated. . . . I do not know in whose interest it is. I am
certain that it is calamitous to the British Empire.” In the

1922 general election Montagu lost his seat. Two years later
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he was dead, a disappointed man of forty-five.

* * *

Elsewhere political heads were rolling and for less serious
reasons.

In January 1922 there had been yet another Allied
Conference, this time at Cannes. Turkey was on the agenda,
but the most important event turned out to be a golf match.
Lloyd George persuaded Briand, whose only sport was the
« traditional one of the French bourgeois, coarse fishing, to
join him. Indeed he offered to instruct him. Briand’s
performance, even under tuition, was ludicrous and humili-
ating. There were photographs. The Paris press went
beserk. The French displayed their characteristic lack of
an English sense of humour. The Chamber of Deputies had
at the time as many shades of political opinion as a prism.
Briand was replaced by Poincaré, of whom Curzon said:
“The eternal and to me most repugnant Poincaré; when
firmly handled he is amenable.’

The Marquess Curzon of Kedleston was quite wrong.
Months previously the French government had determined
to get something out of the Turkish affair. The French had
made up their minds that the cause of the Greeks, certainly
. without Veniselos, was lost, and that Kemal was the coming
man in the Near East. Both the French and Italians had
made tentative advances to the Nationalists behind the back
of the British at the time of the London Conference. Their
offer then had been the complete withdrawal of French
troops from the Syrian frontier area, and the withdrawal of
Italians from Adalia, both nations to be compensated by
_ economic concessions. This, to Kemal, smacked far too much
of the old European financial and economic domination of
the Ottoman Empire, and he rejected both offers.

In June 1921 the French tried again. ‘The French were}
playing up to Kemal all this time in the most deplorable
manner and trying to win his good graces behind our backs,’
said Nevile Henderson. As their emissary to carry out this
task they sent to Constantinople M. Franklin Bouillon, a
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former deputy and president of the Chamber’s Committee
for Foreign Affairs. Although he arrived on a warsh1p,
. Franklin Bouillon’s status was sufﬁcmntly ambiguous to

5 allow his government to recognise any achievement and

;| disavow any failure. If the French government had delib- -
" erately set out to pick a man who would antagomsc their

British allies they could not have chosen his superior. Fat,
luxuriantly moustached, loquacious, interfering and Virtually
unsnubbable, ‘Boiling Frankie’ was almost a cartoon French-
man. When Nevile Henderson first saw him he was wearing -
‘a dark suit with a pair of very vivid yellow boots’.
Franklin Bouillon first saw Kemal in June, 1921, and
again in October, after the battle of the Sakarya river. On
October 20th he achieved his object. On that day an agree-
ment was signed in Ankara which meant in fact that France -
had withdrawn from the cold war with Turkey. The Syrian__
frontier would be adJusted to Turkey’s advantage ‘the only
“femaining French troops in Turkey would be in Constanti-
nople. In return the French received concessions with regard
to the Baghdad Railway. From now on, though not stated
specifically in any written agreement, their considerable
financial and economic interests in Turkey would be secure.
The Royal Signals wireless operators on the eastern
shore of the Bosphorus, who had recently been in communi-

cation with Ankara regarding the exchange of a number of .
. prisoners taken by both sides, used their knowledge of the

wavelength to intercept a long coded message. The text of

| the French agreement was taken by despatch rider to Pavlo;
! from there by drazine, a motor truck with rail wheels, along

the Anatolian’ rallway to Haidar Pasha, and thence by
motor launch to Constantinople. The code was broken and
the message was recoded and transmitted to London. In
Nevile Henderson’s words, ‘The French had ratted.” Sir
Horace Rumbold and Lord Curzon, in their turn, were
suitably horrified. Where the French had gone the Italians
were sure to follow.

The Cannes Conference, as has been related, proved a
fiasco. Briand had fallen and Poincaré, his successor,
despite Lord Curzon’s opinion, with an agreement in being
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with Mustapha Kemal was likely to be an unco-operative
ally. It was beginning to look uncomfortably as if the
British were to be left on their own, their only friends the
Greeks, whose army still hung on grimly in Anatolia.
Nevile Henderson has described this period as 9ust
drifting along’ in Constantinople, but in fact the soldiers

__were more alive to the dangers than the diplomats and their

mastersthe politicians. Lloyd George’s attitude at this
“fime was Mr. Micawber’s, and while he waited for something
to turn up he still hoped vaguely that the Greeks would be
able to help him out. Harington, less confident than Lloyd
George of the Greeks® ability to pull British chestnuts out
of the fire, décided to take thé initiative himself. From his

1ntelhgence reports he knew that the Nationalists were daily

' gaining in strength; that financial aid was being supplied, if

» only in small quantities, by the Russians, and that both the
. French and the Italians were handing over large quantities
" of arms to Kemal—arms for which they had no further use

as they evacuated their spheres of influence, and which
came in particularly handy as sweeteners for their future
relations with the coming men in Turkey.

Harington, ‘a resolute man’, as Sforza, who had no

. reason to like him, called him, saw his opportunity in the

i
fact that there were a number of British soldiers held prisoner

lin Nationalist hands. Prominent among them was Major
- Rawlinson, brother to the Great War general now Comman-

er-in-Chief in India. Rawlinson, like the others, had been
captured when the Turks in Anatolia, at the time of the
Smyrna landing, had turned against the occupying powers,
broken into the dumps of surrendered arms and taken
prisoner British supervising officers. While negotiating for
the return of these officers Harington tried to establish
direct relations with Kemal. Contact was made, but
unfortunately Harington’s hands were tied by Sir Horace
Rumbold, more under the control of Whitehall than his
military commander. In the circumstances there was little
enough that Harington could offer Kemal and the informal
negotiations were broken off.

Perforce the General had to return to his military duties,
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training and caring for the troops in Constantinople and
the garrisons on both sides of the Straits. He managed at
the same time, though fifty years old, to be the best cricketer
among many enthusiasts in his army and to emulate
Leander and Byron by swimming the Bosphorus.

v~ Militarily it was stalemate again. In June, 1922, Harington
was given an additional reason for feeling downcast, apart -
from the failure of his attempt at diplomacy, by a personal
loss. On the 22nd, just after unveiling a war memorial
plaque at Liverpool Street Station, Sir Henry Wilson was
shot dead on the steps of his house in Eaton Place by two
Irish gunmen. Earliérin the year he had been eased out as

“"Chief of the Imperial General Staff and had been elected
M.P. for an Ulster constituency, and that, for his murderers,
had seemingly been enough. By his death the British army
lost its only field marshal by violence, and Lloyd George
lost a critic. Marshal Foch, who had with ‘Henri’ opposed
the Greek adventure from the start, spoke of ‘my old and | W~
trusted comrade and best friend’, and crossed from France
to be a pall-bearer and give Lady Wilson his arm at the
funeral in St. Paul’s.

The same afternoon Winston Churchill had to address
an angry House of Commons on the Irish question, and
promised among other things to cordon off North from South
with troops. The subsequent debate was marked by an
intervention by Bonar Law, now apparently restored to
health and political activity. The next day, in Dublin, Rory
O’Connor, the leader of the I.R.A., and his men, in occu-

“pationof the Four Courts, were being shelled by the troops
of Michael Collins, the Free State leader, with field guns
obligingly lent by the British Commander-in-Chief. O’Con-
nor was later to be shot without trial and Collins to be —

“Thurdered in an ambush, but the affairs of Ireland were
“iticreasingly becoming Ireland’s own. A legacy of bitterness
nevertheless remained in British politics, especially in the
hearts of many die-hard Tories, which expressed itself,
however unjustly and illogically, in dissatisfaction with
Lloyd George and all his policies. Others besides Lord
Beaverbrook were beginning to look to the returned Bonar
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Law for salvation. Bonar Law himself, although naturally
he had strong feelings about Ulster, the home of his ancestors,
at this stage showed no signs of disloyalty to his old chief.
Anyhow foreign affairs were not his forte, and it was once
again in the field of foreign affairs, and once again in the
Near East, that the next crisis for the Coalition government
occurred.

On July 29th the British Ambassador in Athens was
invited to the Greek Foreign Office, there to receive an
official note from the hands of the Minister informing him
that the Greek government had decided that the only way to

, restore peace was to occupy Constantinople with Greek
+ forces. The Greeks showed every intention of putting their

decision into effect. Two days previously the Greek warships
at Constantinople had slipped away, ostensibly to carry out
exercises in the Sea of Marmora. On orders from King
Constantine, the new Commander-in-Chief in Anatolia,

" General Hajianestis, had secretly and swiftly moved two
"of his divisions by sea to reinforce the Greek troops already

in Thrace, and was preparing to advance the whole force to
the Chataldja lines, the last defence for Constantinople.
Ever since, the Greek threat to the Turkish capital has been
described as a gambler’s final throw, but there was, at the
time, a great deal of military logic to support it.

The Greek army in Anatolia was in desperate straits.
It had failed to reach Ankara and the chance would never
come again. General Papoulas, following continued dis-
agreements with the Ministry of War in Athens over
strategy and supplies, had, with his whole staff, resigned in
May. Constantinople was, of course, Turkish, but it had a
large Greek population, plus thousands of inhabitants whose
race, like their allegiance, was at least problematical. The
Allied garrison was small, and in any event British, French
and Italians were still technically at war with Turkey and
in occupation, like the Greeks, of enemy territory. With
Constantinople in Greek hands, would not the Greeks, and
the Allies as well, have the strongest card in their hands to
play against Kemal in Ankara?

Naturally enough Constantine and his advisers were
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attracted by the idea of taking the ancient capital of the
Byzantine Empire, with all the consequent prestige that
they would gain thereby. A triumphant entry into Constan-
tmople would easily outweigh the reverse on the Sakarya
river. These considerations aside, however, and accepting
that they were probably the emotional springs of action,
the straight politico-military argument had force, and a
chance of success. The British, French and Italians, especially

~ " the British with their pro-Greek Prime Minister, might not

" be prepared to assist in Anatolia, but would they be prepared

<
Ak
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to fight the Greek army to keep it out of Constantinople?
Would the Allies, who had encouraged the Greeks to go

1'— into Anatolia in the first place now wage war against them

s
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?

i
\

"to prevent them from minimising some of their losses?
The decision had to be made in Constantinople. Sir
Horace Rumbold was on leave and Nevile Henderson
deputised in his place, so the decision was arrived at jointly
by Henderson and Harington. The General had no doubts.
He could visualise the two populations, Greek and Turkish,
fighting in the streets of the city. ‘I simply could not believe
‘the report which I was getting on this mad prospect he
“said. Swiftly he inspected the Chataldja lines, running across
the peninsula from the Sea of Marmora to the Black Sea,
thirty miles west of the Bosphorus. ‘The finest natural
position in the world,’ was how the dead Wilson had

“described them. The lines were reinforced with British and
French troops and the command given to the French .

general, Charpy. The newly appointed Mediterranean
C.-in-C., Admiral Sir Osmond Brock, put to sea from

| Constantinople in his flagship, the Iron Duke, taking with
{ him five other capital ships, Benbow, King George V, Marl-
. borough, Ajax and Centurion, with a seaplane carrier and nine

destroyers. The grd Light Cruiser Squadron took on fuel

| and ammunition at Malta and steamed full speed eastwards

across the Mediterranean.
Henderson drafted, and Harington altered and thenissued,
a proclamation stating that any attack on Constantlnople

from whatever direction, that is from either Greeks or Turks,'
L wouId be unhes1tat1ngly opposed by the Allied forces. Thel
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¢ Allied High Commissioners, General Pellé and Garroni,
- approved. The government in London, when formally
. approached by the Greek government for permission to
. invade Constantinople, backed up the actions of its men on
- the spot. The Greeks, with a powerful British fleet in the
Sea of Marmora and the Chataldja lines held against them,
“could do nothing save bow to superior force and order their
" troops to halt their advance. Harington, who had been
offered by the Turks 20,000 men to help him if necessary,
described the situation as Gilbertian. Henderson wrote
later: ‘I have always personally hated my action on that
occasion.

The last move but one was Lloyd George’s. Doubtless
from the kindest of motives and as a sop to wounded Greek
pride, in a speech in the House of Commons he praised the
courage and endurance of the Greek troops, and ended with
a series of ambiguous phrases which seemed to indicate that
there were limits to his patience with Kemal and that
perhaps next time Britain would help the Greeks.

Extracts from this extraordinary speech were published
by command of King Constantine as an Order of the Day to
his soldiers. Greek morale rose again, but not for long, for
the last move was Mustapha Kemal’s. Undeterred by Lloyd
George’s eloquence and judging it against his actions, on
August 26th he launched his long-prepared major offensive
against the Greek army in Anatolia. Weakened by the two
divisions transferred to Thrace the Greek army began to
retreat. Kemal had told his troops that their goal was the
Mediterranean. On September gth the Turks entered Smyr-
na. ‘Here’s a bloody mess,” was Lloyd George’s comment
when told the news.
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“There is nothing to fight about any more’
Moustapha Kemal

When the newsof the wholesale retreat of the Greek army had
first reached G.H.Q. in Constantinople, General Harington
had immediately signalled one of his liaison officers: ‘Can’t
someone get on a tub and stop them?’

*

""" Apparently no one could, least of all the recently appoin-

ted Greek Commander-in-Chief, General Hajianestis, re-
ferred to by Lloyd George in Cabinet as ‘some kind of
mental defective’. The description was not an abusive
comment on the general’s military abilities, but literally
true. In his younger days Hajianestishad been both agallant
and efficient soldier, but upon his elevation to the rank of
general he had degenerated into a mere courtier wearing
military uniform. Like Lord Cardigan in the Crimean War
his command post was his yacht, this time moored in Smyrna
“harbour. Cardigan, however, did Téave hisyacht to lead the
“charge of the Light Brigade. Hajianestis led no charges but
stayed on board, occasionally visiting the odd waterside ~
restaurant. The reason for his actions was the justification
T 169 .
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i for the Prime Minister’s remark, for by the time the general

reached Anatolia he was mentally sick. On some days he was
convinced that his legs were made of some brittle material,
sugar or glass, and would break if he walked on them. On
others he would lie on his bed, firmly of the opinion that
he was dead. In the field of mental illness these are common
enough delusions, but they are rarely encountered among
army commanders on active service. Emphatically the
fifty-eight-year-old General Hajianestis was not the man to
stand on a tub and endeavour to stop his troops running
away. At the last moment he was relieved of his command,
but by then it was too late. General Tricoupis, his successor,

"' only learned of his appointment after he himself had been

captured by the Turks.

The morale of the Greek army had snapped completely.
For too long it had been kept in position in Anatolia, badly
supplied, apparently neglected by Athens, constantly
harried by the enemy. When the Turks advanced the Greek
army disintegrated as a fighting force. Soldiers refused to
obey their officers, officers refused to obey their generals.
The retreat became a rout. Reinforcements hastily sent to

" Smyrna refused to disembark. Discipline gone, the Greek
“army became a vengeful, frightened mob. On its way to the

coast it vented its fury on Turkish civilians, killing and
plundering, burning villages, and defiling mosques by
slaughtering pigs, abhorrent to Moslems, within their
precincts. Some units still preserved their discipline and
managed therefore to put up some resistance to the Turks,
but in the majority of cases panic supplanted reason, and the
path to the sea was marked by a trail of abandoned artillery
and ammunition and piles of discarded rifles and equipment.
In the final stages even the hardy Turkish cavalry, on their
tough little ponies, found it impossible to keep up with the
retreating enemy.

So the wheel had turned full circle. Once again the Allied
flects lay in Smyrna harbour. On September grd the Greeks,
realising that their position was hopeless, had called upon
their former allies to use their influence to bring about an
armistice. To no avail. It would have been a hopeless task
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in any event. The Turks could not have been held back at
this stage, and the Greeks were divided as to whether to
stay and fight round Smyrna or evacuate. General Poly-

menakos, Commander-in-Chief in succession” to ‘Tricoupis,
“backed up by Theotokis, the War Minister, was in favour °

of making a last stand. General Hajianestis, though no
longer in command, still exercised a baleful and indecisive
influence. Stergiades, the High Commissioner in_Smyrna,
had given up all hope and pressed for immediate evacuation.

ecause of conflicting rumours and “announcements, -

both soldiers and civilians in Smyrna were in a state of
chronic indecision, verging on panic, for a week before the
Turks appeared. Consequently the arrival of British, French,
Italian, American and Greek warships boosted morale
enormously, until it was realised that they were there only to
rescue their own nationals, whereupon spirits plunged again
and the Smyrniots awaited the coming of their conquerors
with something like apathy.

In the short week before the Turks were sighted the
harbour at Smyrna looked like an intermational naval
regatta. Only the Greek ships Kilkis, Lemnos, Helle and the

cruiser Auveroff, which had brought King Constantine back

from exile, were active. The Averoff and Lemnos had been
present when the jubilant Greeks had entered Smyrna in
1919. On the other ships there was little for the companies to
do but watch and wait. The catalogue was almost Homeric:
H.M.S. Iron Duke, the flagship of Admiral Brock, the
Commander-in-Chief in the Mediterranean, and the King
George V; then Ajax, her replacement, and the cruiser
Cardiff with a number of attendant destroyers. The French
Waldeck-Rousseau, soon to be joined by three armoured
cruisers, Fean Bart, Edgar Quinet and Ernest Renan. The
Italian flagship, the slim ‘elegant cruiser Venezia, escorted
by destroyers. A day later four U.S. destroyers, Simpson,
Litchfield, Edsel and Lawrence, under Captain Hepburn, arrived
and dropped anchor alongside the British.

The officers and crews of these ships watched the

v ; tragedy of Smyrna unfold itself across the long seafront

;as if on a cinema screen. There were daily instalments.

1
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On September 4th a Greek hospital ship filled up with
wounded and left the harbour. The next day the British put
ashore marines and seamen to act as guards for the steamers
which had been requisitioned to transport refugees. Orders
were issued for the inspection of passports and consular
documents, the Royal Navy having taken over the task of
evacuating Dutch as well as British nationals. In fact
neither the British nor the Dutch colony seemed anxious to
leave, as the Greek High Command was still issuing state-
ments which suggested that Smyrna would be held against
the Turks. Rumours still abounded that the Allied fleets
would help to keep the enemy at bay. More wounded
Greek soldiers were evacuated and trainloads of field guns,
limbers and stores were seen to arrive at the railway pier.
Thousands of weary, footsore Greek civilians, with their
belongings and their children, began to swarm into the town.
The weather was swelteringly hot. ‘Words fail to convey even
a small part of the misery seen that day,” said a naval officer.
" On September 6th the first of the British refugees, mostly
Maltese and Cypriots, began to leave on the S.S. Magira and
Antioch. Then the sailors started to get their first glimpse of the

- retreating Greek army. On horses, donkey and foot, some
- armed, others without equipment, unshaven and dirty,

many of them with rags wrapped round their feet in place
of boots. ‘A demoralised army without discipline, order,
life or intetest;” was how one eyewitness described them.

“"A transport arrived from Thrace with fresh troops,
rumoured to be intended as reinforcements to cover the
town. To the disciplined eyes of the Royal Navy they looked
no better than the men straggling along the harbour road.
The whole of the seafront was now filled with Greeks,
mainly women and children, who just sat on their small
piles of belongings without food or shelter. It became ap-
parent that the Greek transports would evacuate soldiers and
no one else. The civilians were to be left to their fate.

. Monsignor Chrysostomos, the Archbishop of Smyrna, in

conversation with a naval officer, was furious to hear that
the British did not intend to use their ‘big guns’ on the
Turks when they arrived.

C 192



Above Mustapha Kemal inspects his troops in Anatolia,

March 1g22

Below General Papoulas and his staff in Anatolia, March 1922.
General Papoulas (white moustache) has on his right

Crown Prince George of Greece




British and French warships at Constantinople, 1922
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August 1922
Anatolia, July 1922
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Above Turkish infantry advancing on Smyrna
Belo:w Greek artillery prepare for attack



On September 7th martial law was proclaimed by the
/| Greeks. Looting of the warehouses on the sea front could
) be seen to be in full swing. Another transport arrived with
Greek troops, who shouted and jeered at their comrades
who were embarking. A number of generals arrived from
Athens but at the same time squadron after squadron of
Greek cavalry began to move through the town. These,
it was learnt, were the rearguard, the last disciplined troops
the Greeks possessed, and were to be evacuated from
Chesme, opposite the island of Chios, forty miles west along
the coast. They were soon followed by General Polymena-
\ kos, the Commander-in-Chief, and his staff. Thesame evening
|

{

M. Stergiades, the Greek High Commissioner, followed by
shouts and jeers from those he left behind, took refuge on the
i Iron Duke. On September 8th more and more refugees
crowded into the town by rail, some hanging on outside the
carriages, and on foot. The warships prepared armed parties
to go ashore if necessary. The last of the British refugees
embarked. The Greek warships left the harbour. A Turkishe———-
aeroplane was seen to circle over the town. The British
~and French landed strong, armed patrols to guard
property and consulates from the crowds of looters, many
of whom were themselves by now armed with riﬂes and
revolvers abandoned by the soldiers.
Mr. Horton, the U.S. Consul-General at Smyrna, tele-
i graphed to the Acting Secretary of State: ‘Turkish forces
4 expected to arrive tomorrow night or morning after.
Please telegraph urgently what will be my relations if any
t with the Kemalist military or civil authorities.” The reply
. he received from Washington was not particularly helpful
" in that he was reminded that ‘your government recognises
the existing regime neither in Greece nor in Asia Minor,
and that diplomatic relations with the Sublime Porte
[i.e. the Constantinople government] have not been resumed.’
Mr. Horton was therefore ‘to remain unofficially at his
post’“ anid do his best. On September gth Admiral “Bristol
~in “Constantinople also communicated with Washington.
‘Smyrna situation most alarming. Greek troops in panic
and pouring into city. Repeated threats by Gr%ers to
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" burn town. Aidin and Nazilli already burned. On September
6th American, English and French and Italian consuls
telegraphed Greek Minister of War, Theotokis, asking for
assurances Smyrna would not be burned or pillaged.
Theotokis replied he could give no such assurances.’

Also on September oth, a Saturday, a little after nine
o’clock in the morning, Captain Thesiger, having just
inspected the naval guard mounted at the gasworks (the
company was British owned), found himself facing long lines
of Turkish cavalry riding into the town. The Turks had
arrived. Captain Thesiger and the Turkish cavalry colonel
spoke amicably enough together in bad French. The
Allies were trying to maintain order until the Turks arrived.
Thesiger advised the colonel to avoid the back streets to

. prevent bloodshed. The cavalry accordingly resumed their
advance along the sea front.

-t The impression they made on the British was favourable.
They had a few days’ growth of beard on their faces; they
looked tough, tired and hard bitten and they were neither
smart nor particularly clean. On their saddles they carried
all manner of equipment and plunder from guitars to brass
jugs and carpets, but nevertheless they had an appearance
of discipline about them. As they continued through the

town there were rifle and revolver shots from the houses. |
Some of the Turks were wounded. They drew their swords, |
but ‘under provocation the discipline of the Turks still held’. !

Panic-stricken, hundreds of Greeks fled before them and took
refuge on the lighters and barges in the harbour. The
British, seeing that many of these refugees were armed,
confiscated their weapons and threw arms and ammunition
into the sea. The Navy then supplied this ‘panicked mass
of humanity’ with cooked potatoes and drinking water.
More and more Turkish troops moved into the town,
and soon French, Italian, Spanish, Belgian and American
flags began to appear on the houses along the waterfront.
I Some " genuinely indicated foreign property: Gthérs were
g flown in the hope that they would warn off the Turks or the
| rabble of refugees and looters which swarmed in the streets.
- Beyond the harbour area sporadic rifle fire could be heard.
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Sir Harry Lamb, the British Consul-General, and Commo-
dore Barry Domville, Admiral Brock’s Chief of Staff, met
the Turkish advance-guard commander, Ferik Salahaddm
Bey, and agreed to continue to police the town umtil Turkish
gendarmerie arrived. There were a few scenes of violence
as Armenians and Greeks attacked the incoming Turks.
Turkish civilians were now beginning to arm themselves to
carry out reprisals.

Sunday, September 1oth, was comparatively quiet, but
a number of long-range shells landed in or around the town,
presumably fired by the Greek warships protecting the road
to Chesme. The Royal Marine guard at the gasworks
reported over 300 dead during the night and humerous
incidents of murder, rape and looting. A number of refugees
attempted to swim to the British battleshlps Mustapha
Kemal was observed entering the town in a motor car
surrounded by his staff and a large escort of lancers. On

| September 11th a number of corpses were seen floating in
the harbour including ‘apparently a soldier crucified on a
box 1lid’. Boats put out from the naval vessels and sank a
large number of these bodies by attaching iron fire bars to
them. At night fires could be seen burning inland.

Sir Harry Lamb, having been ordered to have no official

/ deahngs with Mustapha Kemal, in fact met him by chance

J in the street and was told curtly by the Turkish leader that
he still considered himself at war with the British. Admiral
Brock sent Commodore Domville to call upon Kemal
officially and Kemal admitted that he had spoken on the
spur of the moment and there the matter ended, although
it was noticeable that with the French and Italian representa-
tives the Marshal was far more friendly.

In Smyrna itself there were now a number of distinguish-
able groups. The Turkish-army itself, still reasonably disci-
plined and kept in hand, Turkish irregulars, later arrivals,
over whom less control was exercised, and the Turkish
civilian population, wild with joy at their deliverance. Then
came the Greeks and Armenians, locals and refugees,
existing as best they could and collecting in great crowds
within sight of the Allied warships, from which they still
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expected some form of protection. Seemingly imperturbable,
the great ships lay at anchor, and at sunrise and sunset the
Marine bugles rang out over the harbour as the ensigns
were hoisted and lowered ceremonially.

On shore a number of wheels continued to turn full
circle. Mustapha Kemal visited the municipal buildings still
decorated with portraits of King Constantine. Remembering

b "the”Greek King’s entry into Smyrna, one of his crowd of

admirers spread a Greek flag on the floor. The Marshal
refused to do as was expected and tread on it. “That is a
sign of a country’s independence,’ he said, and walked

.round it. Monsignor Chrysostomos "had another meeting
“with Nourredin Pasha, whom once he had said ought to be

shot. Nourredin, now military governor, had not forgotten,
and reminding the Archbishop of their last meeting, told him
that he was to be hanged forthwith. Willing hands started
to take Chrysostomos to the nearest tree, but a Turkish mob
joined in and gouged out his eyes, and he was dead before a
rope could be put round his neck.

The scene presented by the Smyrna waterfront was now
indescribable. Thousands of refugees, discarded belongings
and transport. In the water corpses still floated, and in
the shallowsstood numbers of horses and mules, hamstrung or
blinded by the retreating Greeks so that they would be
useless to the Turks. There was, however, one more ordeal
for Smyrna to suffer. On the afternoon of September 13th
columns of smoke were seen rising over the Armenian
quarter. On the 14th Admiral Bristol again telegraphed the
Acting Secretary of State: ‘Wireless just received from my
chief of staff at Smyrna states city is burning . . .> During
the night of the 13th the fire had spread throughout the
northern part of the town. All the buildings facing the
harbour went up in one mammoth conflagration.

On board the British flagship Ward Price, the indefatig-
able foreign correspondent of the Daily Mail, who, said
Nevile Henderson, ‘dropped like a vulture from the sky’
on a news story, typed his dispatch. ‘What I see as I stand

on the deck of the Iron Duke is an unbroken wall of fire, two | /
miles long, in which twenty distinct volcanoes of raging |
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flames are throwing up jagged, writhing tongues to a height
of a hundred feet. Picture a constant projection into a red
hot sky of gigantic incandescent balloons, burning oil spots
in the Acgean, the air filled with nauseous smells, while
parching clouds, cinders and sparks drift across us—and
you can have but a glimmering of the scene of appalling
and majestic destruction which we are watching.” A naval
officer’s description was shorter. He said, ‘it would hold its
_own with Dante’. e
Refugees threw themselves and their children into the
sea. The foreign admirals, originally with strict orders
to take on board only their own nationals, put out boats.
Captain Hepburn reported to Admiral Bristol: ‘All men of
war in harbour loaded with refugees.’ In the next fewdays the
foreign warships and commandeered merchantmen evacu-
v| ated from Smyrna 213,480 men, women and children, who
( l were taken to Greece or distributed about the islands of
the Aegean. Three-quarters of Smyrna was a smouldering
ruin. T
To this day Turks argue that the fire was started by
Greeks or Armenians as a continuation of the ‘scorched
earth’ policy they had carried out in the interior. The Greeks
" maintain that the fire, however it started, was spread by
the Turks as a deliberate act of vandalism and revenge. They
point out that only the Turkish quarter survived. The Turks
stress that in Smyrna the Moslem quarter is to the south,
and every afternoon the prevailing wind, the ‘imbat’, blows
south-west to north-east and would naturally carry flames
from the Armenian quarter towards the Greek and away
from the Turkish quarter. Certain it is that Mustapha
Kemal had no hand in the matter. He was not, however,
~much perturbed by the fire and its effect. He merely regarded
_lit as a fitting end to the Greek empire in Asia Minor, as did ~
his officers and soldiers, who did nothing to control the blaze
and little to save human life. For them ‘Giaur Izmir’,
infidel Smyrna, was nomore. T

* * *
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In Britain in September the House of Commons was in
recess. It was the political close season when Ministers and
Members of Parliament rested from their labours. The
more conscientious, or those with small majorities, visited
their constituencies. The others took their holidays.
For the Cabinet and the government this autumn was not
to be a period of relaxation. As the Turkish army advanced
towards Smyrna, there was a Cabinet meeting on September
7th at 10 Downing Street, presided over by the Prime
Minister. As usual on these occasions the proceedings began
with a résumé of the situation by the Foreign Secretary.
The Prime Minister might despise and dislike him, his
Cabinet colleagues might be irritated by him, but it was
generally accepted that in stating a case elegantly and
accurately Lord Curzon had no equal. -

~“Curzon referred briefly to the agreement which had
existed between the Allies in March, when all the Powers
had appeared to be of the opinion that an armistice should
be imposed on Greeks and Turks. Since then the situation
had deteriorated ‘due to the consistent treachery of the
“French’. Delays and obstacles had been invented in Paris.

Behind the backs of their allies the French had been in

constant communication with Mustapha Kemal, encouraging

him to ignore Allied pronouncements. ‘It now appeared
that there was no possibility of resistance by the Greek

Army. The Turks had had enormous advantages through

receiving military equipment and arms in large quantities

from France and Italy.’

The Greek request to Britain to impose an armistice
had been passed on to the French and the Italians. The
French had said that the Greeks must evacuate Asia Minor
first; the Italians had not even replied. Now ‘it was possible
that the Turkish army would be in Smyrna within a few
days’. Lord Curzon had received reports of the Greeks
killing “and "ill-treating the Turkish population as_they

~Tetreated; He had warned the Greek government, which had

~ done nothing, and now there would be a serious refugee
problem. The American Relief Organisation and the League
of Nations had been informed.
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/ It looked as if the real question now was the Straits.

If Britain yielded to the Turks, then ‘the whole of the fruits
of the war as to the Balkan situation would be thrown away’.
Kemal might well advance and threaten the Ismid peninsula
and Constantinople. The Foreign Secretary felt that the
French, suspicious as always, would not leave the British
alone in Constantinople; therefore danger was not to be
apprehended there. General Harington was confident that
with the aid of the French and Italians he could suppress
any rising in the Turkish capital. There were also, Curzon
reminded the Cabinet, 400,000 Greeks in Constantinople,
and now that they were leavirig Asia Minor they would of
course be stronger in Europe. The Cabinet apparently
accepted that having only recently kept the Greeks out of
Constantinople they could now use them to defend it.
Winston Churchill was not in favour of a bargain with
the Turks “to ensure the safety of the Greek army’, but
‘the line of deep water separating Asia from Europe was a
line of great significance and we must make that line secure
by every means within our power’. He wondered if _the
Bulgarians, ‘the best fighting people in the Balkans’, although
an ex-énemy nation, might be persuaded to play some part.
‘The Prime Minister, unlike Curzon and Churchill, was

still not reconciled to the defeat of the Greeks. He ‘suspected

that defeat had been engineered by Constantine’. He was
“doubtful if the Greek army had suffered a complete débicle.

"The Turks had claimed to have captured only 10,000

prisoners.” That was true at that date, but there were soon
to be 40,000 Greek prisoners taken in the Smyrna area and
30,000 counted dead. Like Churchill, Lloyd George was

concerned, if not obsessed, by the Straits. ‘In no circum-

stances,” he said, ‘could we allow the Gallipoli peninsula
to be held by the Turks. It was the most important strategic
position in the world and the closing of the Straits had
prolonged the war by two years.’

Lloyd George was, of course, referring to the 1gr4-18
War, and what he said in that context was undeniably true.
He did not, however, advance any reasons as to why the

o

Straits were particularly important to Britain in rges. ,
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v During the war the British had unsuccessfully stormed

| Gallipoli in order to defeat the Turks and relieve Russia.
" Now the Prime Minister seemed to see the imminent
possibility of that operation being carried out in reverse.
‘It was inconceivable,’ he said, ‘that [the British]should allow
the Turks to gain possession of the Gallipoli peninsula and
we should fight to prevent their doing so. The Peninsula
was easily defended against a great sea power like ourselves
and if it were in the occupation of a great sea power it
would be impregnable.” Churchill’s suggestion with regard
to Bulgaria he considered to be valuable save for ‘an
insuperable difficulty’: the Romanians and the Yugoslavs
were bitterly opposed to the Bulgarians. Whether Lloyd
George was being sarcastic or not it is impossible to tell.
He ended by saying that he considered ‘it was possible that
i the Greeks under their new commander-in-chief may fight
. and improve the situation’.

Lord Lee, the First Lord of the Admiralty, who had
just returned from Constantinople, contributed the reassur-
ing news that he had formed the view that in that city
British prestige was far higher than that of the French or the
Italians. Thus inspired, the Cabinet decided that Lord
Curzon should continue his diplomatic efforts with the Allies.

_That the naval forces should be increased in the area to
prevent Kemalists gaining access to the Gallipoli peninsula.

" That in the peninsula itself, which was at present occupied
by French troops, there should now be British troops as well.
That if the Turks attacked in the Ismid peninsula General
Harington could be at liberty to withdraw to Constantinople,
but that any attempt to cross the Bosphorus to Constanti-
nople ‘should be resisted by the full strength of the British
forces by sea and land’. Finally, despite the hopes of the
Prime Minister with regard to a last stand by the Greek
army, British civil ships should be diverted to Smyrna to
take away foreign refugees if necessary.

On September 11th the Prime Minister held a conference
at lunchtime at his country home at Churt. It was a small
gathering: Sir Laming Worthington-Evans, the Secretary of
State for War, Lord Lee, the First Lord, and Lieutenant-
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General Chetwode, the Adjutant-General, with Colonel
Bartholomew from the War Office. It had become plain that
General Harington did not fully understand, or possibly
would not understand, what the Cabinet was telling him to
¢/ do. It was probable that Mustapha Kemal would soon
_threaten Chanak or demand that the British troops there ™
"_should be  withdrawn. Therefore the troops should be
withdrawn before the demand was made.

General Chetwode interposed to say that in the view
of the War Office and the Admiralty if Chanak were evacu-
ated and Kemal brought up guns, it would be difficult, if not
impossible, for destroyers, cruisers or supply ships to pass
up the Straits. The Prime Minister did not comment on this
point directly, but replied with the rather curious statement
that ‘in the eventuality of a war in the future in which
the Turks were on the side of our enemies it was vital that
we should retain the control of the Straits and be able to
cover Constantinople to plant guns on Gallipoli which could
destroy Turkish batteries on the Asiatic side. This was the
permanent policy to be borne in mind.’

General Chetwode wisely did not intervene again, and
accordingly Lord Curzon sent a telegram to Sir Horace
Rumbold and the War Office sent one to General Harington,
the intention presumably being that this time the recipients
would each be able to understand the language of their
respective professions. The contents were virtually the same
and the shorter instructions to General Harington will

. suffice. ‘As Cabinet do not intend to hold Chanak we do not

~ propose to reinforce there; you can evacuate at your dis-

cretion, after informing Allied generals.” ‘As we do not intend

to defend the Ismid peninsula you may, at your discretion,

. also withdraw those troops.” The only discretion allowed to

/ the General was that if French or Italian troops were sent

i to Chanak the evacuation there might be postponed. It

- was hoped that a declaration could be secured from the

. Allies that the Kemalists would not be allowed to move from

Asia into Europe. If the Allies did not co-operate then
Britain would ‘act alone’, and the navy would prevent any

W'szssing. It was suggested that the troops
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from Chanak should be transferred to Gallipoli.

By the time of the next Cabinet meeting there were no
Greek troops left in Asia Minor save as unburied corpses
or prisoners of war, The Greeks’ entry into Smyrna three

| years ago had made 1o headlines. Their evacuation, the

‘ totaﬁT defeat of their army, the burning of Smyrna, and
“criticism of Lloyd George, was now splashed across the
top of every newspaper. By far the most sensational and

' critical, though nonetheless accurate for its anti-Lloyd George
tone, was the Daily Mail.

Ward Price was still in Smyrna, moving about in his

own special way. Having cadged a lift on the fron Duke, he
now managed a spectacular scoop by gaining an interview
_with Mustapha Kemal. It was published on September 15th.
; ““There is nothing to fight about any more,’ Kemal told Ward
+ Price. ‘The frontiers we claim for Turkey exclude Syria
. and Mesopotamia but compose all the areas principally
. populated by the Turkish race. Our demands remain the
~ same after our recent victory as they were before. We ask for
Asia Minor, Thrace up to the River Maritza and Constanti-
nople. We are prepared to give every security for the free
passage of the Dardanelles, which we will undertake not to
fortify. It is only right that the Powers should agree to our
' creating such defensive works on the Sea of Marmora as will
. protect Constantinople against a surprise attack.’

Ward Price asked Kemal what he would do if the Allies
refused to hand over Constantinople. ‘We must have our
capital,” said the Ghazi, ‘and I should in that case be
obliged to march on Constantinople with my army, which
would be an affair of only a few days. I much prefer to
obtain possession by negotiation though, naturally, I cannot
wait indefinitely.’ Elsewhere in the Daily Mail it was
reported that Stamboul, the Turkish quarter of Constanti-
nople, occupied by the French, was scarlet with Turkish
flags celebrating the great victory, and that in Athens the
Cabinet had resigned. Rumours that King Constantine had
left his capital were officially denied.

If Lloyd George did not accept some of the statements
in the Daily Mail because of its well-known bias against
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his own government, any doubts he might have had about
the total collapse of the Greeks must have been dispelled by a
report in the Sunday Express two days later. It was written
by Lord Beaverbrook, the newspaper’s proprietor, who, as
well as writing copy, was on Lloyd George’s own instructions
unofficially looking at the situation in the Near East and
reporting back to the Prime Minister. Beaverbrook cabled
his despatch from Athens, where he watched troops, and
old men, women and children being disembarked. There
were no civilian men between seventeen and forty-five years

of age because they had been rounded up by the Turks 2

and detained in Anatolia as Turkish subjects. “The dis-
embarkation was a painful sight. As each haggard infantry
man limped on shore he was deprived of his rifle, but every
second man had no rifle left.” Beaverbrook expected that
the men would be formed up and marched off to barracks,
but there were no officers and few N.C.O.s. “The men
drifted off into the town with two months’ leave (in the
middle of a war!) in a hopeless disorderly stream, with
nothing to distinguish them but a dirty uniform and a
transportation pass to some distant home.’

Athens was full of talk of revolution, but by whom and
against whom was not clear. Beaverbrook continued:
‘If there is a strong demand for the return of Veniselos I
did not discover it, and the general opinion appeared tobe that -
Athens would be a good place for the ex-Premier to avoid.’
Constantine was blamed, Veniselos was blamed, though in
whispers and behind hands. ‘One liberty of speech the
Athenians still retain—the right to damn all the Allies, col-
lectively and separately. They blame the English and they
curse the French. They consider that England persuaded
_them to enter into this adventure, which has turned out such
a_ghastly failure, and that Mr Lloyd George has been
either unable or unw1111ng to come to the rescue of his own.’
Perhaps Lord Beaverbrook was being tactful. Others had
heard the Greeks on both sides of the Aegean cursing and
chanting ‘Misfortune to George’. In Greece Beaverbrook
also heard from the returning soldiers what Toynbee had
first heard months ago in Anatolia, the excuse of foreign
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help: ‘that the Kemalist armies, even down to companies,
are commanded by distinguished French officers, that the
Turkish plan of campaign was prepared by French generals,
and that nothing could stand against the technical skill
learned on the Western Front against the Germans.’

Dispirited, disillusioned and resentful, the thousands of
refugees crowded into Athens. Those who were lucky were
accommodated in private houses, the theatres and the
National Opera House, where each box was filled with a
family while others slept in rows in the auditorium or on the
stairways. The Queen of the Hellenes gave up a villa. The
Old Palace in Constitution Square was turned into a relief
headquarters, where bread was distributed daily and lists
of arriving refugees posted so that families and relations
could find each other. Food was short, and shops, open for
only half the day, had to be guarded by police and troops.
Thousands of refugees camped in home-made tents or shelters
made out of oil-drums. The beach at the Piraeus, the port of
Athens, was covered by an entire encampment of refugees
living in the open air, dressed in clothes made of old sacks
and wearing on their feet sandals cut out of car tyres. What
remained of the Army of Anatolia was disbanded and allowed
to drift home, spreading tales of death, incompetence and
treachery throughout Greece.

All the grandiose plans hatched by the Allied statesmen
in Paris less than three years ago had reduced themselves
to this: thousands of bereaved, penniless refugees cast
up in Greece and the Aegean islands, and thousands of dead,
Greek and Turkish, left in Anatolia. The glittering concept
of a new Greek Empire which Veniselos had foisted on a
gullible Lloyd George and a naive Woodrow Wilson had
resulted in the biggest disaster suffered by the Greeks in
modern times.

The twin project of an Armenian state under American
mandate and an international zone on both sides of the
Straits, again under the control of the U.S.A., had faded
almost as soon as Woodrow Wilson sailed home in July 1919.

! Perhaps if he had consulted the Republicans, perhaps

if he had made a conciliatory gesture towards them, then
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the Treaty of Versailles might have been ratified by the
Senate. As it was, the mood of the United States, ‘which

had burnt its fingers with tHe Philippines’, was firmly
Tpffosc& to any agreement which smacked of external
commitments. The President’s direct appeal to the electorate
with his tour of the Middle and Far West might have brought
about a change of heart, but his collapse on September 25th
and subsequent partial paralysis brought such schemes to an
end. On March 4th, 1921, Woodrow Wilson, unnominated
by the Democrats at the election, had just managed to drive
/| in an open car to the Capitol with the Republican President-
| elect, Harding. He lingered on until February grd, 1924,
v cur1ously enough outliving Harding, who died of apo lexy in
August 1923; but his dreams of U.S. participation in the
League of Nations and the affairs of the Near East had all
died in 1919.

In France, Clemenceau, who had backed Wilson and
Lloyd George, had fallen from power soon after the Peace
Conference, to be succeeded by men progressively more
determined to avoid embroilment with Turkey. Poincaré,
now in power as Prime Minister, had been President in 1914,
and had, in addition to his predecessors’ regard for French
economic interests in Turkey, an innate distrust of the )
British, perhaps formed in those August days in 1914 when /
Britain had appeared reluctant to support France. Franklin- |
Bouillon for France had been followed to Ankara by Tuozzi
on behalf of Italy. Orlando and his foreign minister, Sonnino,
had been rejected by the electorate soon after the war,
and with them had gone any possibility that Italy would
pursue Imperial policies in Asia Minor or support those who
did, especially if they were Greeks.

So the U.S. mandates had been a dead letter almost

/ from the start. The areas of control and influence assigned _
to France and ItMaty of Sévres "had be been aban-
doned virtually before “that treaty was 51gned “and the
“Treaty itself had remained unraiified by both French and

{ Italian governments. All that had remained of the grand
design for the partition of Turkey had been the Greek
enclave round Smyrna and the Allied occupation of Con-

185



stantinople and the Straits. Veniselos had followed Wilson,
Clemenceau and Orlando. Now the Greek army, the last
vestige of Lloyd George’s dream of an Asia Minor populated
by industrious, Christian, Latin peasants, reviving again the
colonies of Greek and Roman civilisation, had beendriveninto
the sea. All the calculations and assessments of race, origin,
language, religion and birth-rate, which had persuaded him
that Italians, Greeks and Armenians could and should
establish themselves in Turkey, had been blown away by
_Kemal’s guns, many of which had been made in French and
Ttalian factories. ST
Now, in the autumn of 1922, there was a new victorious
Turkish army and nation, led by a resolute skilful comman-
der, who demanded not only the lands he had reconquered
but Constantinople and Eastern Thrace as well. Standing in
the line of his advance were small French and Italian
garrisons, whose orders emanated from governments which,
so far as the British were concerned, were worse than broken
reeds. Alongside them were a few thousand British troops—
the Indian battalions had been withdrawn earlier in the
year—and in the Sea of Marmora the British fleet. In
Britain there was an indifferent population, a hostile press, a
critical Parliament, a divided Cabinet—and Lloyd George.
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‘Work on the defences continued all day’
Colonel D. I. Shuttleworth

In the space of four years, from the surrender of the Turks
on board the Agamemnon to the burning of Smyrna, a
revolution had occurred in the military and political
situation in the Near East. Perhaps the speed with which
events had taken place, perhaps their dramatic nature, had
left British statesmen gasping and bewildered.
In Tg22 they seemed quite incapable of comprehending -
what had happened. Admittedly each change of fortune had
cen sudden and more catastrophic than the last. The
Turkish revival, the death of King Alexander, the defeat of
Veniselos, the return of Constantine and the Greek defeat
had followed each other remorselessly and with a kind of
insane logic. Still the final result, if not its magnitude,
had been predicted by Henry Wilson and Churchill, among
others. Lloyd George had not been without contrary advice .
and proptiecies of disaster, He had, hovwsvets shoten 5
' ignore any opinion but his own, and to interpret optimisti-
“callyany event which seemed to run contrary to his own
preconceived notions.
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As late as 1938, when his| Trut}z about the Peace Treaties
was published, he resolutely refused to shoulder any of ‘the
blame for himself. If the Greeks had been slaughtered it
was the fault of King Constantine and his incompetent
generals, If the Armenians had had their hopes raised
only to be dashed to the ground the fault was Lord Curzon’s.
If the government had failed to appreciate the new vigour
of the Turks it was the fault of British Military Intelligence,
‘never more unintelligent’, which had not kept it properly
informed. If Britain was left alone it was not the fault of
the British Prime Minister but of the self-seeking French
and Italians, who had shortsightedly deserted their ally.
If the Turks were now triumphant some part of the blame
attached to the pro-Turkish proclivities of British generals
and Conservative Members of Parliament.

The arguments, punctuated as they are by Gladstonian
diatribes against the Turks, only sound tolerable if declaimed
aloud so as to take on some of the author’s eloquence. Read
silently they merely indicate disappointment and an almost
hysterical desire for self5justification. When Lloyd George

" does descend to the precise he advances the causes which,
in his view, had to be defended in 1922: the internationali-
sation of Constantinople, the Bosphorus and the Dardanelles,
the expulsion of the Turks from Europe and the protection
of the Christian minorities under Turkish rule.

In 1938 these were very old-fashioned concepts indeed;
théy were, in fact, almost equally old-fashioned in 1922.

' These were the problems which had pre-occupied British
statesmen in the nineteenth century. Together they had
constituted the Eastern Question at a time when the Ottoman
Empire, for good or ill, had still been a reality. In 1922
there was no Ottoman Emplre left; there was but a shadow of
a Sultan and Caliph. All that remained was Turkey, as much
a national state as the niew Austria, Poland or Yugoslavia.

== SHII; Tour years after the war, Lloyd George’s arguments
had a certain force, the force of sentiment and eloquence
if not of logic. During the war the Turks had massacred
Armenians and ill treated Greeks, both of whom they had
regarded as disloyal and potentially rebellious subjects.
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Should they be allowed to resume their rule over those that
had survived? Again during the war Turkish control of the
Straits had imposed a stranglehold on Russia, Britain’s
ally. M1ght not a hostile Turkey, durmg another war,
similarly impose its will on the countries bordering the
Black Sea? In order to try and break that stranglehold the
British, with the Australians, the New Zealanders, the
Indians and the French, had died in their thousands on the
beaches and rocky heights of Gallipoli. Now that Gallipoli
was occupied should it be tamely handed back to the Turks
and so, it was thought, those sacrifices be made vain and
pointless?

These were the main arguments. There were other
minor ones intended to back them up, ranging from a
repetition of King Constantine’s pro-German sentiments to
the harsh treatment meted out by the Turks to British
prisoners of war captured when General Townshend

S I - —
surrendered Kut. There were, howevér, pertinent questions

—which; if asked, destroyed most, if not all of these arguments.

N

Was Britain likely to want to penctrate into the Black
Sea? Why assume that Turkey would be hostile to Russia?
Was international control workable or even possible? What
specific British interest was threatened by Turkish control
of the Straits? What could be done in practice for the
Armenians or the Greeks in Turkey? Because their prede-
cessors had fought and died there, were British troops to
remain on the Gallipoli peninsula in perpetuity? Were the .

prejud1ces and hates of the wartime period to last for ever?

“All Lloyd George’s views in 1922 were hangovers from
the Great War, as were his regrets over French and Italian
‘desertion’. It was as if he could not realise that he was no
longer the great wartime leader, controlling vast armies and
fleets, surrounded by powerful allies, fawned upon by lesser
powers anxious for some of the spoils of victory. The moment
when, at 4 p.m. on June 2gth, 1919, he had sat down in the
Hall of Mirrors at Versailles and had begun his letter to
George V: ‘Mr. Lloyd George with his humble duty to
Your Majesty has the honour to announce . . .” and had
gone on to inform the King of the signing of the peace
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treaty, that moment had been his greatest, and three years
later he could not realise that the power and the glory of
that day could not be recalled.

Nor could he realise that the Treaty of Versailles and the
other treaties, including Sévres, were not, in his own words,
‘the greatest measure of national liberation of subject
nations ever achieved by any war settlement on record’ and
therefore by implication perfect and inviolable. Now the
incompetent Greeks, the brutal Turks and the cowardly
French and Italians had spoilt it all. Undoubtedly in 1922
Lloyd George’s pride was hurt. He was like an old man
looking back with regret on the prowess and skill of his
youth. He was still, however, Prime Minister of Great
Britain.

It would be unfair to suggest that some at least of Lloyd
George’s sentiments were not shared by his colleagues.
Lord Curzon also talked of the objects for which we had

[

after the lost sense of national unity and purpose and were
offended that a former enemy, and the most despised at that,

_“should so soon snap his ﬁngers in the face of his conqueror.
“There was, too, a curious atmosphere about the whole
matter as 1f the days of 1914 had returned again. The same
Turkish enemy; once again strategic consideration of the
Gallipoli peninsula; again an assessment of morale in
Constantinople. The Commander-in-Chief in the Mediter-
ranean telegraphed to ask if the Goeben, now the Sultan
Yavuz Selim, should be torpedoed, although that particular
warship had been at anchor for years and ‘had a hole in its
side that you could drive a tramcar through’.

On one man particularly this revival of the war against
Turkey, the talk of military and naval movements, the
possibility of violent action exercised an irresistible fascin-
ation: Winston Churchill. The Secretary of State for the
Colonies had been hitherto the Prime Minister’s sternest|
and most perceptive critic in the Cabinet. He had warned| /
him of the possible resurgence of the Turks; he had advise
against too much reliance upon the Greeks; he had pointe
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out the dangers of indecisive policies. Now when Mustapha -
Kemal presumed to dictate his peace terms to the British
Empire Churchill’s pride was aroused. ‘Defeat is a nause-
ating draught; and that the victors in the greatest of all wars
should gulp it down was not readily to be accepted’, he
wrote. ‘So having done my utmost for three years to procure
a friendly peace with Mustapha Kemal and the withdrawal
of the Greeks from Asia Minor, and having consistently
opposed my friend the Prime Minister upon this issue, I

| now found myself wholeheartedly upon his side in resisting

the consequences of the policy which I had condemned.’

Friendship? Loyalty? Duty? Something of all three, plus
a zest, of which Lloyd George had once complained, for
military conflict, which made Churchill like the biblical
war-horse which ‘saith among the trumpets Ha Ha’, and
‘smelleth the battle afar off”.

The possibility of a fight had roused again the cavalry
subaltern never far below the surface of the statesman.
‘The government might break up and we might be relieved
of our burden. The nation might not support us; they could
find others to advise them. The press might howl, the
Allies might bolt.” The truculence and pugnaciousness that

a later generation was to know well were at once displayed. .~ 7
~ Lloyd George had found an ally. i

In Churchill’s wake there followed, as was to be expected,
Lord Birkenhead, and with less enthusiasm Lord Balfour,

Austen Chamberlain and Laming Worthington-Evans. -

The latter, who was Secretary of State for War, was soon to
find himself a very busy man, for the military preparations
had begun. The evacuation of the Greek Southern Army
through Smyrna and Chesme, and the Northern Army by
way of Brusa, had left the Allied forces occupying the so-
called Neutral Zone on the Asiatic shore of the Straits,
directly exposed to the Turkish armies.

The purpose of the Neutral Zone was to protect both
shores of the Dardanelles, the Sea of Marmora and the
Bosphorus. The drawing of the boundaries had been carried -
out in a sweeping way with little regard to possible defensive
strategy or even the configuration of the terrain. It was
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as if a ruler had been placed on the map, its centre line
running diagonally through the two exits of the Sea of
Marmora, and the zones created where the ruler overlapped
the European and Asiatic shores. Consequently in Anatolia
there were two zones linked by a narrow strip of coastline:
opposite the Gallipoli peninsula the southern zone, com-
prising the villayet of Chanak and the town of the same name,
and opposite Constantinople the area of the Ismid peninsula.

The strategic considerations in respect of these areas
were an interesting variation on those which had been
in the minds of statesmen, generals and admirals in 1917,
when the Allies had tried to wrest control from the occupying
Turks. Now the situation was reversed. The British fleet
was in the Sea of Marmora, and as there was no likelihood
that it would be required to sail through the Bosphorus to
the Black Sea, the important exit to the Sea of Marmora was
the Dardanelles. Constantinople could in any event be
dominated from the Sea of Marmora. The Turkish army was
on the Asiatic shore and would have to be transported by
water if it was to take either Gallipoli or Constantinople,
and of the two the Gallipoli peninsula was held to be the
more important. This for two reasons: the peninsula con-
trolled the Dardanelles, and Constantinople was already
promised at some future date to the Turks. Therefore in
London the priorities for defence were judged to be Gallipoli,
Constantinople, Chanak and the Ismid peninsula; that is,
the Ismid peninsula could be evacuated first, then Chanak,
and so on in reverse order. In fact a strict domino theory
of withdrawal was almost impossible in practice, and it
was this divergence between practice and theory which
occasioned Harington’s and Rumbold’s disagreement with
the Cabinet.

Both the Dardanelles and the Bosphorus could be spanned
by gunfire from either shore, so that no position could be
considered in isolation from its fellow. If the Gallipoli
peninsula were to be defended and the Dardanelles dominated
then Chanak had to be defended as well. The lesson of the;,
Gallipoli campaign was that there had to be both military |
and naval predominance to be effective, and that a fleet
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entering, or of course leaving, the Sea of Marmora was very
much at the mercy of whomsoever held either shore. The
Allied fleet in position was very powerful indeed, but naval
guns were limited in their effect when used against shore
" targets, and the ships that carried them were very vulnerable
~“either to mines or shore batteries. In a sense, therefore, the
“naval possession of the Sea of Marmora was less of an
advantage than it appeared at first sight. The Turks, then,
in 1922, if they were allowed by Allied evacuation to occupy
the whole of the Asiatic shore, would be in a considerably
stronger position than the Allies in 1917, when they had
tried to breach the Dardanelles while an enemy held both
Asiatic and European shores.

It was, therefore, for these reasons that within days of
the Greek evacuation Harington, backed up by Admiral
Brock, determined that Chanak should be held against the

"~ Turks if necessary. Of course, Harington’s view, though °

“agreed to by Rumbold, the High Commissioner, was in no
sense a political decision. The General, perhaps less than
anyone else concerned, wished to see war break out between
Britain and the Turks. If, however, his political masters
decided that a course was to be followed other than that of
complete evacuation, then militarily it was his duty to ensure
that that course, if possible, should be successful. The
evacuation of the Asiatic shore and then defiance from the
European shore, even with the help of the Navy, was in his

~ viewif not an impossibility, certainly a very dangerous course
indeed, and one which might well end in disaster or humili-
ation. Better therefore to stick to what remained of the letter
of the law and hold as much of the neutral zone as was
feasible, to which technically both the French and Italians
were also committed, and at the same time retain in one’s
own hands some advantage and flexibility, useful whether
the outcome was war or negotiation.

In the days after September gth, as the Turkish army
flowed eastwards in the wake of the departing Greeks, the
risk of war between British and Turks suddenly b_ccam'e/a\‘

"BoRRBIREy— T e bt (ReAtebaiosn Shod
~ From the return of Constantine to the Greek throne and
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the consequent suspension of official relations between the
British government and the King of the Hellenes, the
position of the British army in Anatolia vis-a-vis the Greeks
had been a curious one. Originally when General Harington
had arrived in Constantinople he had commanded not only
British, French and Italian troops but Greek as well. A
division commanded by General Gargalides stationed in the
i Ismid peninsula and a detached regiment at Beicos obeyed
his orders. When the Greeks ceased to be allies these troops
were taken from Harington’s control, and at almost the same
time the French and Italian governments indicated that
their troops were not to be employed in Asia under the
British Commander-in-Chief. Henceforth the British became
merely distant observers of the battles to the eastwards
between Greeks and Turks for dominance in Anatolia.

Relations between the armies of the two ex-allies remained
cordial, for in a sense they still opposed the same enemy,
although the Greek role was active and that of the British
passive. British forces, though small, still held Constantinople
and on the Asiatic shore occupied positions in the rear of
the Greek front line. Greek warships were still allowed in
the Sea of Marmora and the Bosphorus, and British warships,
in turn, used Smyrna as a friendly port. From their vantage
point in Anatolia, while they occupied themselves with
punitive expeditions against the bands of Turkish irregulars
which roamed between the Greek back areas and their
own positions, the British could observe the Greek army
closely as it prepared to advance on Ankara.

General Harington had already submitted an official
report to the Prime Minister on the state of the Greek
army, but it had been too pessimistic for Lloyd George’s
taste. Another general officer must therefore be sent out
to have a closer look and report over Harington’s head.
The War Office, no more enamoured of this proposal than
was Harington, effected a compromise. Major-General
T. O. Marden, the commander of the British troops under
the Commander-in-Chief, was ordered in June 1921 to
provide this second opinion. On the 1gth he left for Smyrna
by destroyer with Major T. G. G. Heywood, who had been
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Chief Intelligence Officer with the Salonika army, and
Major M. A. B. Johnston, the British Military Attaché.
The Greeks offered no objection to this rather curious
mission on behalf of a nation with which they were no -
1 longer in diplomatic communication. '
General Papoulas, the then Commander-in-Chief, wel-
comed General Marden and gave him every facility,
including a motor car and, as interpreter, a Greek corporal
who had left Eton the year before. Marden worked hard at
his mission and inspected virtually the whole of the Greek
army. The General Staff talked frankly to him of their plans
for an offensive, plans which were not yet known to their
battalion commanders. At one stage an official invitation
was extended to Marden and Harington to have dinner with
the Greek army in Ankara. At every unit he visited there -
were playings of the British national anthem, cheers for
Great Britain and often for Lloyd George as well. Every
infantry company had its large photograph of King
Constantine placed in a prominent position encircled with
laurel leaves, and ‘all seemed happy and extremely confi-
dent’.
- It was Marden’s job, however, to look below the surface
at_essentials, and by these he was less impressed. The_
Grcek private soldier was hardy and could march all day

on the SImplest and most meagre rat1ons, ‘but his uniform )¢

-and equipment were filthy, such as ‘to make a British
non-commissioned officer weep’. Much, of course, has to be -
“allowed for Marden’s British prejudice in favour of shininess
for all things military from boots to mess cans, but there were _

other more disturbing features about the Greek army ‘than

Tts lack of ‘bull’. So far as temperament went the Greeks

Wwere in complete contrast to the Turks; in a heady advance
they would fight gallantly but they had a dislike of slogging
defensive actions. Curiously this was a view with which Lloyd
George, much later, was to agree, comparing the. Greeks
in this respect to the French. Again, allowances have to be
made for the temperament of the observer. General Marden
found the Greeks excitable and liable to let off ammunition
at any target, good or bad. But then, perhaps, some of
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Kemal’s irregulars, if he had had an opportunity of
inspecting them, would not have possessed the fire discipline
of, say, the Grenadier Guards.

The most serious defect of the Greeks lay in the quality
of their officers. Regimental officers seemed to take little
interest in their men. No Greek officer would, like his
British equivalent, inspect his men’s feet after a long march

{ before he removed one single article of his own equipment.
Marden’s impression was that the relationship between
officers and men, and indeed officers with each other, ‘was

“'not sufficiently strong to repair a disaster’. Furthermore,

~above the regimental level the junior staff officers were of
poor quality, and ‘the technical services for carrying out a

~ complicated plan [were] distinctly weak’. Of the commanders

who had been trained properly some had been to the

“"French, some to the German Staff Colleges, so that their

“techniques were not the same and their tactical methods
‘were not dovetailed as in a nationally trained officer corps.
Finally, and most dafiining of all, however trained, ‘the
senior officers were all politicians’.

*~~"So Genéral Marden submitted his report, which did not

differ in essentials from that of Harington; in 1921 it appear-
ed ‘with luck the Greeks would succeed’. Lloyd George,
the recipient of the report, of course hoped so and convinced
himself that the Greeks woiild Have thatluck, but it was not

~to be. A little more than a year later Marden found himself
commanding the British outposts against which the backwash
of the defeated Greek army had surged and which were now
menaced by the Turks, following in hot pursuit of their
beaten and totally demoralised foe.

It was not, of course, the first crisis to face the General.
Since the date of Marden’s report there had been a number
of strictly military problems, each one of which had provoked
action by the Allies. The crises themselves had been of
differing degrees of seriousness. Frequently there had been
concern about the Turkish population in Constantinople.
As the fluctuations in the fortunes of Mustapha Kemal had
affected his compatriots, or as they had been affected by the
political actions of the Allies, the military commanders had
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thought it necessary to take active steps to be ready to
put down an internal revolution. Fortunately they never had
~t6°go beyond posting guards at strategic points and staging
“demonstration marches through the city. The latter, discon-
certingly, the Turks had seemed to find thoroughly enjoyable,
frequently clapping the regimental bands.

Then, at one time, Wrangel’s refugee Russians had
provoked a crisis. Of the total number of nearly 120,000,
30,000 had been soldiers possessing arms and ammunition.
Many of these armed men who did not succeed in gaining
employment from the Allies were herded off, still under some
form of military discipline, to a vast camp on the Gallipoli
peninsula. There they had been supervised by the French,
who eventually had to provide guards and sentries to keep

| them in order. Inevitably this situation had led to all

| kinds of friction, and more than once both British and

| French commanders had been prepared to prevent by force
a Russian attack on Constantinople. Finally, in this one
respect, the emergence of Kemal and the nationalist move-
ment in Turkey had done the Allies a good turn. Kemalist
propaganda sheets appeared on walls in Constantinople
threatening death or expulsion for the ‘Whites’, and as the
Turkish army advanced westwards the Russians began to
think in terms of defending themselves and Constantinople
against Turkish invaders.

On May 13th, 1921, when Kemal’s army was fully
occupied in Anatolia, the Allies had established their
neutral zones to protect the Straits, and the lines of demar-
cation had been drawn along the Asiatic shore of the
Dardanelles. Paradoxically the first testing of these quite
arbitrary and wrongly named areas of occupation, which had
been agreed with the Greeks and the Sultan’s government,
had come a little more than a year later and from the west,
when the Greeks, in their final desperate gesture, had
threatened the Chataldja lines and Constantinople. On that
occasion, perhaps because there was no time for reflection,
the news had been announced at an inter-Allied horse show.
There had heen a conference of senior officers on the spot
and the British, French and Italians had managed to
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preserve a united front. Now, in the autumn of 1922,
co-operation seemed far less likely. The situation was much
more serious and it would have to be solved one way or
the other by the British.

At the beginning of September Lloyd George was still
optimistic about the powers of resistance of the Greek army.
At least in the presence of his Cabinet colleagues he appeared
to believe the Greeks when they said they would make a
last stand at Smyrna. The town and its surrounding area,
the original Allied concession to the Greeks, had recently

__been_declared an autonomous province by Stergiades; the
" High Commissioner. This action, presumably with the
~connivance of the government in Athens, was intended to
show that at this late hour the Greeks demanded no more
of Asia Minor than was their right under the peace treaties.
Perhaps it was also intended to provoke the Allies into
defence of their given word. If such was the intention, as a
~ diplomatic manceuvre it was 2 dismal failure; the French
‘and the Ttalians were-almost as indifferent as the Turks,
. and the British Cabinet took the declaration to mean that
. the Greeks would and could defend Smyrna: ==~ ~
 The soldiers on the spot were far less sanguine than
the politicians at home and, as they heard of the speed
and manner of the Greek retreat, were certainly not able
to share the Prime Minister’s well-preserved optimism.
Accordingly, on September gth, the day that the first
elements of the Turkish advance-guard entered Smyrna,
¢ Colonel D. I. Shuttleworth received his orders from General
Harington to take command at Chanak and to put it into
a state to repel attack. He left Constantinople on the 1oth
with his staff captain and arrived at Chanak on the morning
of the 11th..

His orders were to prevent the Turks from crossing
-_thé neutral boundary. Chanak was t6 be defended against all
“attack until further orders were given. At the same time,

as background to his written orders, Colonel Shuttleworth
was informed orally that a prolonged defence of Chanak

was not contemplated at the moriernt and that he might

{ “have “to~consider ‘eventually a Wﬁl@@@él ‘under fire to
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Gallipoli. As an extra task he was also to look into another
“guestion, that of the Sanjak of Chanak, the area round the

town which extended outside the military boundary.

It was now denuded of Greek troops but still occupied by

a battalion of Turkish gendarmerie, officered by the British
' but owing allegiance to the Sultan.

The forces Shuttleworth found at his disposal at Chanak

to accomplish these objects were hardly excessive for the
purpose. To oppose a Turkish army which, it was presumed,
would soon drive northwards from Smyrna, Colonel
Shuttleworth had under his command one squadron of the
grd Hussars, g2nd Battery, Royal Field Artillery, armed with
eighteen-pounders, a section of Royal Engineers, and one
infantry battalion, the 1st Loyal Regiment, plus the Turkish
gendarmerie battalion which he was told beforehand he
was in no circumstances to employ against their compatriots
in Kemal’s army. On arrival Shuttleworth found that
outside the neutral area in the Sanjak of Chanak there was
considerable disorder. Turkish irregulars, often a polite
term to describe mere brigands, were already pillaging the
dwellings of Greeks and Armenians and ill treating the
civilian refugees left behind by the Greek army. The
v [ Mutessarif of Chanak (a combination of English mayor and
v“|_French prefect) had taken over the Sanjak in the name of
the Sultan, relying on the Turkish gendarmes, but with little
effect. It was soon obvious that many of the Turks were now
pro-Kemal and it was extremely doubtful if they would
obey their British supervising officers. Shuttleworth therefore
decided that he could not control the whole neutral zone,
but must concentrate on the purely military problem, for
which he could only rely on his handful of British troops.
On September 11th Shuttleworth carried out a recon-
naissance of the ground he had to defend with the company
commanders of the Loyal Regiment, the commanding
officer being down with fever. The position was very far

o —— e

from ideal. The boundary of the actual neutral zone ran -

from Karabiga on the southern coast of the Sea of Marmora
southwards through Biga and Bayramic down to the Aegean
coast, opposite the island of Lesbos. To defend this line
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would have meant manning a front of something like
eighty miles and was an obvious impossibility. Shuttleworth
decided to defend the coast of the Dardanelles from Chanak
to Nagara Point. Both places were vital. Nagara Point was
the cable end to Europe and it was also important that this
section of the Dardanelles, where it took a sharp right-hand,
almost right-angled, bend opposite Kilia, should be held

, from both shores. Chanak itself, a small town of some 8,000

" Turkish inhabitants, controlled the Narrows, as its name
1mp]_;ed the narrowest section of the Dardan IIes, """""

: bemg less than a mile, @t one point not more than 1,500
yards. This vital neck of waterway had been heavily fortified
by the Turks in the late war. As Shuttleworth doubtless
recalled, it was here, on March 18th, 1915, when the
Allied fleet had made the first move in the Gallipoli cam-
paign, that the Turks had placed their heaviest concentra-
tion of shore batteries.

The distance, however, from Chanak to Nagara Point was
six miles, and at the moment even that as a defended front
was impossible with the forces on the spot. Shuttleworth
therefore decided to prepare a defensive ring around Chanak
itself, with Nagara Point, where there was an old Turkish
fort, as a detached position. As Nagara and Chanak were
connected by a metalled road running along the coast and
protected and concealed by overhanging cliffs; the two
positions, unless completely overrun, were not cut off
from each other. This arrangement was not without its
dangers, but it did mean that the British would now only
have to defend two positions: Chanak, with a frontage of
5,500 yards, and Nagara Point, with a frontage of 1,500
yards. Shuttleworth had been promised reinforcements but
had been given no date for their arrival, and because he
had no idea of the probable movements of the Turks he had
to be ready to fight with his tiny force the next day if neces-
sary. What that next day would bring Shuttleworth had no
means of telling.... T

"Outside Chanak the rest of the world was still digesting
the news from Smyrna. The greater part of the British
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Mediterranean fleet was concentrated there, concerning
itself with the saving of as many refugees as possible. What
the movements were of Turkish troops beyond Smyrna was
not known. There were no aircraft available to carry out
reconnaissance, and the Greek spies, who until the defeat
of their army had kept the British informed of the move-
ments of irregulars outside the neutral zone, had now all
disappeared. At this moment the eyes and €ars of the
P
commander at Chanak were, just as for any nineteenth-
century commander, his cavalry patrols. So Shuttleworth’s
information was limited to the powers of observation and
the speed of the hundred men and horses of his squadron
of grd Hussars, which, divided into troops, roamed the rough,
hilly country to the east.

Having cut his commitments to the bone Shuttleworth’s
problems were far from over, for he then had to consider
his method of defence for his two positions. Both Chanak
and Nagara presented considerable difficulties. Chanak
itself was a flat brick-and-mud town scarcely a mile square,
situated on the northern bank of the estuary of the small
River Koja, which runs with several meanderings almost due
east and west. The central part of the town was divided
into Turkish, Arménian, Jewish and Greek ‘quarters, the_‘

“Turkish b bemg to the west of the town and the otheérs stret-
ching in that order to the east. It was a small compact
town, the only extension being along the coast to the north
for a little over a mile to the old Military Hospital, which,
standing on a slight hill, provided an observation post.
The town itself was militarily indefensible, therefore a
defence line of trenches and wire had to be constructed
outside the town limits and to the east. Here lay the essential
difficulty, for Chanak is overlooked at a distance of four
miles by a ridge of hills, Asmali Tepe, Bairah Tepe and
Damyeri Tepe, rising to a maximum height of 1,000 feet.
The ridge almost encircles the town with a chain of hills,
save to the north and south, where the high ground slopes
down to the coast. At the centre, the hills are pierced by
the valley of the Koja, at this point a shallow stream with
a bed approximately fifty yards wide. Obviously for an
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attacking enemy the ridge provided excellent means of
observation of the whole of the Chanak defence works, and,
of course, for bombardment by artillery.

As some compensation, however, the ground was rough,
the hills steeply sloped and, apart from a few crude tracks,
the ridge offered considerable obstacles to the movement
of anything save infantrymen on their feet. All told, Shuttle-
worth, perhaps a little optimistically, thought that the hills
afforded as many disadvantages to potential attackers as
problems for the defenders. If the Turks possessed a great
deal of artillery and ammunition, then in time, with the
advantage of direct observation, they might be able to
swamp the defences of Chanak. Shuttleworth therefore
made his decision for the siting of his own lines on the
basis of a compromise. Any defence of Chanak had to be a
defence in depth, and to achieve this he would have to have
reinforcements by way of more troops on the ground and,
as a second best, gun support from the Navy. At the same
time he had to bear in mind his primary purpose: to prevent
the Turks reaching the Narrows with artillery. The nearer
to the hills the more likely he was to prevent the Turks
from closing the Narrows, but the nearer he went, the more
he exposed his own troops to machine-gun and possibly
artillery fire.

Whichever way the problem was approached risks had
to be taken, and the risk he took was of planning a defence
line which could only be reasonably secure when he
was provided with more troops. Accordingly his men were
set to the task of digging trenches about two miles out from
Chanak which would afford them and the hoped for
reinforcements a good field of fire. The trenches, when
protected by barbed wire, would also provide some protect-
ion against an infantry attack by the Turks. The work on
these trenches began on September 12th, every available
man being used for the task. The only exceptions were the
squadron of Hussars patrolling to the south (the direction
from whence the Turkish advance was expected, Smyrna
being 140 miles away) and a platoon of the Loyal Regiment,
uneasily mounted on mules, which watched to the north. On
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the same night a report was received from one of the British -
officers of gendarmerie at Ezine, about twenty miles from
Chanak on the old neutral line, that a division of Turkish ~

“cavalry was six hours’ march away from him, and that two -

more Turkish divisions had reached Edremit, a further forty
miles dlstant to the south-east

the senior British officer of the gendarmerle “who knew the
area well and spoke Turkish, was sent off in a miotor car to

Ezine to investigate and report. At the same time Colonel

Shuttleworth tried to persuade the Turkish authorities
outside his area to allow Greek and Armenian Christians to
evacuate their homes. The gendarmerie battalion was now
obviously useless and not to be relied upon, as pro-Kemal
sympathies were on the increase. The authorities were -
obstinate or indifferent. Shuttleworth, meeting a blank wall
of obstinate non-co-operation, eventually gave up; he did his
best to warn the Greeks and Armenians and then withdrew
his remaining British officers behind his rudimentary
defences.

His next task was to evacuate civilians from the town
of Chanak itself. Using his old friend, the Mutessarif, he
met here with more success. The elders of each community,
Christian and Moslem, were approached and began the
task of persuading the population that they must be prepared
to leave. Shuttleworth signalled Constantinople for assistance
from the Royal Navy to help with the evacuation if necessary,
although a large number of civilians, seeing the obvious
preparations for war, began to leave the town on foot or
by their own primitive transport.

On the evening of September 12th Chanak had at last
received some measure of reinforcement in the very tangible
shape of the battleship 4jax, which had sailed north from
Smyrna and now anchored in the Narrows. Captain Trewby
of the A4jax was immediately in consultation with the
artillery officers at Chanak, preparing plans for a naval
barrage and the use of the battleship’s powerful searchlights.
The next morning parties of sailors and marines landed to
assist the soldiersin the task of digging trenches and preparing
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barbed-wire entanglements. The weather was hot, the work
tiring and boring, and the company of H.M.S. Ajax, which
had been met on landing by Colonel Shuttleworth and piles
of spades and shovels, was not without its loud comments on
the strange habits of ‘Pongoes’.

Despite the jaundiced view of the blue-jackets, the work
of entrenching was more important than the presence of the
Ajax as a floating gun platform. The large and impressive
ship’s armament was capable of flinging high velocity,
armour-piercing shells a distance of over twelve miles on
a flat trajectory, but the Turks, when they arrived at
_ Chanak, would be but four miles away and protected by the
- rough and difficult ground. In addition, though the Navy

" . was loath to admit it, bombardment by ships’ guns designed

io fire over a flat surface, the sea, at other warships, had
| been curiously ineffective against forces and emplacements

' on land.

There were other arrivals at Chanak besides the Ajax.
On the morning of the 13th Colonel Shuttleworth was
pleased to welcome another squadron of the grd Hussars,
another battery of field artillery and, somewhat to his
surprise, out of the blue a seventy-man detachment of
Ttalian infantry, which appeared to be quite happy and
willing to join in the digging operations. The horses and guns
of the British detachment gave considerable difficulty on
landing, as the piers at Chanak harbour, through years of
neglect, were rotten and unreliable. However, by the
morning of September 14th, all British troops were on shore,
and the Chanak commander was in some sort of state to
receive a more illustrious visitor.

Purely by chance Field Marshal Lord Plumer, the
Governor of Malta, was on his way to visit Harington, his
old Chief of Staff, and sniffing excitement and action had
decided to call at Chanak on the way. Shuttleworth reported
the situation to Lord Plumer, who inspected the defences,
sent a short signal to Harington at Constantinople ‘All
well here’, and departed, doubtless with food for thought.
While the Field Marshal was present the Mutessarif Te-
ported that he had been on the telephone to the Turkish
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commander at Edremit and had told him that the Allies

were prepared to use force to defend the principle of neutra-

_ lity. Major Harenc returned to report Turkish irregulars at

. Ezine. In the afternoon Commodore Domville arrived by

| seaplane from Smyrna to announce that the Turks intended
| to advance on the Straits and Constantinople by winter.

Colonel Shuttleworth wrote his usual note in his report

for that day: “Work on the defences continued all day’.
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‘A stand for something which was not of
any great value’
Austen Chamberlain

By September 14th Chanak was protected by a line of
three trenches and British flags were placed along the
boundaries. The Italian contingent wished to put up their
own flag but found that unfortunately any flags they
possessed had been left in Constantinople. The Italian
commander promised to obtain some without delay.

; General Harington informed Colonel Shuttleworth that as

bold a front as possible had to be put up in the face of a sud-
den advance by the Turks. In the event, however, of a serious
prolonged attack, Shuttleworth was to withdraw his force

- to Gallipoli. With typical generosity Harington said, what he
- was to repeat often in the next few weeks, that whatever

* course his subordinates decided on he would accept full

responsibility.

In Constantinople Harington’s own superior and old
friend, Lord Plumer, had taken on responsibilities of his
own. On arrival there, after afew words with the Commander-
in-Chief, the Field Marshal sent two telegrams, one to
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Lloyd George, the other to the War Office, saying in both
- cases that he entirely approved of Harington’s actions and
dispositions. At the same time he ordered the despatch
of the 2nd Royal Sussex Regiment and the 1st Gordon
Highlanders from Malta to Chanak. It was a somewhat
old-fashoned interpretation of his powers as Governor of
Malta, but such was Plumer’s reputation that he got away
with it. A day later the fron Duke, Admiral Brock’s flagship,
arrived off Chanak from Smyrna. The Admiral, also on his
own responsibility, promised Shuttleworth a minimum of one
battleship, two light cruisers and five destroyers to help
with the defence of the town. If the politicians wanted a
battle neither Plumer nor Brock were prepared to see it lost
by half-hearted measures. If Lloyd George was determined
to defy Kemal then it would not be done by words alone.
What exactly the Turks were doing still remained some-
thing of a mystery. Patrols of the grd Hussars reported that
along the neutral line telegraph and telephone lines to
Chanak had been cut, and that cavalry had been seen in
strength at Guenen, east of Biga. On the other hand a new
addition to Shuttleworth’s forces, five elderly Short seaplanes
supplied by the carrier H.M.S. Pegasus, reported no move-
ment on the roads leading to Chanak. These seaplanes,
slow, vulnerable and wildly inappropriate for reconnaissance
work over rough hilly country, took great risks coming
down to tree-top height to look at Anatolian roads and
villages but could still find no sign of the enemy. Yet the
day after the pilots and observers had rendered their
reports the grd Hussars, on the ground, confirmed Turkish
occupation of Ezine and Biga. A report was received from
a friendly Turk that at Ezine preparations were being made
to bake 17,500 loaves of bread in expectation of the troops
to come. A British flag from the neutral line was delivered
at Saracheli by a solitary Turkish officer. The Mutessarif
was given the unenviable task of replacing it. The 3rd
Hussars occupied Sarracheli but found no sign of Turkish
troops. To Shuttleworth it was a puzzling situation, but
he came to the conclusion that the Turks must be moving
by night and hiding by day. He could only hazard guesses
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as to what these tactics presaged or their eventual attitude
when they finally cani€ into cortact with Allied troops.
On September 16th there was another addition to the
garrison. The band of the Loyal Regiment was paraded with
a guard of honour to welcome the arrival of the French
contribution to Allied solidarity. It was a curious ceremony,
for this little bit of pageantry could scarcely disguise the
fact that the regimental band and guard of the British
regiment was almost equal in numbers to the whole French
contingent, a weak company of the 66th Regiment and
twenty-four colourful members of the 1st Moroccan Spahis.

Shuttieworth showed the French officers round the defences.
There were now three Allied flags flying at Chanak to
impress the Turks, the Italians having repaired their
previous omission and the French having come prepared,
at least, in this respect.

A plan was devised to blow up the road from Ezine if
necessary, engineers in Ford vans being ready to drive
to two selected points to explode charges. There was still,
with regard to this and other preparations, an inevitable
air of amateur improvisation at Chanak, imposed by the
chronic shortage of both front line and technical troops.
The piers on both sides of the Narrows were only put into
working order by the efforts of Lieutenant-Colonel Hughes
of the Australian army and a party of Australian and New
Zealand N.C.O.s, who were present by chance on Gallipoli
as part of the Imperial War Graves Commission, concerned
with the battles of five years ago. This resourceful officer,
looking well ahead, also began to prepare a landing strip
for aircraft on Gallipoli and to pipe a fresh water supply
to Kilia on the European shore to be used as a reserve for
Chanak. These arrangements were vitally necessary, as
Chanak depended for everything save milk, eggs and bread
upon supplies from Constantinople. To avoid the possibility
of being starved out Colonel Shuttleworth had to put in hand
the construction of a bakery, and arrangements for a supply
of fresh meat. As the numbers of the garrison increased,
medical and sanitary services had also to be provided.
Day by day the build up at Chanak increased, but it
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was largely a matter of services and facilities; the actual
number of fighting troops was still pathetically small. On
September 17th another battleship dppeared in the Narrows,
H.M.S. Marlborough, which three years before had rescued
from the Crimea the Dowager Empress Maria Fedorovna,
widow of Alexander IIT and mother of Nicholas II, and the
Grand Duke Nicholas, the former Commander-in-Chief of
the armies of the last Tsar. Demonstrating again the Navy’s
capability for any task, this time the Marlborough landed
naval machine-gun and Lewis-gun teams, which were
swiftly integrated with the infantry, and also began unload-
ing twelve-pounder guns to supplement the field-artillery
battery. Rear-Admiral Kelly, who commanded the 4th
Battle Squadron, promised another battleship for Kum
Kale and one for Gallipoli to provide some of the artillery
support the army so conspicuously lacked. The Admiral
also informed Shuttleworth that he had plans to set up naval
six-inch guns on shore if necessary. Such aid and assistance
was, of course, welcome, but there was a grave danger that
the ubiquity and apparent omnipotence of the Navy might
blind the eyes of the government to the fact that there was
still only one battalion of infantry occupying the trenches )
outside Chanak. If the Turks did attack the only function
of all these splendid battleships might be to facilitate thei
withdrawal of a few hundred soldiers.

On September 15th, while Smyrna still smouldered and
while at Chanak soldiers, sailors and marines dug trenches,
filled sandbags and wrestled with reels of barbed wire, the
Cabinet met in Downing Street at 4 p.m. Sir Laming
Worthington-Evans, the Secretary of State for War, not
perhaps before it was time, produced a map showing the
strength and disposition of the Allied forces on both sides of
the Straits.

Excluding the units at Chanak the total British forces
in the area, including Constantinople, were five infantry
battalions, the remaining squadron and headquarters of the
grd Hussars, two companies of engineers, three batteries of
field guns, an armoured train and five naval seaplanes, plus
a number of scratch gun sections made up by the Royal
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Navy. The Frenchhad six infantry battalions,some armoured
cars and light tanks, three squadrons of cavalry, three
batteries of artillery and twelve aeroplanes. The Italians had
one infantry battalion in Constantinople and the cadre of a
locally raised force of Turks officered by Italians. On the
European side of the Straits in Thrace there was now an
irregular but armed and equipped force of 6,000 Turks.
South of the Ismid peninsula there were calculated to be
about 20,000 Turkish regulars. Around Chanak the size
of the Turkish forces was estimated to be 5,000 men, with
40,000 more in the Smyrna area. The total Allied forces
amounted to 7,600 men, twenty-eight guns, twelve tanks and
armoured cars, twelve aeroplanes and five seaplanes.

The Cabinet, not surprisingly, came to the conclusion
that this force was inadequate to hold its present positions.
General Harington had made it plain that he could not hold
Constantinople for long unless he could also hold the oppo-
site shore, on the Asiatic side of the Bosphorus, at Scutari,
the site of Florence Nightingale’s famous hospital in the
Crimean War. The Cabinet digested the fact that the Bos-
phorus varied in width from 600 to 1,200 yards, and the
First Lord of the Admiralty explained the difficulty of
stopping small craft carrying troops from crossing, unless
both sides were held by the Allies. The Cabinet then gave
itself up to Lord Curzon, who embarked upon a description
of the general situation. As usual he did not stint himself
for words; his' explanation was lengthy and detailed. He
began with the evacuation of the Greeks and he told his
colleagues of the meeting between Sir Harry Lamb and
Mustapha Kemal in Smyrna. He then produced some
encouraging news: it seemed likely that a conference could
be held between the Allies and the Greeks and Turks. The
Italians favoured Venice as the venue; Lord Curzon did
not. He preferred the idea of Paris, providing that some
agreement could be reached beforehand with the French.
He was prepared to visit Poincaré to bring this about.
Lord Hardinge, the Ambassador in Paris, Curzon conceded,
possessed great “authotity. (Like Curzon he too had been
Viceroy of India, and in fact the two men detested each™ 4
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other.) Nevertheless the issue was surely of sufficient impor-
tance to justify a personal visit by the Foreign Secretary.
The Cabinet agreed.

The idea of yet another international conference also
appeared attractive to a majority of the Cabinet, and a
conference which would not only include the two belliger-
ents and the Allies but as many other interested parties as
could be persuaded to attend. So Lord Curzon was given the
task of persuading Poincaré, who had only recently snubbed -
Lloyd George at Boulogne by taking his lunch at the
Prefecture while the British Prime Minister had to fend for
himself in the station buffet, to return to the Allied fold.
While in Paris Lord Curzon could try to bring in the
Serbs,! as the King of the Serbs, Croats and Slovenes and
his prime minister were there at the moment, and perhaps ..
extend invitations to the Romanians and the Bulgarians
as well.

Winston Churchill was the first to indicate any desire . .
to break away from conjecture upon these high diplomatic
possibilities and return to the military situation in the
Straits. He was ‘wholly opposed to any attempt to carry
out a bluff without force’. General Harington had indicated

~that if the positions Had to be defended both sides of the
Straits should be held. Then, in Churchill’s view, so be it, -
and reinforcements would have to be sent out. As regards
the view of the public, Churchill, still a Liberal, thought
‘Liberal opinion would be a great deal influenced by the
recent atrocities and Conservative opinion would not be
willing to see the British flag trampled on’. Lord Curzon
had mentioned the League of Nations. Churchill thought that
if other interested powers such as Greece, Serbia and
Romania were to be invited to a conference, then they should
be asked to send a military contingent. ‘This would confront
the Turkish forces with six flags instead of three flags

1 After 1918 Serbia, with Montenegro, Croatia, Slovenia, Bosnia-
Herzegovina and part of Macedonia, became ‘the Kingdom of the
Serbs, Croats and Slovenes’ and later Yugoslavia. In the early 20’s
both “Serbia’ and ‘Yugoslavia’ were, however, used indiscriminately
by foreigners to describe the new state.

211



which was in itself something of a League of Nations.’

.1 Finally the Secretary of State for the Colonies wondered if
/| the Empire might not be prepared to put up a force to
| defend Gallipoli.

Austen Chamberlain, the Lord Privy Seal, was much
more cautious. He was not a brilliant man but steady and
sensible. Reasonably enough he wondered how Turkey was

~to be dominated from the Straits and Constantinople. That

had been the argument at the time of the Dardanelles
expedition. Now the British held the positions they had fought
for then, but Turkey was not subdued. Did Churchill
contemplate holding the Straits permanently? Apparently

not, Then, said Chamberlain, he did not want the British

representative at the conference ‘to make a stand for
something which was not of any great value’. At this point,
the Prime Minister decided to state his views. There was:
already something like a division in the Cabinet. Churchill
was for making a stand; Chamberlain was doubtful. The,
two service Ministers, Lord Lee at the Admiralty and
~Worthington-Evans at the War Office, tended to be more; .
coticerned with departmental details than the rights and!
wrongs of policy. Lord Curzon put his trust in a number ol{
diplomatic moves to be carried out by himself. Lloyd
George was quite simple in his determination not to ‘run

' away before Mustapha Kemal’. No questions of the British
" position at Mosul or in Irag were going to deflect him from
! Britain’s ‘supreme interest in the freedom of the Straits’.
" He was in favour therefore of the despatch of reinforcements.

Whether a division was necessary to defend Constantinople
would have to be discussed, but whatever the details the
point was that the British must be in sufficient strength.
He was, however, ‘entirely opposed to approaching the
French government as a suppliant for assistance’. What
about Romania and Serbia? He had read in the Morming
Post that the Serbians did not want the Turks back. The
same applied to Romania. Both governments should be
approached immediately and asked not merely for a brigade,
but for whatever force they would be prepared to send.
Lord Curzon was somewhat sceptical about so much

212

—



help, but Lloyd George was not to be deflected and won-

dered also what the Greeks could do. ‘They must have !

several divisions available,” he said. ‘Combining the Greek,
Romanian, Serbian and British forces a considerable army
would be available. If Mustapha Kemal crossed the Straits
with 60,000 rifles then he would be met by 60,000 plus the
British fleet. The time had come,” thought Lloyd George,
‘to do something concrete.’

If the combination he suggested could be formed, then
the British representatives at a conference would not have
‘to throw themselves at the feet of M. Poincaré’. Lord
Curzon was still doubtful and warned against ‘building too
enthusiastically on these proposals’, but Lloyd George was

now constructing castles in the air at great speed, from™

“the roof downwards. ‘The Czechoslovaks would be bound to
stand in with Romania and Yugoslavia and the French
were influenced by the Czechs’ The mood became
catching; Churchill wanted the Bulgarians in too. Soon in
everyone’s mind, save Curzon’s, there was a picture of a
gigantic alliance of nearly the whole of Eastern Europe
opposed to the Turks. The idea of Imperial help was again
put forward: Sir Hamar Greenwood, the Chief Secretary
for Ireland, suggested that Australia and New Zealand ought
to be asked to co-operate. Churchill wondered about more
aeroplanes. Worthington-Evans thought a division could
get to Constantinople in under three weeks and asked if
the battalions at Malta and Gibraltar could be used. It was
decided reluctantly that there was no point in asking the

U.S.A. to participate despite her ‘large missionary interests

in Turkey’.
~Lloyd George then produced another piece of helpful
gossip. Mr. A. T. Sylvester, one of his secretaries, had been
told by a representative of the Daily Telegraph of a conver-
sation with the Serbian chargé d’affaires in London.
Apparently the Serbs were opposed to the idea of the Turks
returning to Thrace. The Prime Minister had similar
information about the attitude of the Romanians. Lord
Hardinge in Paris could therefore approach the King of
Serbia immediately. Austen Chamberlain suggested that
T.C.A~—P 213
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Winston Churchill should send a telegram to each of the
Dominions asking for a battalion. Churchill said that the
telegram would be sent by the Prime Minister but that he
would be prepared to draft it.

Curzon still fighting for facts, asked ‘what answer he
was to give when asked where the forces were to be sent’.

"Lloyd George said that the governments concerned should

be told to send a representative to General Harington ‘to
make the necessary arrangements’. Curzon then wanted to
know if he was to tell the French that the British government
would send a division, even if it would not. He was told
that it would be premature to decide that point until
replies had been received from Serbia and Romania.
Churchill and Chamberlain then wanted to know something
a little more specific about sending aircraft from Egypt, but
the Prime Minister was content to leave such matters to the
Air Ministry and Admiralty experts. He was much more
concerned about what the Greeks could do. The Minister

' in Athens, he thought, could find out and report.

Lord Curzon’s predicament can well be understood;
there seemed to be many ideas but few decisions. In the
end the Cabinet decided to try something of everything.
The approaches to the Balkan nations should be made for
military participation, the reward being their presence
at the proposed conference. The Greeks would be asked
what they could do to defend the Straits. General Harington
would provide, once again, information on the state of the
Greek army. Lord Curzon would see M. Poincaré and inform
him that if the French would send reinforcements to Con-
stantinople then so would the British. Reserves would
not be called out and leave would not bé stopped but a

“division was to be put in a state of readiness. The battalions
: at Malta and Gibraltar should move forthwith. Twosquadrons

of aeroplanes would move from Egypt. The naval Com-
mander-in-Chief in the Mediterranean should be authorised
‘to take any action he may deem necessary to secure or
destroy’ any transports conveying Turkish forces to Europe.
Finally, Churchill should draft a telegram for Lloyd George
to be sent to the Dominion Prime Ministers, inviting their
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co-operation ‘in the despatch of military reinforcements’.
On that Friday Miss Frances Stevenson, Lloyd George’s
secretary, was waiting in the Cabinet ante-room. ‘My door
opened and L.G. and Churchill walked in from the Cabinet
Room. L.G. asked me to take down from Churchill the text
of what I realised was to be a telegram asking for their
support in the event of a war with Turkey. I was horrified
“at the unwisdom of the message, conveying as it did the
prospect of renewed warfare on a grand scale. L.G. and
Churchill took the draft back into the Cabinet Room, where
the meeting was in progress. Shall I send L.G. in a note
warning him against such action? But then again I thought
he will never agree to such a telegram being sent. The
next thing I knew was that the telegram had gone.” ™
~The next day, a Saturday, Winston Churchill, in a fit
of over-zealousness, released the news of the telegram to
,/ the British press, too late for the Sunday papers but in time
Tor the Monday ones. He forgot, however, the difference in
time between Britain and the Dominions; and he failed
o check what timie the telegram had been sent from London.
In Canada, Australia and New Zealand the telegram from
London was not decoded until Monday, but by that time
the three Prime Ministers had received their first intimation
of the request from their own newspapers on Sunday
morning. Mackenzie King, the Canadian Prime Minister,
did not in fact see a newspaper that morning until a reporter
asked him what action he intended to take. As none of the
Dominion governments had been consulted beforehand,
it was not perhaps the best manner in which they should
first hear of a request which they regarded, in any event,
as being peremptory and Imperialistic, reminiscent of the
days when their countries had been mere colonies, ruled and
controlled from London.
Mackenzie King replied in very clear terms, indicating
thaf his countrymen had no wish to be embroiled in a new
~war-and that even if any military action were contemplated
theCanadian Parliament would have to be consulted first.
This broad hint was apparently lost on the British Cabinet,
which had shown no indication so far of wishing to recall
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the British Parliament so that its views might be ascertained.
The Australian Prime Minister’s reply was equally dis-
- couraging if less critical, although he also complained
—4bout the lack of previous consultation. In South Africa
—the Prime Minister, Jan Smuts, was on a lengthy tour of the
Union and, perhaps tactfully, never sent an official reply at
all. The Newfoundland government indicated that it was in
““agreement with the home Cabinet but made no offer of
military assistance. Only from New Zealand came the sort
of reply which Churchill had hoped would flow in from
all the Dominions: New Zealand would send a battalion,
_perhaps a brigade if necessary. The British Cabinet decided
“that the news of this heartening offer of support could be
made public, but that the cause of Imperial unity would
not be best served by advertising the Canadian or the
Australian responses.
Churchill’s muddle over the telegrams was not_the only
one. The Cabinet was contemplating a military operation;
it ‘was getting within sight of the outbreak of a war. Yet
a very dangerous gap yawned between the actions of military
and naval personnel on the spot and the information on
which the Cabinet gave its orders. There were a number of
reasons why this situation came about. For three years
" Lloyd George had pursued a twin obsession: an exaggerated
. ‘admiration for the Greeks and an “excessive hatred of the
.“Turks. Neither view was shared by his military and diplo-
| “matic advisers and many of his Ministers were but lukewarm.
t Of course government servants such as Harington or
Rumbold did 16t necessarily have to agree with the policies
! of their political master: They had a duty merely to obey or
_ resign. Soldiers and civil servants have, “before and _since,
‘‘carried &ut measures with which privately they have
disagreed, that being a condition of their service. Unfor-
tunately, however, Lloyd George had not been consistent.
He had encouraged theé Greeks, had helped to_fire_their
imagination with grandiose notions, and had then left them
To fend for theimselves. Consequently by 1922 it was not so
~much that Service Chiefs and Foreign Office officials
disagreed with the basic premises of the Prime Minister’s
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policy in the Near East, as that they were irritated and
exasperated by the manner in which he had attempted to
put it into practice. Their own advice had been ignored and
they had seen a policy of half-measures end in failure. Now

that a crisis approached which might well demand action;~

and action which could mean war, they feared. that Britain

——

might be pushed into an unnecessaty conflict inadvertently.
Overall, they did not trust the Prime Minister.

Churchill’s ‘small group of resolute men’ was not trusted
either. Churchill himself was regarded a§ an impetuous

AT = N
fire-eater, Birkenhead as a clever adventurer; the rest were

nonentities. Curzon was knowledgeable and able and with
all his faulis & reasonable man. Unfortunately his chicf
TFault was that, unlike the others, he lacked resolution.
With Lloyd George in charge it did not #iake up an im-
pressive team. The Prime Minister was undoubtedly excited

by the possibility of a showdown with Turkey. Those who

might have to translate his enthusiasm into action were not.
To make matters worse the Prime Minister’s peculiar
method of doing business was becoming notorious. Curzon

had frequently complained of his habit of not consulting i

“the Tabinet collectively, but of dealing with its individual

“memnbers separately. There had been a great deal to Edwin
Montagu’s jibe about Cabinet government having become a
joke. Lloyd George was undoubtedly adept at getting his
own way by devious means. The obverse of the coin was
his manner of obtaining advice. It was as if he had a positive

_antipathy towards taking official “guidance. The view of 2~

newspaper man, a foreign diplomat, even a mere dinner-
table companion, although only given in passing, was
preferable to the carefully marshalled opinions of the Foreign
Office or the War Office. Perhaps one can spare a measure
of sympathy for Lloyd George, perpetually burdened with
Lord Curzon’s balanced and erudite lectures, and therefore
Understand the reasons for his formation of what came to be
called the ‘Garden Suburb’. The phrase described the
Prime Minister’s private corps of advisers and helpers
quartered in Whitehall Gardens. Nevertheless the Garden
Suburb worked separately and by different methods and
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standards from those of the ‘regular’ Civil Service, whose
functions it appeared to usurp. In short, with Lloyd George
senior Service officers, high-ranking Civil Servants, and 2
number of Ministers were never quite sure where they stood.
The Service chiefs, in particular, with the likelihood of a
war on their hands, desperately wanted to know where
they stood. This was especially true in the Near East where
the first shots would be fired. Consequently generals and
admirals tended, far from home, to take matters a little
into their own hands; not because they wanted a war, but
because they wanted to prevent one. To do this, in their
opinion, if the Straits were to be defended then they would
have to Be seeit 10 be defended properly, by guns and men

" and not just the words of Lloyd George in London. Field
Marshal Lord Plumer had looked at the Chanak defences

~iid had decided o act. The end Royal Sussex and the 1st

~Gordon Highlanders were therefore warned on the 14th

September to embark for Chanak. The Royal Sussex arrived
on the 18th and the Gordons on the 20th September. The
Cabinet, however, only considered the question of moving
one battalion from Malta on September 15th. Similarly
the Cabinet, in late September, found itself wondering about
possible danger from Turkish guns still in place along both
sides of the Straits. They were relics from the Gallipoli

“campaign, but were they not still serviceable and therefore

dangerous? Actually the question by the time it was asked
was an academic one. Weeks before the Royal Navy had
landed at each battery and removed the breech mechanisms;
and the army had followed, blowing up all stores of ammu-
nition they could find.

These examples, and there were others, can be regarded
and explained simply as the Navy and the Army pursuing
their own tasks in their own way, but they did also bear
witness to a degree of independence of London not often
encountered in the twentieth century. Doubtless nowadays
a Cabinet Minister would have flown out to Chanak to see
for himself, Admittedly air travel in 1922 was neither so
certain nor as rapid as it is today, as the one man who did
fly out discovered. He was Major-General Anderson,
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appointed as Chief of Staff to Harington to ‘stiffen him
up’, in Nevile Henderson’s view. Anderson’s pilot was the
famous aviator Alan Cobham, but the plane broke down in
Austria, so that Anderson arrived too late to be of any use.
Still, Churchill during the 1939—45 war had a penchant for
finding out for himself by looking at battle-fronts. It seems
therefore somewhat strange that he didn’t at least make an
effort to do the same in 1922. Even a visit by the Prime
Minister himself would not have been out of the question.
The journey from London to Constantinople could be

accomplished in three days of comfort and safety on board

the Orient Express.

Whatever the reason, no Cabinet Minister from London
did make the trip, and so the men who made the ultimate
decisions relied upon reports and telegrams and summaries,
second-hand opinions and hearsay evidence. Maybe this
fact did not affect Lloyd George very much, for the simple
and regrettable reason that he did not pay much attention
to official opinions anyway, and seemed to come to some of
his decisions by a process akin to clairvoyance. Again, the
importance of the fact-finding tour by the politician can
be exaggerated. It is possible, for instance, for the distin-
guished visitor to see only what his hosts wish him to see.
Nevertheless a visit to Chanak in 1922 would have been of
value in one respect: that the government would then have

realised precisely what Harington was defending, and -

consequently why it seemed so frequently to be at cross
purposes with him. Throughout the Cabinet minutes there
occurs the phrase ‘the neutral zone’. Harington is ‘defending
“the neutral zone’; he will take action ‘if the neutral zone
is violated’; ‘the neutral zone must be respected by Turkish
troops’; ‘Kemal’s troops will be liable to attack if they
cross the neutral zone’, and so on. But Shuttleworth was
defending, militarily, only the Chanak area and Nagara
Point. The neutral zone presented a front of eighty miles, and
although, through Plumer’s prompt action, there were now
two more infantry battalions at Shuttleworth’s disposal,
defence of that line had always been out of the question.
In the neutral zone there were only mounted patrols of the
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grd Hussars and the Loyals, moving about on the lookout
for the advancing Turks.

As has been seen, however, the Cabinet was not much
addicted to studying maps, and the impression in London
was that the whole area of the neutral zone, roughly eighty
miles by twenty-five, would and could be held against

~~"Mustapha Kemal’s forces. The zone itself, which was a
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creation of the Allies and the Sultan’s government, was not,

“of cotifse, recognised by the Turkish leader. To Kemal
"and the National Assembly the line of demarcation was

¢
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! merely a line drawn across the map of their own country by

powers which they did not accept as having any authority to
do so. Furthermore the British, French and Italian com-
manders on the spot attached very little importance to the
line either. It followed no natural features, so that it had no
strategic or tactical significance. It had only been relevant
when a Greek army had been in Anatolia as marking very
roughly the administrative boundaries between the two sets
of occupying forces. The Greek wall of men having gone, as
a position to be held against the whole of the Turkish army
the neutral zone was referred to by senior British officers
as a ‘farce’ and a ‘bluff’. ” o
" There was no military reason why Mustapha Kemal should
recognise or respect it, and none of the Allied soldiers
expected that he would. Perhaps in London the politicians
thought that the presence of one British soldier carrying
“the~ Union ™ Jack ‘was enough to deter the Turkish army
» flushed with victory. In Anatolia there were no such illusions.
To Shuttleworth and his superiors, Marden and Harington,
it was obvious that the only deterrent to Kemal’s sweeping
on to the Straits and Constantinople was a strong military
posture on the Asian shore. The position at Chanak Haring-
ton estimated could be held for four to six weeks; perhaps for
longer if reinforced by infantry and artillery and backed up
by the fleet.

In order to attack it and possibly capture it Mustapha
Kemal would have to make a positive decision to wage war.
This, as Harington put it, ‘taking on the whole of the
British Empire’, he was convinced Kemal did not want
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to do. The Turkish army, despite its victories over the
Greeks, was not in the best of condition to accept another
and far more powerful adversary. The Turks had suffered
many casualties and lost many prisoners. Their equipment
was not of the best. They were short of artillery and ammu-
nition. They had few aeroplanes. The whole army was
in need of reorganisation. To say this was not to denigrate
the fighting qualities of the Turks. No man of Harington’s
generation, with Gallipoli but five years in the past, was
likely to underestimate the terrific powers of endurance of
‘Mehmedchik’, the Turkish private soldier. If there was an
incident, if shots were fired, the Turks would fight and fight
well. They were less well disciplined than the British; if they
were provoked and firing broke out then it was doubtful if
their officers would be capable of controlling them. Haring-
ton intended, however, that the Turks should Tot _be
provoked, either by the soldiers under his command or by

Jiaigfffds or impossible situations manufactured by politi-

_cians in Downing Street. A show of force, or the one soldier
with a Union Jack, the reliance upon prestige alone, might
well create a provocative situation and produce the very
result it was intended to prevent. The danger lay in hasty
actions, overbearing attitudes and inadequate means. The
safe course, in Harington’s view, was to attempt nothing
beyond one’s capabilities, but at the same time to give no
encouragement to those Turks, less level-headed than Kemal,
who might think that the Allies could be stampeded into the
sea in the wake of the Greeks.

On September 1gth Colonel Shuttleworth, on receiving
reports of the advance of large formations of Turkish
cavalry, began to withdraw his own cavalry and mounted
infantry patrols nearer to Chanak. He also prepared plans
for the employment of his small French detachment. On
September 20th the Gordon Highlanders arrived from Malta
but with orders that they.were not to disembark but were
to remain on board their transport in readiness. The French
detachment, some requisitioned Turkish country carts with
solid wooden wheels carrying their baggage and supplies,

“hioved off for OKkjiler to watch the road from Bayramic.
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A few hours after they had departed, Colonel Shuttleworth
received a telegram from General Harington informing him
that by order of their respective governments the French

; | and Italian troops were to be withdrawn entirely from

Anatolia, and were to proceed forthwith to Constantinople.
The telegram also contained a warning that in the circum-
stances Shuttleworth might expect a Turkish advance on
his position to follow upon the withdrawal. The French and
Ttalian flags were taken down and by 1 a.m. on the morning
of September 21st the Highlanders were disembarked and
taking their places in the trenches. The withdrawal of the
French and Italians had a simple but discouraging explan-
ation. Generals Charpy and Mombelli, the French and
Ttalian commanders in Constantinople, recalling Allied
co-operation to keep out the Greeks a few months previously,
had been perfectly willing to assist their British colleague
to repel the Turks. The detachments they had ordered to
Chanak had been small because they had been sent purely
on their own responsibility. However, when news of this
measure of participation, minimal though it was, reached
Paris and Rome, the two Prime Ministers had immediately
reversed the decision of their generals. If there was fighting
to be done, it would have to be done by British soldiers alone.
~"On the same day as the Frénch and Italian troops were
withdrawn and the flags were taken down, Lord Curzon in
Paris prepared himself for his first meeting with Raymond
Poincaré, the French Prime Minister. Curzon had been
joined the night before by Admiral of the Fleet Lord Beatty.
Originally the Cabinet had intended to send with the Foreign
Secretary Lord Birkenhead, the Lord Chancellor, as
co-negotiator. Then, perhaps because it was thought that
naval matters would inevitably arise, the Lord Chancellor
had been replaced by the First Sea Lord.

David Beatty, the holder of that office and therefore
thé professional head of the Navy, had been a rear-admiral
at the unprecedented age of thirty-eight, the youngest

| since Nelson, He had won the D.S.0. as a lieutenant in

~ command 6fa gunboat on the Nile during the campaign in
' the Sudan. It had been his first meeting with Churchill,
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at the time attached to the 21st Lancers. A brave, dashing
sailor, Beatty had owed much to Churchill since that date.” ¥
—2Ad Anglo-Irishman of modest means, his upward path had
been made at least more comfortable by his marriage
—t6the beautiful Ethel Tree, the divorced daughter of
~Marshall Field, the American retail-store millichiaire. Her
“wealth had provided him with many luxuries: hunting in
Leicestershire, grouse-shooting in Scotland, and a yacht, and
it had given him a certain independence with regard to what
he considered to be second-rate naval posts.

Curiously, the possession of a rich American wife was
an attribute which Beatty shared with both Lord Curzon and
~the Admiral’s civilian chief, Lord Lee, the First Lord of the
“Admiralty. Actually Lord Curzon had had two such: his
first wife, Miss Leiter, dying in 1906, he had married Mrs.
Duggan, a widow, in 1917. In Lord Lee’s case his wife’s
wealth undoubtedly buttressed uphis owii moderate abilities;
_his peerage had followed his gift of his house Chequers to
the nation as a cotintry residence for the Prime Minister
~ofthe day. Biit fiaifiage to a rich American was the only
shared characteristic between the humdrum First Lord of
the Admiralty and his First Sea Lord. Lee was modest in
attainments and demeanour. Beatty was neither. At Jutland
he had commanded the Battle-Cruiser Fleet in a dashing
manner which had unfairly eclipsed the more sober conduct
of Jellicoe, his superior, who commanded the Grand Fleet.
Soon he had replaced Jellicoe, and at the end of the war
had received an earldom and been promoted Admiral of
the Fleet. Now, in 1922, Beatty to the British public was a
hero. With his actor’s good 166ks it was not a role he declined.
“Neither the length of his hair nor the number of the buttons.
on his uniform jacket conformed to naval regulations. His
gold-braided peaked cap was worn jauntily at an angle.
As well as a hero Beatty was a character. So, of course, was
Tord Birkenhead, but hé was also a tough brilliant advocate
of immense skill and experience. Beatty, for all his prestige
at home, was merely a sailor. As the Anglo-French negoti-
ations were to turn out Lord Curzon would have been better

advised to have taken a good lawyer.
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‘Do you not think it terrible that I should be
treated in this manner?’
Lord Curzon

On the same day, September 16th, as Winston Churchill
gave the news of the Prime Mlmster s telegrams to the
press, he also handed out an official communiqué to the
British people.

As he himself admitted, it was ‘censured for being alarmist
* and provocative in tone and certainly it was ill received
in important quarters’. The communiqué was actually
drafted by Churchill at Lloyd George’s request and was
: approved by the principal members of the Cabinet, with the
i exception of Lord Curzon who, although out of London, was,
) presumably_ deliberately, not consulted. The language in
. which the British first heard of their nearness to war was
certainly not half-hearted. “The approach of the Kemalist”|
forces to Constantinople and the Dardanelles and the
demands put forward by the Ankara government . . . if
assented to, involve nothing less than the loss of the whole
results of the victory over Turkey in the last war.’

Nor was there any hint that perhaps other nations
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might not be as enthusiastic as the British to defend the
peace settlement. ‘The British government regard the
effective and permanent freedom of the Straits as a vital
necessity for the sake of which they are prepared to make
exertions. They have learnt with great satisfaction that in

this respect their views are shared by Fran¢é and Italy, the

~other two Great Powers principally concerned.” Churchill
went on to say that both the British and French High
Commissioners in Constantinople had been instructed to

inform Mustapha Kemal that ‘these neutral zones established .

under the flags of the three Gréat Powers must be respected’.
‘However, if diplomacy were fiot enough then force would
be necessary to prevent ‘a violent and hostile Turkish
aggression’.

The reader’s blood was then curdled by the thought
of the dire results which would follow if Kemal were
successful. ‘That the Allies should be driven out of Constan-
tinople by the forces of Mustapha Kemal would be an event
of the most disastrous character, producing, no_doubt, far-

reaching reactions throughout all Moslem countries, and "

ot only thirough-allt Moslem countries but through all the

“States defeated in the late war, who would be profoundly en-
couraged by the spectacle of the undreamed of successes that
have attended the efforts of the comparatively weak Turkish
forces.’

Precisely how, for example, Germans, Austrians, Hun-
garians and Bulgarians would be encouraged was not
stated, nor did the Secretary of State give any indication
of the sort of reaction to be expected from Moslem peoples
as divergent in their attitude to the Turks as the Persians,
the Arabs and the Indians, or even the Malays. But it"was
not only the whole Moslem world and Britain’s ex-enemies
that were likely to be affected: ‘The reappearance of the
victorious Turk on the European shore would provoke a
situation of the gravest character throughout the Balkans,
and very likely lead to bloodshed on a large scale in regions
already cruelly devastated.” Mustapha Kemal admittedly
had asked for Eastern Thrace up to the Maritza, but
doubtless this passage was intended to revive the old Liberal
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memories of massacres in the nineteenth century under the
Ottomans. Gladstone also had used the pqoratlve singular
and talked of ‘the Turk’.

“His Ma_]esty ] goi}ernmcnt was prepared to prevent this
‘great danger’, however ill-defined, but others were ‘deeply
and vitally affected’. ‘Romania was brought to her ruin in
the Great War by the strangulation of the Straits. The union
of Turkey and Bulgaria would be productive of deadly
consequences to Serbia in particular and to Yugoslavia
as a whole. The whole trade of the Danube flowing into the
Black Sea is likewise subject to strangulation if the Straits
are closed. The engagement of Greek interests in these
issues is also self-evident.’

_Quite who this was intended to persuade it is difficult
o decide. Churchill himself in Cabinét had wondered if
“the Bulgarians would help. There was no reason at all to
think that Kemal wanted to invade Bulgarlam
“"he had stated quite plainly his aims. A ‘union’ of Turkey and
Bulgaria was so much nonsense. Serbia, as part of the new
Yugoslavia, was in fact the province furthest from Turkey
and not the nearest as might have been imagined. There was
no suggestion nor indeed any reason why Kemal should want

~to close the Straits. As for ‘the engagement of Greek interests’,

it was precisely on ‘this issue that Churchill had Md
“Lioyd George’s pohcy, and if"'was becausé the Greeks had

”iﬁmd themselves in Turkey that they were now ruined

militarily and economically, striving to cope with an
invasion of starving, destitute refugees. Nevertheless ‘His
Majesty’s government are therefore addressing themselves
to all these Balkan Powers with a view to their taking a part’.

~"The Dominions were also to be invited to send contingents

‘in the defence of interests for which they have already
made enormous sacrifices and of soil which is hallowed by
immortal memories of the Anzacs’.

That Churchill was blamed, however unfairly, for the
ghastly failure of the Dardanelles by a number of surviving
members of the Australian and New Zealand Army Corps
and of the British army, hardly made the last reference the
most tactful, but the most serious objection to the passages
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about foreign and Dominion help was the implication that
such help would be granted. If, which is the most charitable
explanation, the whole thing was a gigantic bluff meant to
dissuade Mustapha Kemal, it failed for the very good reason
that he knew that the French, and the Italians, let alone
the Balkan countries, would not oppose him. On the other
hand, if Churchill’s communiqué was meant meérely for -
Home consumption in order to rouse up the watlike ardour
of his fellow countrymen, it failed equally signally.

Lord Curzon, when he returned from one of his country
seats, disapproved of both language and content and talked
of ‘a flamboyant tanifesto’. The British press was even
Tess impressed, and had an ‘easy’ public. The faith of the
man in the street in politicians and their promises had been
considerably shaken by the disillusionment of the immediate
post-war years. Lloyd George’s own glamour as a man
sprung from humble origins who had led his country to
Viétory had faded as he appeared more and more in indus-
~frial and economic matters to be in the pockets of the bosses.
“Traditionally indifferent to foreign affairs, the British

public had had little reason to pay a great deal of attention

to a war between Greeks and Turks. Within the recent
memory of every adult one war had arisen out of a squabble
in the Balkans. That another should arise again within four
years, in 1922, the first year of real peace, seemed intolerable,
especially as the causes appeared so unimportant. The

British, despite the late war, did not hate the Turks; they
“had mio particular feelings about the Greeks, who were now
" defeated anyway. That the Turks now wanted Turkey and

Constantinople did not seem, on the face of it, unreasonable.

Emphatically to the large mass of the people, who had not

been consulted, the freedom of the Straits did not appear

to be a ‘vital necessity’.

Much of this was realised by Lloyd George, who was
certainly not insensitive to public opinion. In early Septem-
ber he had given breakfast to Henry MOW

Downing Street. Morgenthau, the former U.S Ambassador

at Constantinople, was violently pro-Greek and had just
given an interview to the Daily Telegraph and contributed an
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*"article to the Sunday Times, in both of which he had said

p.

-

that the Allies ‘should keep Constantinople out of the hands
of the Turks’. The city would be under the protection of
the League of Nations and administered by Britain, France
and Italy ‘and possibly in due time, the United States
would join’.

Lloyd George knew that these suggestions were simply
not within the realms of possibility, but after he had quest-
joned Morgenthau closely on the Near East question, when
Morgenthau appealed for the use of ‘the armed might of
the British Empire’ so that ‘the Turk could be hurled back
into Asia’, the Prime Minister’s reply was very significant
indeed. ‘Mr. Morgenthau,’ said Lloyd George, ‘I simply
can’t do it. The Labour crowd and thé pacifists righit now are

""“frying fo make me demobilise the entire army, even trying

to make me withdraw the troops in Palestine. They would
not stand for a government spending a shilling on anything
that involved a military expedition for any purpose.’

Too much should not be made of a conversation to a
guest over a breakfast table although, typically, the in-
formation he extracted from Morgenthau Lloyd George
later related to the Cabinet without acknowledging its
source. (Churchill guessed from whom it came and confirmed
this with Morgenthau later.) The real point of Lloyd George’s
answer to Morgenthau lies in his acceptance of the ex-
Ambassador’s outdated arguments and his view of those
who disagreed. Yet it was not just ‘the Labour crowd’ and
‘the pacifists’ who were worried by _the imminence of war
fior_was it the sacrifice” of shillings that alone concerned
‘them. Liberals and Conservatives; as well as Labour support-
ers, all resented the thought of the possible sacrifice of
men’s lives for an object which seemed merely to be a
hangover from the peace treaties.

The tone of the British press both moulded and reflected
the feelings of its readers. On or about September 20th
every paper had a photograph of the waterfront at Chanak,
what the Daily Mail called a ‘little lonely shabby town’.

Leader writers, with little enthusiasm, endeavoured to
explain the importance of this hitherto unknown Turkish
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port in terms of British prestige. For a week or two previously
there had been constant stories of the sufferings of the
Greek army and the civilian refugees. Undoubtedly at this
stage there was considerable public sympathy for their
plight, and in consequence a reflected detestation of the
Turks who were immediately responsible. With the news that
Britain herself might be involved the pendulum began to
swing in the opposite direction. The condition of refugees
gave place to news of Greek cabinet changes. The new Prime
Minister was M. Kalageropoulos, who had led the delegation
to the London Conference. There were rumours ofimpending
revolution in Athens. Stories of Turkish massacres and
atrocities began to be played down, to be replaced by eye-
witness accounts of Greek atrocities perpetrated while their
army was in retreat. Hopefully, diplomatic correspondents
talked of Allied co-operation, and almdst imperceptibly the

~argument gréw that, in terms of moral blame, there was
Tittle to choose between Greeks and Turks.

“The movement of the Royal Sussex, the Gordon
Highlanders and some artillery batteries from Malta to
Chanak was announced, and the names of the ships of the
Royal Navy which were sailing east were published. The
reactions of individual newspapers of course varied. On
September 18th the Daily Mail, virulently against any
possibility of war in the Middle East, carried the broad
headline:

‘STOP THIS NEW WAR!

‘Cabinet Plan for Great Conflict With the Turks.
France and Italy against it. Extraordinary Appeal to the
Dominions.” The latter was more true than the leader
writer knew, for since the initial rebuff Lloyd George and
Churchill had tried again to persuade the Canadian govern-
ment to make some show of solidarity with Britain.

In his first reply Mackenzie King as well as pointing
out the necessity of summoning the Canadian Parliament,
had complained about the prior lack of consultation or even
information. On the 1gth September Lloyd George, seeming
not to appreciate these points, again asked for an assurance
of support. The reply, signed by Lord Byng, the Governor-
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General, was chilling in the extreme. ‘We have not thought

Empire.

On the 20th Churchill cabled that a special staff had
been organised at the Colonial Office to keep Canada in-
formed, and sent its first report in the hope that now at
least all Mackenzie King’s resistance would be overcome.
These last-minute concessions, however, had no effect. Even
if the Canadian Prime Minister’s susceptibilities had not
been offended by the manner in which he had first been in-
formed of the request, public opinion in Canada, English and
French, was firmly opposed to ‘European’. obligations. The
~Detminion had internal problems ofits own. The aftermath of
the Great War and the Allied intervention in Russia, where
Canadahad been the chief Empire contributor, had produced
an isolationist and independent mood, completely unsympa-
thetic to appeals for Imperial unity emanating from Downing
Street. After the Cabinet meeting at which the issue was dis-

. cussed, Mackenzie King entered in hisdiary, ‘all wereinclined
* to feel whole business “an election scheme” of Lloyd George

and Co.’

Churchill’s final appeal virtually went unanswered. On
September 18th the Daily Express headline was ‘Mobilising
the Empire’, and in a leader it was predicted that ‘if Kemal,
besotted with his cheaply won victories, should try to cross

the Straits he will rush on complete disaster’. On the same !

day The Times was more diplomatic, although there was
considerable sympathy with the French attitude of wanting
to avoid war. There was, however, no sympathy wasted on
the British government, about which subject two days before,
a leader writer had said, ‘British Ministers have made
mistake after mistake.’

No other newspaper was as outspoken as the Daily Mail,
which talked of the policy set out in Churchill’s communiqué
as ‘bordering upon insanity’, and the next day of Lloyd
George and Churchill beginning to ‘beat their war-drums’.
At the same time readers of that paper were enabled to
read a dcspatch which gave a slightly different impression,
for once again Ward Price, desP1te the fact that he was
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cordially disliked by every British soldier and official he met,
“had managed to get himself to“the sharp end’. According
to his despatch he had just ridden round Chanak defences
with Colonel Shuttleworth, and ‘found nothing but con-
fidence and eager anticipation on the faces of the Lanca-
shire lads’ (of the Loyal Regiment, recruited in North
Lancashire) ‘working in different parts of the line’.

In Ward Price’s opinion ‘this small force would prove
a very unpleasant obstacle for the Turkish army to run up
against’. Of course, no British paper, however much it
might be opposed to a war, was going to suggest in 1922 that
British soldiers were not a match for at least ten times their
number of any other nation, and Ward Price at the moment
when he wrote his despatch could still speak accurately of
‘the united Allies’.

There was general agreement in other newspapers that
Lord Curzon, on his way to Paris, was the man. The Times

backed him and did not rank him as ‘one of the Ministers |

whom they [the British people] distrust’. Lord Curzon,
said The Times, was persona grata in France. T
"The fifst néws that the Cabinet received-of the labours
of their colleagues came by telegram telephoned by Lord
Hardinge, the Ambassador in Paris, and was received in
London at 3.20 p.m. on September 20th.
Apparently the too clever Sforza, now the Italian Am-

bassador to France, was also present at the Quai d’Orsay - -

at Poincaré’s invitation and it was only with difficulty that
Curzon had managed to exclude him froni the talks for an
“hour or so in thet mormng to put the British View in private.

Poincaré had been in communication with General
Pellé, the French High Commissioner, who had been to

. Smyrna to see Kemal. The Turkish leader had talked of

being unable to hold back his armies until the territories
claimed in the National Pact had been occupied, and said
that he would be forced to take action before the winter.
The only doubt in Kemal’s mind seemed to be over what
the Allies would do about Constantinople.

Poincaré dismissed much of this as ‘blague’, but _said
that Kemal would only attend a conferencé if his claims to
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Eastern Thrace and Constantinople were accepted before-

. hand. In answer to Curzon’s request for assistance the

| French Prime Minister said that ‘it was both a moral and

\/ | physical imipossibility for France torésist the Turks if they
| advanced’, and that ‘French public opinion would not
admit of a shot being fired against a Turk’. In addition,
in his opinion, the Turks could not be kept back and “they
could cross to Europe when they pleased’.

“Curzon, needless to say, opposed this argument and
mentioned the interest of the Balkan states. Poincaré said
that the Serbian Prime Minister had told him categorically
that he ‘would not move and that the Turks could have
‘Eastern Thrace straight away. Lord Curzon fell back on

~Romania and the constantly recurring phrase that Britain
would not ‘sacrifice the entire results of the war’.

The afternoon session was reported by Lord Curzon
himself by telephone. He had returned to the attack.
Sforza had decided, surprisingly, to be ‘helpful rather than
otherwise’, so he was invited to hear Lord Beatty. When
asked if Britain were to bear the sole brunt of a Kemalist
attack, Poincaré ‘exhibited extreme irritation’ and repeated
that ‘Frénch public opinion would not tolerate the death of

* a single French soldier at the hands of a Turk or of a single
" Turk at the hands of a Frenchman’. Curzon asked Poincaré
if ‘he had measured the full meaning of this extraordinary
declaration’ and mentioned the Allied defence of the
Chataldja lines against the Greeks. This provoked ‘a rather
lively scene’. Lord Beatty was then brought in to show that
the Royal Navy could prevent the Turks from taking Chanak,
keep the Straits open and hold the Gallipoli peninsula, as well
as preventing an invasion of Thrace acrossthe Sea of Marmora
and holding Constantinople. As one of Harington’s staff
put it, Beatty at that time ‘was ready to blow anything and
everything sky high’. Poincaré, however, as Gurzon ruefully
admitted, ‘with commendable astuteness had mobilised the
French Admiral Grasset to counter all these propositions’,
which he did, in Curzon’s view, ‘with great amiability and
lack of success’.

The Foreign Secretary turned Grasset’s argument about
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the impossibility of holding the European shore in favour

of holding the Asiatic shore, and then moved on to his

proposals for a peace conference to include, as well as the

Great Powers, Greece, Turkey, Serbia and Romania,

making it clear, though, that there should be no advance
. agreement with Turkey.

On this latter condition both Poincaré and Sforza appear-
ed doubtful, and were certain that at least the Allies
should agree among themselves beforehand. Curzon said
he would have to consult his own government, but that
Poincaré must use his influence with Kemal, ‘which I knew
to be supreme’, to dissuade him from any act which ‘might
compel Great Britain to act alone’. The Foreign Secretary
ended by informing the Cabinet that ‘we may emerge from
this very difficult position with success’, and urged that
Britain should ‘desist from any action likely to provoke

This news from Paris was obviously heartening and
the Cabinet cabled its congratulations to Lord Curzon. On
September 21st Lord Hardinge telephoned from Paris,
acknowledging ‘the kind words of encouragement’ and stating
Curzon’s proposed terms for the conference, so that they
could be approved by the Cabinet. The Foreign Secretary’s
suggestion was that Constantinople, as promiiséd, should be
‘returned to the Turks, but only after a new Peace Treaty
had been signed. So far as Thrace and the shore of the

osphorus were concerned, he thought that both might be
demilitarised under the aegis of the League of Nations and
that similar conditions could apply to the Dardanelles.
To enforce these conditions upon the French and Italians he
intended to use the argument that in the event of disagreement
the British would act alone to defend Chanak and Gallipoli,
perhaps with the help of the Serbians and Romanians. The
Greeks he felt were completely demqralisecii_gr_l_f_;l__gnggld 1 not be
“Telied wpon. He placed particular importance upon the con-
—cept of League of Nations control as he thought that member-
ship of that body could be held out to the Turks as an
inducement to agreement and as a sop _to their pride.
His first essential move would be to obtain the agreement
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of the French so that they would use their influence with
Mustapha Kemal to make him see reason. Curzon was

Teasonably confident that he could so persuade the Frenich,
Raving, as he feli, shown them the moral we akness of their
position in ‘desertifig the allies from admittéd motives of
Year’. Needless to say thé Cabinet approved of Curzon’s

“actions and proposals and awaited the results of his labours.

On the afternoon of September 22nd Curzon again met
Poincaré, and in the evening sent a long telegram to the
Cabinet from the British Embassy. It was received in
London on the morning of September 23rd. The news was
not good. ‘Have just returned from meeting of quite un-
precedented description,” he began. As soon as the Foreign
Secretary had announced his proposals Poincaré had
emphasised that the military situation was very dangerous

— R e L e o Y e momemqunnrse
—and therefore the only chance of peace was an overture to

Kemal promising him Thrace and Adrianople ‘without any
reserve or qualification’. Curzon demurred, denying Poin-

L car&s pessimistic view of the military balance and saying

that if Harington were forced to evacuate Chanak it would
only be because the French and Italians had abandoned
him. The word infuriated Poincaré for, in Curzon’s words,
‘he then commenced a second speech by a bitter attack on
Harington whom he accused of having deliberately mis-
represented to his colleagues the attitude of the French and
Italian governments. I instantly and indignantly repudiated
this charge; whereupon Poincaré lost all command of his
temper and for 4 quartér of an hour shouted and raved at

*” the top of his voice, putting words into my mouth which'I
" had never uttered, refusing to permit the slightest interrup-

i tion or correction, saying that he would make public the
insult to France, quoting a telegram from Athens to the

j{ effect that the British Minister had asked the Greek govern-
|

ment to furnish 60,000 men for the defence of Thrace and

! the Straits, and behaving like a demented schoolmaster
¢ screaming at a guilty schoolboy. I have never seen so

deplorable or undignified a scene. After enduring this for
some time I could stand it no longer and rising, broke up
the sitting and left the room.’
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_\; Outside the conference room the Marquess Curzon of
'~ Kedleston, His Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for
Foreign Affairs, burst into tears. It was there that an amazed
3 ~—@ount Sforza found him, with tears in his eyes, reviving
o  himself with sips of brandy from a pocket flask. ‘Do you
not think it terrible that I should be treated in this manner?—
“Never in my life before have T had to endute stié}i"S'pEEé}iés,’?

w

e said. Sforza said sympathetically that he hiad T his timé

suffered similarly, while thinking that Curzon’s ‘soul was
still that of an Oxford student who weeps because he has

16t won a . prize, .~
ventually Poincaré came out and apologised, saying
that he had been exasperated by the charge that France had
abandoned an ally. Curzon withdrew the expression for the
sake of politeness, while knowing ‘its incontestable truth’.
Half an hour after leaving the conference room Curzon
was, with Sforza’s help, persuaded back though still indig-
nant with Poincaré. As he bothered to put it in his telegram
to his Cabinet colleagues, ‘I should not have thought
it possible for anyone in such a position, the chairman and
host of the proceedings, to make such a display, and it
needed more than ordinary self-restraint not to terminate
the conference abruptly and announce my intention to
return to England.’
£~ So Curzon returned to the conference table and continued
his arguments but he had lost the French and with them the
Ttalians. Perhaps a stronger man than the Foreign Secretary,
“or perhaps merely a different man, by pursuing a ‘hard’
line could have persuaded the allies to co-operate. Perhaps
not. Poincaré was no more enamoured than Mackenzie ,
King of the assumption i1 Churchill’s commuiiiqué that,
—_—2 e e P i e g . o T
unconsulted, he would spring to the side of Britain. For
anyone, even without Curzon’s defects as a negotiator, the
cards were stacked against the British. Poincaré had ascer-
“Tained that the Serbians and the Romanians were prepared
to do nothing. He himself was ready to accede to all Musta-
pha Kemal’s demands, tomorrow if necessary, beginning -
¥ | with the grant of Eastern Thrace. ‘Absolute surrender’, was
how Curzon saw it. If the British would not agree, Poincaré

235




suggested, then each nation should send separate Notes to
Ankara. Perhaps the British could indicate privately to
Kemal that though they were holding back at the moment,
they would, of course, agree with him at the conference.
Curzon rightly resented this and then proposed a new
formula of his own which he had devised while in Paris.

He was prepared to allow General Harington to meet
Kemal at some convenient place in Turkey, so as not to
involve him in any loss of face, and there the two generals
could devise lines behind which the Turkish and Greek
armies could retire, pending a final settlement by inter-
national conference. Curzon suggested Mudania, on the
Sea of Marmora, as a convenient meeting place.

Poincaré was unenthusiastic, seeing no point in further
negotiations. Curzon, on the other hand, as he confided to
his Cabinet colleagues, saw every point in gaining time.
Realising that he could no longer expect any help from the
French, Italians, Serbs or Romanians, he was determined
that Britain, 1f alone should negotlate with the Iurks from

~His new proposal and, as he hoped, communicated it to
Kemal, the strengthening of the Chanak defences could
continue. The ex-Vlceroy was much concerned with British
prestige, espec1ally in the Moslem world, and though he did
~ 1ot want war was détermiried that Britain should not be
pushed ignominiously out of Asia by the Turks. For although
Curzon might break down when shouted at, he did return to

“the fray; and was prepared to devote all his vast powers of
application and industry to a cause he believed in with the
intensity of a mystic, the British Empire.

Sforza now decided to intervene, arguing the same case
as the French. Would not the British say that Kemal could
definitely have Eastern Thrace up to the line of the River

i Maritza? This, Curzon feared, might well lead to a violent
. explosion by the Greek army and the Greek populatlon

against the Turks already there. Kemal would then insist
that he had to go to the aid of his fellow countrymen and the
Graeco-Turkish War would break out anew. Curzon felt
he could not possibly make any more concessions, and there
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rested his case. Finally, in his telegram, he asked for the
approval of his colleagues for the position he had taken up.
There was hardly anything else the Cabinet could do but
approve, and hope that Lord Curzon would make the best of
a bad job.

Poincaré, in his arguments with Curzon, had made much
use of the state of French public opinion, which was opposed

to waf with the Turks. In Fact théré was very little to
show that on the othér side of the Channel the prospect
roused any more enthusiasm. The Coalition government had
not increased its popularity as the year had worn on. At home
the unemployment figures still stood at nearly a million
and a half. The sober Annual Register, which had described
“British commerce and finance for 100 years’, could only say
~of Tg22 that if was ‘a little less_ depressing’. The trade
uniéns resented imposed cuts in wages and employers could
offer little, or persuaded themselves that they could offer
little, in a stagnant economy. In the depressed area of
Ebbw Vale, in September, steelworks and collieries employ-
ing 10,000 workers simply closed down, owing to constant
labour disputes. Although wages were kept down the cost
of living was still increasing, being now 8o per cent above
the pre-war level. Abroad, the troubles in Ireland continued,
with political murders in both North and South. The
British were now only marginally responsible, but there
were still moments when it was thought that perhaps in the
classic cause of ‘law and order’ Imperial control might
“have to be reassérted. Unrest continued in India. The
Prime Minister’s stock had fallen still further. His reputation
as a European diplomatist had suffered considerably when
the international conference in April at Genoa had been
wrecked, to his own obvious disappointment and surprise,
by the disturbing Rapallo Agreement between the two_
v (outcamﬁﬁf'ﬂfﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁe new German Republic.
v \"Personally, too, his itage was becoring tarnished. A debate”
in the Commons on the ‘Honours Scandal’ had left an im-
pression behind of a Prime Minister who in the recommend-
ing of peerages and knighthoods was, to say the least, both
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generous and indiscriminating.! More than dark hints were
"~ batidied about concerning the fate of certain party funds.

In this atmosphere the looming crisis over the Straits
seemed to many merely the crowning example of incom-
petence or worse. Warlike measures and utterances looked
suspiciously like the efforts of desperate men forced to dxstract
" public attention from ‘Conditions at home by drummlng up
“enthusiasm  for patr1ot1c adventures abroad.” Of course
policies likely to lead to wat are rarely popular. Lloyd George
had talked to Morgenthau of ‘the Labour crowd’ and ‘the
pacifists’. In this category he could place, for instance, a
meeting held at the Kingsway Hall while Curzon was in
Paris. The organisers were the Independent Labour Party

and the speakers were Ramsay MacDonald, the Labour
leaaef, Geox:ge Lansbury, and " theé’ thlrty-four year-old

. Into his stride as a hfelong_opponent of 'violence. Again; the

\Lf/l/g J”\/"

| Tall to prayer by the leaders of thé Free Churches and a few
days later by the Archbishops of Canterbury and York,
could be regarded as a conventional and expected reaction,
and not necessarily an adverse comment on the policies of
His Majesty’s Ministers, who were also prayed for regularly
on Sundays—at least in the Church of England.

Of more immediate concern was the mounting tide of
press criticism. The Daily Mail demanded the recall of
Parliament and miisquoted the classic phrase, comed durmg
the Crimean War, about ‘drifting’ towards war. The head-
TiHéT)TSeptember 215t said Bluntly: *Get out of Chanak.’ THe
“news that the Mayor of Bradford was ifitending to call a
town meeting to protest against war with Turkey inspired
the Mail to appeal to all other towns to do likewise. The Times
founded a great deal of its arguments on a letter from Sir
Edward Grey, now Lord Grey of Fallodon, the former

1 Three related matters gave cause for concern. In six years Lloyd
George had created ninety-one new peers and in four years distributed
forty-nine honours to the press. Titles were also alleged to be purchase-
able by donation to political funds; for instance kaighthoods at 412,000
“““ and” baronetcies at £40,000.” There was a Lloyd George Fund in
addition to the official fund of the Conservative Party. Conservatives
feared that these had become mingled to the disadvantage of the latter.
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Foreign Secretary, who said that the government had made
" “a terrible mistake’ in releasing the Churchill communiqué
~tothe public beforethere had been any official consultation
with the French government. The leader of September 22nd,
while wondering if Kemal would accept a conference

(General Pellé had found him il “‘an GAicompromising mood’),
also said That even now Dowiing Street did Not §€&ifi 16~

have realised its errors and was still contemplating unilateral
action.

The only crumb of comfort that Lloyd George could
extract from the newspapers came from the Daily Express
which, on the 20th, although modestly it ‘did not pretend
to fathom the mysteries which at present obscure inter-
Allied politics’, did insist on the freedom of the Straits
because ‘without the freedom of the Straits neither the
British Empire nor European civilisation can exist’. So

said the leader on September 20th. On the 21st the front
age announced that as there were only British ‘troops at _

Chanak and no Greeks, there was therefore no validity in

emal’s claim to have a right there. This argument was
somewhatnaive, but the headline read: ‘Danger of War Past’,
and the leader was headed: ‘United. The Allies find a way
to peace.” Unfortunately, therefore, the one newspaper which
gave some grudging support to Lloyd George was wrong
in all three particulars.

There were other ordeals for the Prime Minister apart
from bombardment by press headlines. At eleven o’clock
in the morning of September 21st he received a deputation
of thirty members of the General Council of the Trades
Union Congress. J. B. Williams, the Chairman of the T.U.G.,
headed them, but his task was merely to introduce his
members. They included four Labour M.P.s, and the three
spokesmen were J. H. Thomas, now an M.P., Ben Tillett,
and Margaret Bondfield, who seven years later as Minister
of Labour was to become the first woman to be a member
of the Cabinet and a Privy Counsellor.

None of the speakers was brief. Tillett said that he was,
among other things, ‘cognisant of The vested interests and

the cross purposes of the vested interests’, whatever that
ST 239

[



meant, and that he realised both the gravity of the position
and the Prime Minister’s responsibility. More precisely,
he stated that trade-union opinion, working-class opinion,
“*was absolutely antagonistic to the war’. The trades unions
“had no quarrel with the Turks or the Greeks, and though
they were mindful of the connection with Moslem Indla, we
should be opposed to war and would organise opposmon
—against any form of war’. Margaret Bondfield thought, as
“inight be expected, that women felt more strongly about
the matter than men. Certainly she did not disguise her own
feelings. The Cabinet call to the Empire had 1mpressed her
.. with by horror for she had dlscovered the perpetuatlon of the
Gﬁﬂipoh ) she said that ‘a new war would be the beatlng
" of the dead, because they\dﬁfto prévent any moré war’.
IIiFTh/omas, in"a lTong rambling speech (he was the
only delégate who was interrupted by Lloyd George), re-
ferred to the Prime Minister’s own professed desire for peace,
and in particular to a recent speech at a conference of Non-
conformist Churchmen. He said that however united the
Cabinet might be, and however determined the Prime
“Minister, the Labour movement “would,ifi the event of a
War, ‘use all’ its“influence to persuade our people not to
support the war "Later on he put it d1rectly to I,loyd
buted towards this difficulty the chief has been your own
attitude. . . .> The Prime Minister refused to be drawn,
and when replying seized upon the fact that both Tillett
and Thomas had talked of the freedom of the Straits and
their belief in the worth of the League of Nations. He
himself was solely concerned with the freedom of the Straits,
but what if Kemal could not be trusted and the League
could not exercise control?

He then treated his audience to a resumé of recent
history, not omitting ‘the torch of war, pillage, outrage and
murder’ which might be carried from Asia to Europe. In
passing Lloyd George dealt with the Greeks, for one of the
delegates had suggested that the fhmhad paid them.

—Notaralt,"We Tiévér paid §ixpence to e to the Greeks; we never
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_;g'ea;\itfllm/mgm@rt eithegin.monﬁygr.iaﬁr‘rr{s.’ They had tried
cently to negotiate a loan in the City but without govern-

ment aid had failed. ‘When the Greeks went to Smyrna we
said, “You go there at your own expense; we cannot support
you; you take the responsibility,” just as the Italians at
that moment had gone to Adalia, the French to Cilicia,
the Americans were hopeful that they might get a mandate
for Armenia—the Greeks went to Smyrna.” Having thus
disposed of his old ally Lloyd George returned to all the
well-worn arguments about the damage inflicted by Turkish
control of the Straits in the Great War. The Labour party
had declared at its conference in 1918 for freedom of the
Straits under thé League. That was precisely his own

——,

policy. “The Turkish National Pact, however, suggested
Turkish control. The Greeks had been prevented at Chatal-
dja from occupying Constantinople; now it was the turn
of the Turks. It really sounded quite fair and reasonable.
So persuasive was Lloyd George that J. H. Thomas,
when the delegates were on the point of leaving, said he
‘had clearly indicated what brothers we are in this matter’.
Thomas also endeavoured to mention the means for executing
what he called ‘their joint policy’, but at this point Lloyd
George thought it politic to disengage, and bidding the
delegates farewell, to settle on the terms of a mutually agreed
notice to the press. There can be no doubt of Lloyd George’s
skill; in so far as it was possible with political opponents he

had scored @ victory.

7

~—TForthe moment the official leaders of the T.U.C. would

remain quiet, as would Labour M.P.s in the House of
Commons, the Prime Minister having seen their leaders in
private and given them the same assurances. Yet in the
harsh terms of practical politics Lloyd George had not
increased his support in the country; he had only gained
acquiescence that was both temporary and conditional. If
he thought that those who were opposed to him politically
could in some way be brought round to the service of a prime
minister above party politics, he was deluding himself.

On September 23rd the note signed by Poincaré, Sforza
and Curzon was despatched to Ankara. It was the best that

——— i
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Curzon had been able to manage after hours of argument.
The Turks were invited to send a representative without
delay to a meeting to be held at Venice or elsewhere to
negotiate a final treaty of peace between Turkey, Greece
and the Allies. The other nations invited were Japan,
Romania, and Yugoslavia. The Allies ‘viewed with favour’
the desire of Turkey to recover Thrace as. far as the Maritza

mt the Brov1s1ona1 1 neutrality’ of the area

“was meanwhile proclalmed i.e. no Turkish troops were to be
sent “there untll the conclusion of the peace treaty. Slmllarly
“the Turks could have Constantm,ETe ‘after the peace had

‘béen signed. With regard to the Straits “he document was
somewhat vaguer. The Greeks should retire to a line fixed
by the Allied generals in agreement with both Turks and

reeks. In return the Turks must undertake not to send
“troops into the neutral zone nor to cross the Straits or the
Sea of Marmora. It was suggested that Allied generals might
meet Mustapha Kemal at Mudania or Ismid. The Allies
concluded by saying that they were convinced ‘that ‘their

i appeal will be listened to’. Their grounds for saying that

—were very flimsy indeed. They offered to support the

admission of Turkey into the League of Nations, but they
did not state what they would do if Kemal did not agree to

theéir proposals There was, of course, a very good reason for

~the omission: France wnd Ttaly were not prepared to do

“anything. Curzon had worked hard to produce a piece of
paper, but it was still only a piece of paper and Kemal knew
that before it was delivered.

In London, Winston Churchill, presiding over a trium-

v1rate con51st1ng “of Beatty, Cavan, and Trenchard, continued

SN SO

cavalry in force crossed the boundary of the neutral zone
at Chanak.
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“We are living on a sort of volcano’
Licutenant-General Sir Charles Harington

The first Turkish forces to penetrate into the neutral
zone consisted of a cavalry detachment of about 200 men.
At 10 a.m. they were met by a patrol of the grd Hussars .
under Lieutenant Naylor at Saracheli. The Turks appeared.
uite friendly and perhaps as an earnest of their pacific
/ /| “intentions had their rifles slung over their shoulders, muzzles
/ "downwards. Again, like the cavalry observed by the fleet
at Smyrna, they were not smart as a British cavalry regiment
was smart; but then, as one officer remarked, ‘It takes the
British a long time to realise that you can be an efficient
Soldier without being clean’. So the Turks” scrubby little
horses were not well groomed, many had staring coats,
their saddles and bridles were not polished to a high gloss
and their stirrup irons.were rusty, but the riders were
obviously tough, fighting soldiers. T
Lieutenant Naylor, with his own thirty troopers behind
/) him, asked the Turkish commander to withdraw. The Turk

refused. Naylor then said that he must halt while both
243
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‘of them referred the situation to their superiors. Again

' the Turkish officer, still in a quite friendly manner, refused.
i He did not recognise the neutral zone; he had seen no

t British flags; he could not withdraw without orders although

he did not want to fight the British. At this point a much

1

" ¢ larger body of Turkish horsemen appeared, swelling the

' total number to over a thousand, so to avoid having his

j own tiny force completely surrounded Naylor withdrew to

Erenkeui, and from there signalled Colonel Shuttleworth
at Chanak. The defences were immediately manned and
Rear-Admiral Kelly, in command of the 4th Battle Squadron,
was informed. That done, Shuttleworth was still in a con-
siderable dilemma. In his own words: “The situation was
quite unanticipated. Peaceful penetration by armed men |

i who did not wish to fight, and yet refused either to withdraw .-
. ‘i or to halt, had not been foreseen. . .. ’

2

~  The Admiral was prepared to bombard towns within
range of his guns when occupied by an advancing enemy,
but these Turkish cavalrymen hardly cameinto that category.
Shuttleworth decided to use again the friendly services of
the Mutessarif, who appeared to be ‘genuinely distressed’ at
the situation. At Shuttleworth’s request he telephoned his
compatriots at Saracheli and informed the Turkish com-

“mander that he must leave Erenkeui by 0600 hours the next
morning or the British would be compelled to take action,
and the responsibility for any bloodshed would therefore rest
with him.

Between themselves Admiral Kelly and Colonel Shuttle-
worth agreed that the bombardment should not in fact
commence until 1100 hours, partly so that the Turks
should be given ample time to comply, but also so that Har-
ington at Constantinople could be informed. Meanwhile
Shuttleworth wrote a personal letter to the Turkish com-
mander to be delivered by one of the gendarmerie, the grd
Hussars were ordered not to fire unless actually fired upon,
and the road and bridge north of Erenkeui were défmiolishied

by explosives. The Mutessarif asked to write a letter in
. Turkish to the Turkish commander impressing upon him the
" seriousness of the situation, and this was agreed and sent
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off with Shuttleworth’s, Throughout the night the Chanak
defence force stood to, expecting a possible attack. On the
warships the gun crews prepared to open fire the next
morning.

The morning of the 24th brought a rush of telegrams.
During the night there had been a rumour through the
Mutessarif that the Turks had left Erenkeui at 0430 hours
that morning. Whether the rumour was true would have to
be confirmed by reconnaissance, but a message from Haring-
ton informed Shuttleworth that althoqghu_t}wlg_“';['uruﬁwsmﬁggg

Tiot to be aIlQV\{qQ"cqappggach Qhé{ﬁék in force é}@:&qg}g not

1o _be engaged unnecessarily. This message, however, was
only in answer to Shuttleworth’s first news of a Turkish
advance. It was closely followed by Harington’s answer to
the report on the situation during the night. The General
warmly approved of the decision not to open fire and said
that as he had now received news of a possible conference

to be arranged between the Allies and Kemal, everything

must be done to avoid unnecessary engagement. If, however,
st e Come t0 Ay s e s . .

Shuttleworth was compelled t0 open fire then his action
would be supported by the Commander-in-Chief. During the
morning it was discovered that although the Turks had
moved out of Erenkeui during the night, they had since
returned and were constructing machine-gun emplacements.

Shuttleworth had received no answer to his messages
sent to the Turks so that Harington’s second orders had
only arrived in the nick of time. Harington admitted later
that he had gone to bed the previous night fully expecting
that by morning hostilities would have broken out. Thus
for the first time at Chanak British and Turks had been on
the knife edge of war. It was not to be the last.

The situation for Harington was as difficult as can
be imagined. He himself was as determined as a man could
be in his position that a wai shiould not ‘break out. Never-
theless as a soldier he had a duty to obey orders from
London, and also a duty to his own men, whom he could
not allow to be overrun by the Turks. At the back of his

JR

mind he was convinced that Mustapha Kemal did not want
war with Britain, but obviously, from remarks made later
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in his own autobiography, he must have had some reser-
vations about the attitude of the British government.

The gap in his information was, despite his private
belief, the true intention of the Turkish leader. Even with
the advantage of hindsight it is difficult to come to a definite
conclusion. Undoubtedly around Kemal there were close
associates who wanted to go on to Constantinople and the
Straits, into Eastern Thrace and perhaps further, possibly
to retake Salonika and Macedonia. The defeat of the Greeks,
regarded as the tools of Lloyd George, had inspired some
of the generals to think in terms of even more sweeping
victories. Kemal himself was determined to keep his demands
within thé bounds of tl}_e_cwl_yitlor_@_l,Pact ‘He had
“sufficient detachment to see his countrymen through the eyes
of others. He knew the feeling of many Europeans about them
and could visualise how an armed return to former subject
territories would rouse again the only half-dead hatred
in the Balkans and among the Great Powers for ‘the abomin-
able Turk’. At present the Great Powers weré_divided,

| but'if his’ demands became unreasonable, if there was a hint

}”f/@:he intended to Tevive the Ottoman Emp1re, then

{ France, Italy and the Balkan nations might well swing round

1 to support the British. In a sense, if he attacked the British,

as well as risking defeat he would be proving Lloyd George

right. If his troops moved into Europe he would be inviting
a crusade against them.

_ Lord Kinross, Kemal’s biographer, portrays him as

\ essentlally a man with a “clear head, and the ability to

J 7 i T assess s Tealities of the great military commander. One

i cannot arguié with the assessment, yet it seems strange that

if he was determined not to have war with the British he

should have pressed the matter so close at Chanak. Kemal,

of course, was a bold man; he may have thought that the

British would not back up their threats. He had observed

the conduct of Lloyd George towards the Greeks and con-

sequently regarded him as a man of many words and little

faith. Nevertheless he must have known that the risks were

enormous. A scuffle between two private soldiers outside

Chanak; some shots exchanged; a couple of hot-headed
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or panicky subalterns on either side, or one of each, and the
war could have started. Kemal had some estimate of
(Iéliri/nggg as a man who wanted to avoid a war, but the

ommander-in-Chief, although in constant touch, was not -

at Chanak. Neither for that matter was Kemal. Both had
to_rely on subordinate officers. British junior officers at
Chanak had to remind their men perpetually not to be
provoked into firing at the Turks. Perhaps the Turks did
likewise, but the Turkish army, which contained many
irregular formations, was nothing like so well disciplined as
the British. So far as international opinion was concerned, as
the Turkish army, flushed with its recent victories, was
‘attacking’ and the British ‘defending’, though by means
short of gunfire, few people, even in Paris or Rome, would
have believed, in the event of an incident, that the British
had fired the first shot.

It was therefore a dangerous game, and one in which
Kemal had to rely on his own estimate of his opponent’s
reactions. Some he guessed correctly, but hidden from him
was the degree of resolution of the British government. On
that it is likely that Kemal, for once in his life, guessed

wrongly. He was aware, of course, of the disunity between -

ress, of the public lick of enthusiasm in Britain for war.

Tt also seemed likely that Harington, as Allied Commander-

in-Chief, would try to prevent an outbreak of hostilities. ~
The crux of the matter was whether this was possible, for .

ultimately Harington, like Rumbold and Brock, took his
orders from London.
It was there that the real danger existed. Churchill

had said ‘the Allies might bolt’. Plainly they had. “The -

press might howl.” It did, every day. “The nation might not
support us.” Parliament had not been recalled and neither
it nor the electorate had been consulted. Churchill had
listed his ‘group of resohite men’, including Balfour, Austen
Chamberlain, Birkenhead and Worthington-Evans, but by
the middle of September the group really consisted of himself
and the Prime Minister. They ‘intended to force the Turk
to a negotiated peace before he should set foot in Europe’.
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Mustapha Kemal, underestimating his opponents, delib-
erately delayed replying to the Allied riote. THE delay in
—fact gave him no advantage, for warlike preparations went
on apace in London during the time-lag. Always impatient
of detail of any kind and especially of military detail, Lloyd
George, bored by timetables, shipping schedules, gun
weights and calibres, equipment and arms, handed over the
preparations to Churchill. It was a task that the Secretary
of State for the Colonies enjoyed. As First Lord of the
Admiralty in 1914 he had delighted, with far more than
civilian zest, in controlling the Royal Navy. Now he headed
the so-called Committee of Ministers which had charge of
a possible war with Turkey. More often than not the only
Minister present was Churchill himself. The other members
of the Committee were the professional heads of the three
Services, Beatty, Cavan and Trenchard. T
~The function of these thre¢, the Admiral, the General
and the Air Chief Marshal, like the Foreign Office_and
Colonial officials who also attended, was to advise on
policy, not to initiate it. Inevitably these functions merged
“at some points. Senior Service officers have opinions, and
their opinions influence their judgment and the advice
they offer to their political masters. It is interesting therefore
to examine the attitudes taken by the three officers concerned
with the central direction of the war planning at this time.
Something of Beatty’s career and character has been
described already. Arrogant, bold and forceful, he was
convinced that the Royal Navy could hold the Straits.
~Admiral Brock, on the spot, was doubtful, and ‘was not pre-
pared to guarantee that the navy afloat could defeat the
Turkish army on land. But for Beatty to have thought that
the Navy, a service which had produced Nelson and himself,
could in any war be worsted, would have been to question
the faith of a lifetime. He was, however, prepared in the
Committee to support the viewpoint of another service, the
R.A.F., represented by Trenchard. Hugh Trenchard, like
. ‘Beatty, had owed some part of his preferment to Churchill’s
| help. Beginning life in the Scots Fusiliers, he had been a
< | somewhat unusual soldier. Poor by reason of his father’s
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bankruptcy, he had withdrawn into himself and gained the
nickname of ‘the Camel’ for his aloofness. In the long, hot
Indian afternoons, like Churchill before him, he had read
seriously while others slept. Severely wounded in the South
African War he had gone to Switzerland a hopeless invalide,
with one lung shot through and his body paralysed from
the hips down. In that condition, in a sort of desperation,
he had launched himself down the Cresta Run. Thrown
from the toboggan, almost miraculously the violent fall
had performed the task of a modern osteopath, and Tren-
chard had resumed his career.

At the age of thirty-nine he learnt to fly an aeroplane, not
in fact very well; but from then onwards his progress was
that of the embryo Royal Flying Corps, later to become the
Royal Air Force. If one man can be said to have formed and
preserved that service as a separate and powerful entity
against military and naval prejudice and political indiffer-
ence, then that one man was Hugh Trenchard. Consequently,
but for entirely different reasons, Trenchard was as obsessed
with his own service as was Beatty. The Admiral’s obsession
| lay rooted in the past, in 100 years of naval supremacy;
the Air Marshal’s looked towards the future.

Sandwiched between these two powerful characters,
Beatty and Trenchard (the latter had with eminence
acquired a new nickname, ‘Boom’), was ‘Fatty’ Gavan, the

P]-(q,./rc M'o”'(.,

Chief of the Imperial General Staff. He wasiot, of Course,
“Tat; but lean”. Vansittart described him as ‘a spare little man
Who looked as if it would pain him to pain anybody’. He was
a very conventional soldier indeed. The son of an Irish
peer, from Eton he had gone to Sandhurst ‘and had. then
been commissioned in the Grenadier Guards. In the late war
Tie had séived in Frarice and then in command of a corps in
Italy. Finally, in complete command of all British forces
there, he had been instrumental in turning the series of

11t was the age of nicknames. Plumer was ‘Plum’, Harington was
“Tim’, Worthington-Evans was ‘Horace’, Asquith was ‘Squiffy’,
Birkenhead was ‘F.E.’, and had been ‘Galloper’. Lloyd George had
several. Only Curzon escaped. The Foreign Office simply called him
‘the Marquess’.
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disastrous defeats of the Italians by the Austrians into an
Allied victory. With neither the flamboyance of Beatty
nor the single-mindedness of Trenchard, Cavan was never-
theless an able soldier, and his task was to persuade the
government that the primary need at Chanak was for soldiers.
On the ground there the Turks outnumbered the British
to an almost ludicrous extent. In addition in Constantinople,
as Harington telegraphed, ‘many undesirable elements have
drifted into the town and it is known that some 20,000
Turks and probably an equal number of Greeks are armed’.
The Commander-in-Chief said that ‘we are living on a sort
oFvoléano’. Furthermore, Harington did not share Beatty’s
" Confiderice that Constantinople could be defended entirely
by the Navy. So concerned was he that on September 22nd
he arranged for the evacuation of the wives and families
of British troops, and laid plans for the embarkation of
the British civilian residents at very short notice.

There were still only three battalions of infantry, Loyals,
Gordons and Royal Sussex, at Chanak, and in Constanti-
nople three more. One of these, the Irish Guards, had been
sent out post-haste to repel the Greeks when they had
threateried the city. It was commanded by Harold Alexander,
at thirty-one the youngest colonel in the British army.
A man who had emerged from the Great War with three
wounds, five mentions in despatches, the D.5.0., the M.C.,
the Legion of Honour and the Russian Order of St. Anne,
twenty-two years later he was to be a field marshal and the
Commander of the Allied Armies in Italy. Apart from the

- military distinction of their commanding officer, the Irish
Guards had one other advantage. They were up to full
strength, an advantage not shared by the other two infantry
battalions, which were very weak indeed.

This shortage of men was Cavan’s problem. Lloyd
George and Churchill, and of course Beatty and Trenchard,
all favoured ships and aeroplanes as a substitute. Naturally
they were important, and in both respects the British had a
decided advantage over the Turks. Nevertheless, naval guns

| and aeroplanes could not cancel out the Turks’ overwhelm-

" ing superiority in manpower. It was Cavan’s task to try to
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adjust this inbalance. Eventually he had some success but
the disparity remained, and his achievement was attended
by difficulties and disagreements with his naval and air force
colleagues. Some more battalions were moved to Chanak.
The 2nd Highland Light Infantry, recruited in the Glasgow
stums and known to the rest of the army from their initials
H.L.I. as Hell’s Last Issue, was in Cairo on the 22nd Sep-
tember. They were preparing for their annual parade, on
which they trooped the Assaye Colour, which they carried,
in addition to the King’s and Regimental Colours, to
commemorate the great part they had played under Welling-
ton, then merely General Wellesley, in the Mahratta War.
The blanco and the metal polish were put aside, the Colours
and the regimental silver deposited in the Ottoman Bank,
and the battalion embarked from Alexandria with the 1st
King’s Own Scottish Borderers from Ismalia within ten
hours of receiving their warning order. They arrived at
Chanak at 8 a.m. on September 25th. Anchorage for the
troopship was difficult to find as the narrows were crowded
with the warships of the Mediterranean fleet, their guns
trained on the eastern shore.

The H.L.I. took up positions in the line east of Nagara
Point and thence northwards to the sea. The Borderers
took over a part of the line round Chanak itself, previously
sparsely manned by the Loyals. The situation was described
to the two battalions by a senior officer as being ‘a bit
awkward’. As the H.L.I. from their positions could actually
see Turkish cavalry on the hills to their front, this was
something of an understatement. Colonel Shuttleworth had .
still received no answer to his letters sent to the Turks.

“Toate at night on September 26th Major-General Marden
arrived on the destroyer Montrose from Constantinople to
take over command from Shuttleworth of the Defence
Force which, with the addition of the 2nd Sherwood
Foresters hastily moved from Constantinople, had now
become two brigades, each of three battalions. The two
brigades, the 83rd and the 85th Infantry, were now comman-
ded by Shuttleworth and Colonel A. T. Beckwith respectively.
Marden’s orders, as he told Shuttleworth and Rear-Admiral
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Kelly, were ‘not to fight if he could possibly help it’.

Cavan’s and Harington’s request for more troops was
being answered. On their way to Constantinople from
England were the 2nd Grenadier Guards, the grd Coldstream
Guards and the 11th Royal Marine Light Infantry. The
1st Duke of Wellington’s Regiment and the 1st South
Staffordshire had arrived from Gibralter to take their place
with the 1st Buffs and the 2nd Essex Regiment protecting
Constantinople on the Asiatic shore. By October 7th
Marden would have one more battalion added to each of
his brigades, the 2nd Royal Fusiliers and the 2nd Battalion
of the Rifle Brigade from Aldershot. The artillery of the
Defence Forces now amounted to fourteen 18-pounder guns,
six 4-inch howitzers, eight 37 howitzers and twelve 6-inch
howitzers. In addition there were fifteen naval 12-pounder
guns, plus 6-inch guns from H.M.S. Benbow which, with
incredible effort as each gun weighed 7} tons, sailors from
the fleet had unshipped and manhandled into emplacements
improvised out of heavy timbers and concrete blocks. Four
battleships, four light cruisers and eight destroyers lay at
anchor offshore, but Trenchard had been active as well as
Beatty, for simultaneously with Marden’s arrival there
appeared upon the scene twelve seaplanes, sixteen Snipe
aircraft and eight Bristol fighters. A further two squadrons
of planes were on their way by sea from Egypt.

So, as Kemal delayed in answering the Allied note of
September 23rd, the British forces being ranged against him
increased in numbers and firepower. In consequence the
odds against successful military action on his part lengthened.
It was still open to him, of course, to regard this massing
of naval and military might as a gigantic bluff. The circum-
stances were different, but he had only recently seen the
warships of Britain lying massive but impotent off the quay
at Smyrna. Apart from the technical difficulties they would
not bombard Constantinople. Although during this period
he made underground attempts to obtain some of the
Sultan’s warships, as a soldier who had fought at Gallipoli
he knew the limitations imposed upon warships by those
narrow waters. So, he must have reasoned, did the British
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admirals. With regard to the soldiers on land, despite their
recent increases he could still comfort himself with a calcu-
lation of his own enormous superiority in manpower.

Perhaps, therefore, the British were merely putting on a

show to save face, the same consideration which impelled
~Timto push his men as close to the Chanak outposts as
possible,

From Kemal’s point of view the unknown factor in his
calculations was still the real intentions of the British
government. In this respect external appearances were
deceptive. Parliament had not been recalled; some govern-
ment Ministers were still abroad; King George V was not in
his capital but at Balmoral. General Harington was endea-
vouring to get in touch with Kemalist generals, and Lord
Curzon, it was learned, was anxious to have private talks
/| with Kemal’s representative, Ali Fethi, who had been in
London and was now in Paris or Rome. If, taking all these
signs into account, Kemal did think that Lloyd George and
his small but powerful body of supporters were not prepared
to go to war, a glimpse behind the scenes in London would
have been a revelation to him.

Whether they were wise, and whether their decisions,
if made public, would have been popular, is not the point.
During this period they only received encouragement from
two quarters: some qualified support in the columns of the
Daily Telegraph and a telegram from Lord Jellicoe, the
Governor-General of New Zealand, saying that by the night
of September 21st 12,000 ex-officers and men and 300
nurses had volunteered for recall. Nevertheless, of their
determination there can be no doubt. The King might be
at Balmoral, but he was in constant touch with London.
His private secretary, Lord Stamfordham, had in his
custody the necessary proclamations for the King’s signature
to declare a state of emergency. The Royal train was waiting
at Ballater station ready- to whisk the King to London.
There a committee of Service officers and senior officials
of the Foreign Office and other ministries was considering
the putting into force of ‘the War Book’. This was the body
of regulations and measures which was designied so that the
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nation could pass from peace to war. It had two stages,
*Precautionary’’ am/i/iwgif’.' As the Committee observed,
certain measures prescribed in the Precautionary stage had
been carried out already. The War Book was designed ‘to
meet the situation which would arise in the event of a world
war in which the whole resources of the Empire would be
drawn upon’. The Committee decided ‘that is not the
situation that now presents itself’. Accordingly, strict
censorship, blockade measures and special legislation would,
it was thought, be at the moment inappropriate. It would
not be that sort of war. Nevertheless those items in the War
Book which were designed to alert and prepare the Army,
Navy and Air Force and Intelligence departments for the
outbreak of hostilities were recommended to the Cabinet
for adoption.

A day later the proceedings of Churchill’s Committee
of Ministers were reported to the Cabinet and approved.
Most of the measures proposed concerned the despatch of
more troops, including a brigade of artillery and possibly
two regiments of cavalry from Egypt. Bombers were offered
to Harington should he require them. Harington was also
instructed again to warn Kemal that his forces would be
liable to attack if they invaded the neutral zone. The

" Committee, and therefore the Cabinet, was particularly

concerned that there should be ‘no ambiguity regarding the

right ofthe Allied Commander-in-Chief at Constantinople to
take action’.

Only in one likely sphere of activity was there any
measure of doubt and that was where naval operations were
concerned. Lord Curzon was against ‘provocative action’,
Lloyd George wanted ‘no Kemalists on the water’. Admiral
Brock continually pointed out that his guns could destroy
roads and artillery emplacements but would be of less use
against troop concentrations. He also wanted to know if
he was expected to clear the Sea of Marmora of every ship
afloat. In the event, despite a number of frenzied telegrams,
he was never told. On one subject, however, he was given

v \ categoric orders. Reports had been received that ‘Bolshevist
/ submarines and submarine-chasers and mine layers are to be
i
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placed at the disposal of the Turkish Nationalists’. ‘Any
. such craft appearing in the Straits should be attacked.’
If they approached the Straits from the Black Sea under
the Russian flag they were to be warned off. ‘In the event
of risk to any Allied ship from the approach of any such craft .
encountered in the Black Sea or Straits, it should be sunk.’
Somewhat strangely ‘it was not deemed expedient to
lwarn the Soviet government at present of these intentions’.
While these instructions were pouring out from London
the Prime Minister was in the country at Churt, but his
own determination and attitude were frighteningly obvious.
On September 22nd he telephoned Sir Maurice Hankey, the
Secretary to the Cabinet, with advice on the preparations
to be passed on to Worthington-Evans, Lord Lee and Win-
ston Churchill. He was concerned because the Kemalists, he
understood, had indicated September goth as the day
beyond which they would not wait to have their demands
answered. In which case Lloyd George wanted to be ready ‘
for them. He was not unduly depressed by the prospect.
‘It would be a great triumph if we could defeat a heavy
Turkish attack alone, without any assistance from the
French and demonstrate to the world that even from a
military point of view we are not as helpless as our enemies
of every description imagine us to be.” The details of military
planning might not concern the Prime Minister, but he was
quite prepared to commit the increasing British force in
Turkey against Kemal’s army. Also, in words made famous
in the Suez crisis thirty-four years later, he was prepared, -
__if necessary, that Britain should ‘go it alone™.” -
“THere were in fact a number of other similarities between
1922 and 1956. Both Prime Ministers had an inner circle
of Minister confidants; on both occasions there was consid-
erable popular and press agitation against a war and a
failure of Commonwealth nations to come up to Downing
Street expectations. There was something of the same
atmosphere as well. In 1956 Anthony Eden was determined _

to teach Nasser a lesson. In 1922 Lloyd George; lthough
“unlike Eden he had never ‘et his adversary, undoubtedly
treasured a personal feeling against Kefal. Like Nasser,
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perhaps Kemal could be ‘toppled’. The year 1956 produced

“many rumours of impending internal revolutions to remove

Nasser. In just the same way the Cabinet in 1922 was often

intrigued and encouraged by stories of Kemal’s insecurity

and his fear of assassination. In both cases a British Prime

¢~ __Minister misjudged world opinion and thé popularity and

st’amlé_i}iﬁy:‘_{ﬁ:hjfs“'bﬁﬁpii}ent. Equially; it appears, both Nasser

—~and Kemal made the initial mistake of thinking that the
British would not go to the lengths of war.

Historical parallels should not be strained too far and

undoubtedly somé factors ‘are common to every crisis,

~znd not all of them can be laid at the door of the politicians.
Suez in 1956 produced its crop of military ‘nonsenses’. So
'did Chanak in 1g22. The most notable concernéd 1,000 men
of the Royal Air Force. When the crisis broke in the middle
of September they were en route by sea on the Braemar Castle
for Iraq. As Cavan was pressing the question of manpower
reinforcements Winston Churchill wondered if these airmen
might not be diverted to Turkey. They had no rifles or
other arms, he knew, and he realised that they were all
technical men, aircraft mechanics and the like. Could they
not, however, be utilised to keep order in Constantinople?
Trenchard was considerably less than enthusiastic. These
men were all needed by the R.A.F. in Iraq, and, he empha-
sised, were not specially trained for anything other than their
technical trades. It was decided, nevertheless, to ask Haring-
ton if he wanted them. Harington did not, and said so,
but he got them just the same.

The 1,000 airmen arrived in Constantinople. There they
performed no useful function and it was decided that as
soon as more soldiers came out, the airmen should resume
their interrupted journey. At the last moment, however,
to assuage their wounded pride, it was decided that they
should be allowed to stage a demonstration march through
Constantinople, presumably to show the Turks not only the
size but the variety of Imperial resources. In their best
sky-blue uniforms, still somewhat unfamiliar to those who
had known the Royal Flying Corps in khaki and the Royal
Naval Air Service in traditional blue, they marched through
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the city. Their commanding officer was pleased and proud
of the bearing of his men, unused to parade-ground drill,
| until he heard an unmistakably English female voice from
/| the crowd: ‘A smart lot, aren’t they? But how in God’s name
did the Portuguese in those adorable blue uniforms get
mixed up in this mess?’

It was in fact with reference to reinforcements of aircraft
and in no spirit of sarcasm that Harington wrote to Tren- .
chard: “This is the rummest sort of war I have ever seen.

Tt is mixed up with diplomats of all nations, soldiers and |
sailors, Greeks and Turks, infidels of every kind and Bolshe- ‘
viks, and the town is a seething mass of the dirtiest-looking
devils you ever saw’; and, in conclusion: ‘Thank you so
much for all your help. I will do my best to look after
the units you are sending me.’

The situation, and not only from the viewpoint of G.H.Q..
in Constantinople, now appeared to be a very curious one

| indeed. Technically the Allies, by their note of September

1 23rd to Ankara, had served a kind of ultimatum upon
Mustapha Kemal. Only one of the Allies, however, Great
Britain, was prepared to enforce it. If Kemal returned a
truculent answer saying in effect that he did not wish to
send a representative to “Venice or elsewhere’ to negotiate
with Britons, Frenchmen, Italians, Japanese, Romanians,
Yugoslavs and Greeks, what were all those nations, save
the British, going to do about it? The answer was nothing.
The French and the Italians were half in league with the
Turks_already, despite the presence of "thieir troops in '
Constantinople. The Romanians and the Yugoslavs were
tomcertied; of course, but would probably take their lead
from France. The Yugoslavs were in fact more suspicious of
Bulgaria than Turkey. The Greeks were defeated, and the
Japanese were on the other side of the world.

It was up to Britain then, whatever answer Kemal
returned, or, as seemed possible, if he returned no answer
at all. The British Cabinet had not liked the wording in
the note about the neutral zone: ‘the provisional neutrality
of which has been proclaimed by the Allied governments’.
The word ‘provisional’ stuck in their. throats. Lord Curzon
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explained that it was the strongest phrase the French would
accept, as they argued that the status of the territory was
merely temporary and that the agreement had been reached
not with Kemal but the Sultan. An even simpler explanation
was that Poincaré and the French government did not want
to fight the Turks. Lloyd George and the British government
seemingly did. ‘Neutrality’, remembering Belgium and the
cause of Britain’s entry into the 1914—18 War, was a magical
word. A nation could go to war to protect ‘neutrality’,
but ‘provisional neutrality’ was not quite {he same thing.
“Tonsequently, with the exception of Lord Curzon, the
members of the Cabinet in London turned their minds to
what was, in their view, another condition in the note, the
stipulation in the first sentence that the Turkish government
would inform the Allies of their readiness to send a represen-
tative to negotiate ‘without delay’. As the days passed with no
reply from Ankara, Lloyd George began to grow impatient.
“~“The reasons for his impatience were fourfold. First a
kind of professional, and perhaps therefore almost sub-
conscious, desire for speed and pace in the negotiations.
If there was to be a diplomatic coup or its alternative,
military action, then the momentum of the confrontation
between Britain and Turkey must be maintained. Troops,
aircraft and warships were on their way. If Kemal merely
drifted or dallied the urgency would disappear and the steam
would go out of the crisis. The second reason lay in Lloyd
George’s estimate of Kemal’s character. To the British
Prime Minister Kemal was an Oriental, ‘4 “carpet-seller
~ifi-a bazaar, who enjoyed haggling for its own sake. Like
—many devious men of humble Celtic background Lloyd
George saw himself as a model of simple peasant rectitude.
Tt was not the way in Llanystumdwy, therefore it would
have to be made plain to the Turk that there was only one
R T s o o, BT AT e
““The third reason for haste on the Prime Minister’s part
was perhaps the most curious of all. Unlike the previous
two it was not subjective, but it depended nevertheless on
Lloyd George’s state of mind for its acceptance. British
Military Intelligence had informed the Cabinet that Kemal
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himself intended to force the issue by a military advance
upon Constantinople and Chanak on September goth. At
a distance of forty-six years it is impossible to trace the
source of the information. Certainly it did not emanate
from Harington or his headquarters in Constantinople.
There had been reports, of course, of Kemal talking of
moving before the winter, but Kemalist agents in Paris and
London denied that there was any plan for a positive act of
war. Whatever the origin of the forecast, the Cabinet
believed it to be accurate, and Lloyd George, hitherto
sceptical to a degree of military intelligence, accepted what
may only have been a rumour or an inspired guess as fact.
Therelore September goth, only seven days from the des—
patch of the Ankara note, became in his mind the time limit
for decision. The last factor which spurred Lloyd George on
towards a showdown was complementary to the intelligence
report, which it seemed to confirm, but was based on solid
fact. It was the deteriorating situation at Chanak.

General Marden had taken over command there on
September 26th and on the morning of the next day was able
to observe the advance of about 2,000 Turkish cavalry
towards Chanak. Standing on the Hospital Hill to the north
of the town, through his binoculars he saw a race between a

: squadron of the grd Hussars and a large body of Turkish
1 horsemen for dominance of Asmali Tepe. The Turks won.
ccordingly Marden™gave the order for all British troops™
save the Hussars and the company of the Loyal Regiment
on their mules to retire behind the barbed-wire defences.

By 3 a.m. on September 28th all the British were inside,
manning their defences. Marden telegraphed to Harington
for permission to open fire if the Turks attacked; which was

" granted. Turkish detachments were now appearing on all
—sides and Marden realised that there must be many tracks .
through the rough hilly country which were not marked on
his own map. It was along these tracks that the Turks were
infiltrating round as well as to the front of his position.
Immediately he set his men to the task of digging more
trenches and putting up more barbed-wire entanglements.
.~ The most disturbing factor about this steady advance was .
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the presence, observed for the first time, of Turkish infantry
as well as cavalry. Soldiers mounted on horses could not
attack good barbed-wire defences; infantry could and would.

On September 25th in London the Cabinet met at twelve
noon, with Beatty, Cavan and Trenchard in attendance, and
considered General Harington’s report on the advance of the
Turkish cavalry to Erenkeui and its subsequent retreat.
For perhaps the first time there was serious discussion of
the basic practicalities of the war which seemed about to
break out. Lord Beatty, having consulted with Rear-Admiral
Webb who had just returned from the Near East, was now, it
appeared, less confident than previously that the navy,

* unaided, could prevent a Turkish invasion of Constantinople.

" If Admiral Brock could have been given carte blanche earlier

* then perhaps by now he would have been in a position to

deny the city to the Turks. Unfortunately the Admiral had
been hampered by political considerations, and, Beatty
implied, still was; therefore the best that the navy could
do would be to delay the inevitable. Lord Cavan doubted
if the French and Italian troops would even co-operate with
the British in keeping order in Constantinople. He too
thought that a prolonged defence of Constantinople would
be impossible. ‘In fact, said Cavan, ‘our General was
operating from % Hostile capital.” Such views were obviously

~lanwelcome to the Prime Minister, who wondered if the

20,000 Greeks in the city could not be enlisted by Harington
‘to form a Civil Guard to help in the maintenance of order’.

In the general discussion which followed it fell to Winston
Churchill to point out that the Cabinet had only just
realised from Harington’s report, what they had apparently
not realised before, that the Chanak perimeter was only four
miles long. Previously it had been understood that it was
fifteen miles long. Therefore, said Churchill, the Turks could
establish positions on the Dardanelles either to the north

. or south. Some of the confusion about the neutral zone and

Chanak had at last been resolved. The Cabinet for the first

time understood that what Marden and his force were

defending was not a large area of territory but a small
Turkish coastal town protected by trenches and barbed wire,
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and now hemmed in by considerable numbers of Turks.

Finally, the Prime Minister asked Trenchard hopefully
if the R.AF. could not prevent the Turks from taking
Constantinople. If they had possessed the number of
machines they had at the end of the war, said Trenchard, in
conjunction with the Navy it would have been possible.
Now, unfortunately, ‘they could delay a Turkish advance
along the Ismid Peninsula but they could not guarantee to
stop such an advance’. In the light of this information the
Cabinet decided to give General Harington new priorities;
‘he should hold Chanak and Gallipoli at all costs and,
provided his task at Chanak was not endangered, should
remain at Constantinople as long as it was possible to do so’.
So now the reverse order of importance was the Ismid
peninsula, Constantinople and then Chanak and Gallipoli.
As Gallipoli was not threatened at the moment and the Turks
were in sight, almost within touch, at Chanak, it was there
that the conflict, if conflict there was to be, mustcome. On that
day the War Office report on the distribution of Turkish
troops was as follows: at Erenkeui over 1,000 men, at Bigha
800 men and 4 guns, north of the gulf of Edremid over
2,000 men and 12 guns. Further east were the 6th and 4th
Turkish Corps amounting to 25,000 men and 8o guns, in
the Smyrna area there were 24,000 men and 79 guns and,
moving on the Ismid peninsula, 11,000 men and 24 guns.
“The situation,” added the War Office, ‘appears to be most
critical and uncertain.’

On September 27th, at 10 a.m., the Chief of the Imperial
General Staff received a telegram from General Harington.
It was not very well expressed but its meaning was quite
clear. ‘Losing a lot of lives in hanging on is what I want to
guard against especially if Cabinet then say that they cannot
reinforce me. Why notstart atonce and give Turkey Constan-

/ tinople and Maritza, having offered them to them, and so end

it all. Keep a force and big fleets on Gallipoli with advanced

' guard Chanak. These small forces trying to stop here and

keep order and ordered to fight to last at Chanak, if Musta-
pha’s reply is truculent, are bound to get into difficulties
if negotiations are prolonged. There is no time for delay.
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Remember Turks are within sight of their goal and are
naturally elated. No one is more anxious to avoid a war than
I am, but it is the very way to get dragged into one.’
Bearing in mind the Cabinet’s instructions, Harington’s
views were doubtless disturbing enough, but there were other
problems on their way for a harassed Lord Cavan and the
British Cabinet. On the same day as Harington’s telegram
arrived, what had begun as a military and naval mutiny on
Chios and Mitylene on September 24rd erupted into a full-
scale revolution in Athens. On September 27th King
Constantine was forced to abdicate in favour of his son,
the Crown Prince George, and Greece was in the grip of a
conspiracy of colonels. A Colonel Plastiras appeared to be
their leader; he had organised an air drop of revolutionary
leaflets on Athens. All the conspirators seemed to be military
men, but Eleftherios Veneselos, who had been in exile in
Paris, was now coming to London as their emissary.
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“The moment to avert the disaster has arrived’
War Office telegram to General Harington

Constantine had never been popular in Britain and his
abdication provoked a storm of valedictory abuse in the
press. On September 28th the Daily Express ran as its
headline “Tino makes his second exit’, and talked of ‘the
, traitor king” who ‘lays’down his sceptre that he may save
-~ his Tife, and later of “this ludicrous weakling’. The Times
“~ “tnanaged to sound like an Oscar Wilde dowager and called
,’g the ex-King of the Hellenes ‘a paltry personage’. For the
British, Constantine had never seemed ablé't6 do the right ™
==\ “Thingyif in fact hie kiad hung on in Greece and fought out °
——— . o, . .
a civil war none of his critics would have become his cham-
pions.! Now as he prepared to leave Greece for the last
time his alleged pro-German sympathies during the 1914-18
War were again revived, and he was represented as either a
villain or a fool. All the disasters of Greece, the army’s
defeat, the destruction of Smyrna, and the pitiful problem
of the refugees, were hung round hisneck. ’
1 Vansittart put the popular view concisely: ‘Nobody in my time saw
more ups and downs, or deserved the ups less.’

LUD;E l“o moe
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convenient sacrificial victim for p011c1es “which had failed.

So for a few days he became a crowned scapegoat, a
L’ }

Those newspapers, and they were in the majority, which
were opposed to war with Turkey, strengthened their
argument by disparaging both the Greeks and, somewhat
illogically, the king of whom they had just rid themselves.
The pendulum of anti-Greek feeling swung to its limit with
a report in all papers on September 27th of a speech by
Lord St. Davids which produced the headlined quotation
“on the Greéeks as ‘Bad at Fighting but First Class at Murder

et #'ng—.\

of the Ottoman Railways. Whether the shareholdérs he was
“addressing in London on that occasion agreed with his

\\doubtless entirely objective remarks it is impossible to say;
e 'more general feeling in Britain was simply one of
weariness with the affairs of Greece.

In France and the United States, too, politicians and the
public alike, although as in Britain they felt a sympathy
which was expressed in generous contributions to refugee
funds, regarded the new revolution as further confirmation
of the ‘impossible’ nature of Greek politics. Fervent phll-
hellenes felt differently of course. Mr. Morgenthau, now in
Athens as Chairman of the League of Nations Refugee
Settlement Commission, was overjoyed that the man he
still referred to as ‘the Kaiser’s brother-in-law’ had again
been ejected from “His~throne. There was still a king in
Greece of course, the new George II, which for one of
Morgenthau’s stark republican prejudices was a pity, but
doubtless that would be remedied in time. For sentimental
philhellenes like Morgenthau now looked forward confi-
dently to the establishment of a liberal progressive regime,
as if the presence of Constantine in Athens had been the
only obstacle standing between the Greeks and a life of
democratic sweetness and light.

Which just showed how wrong sentimental philhellenes
could be about Greece. Actually for n nearly a hundred years
the burden of expectations Placed _upon "Greece by her

M'been a heavy one. A _poor country, ruled for

264.

\\ presumably had his own sources of information as Chairman

T e e

Few people felt quite as strongly as Lord St. Davids, who .




dynasty or aristocracy, she had been expected in the nine-

F centuries by the deadening hand of the Turks, with no native

teenthentury, and was now expected in the twentieth, to
| be able to place herself at one bound beside nations with
i centuries of civil development. It was not a standard.applied
| to the rest of the Balkan nations, formerly part of the -
“Ottoman "Empire. The curse of Greece was her history and %
“her mame, Men who called themselves ‘Greeks it was felt, v A
‘must surely have some aptitude, even if 1nher1ted from the :
fifth _fifth century B.c. , for democracy, after all they had invented -
“the cradle of democracy ; but Athens that was differ-
ent. Hardly a politician or a Journahst could resist the
phrase. Consequently, often in the teeth of their own
experience, the friends of Greece in Western Europe and
the U.S.A. hoped that each change of political fortune in
Greece might produce a modern Pericles or a race of

“their native land and’ elsewhere: the ambltlous poht1cal

“colonel on the make.
| Tradltlonally, in Britain professmnal soldiers tend to be
mildly rlght wing in thelr political views and sentimentally
l royalist in their outlook. In a country, too, where consti-
tutionalism, without a written constitution, has been brought
to a fine art, they are divorced from politics. Socially they
are, or at least were, drawn from a class which, if not
necessarlly aristocratic or rich, either thinks, or has been
K_taught to think, that the makmg of ‘a fortune” is not of -

~N

- e~

primary 1mportance Wide variations exist within the

‘generalisation, of course, and existed in 1922: say from

| Cavan, rich and aristocratic, to Harington, of very modest

means and middle class. Nevertheless in Britain there was

a ‘type’ of army officer, with recognisable and predictable

social and pohtlcal attributes and attitudes, virtues and

vices. Even in countries as firmly republican and professmn—

all egahtarlan as France and the” U"'S"/Y“t'ﬁg type’ can also
Mngulshedm’_ T

othing further from this accepted pattern can be
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bt imagined than the typical Greek army officer of the 1920’s.
'; There was no equivalent of the British ‘army family’, the
-+ French or German squirearchy with one of its sons destined
9 to the profession of arms, or the Southern military family
‘2%’ in the States with a grandfather who had fought with Lee
~ . and a grandson at West Point. Greek officers were poor for
“~ ¢ the good reason that no rich Greek wanted his son to be a
"3 “soldier. They were all politicians, as General Marden had
o -+ remarked, because they despised practising politicians, not
& £ adifficult task. They had few ideals of loyalty to the throne
. as an institution or personally to the Sovereign. Consequently
é N E@gyﬁwqge"republic?ﬂg; I_F’Sgnnot_hgwgyer be saic_l_ Ehat they
A \1 _‘were democrafs. They themselves wished to be’ oliticians,
but not politicians exposed to the professional hazard of the

¢ “ballot box. = SRR T
“~ - The revolution in Greece in 1922 was not a popular
rising, despite ample material in a defeated and demobilised
‘army, an invasion of refugees, and a discredited policy,
to bring one about. It had started as an organised mutiny
and it developed inf6a military coup. Although for the
“moment a king was 61 the throne and Veniselos was prepared
to give help and advice, the men who had seized power were
republican, authoritarian, and soldiers. A_Revolutionary
Committee now ruled Greece and its leading spirits were
“Colonels™ Plastiras and Gonatas, archetypes of their class
and profession. e
Plastiras was the prime mover. A republican by conviction,
he had supported Veniselos, presumably as the lesser of
two evils. In Anatolia he had commanded a brigade of

Evzones, the élite corps of the Greek army, with vigour
“and determination, earning himself two nicknames, ‘Black
Pepper’ from his own men, and the ‘Black Devil’ from the
Turks. On Constantine’s return in 1921, hearing a rumour
of his own pending dismissal, he had successfully threatened
the mutiny of his whole brigade and so stayed in command.
Like many future revolutionaries he had not been loved by
" his military superiors. Prince Andrew had regarded him as
a ffb"ifbl'éir'r'l_zlzjezr;@o concentrated more on the prosecution
~oT his own political aims than upon the overall interests of
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the army. Be that as it may, and with their different back-
grounds and opinions it was inevitable that the two soldiers
would disagree, the 1mportant questlon was now what use
Plastiras would ‘méake of the p power given h1m by the army.
t was an interesting questlon to many outside Greece.

Britain was, as always, suspicious of military regimes.
Given the condition of Greece at the time it had not been
difficult to agree with Lord Beaverbrook and predict some
sort of revolution. That it had put into power not a nice,
conventional, parliamentary government but a military
dictatorship was however a disappointment. When it became
known that one of the professed aims of Plastiras was the ~
Teorganisation of the Gréek ‘army and a ﬁght “for_eastern

~Thrace, a] apprehensmn changed to alarm. Just as Constantine
~“on his teturn hiad been unable to reverse Veniselos’ policy
in Anatolia, so Plastiras, having ousted Constantine, could
not advocate acceptance of Mustapha Kemal’s demands.
Military dictators do not achieve power on a Blatform of
“national humlﬁty Smyrna and the Greek ‘Colony in Asia
Minor was gone for ever, but there was still eastern Thrace
which could be represented as Greek. Plastiras began to
prepare the Greek army and people to combat ‘a Turkish
invasion of the homeland’.

Once _more Veniselos, in harness again, was hurrying _
to London to ‘confer with his old friend Lloyd George. For
“one British newspaper and its proprletor Lord Beaverbrook,
this was too much like history repeating itself. So the Daily
Express, which was still prepared to support a government
defending British interests, began to differentiate between
the holding of the Straits and assistance to the Greeks in
eastern Thrace. Beaverbrook had been in_Athens and seen

one defeated Greek army return. 'Heé had not approved of _
~Lloyd George’s policies, but if as a resulf thére was fo be
% show down between the British and the Turks, then,
albeit reluctantly, he would take the ‘patriotic’ line. This
did not, however, imply future support for more secret plots
hatchcd out between Venlselos and Lloyd George. Beaver-

had a plan to hold a general electlon at a time of of nat10na1
T g6y
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crisis, a ‘Coupon Election’ of a different sort with an
appeaI to national unity which would once again steamroller
his coalition government into power. The Express therefore
began a campaign designed to undermine such a possibility.

Mustapha Kemal had not only smashed the Greek

The date for the general election, announced the Express
had been fixed for October 28th because of ‘a subterranean
fight for the £2,000,000 in the party war chest’. The
Conservative party was to hold its National Conference on
November 15th. If there was a general election before then
the money could be spent on Coalition candidates, before
those Conservatives who were anti-Lloyd George could
prevent it. All these plans, argued the Express, had now
fallen to the ground because the Turks had rumed the
“~Prime Minister’s foreign policy. The Coalition proposes but
Kemal disposes.’ This final argument was not, of course, true.
“Beaverbrook was exposing motives and takmg the risk that
what he maintained had happened would bappen. Under
the guise of revealing past policy he hoped to knock away
any support for such a policy in the future. As for the other
newspapers, the Daily Mail was still passionately anti-war,
and The Times "diplomatically concentrated on foreign and
not home affairs. The Manchester Guardian, Liberal, and in
former times pro-Lioyd George, confinéd’ 1tse1f to pointing
out the dangers and futility of war. Only the Telegraph
stayed rather stodgily in favour of the government, despising
rumours, scandals, and back-biting in time of national
emergency. Overall it was a dlsappomtmg press for Lloyd
George and certainly gave no suggestion to the new regime
in Greece that it might hope for sympathy or assistance
from Britain.

The crisis with its focal point at Chanak was however
still in being. The British press and public might be against
helping the Greeks or fighting the Turks, but the unknown
quantity was still the British Prime Minister. He had
encouraged the Greeks béTore ‘With there winks and nods
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might he not do it again? Chanak itself had now grown in
importance out of all proportion to its strategic significance.
Constantinople and the Ismid peninsula could be given up
but not Chanak; it was now a matter of prestige. Very few
people, and only one newspaper, the Daily Mail, actually [
had the courage to say that it didn’t matter eithet and
could be handed over to the Turks tomorrow.
Mustapha Kemal had still not replied to the Allied note
when the Greek révolution broke out.”Although from his™
~owii ot 6f view he must have had reservations about
unconditional acceptance of its terms, it seems very likely
that events in Greece persuaded him to delay even more.
For the advent of Plastiras had re-created the old dangerous,
’%‘_ifggy_lg.,x; “situation between Greece, Turkey and Bri in.~

Titain was opposed to Turkey at Chanak; now Greece

pALSC LN

again opposed to Turkey in eastern Thrace. The missing _
Tk vias the connection between Britain and Greece. The
“conjiifiction again of Lloyd George and Veniselos was
obviously a dangerous one for Kemal. Officially, of course,
there was no alliance or understanding between the two,
but an atmosphere of intrigue and behind the scenes plotting
clung to any of Lloyd George’s dealings with Greece.
Kemal was as suspicious as Beaverbrook. From the Turkish
Point of view it seemed fHat Britain might fight at Chanak.
~and"in Constantinople as well; now it appeared that the
~Greeks might fight in Thrace where a large proportion of the
population was Greek. Not without reason the Turks were
very suspicious of British motives and actions; not un-
naturally they began to fear that Britain and Greece, with

the same enemy, might co-ordinate their efforts. Consequent=_
ly Kemal took the bold course and stepped up the pressure

“against the British at Chanak. He hoped that he would™
~Seftle his differences with them, oné way or the other, before
the Grecks had time to reorganise themselves in castern
race. His hopes of a peaceful settlement were centred
upon” two men, Lord Curzon and General Harington.
Both on their own initiative were pursuing negotiations
With Kemal’s representatives. What, however, the Turkish
Ieader could ot know was how much power over events the
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Foreign Secretary and the Commander-in-Chief actually
possessed, for both, in the final analysis, had to take their
orders from the Cabinet.

.= To that extent in_the field of diplomacy Kemal com-

mitted two mistakes, which s an experienced military
commander he shouIa have avoided. First, he underestimated
“his enemy; and $éconid; he committed hlmself to a course
of action without knowing, as the Duke of Wellington had
put it, ‘what was on the other side of the hill’.

S At Chanak itself, as more and more Turkish infantry

appeared and advanced close up to the barbed-wire fences,
the Defence Force, now named the 28th Division, could only
stand and wait. The total strength of Marden’s command
was now 3,500 men, made up of two infantry brigades, a
cavalry regiment minus one squadron, and in support the
artillery batteries. On their way were five more infantry
battalions and more artillery, but in the last few days of
September these reinforcements, among them the two
Guards battalions, the Rifle Brigade and the Royal Fusiliers,
were still at sea, scheduled to arrive on October 7th. Even
when they arrived some battalions would be earmarked
for Constantinople or the Ismid peninsula. Meanwhile
Marden and his men had to sweat it out. The men who were
there have testified to the curious atmosphere of those days.
The scene was like a film set for a battle. Two lines of trenches
and emplacements, two fences of barbed wire. There was the
likely enemy within sight. Short, stocky men in the main,
| dressed in dark khaki uniforms with a variety of headgear,
| from the kalpak a tall conical fur hat widening towards
the crown, to what looked like a sort of peakless military
deerstalker There they were, the Turks, feeding and water-
;mg horses, putting up wire and digging, or just standing,
i smoking cigarettes and watching. At night the searchlights
,f of the battleships played along the valleys and over the

* rough hills, reflecting on the barbed wire and illuminating

the sentries at their posts.

Tt is difficult to say who bore the greater strain, the gun
crews of the fleet waiting night after night for the order
from the land to open fire, or the soldiers in their trenches,
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never knowing when a familiar figure a few hundred
yards away might suddenly take cover and convert himself -
into an enemy. To make the situation more nerve-racking, ...
presumably on orders, the Turks carried out a policy of
Talternately blowing hot and cold. One day engaging
soldiers in conversation in broken English across the wire
and begging cigarettes; the next, shouting, jeering and
making gestures as if to provoke some hot-tempered sentry
to take a pot-shot at them. When new Turkish units appeared
or when there were changes in the line it was noticeable
/" that some were as pacific as possible, arriving with their
_rifles down-pointed, like sportsmen on ashoot, and later
walking about without arms; whilst others were edgy and
~JdifGicult Tn their manner, looking as if they were spoiling
for a fight. It might have been just the different character
of the regiments or perhaps of their commanding officers,
but it looked suspiciously like orders from Ankara.

On the British side pressure had to be constantly exercised
from the top downwards to prevent the rifles going off by
themselves. Harington had to restrain Marden and Marden
in turn had 0 réstrain Shuttleworth. Lower down the scale,
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regimental officers constantly reminded theif mien that they
st ot open fire without orders. Nearly all the N.C.O.s
“and most of the older private soldiers had seen service in
the 1914-18 War, as had the officers above subaltern rank;

it was among the young men with no taste of action that the

| ~greatest difficulty was experienced. The “old sweats’ were
v “Steady enough; it was the recruits who had never fired a
rifle except on the rafiges who, as Marden said, ‘simply
itched to have a fight’. There were differences between

~the temperament and experience of the regiments to consider

as well. The Gordons, who had been in Anatolia before, in

1921, and had lost comrades to Turkish brigands, and the

rough, tough H.L.I. were more likely to let off a few rounds

in anger than say the less temperamental, more steady going

Royal Sussex. Again, both the H.L.L and the Scottish

Borderers had just come from Egypt, not a country at the

time which gave the British soldier much reason to be well

disposed towards the inhabitants of the Near East. '
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The most disturbing feeling suffered by the troops was that
of being ‘hemmed in’. As Marden admitted, the Turks had
two complementary advantages. Their British opponents were
provided with pre-1914 maps which did not mark roads
and tracks constructed by Germans and Turks during the
war, and the Turks could make use of their knowledge
against the Telatively static defence force. In consequefice

“Mardén and his subordinate commanders were frequently

. unpleasantly surprised to observe bodies of Turkish cavalry
3 \"6? “infantry suddenly appedaring where least expected, es-
\

specially on the flanks of their position near the coast.
\ It was this very closeness of the enemy, the fact that Turks
might turn up round the side of a hill or in front of a
barbed-wire fence, that lent the whole business an air of
unreality, at times producing incidents which, recollected
later, in tranquillity, had their humorous side. Some even
at the time caused laughter, and on both sides, for the Turks
are not a race without humour, even if of a fairly simple,
robust kind. The humour was derived from the nervous
tension. It was during this period that one British infantry

/ soldier, “while unloading his rifle to cléan i, squeezed the

trigger on a round ST in the breech with the result that
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a bullet shot off in the direction of a group of Turks. His
platoon officer immediately jumped out of the trench and
ran towards them shouting that it was an accident. The
Turks, presumably fearful that the shouting officer would
be followed by his men with bayonets fixed, retired at
once to their own trench. The young second lieutenant,
with some courage, then stood his ground until, with panto-
mime gestures and simple English, he persuaded the Turks
to come out of their positions and advance towards the

. British lines again.

At many places those Turks who had picked up some
English, generally as prisoners of war, would engage their
opposite numbers in conversation and gratefully accept
cigarettes, which were apparently in short supply in the

“Turkish army. This atmosphere of friendliness worried
com@wmcm sides, and frequently chatting™
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groups were broken up by superior authority. One British
S R e ——————
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_officer was positively infuriated by these attempts at frater-
_nisation. Lieutenant-Colonel Craigie-Halkett, the fiery
commanding officer of the Highland Light Infantry, would
scream in Arabic at any Turks he found talking To his
" men, not a whit deterred when sometimes they replied in
““English. On one such occasion, as he departed on his horse™
“into the distance, his duty done, a Turk turned to the ‘Jocks’
and remarked, ‘He has a cpg_ql_ﬂf%WOthér
incidents were less amusing. Turkish officers had obviously
from the start received orders not to recognise the neutral
_zone by word or deed. Now that Turkish troops had swarmed
Tnto it right up to the British positions, it had become a
farce. Marden called it simply ‘the line that had separated
s Trom the Greeks’. The nextmove of the Turks was t0
maintain that the British had no right to be at Chanak at
all, and oppose any extension of the defences. There were
numerous arguments about the barbed-wire fences and
frequently Turkish soldiers were seen testing the strength of
the outer perimétérs. On a number of occasions the 3rd
Hussars had to draw their swords to ward off Turkish
cavalry who would seize their bridles and try to force them
back inside the main defences. A wiring party of the Loyals
had to form line and advance, in order to drive back Turks
who were encroaching upon their sentries. The Turks v
retired slightly, knelt down and loaded their rifles and pre-
pared to open fire. Sensibly, Lieutenant-Colonel Fitzpatrick,
the commanding officer of the Loyals, ordered his own men to
halt and sit down. Eventually the Turks were persuaded to
retire about 300 yards, but the next day they were back,
pushing at the wire and presumably trying to be as provoca-
tive as possible.

Nerves were wearing thin, and it was at this time that
Marden formed a mobile column consisting of detachments
of the Loyals and the Royal Sussex, which he intended to use
partly for reconnaissance and partly to push back the Turks
from his own front line. As September goth got nearer (he
had been given the date as well as Lloyd George), his fear
was that the Turks would be so close to his own men as to

give them a considerable military advantage. The dislike
e !
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0% of being shut up in a trap with no room to manceuvre is
part of any soldier’s mentality, but eventually Marden was
persuaded by Harington to abandon this plan as being far
too likely to lead to hostilities.

‘Harington at this time was exercising incredible patience.
Through Hamid Bey, the Nationalist spokesman and
representative_in Constantinople, he was in touch with
Mustapha Kemal. In answer to Harington’s request foi a

“conference Kemal returned evasive or obstructive replies.
He could not consider negotiations until the British stopped
helping the Greeks by allowing their fleet into the Sea of
Marmora. The British must send no more reinforcements to
Chanak and no more guns to Gallipoli. He objected to the
demolition of Turkish property that was occurring in and
around Chanak; the object of this, as he well knew, was to
give the defenders a better field of fire if attacked. These
replies, as well as reports on the situation at Chanak,
Harington dutifully passed on to the Cabinet in London.
There, too, nerves were wearing thin. Harington’s news,
needless to say, did not help.

_ Lord Curzon was again in Paris, trying still to preserve
some sort of Allied unity. The French could just, but only
just, be held to the Allied note, and with them the Italians.
All hope could now be given up of assistance from Yugoslavia
‘or Romania. Their representatives in Paris had gone round
and round the subject-and finally said that they could not

contémplate military assistance for fear of Bulgaria ,and the
“smnipresent and vaguely defined ‘Bolsheviks’. It was extreme-
ly doubtful if they had ever seriously intended to be involved.
They didn’t particularly want to see the Turks returning
to Europe; they would of course like a seat at any coming
peace conference; but before that peace conference, if there
was to be any shooting, they were quite_content that it
—shoild bé Teft to the British. Acung on a suggestion thrown
~out by Lloyd George, Lord Curzon, as he probably well
knew, had wasted his time. T
Curzon however hadother causes of complaint. It had
obviously puzzled him, as it had not puzzled his colleagues
in the Cabinet, why Turkish pressure was being built up
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. against Chanak where there were two British brigades and
ja lot of artillery, while there was no parallel action in

\\H&lhe Ismid peninsula where there was only one brigade. The

ree battalions of infantry there, commanded by Colonel
W. B. Emory, were in an even more precarious position than
those at Chanak. They held a line of about five miles in
length from the Bosphorus above Scutari, through the
Chamlija heights, which overlook Scutari, to Moda, the
European suburb on the Sea of Marmora. Behind them was
“the enemy capital, with its teeming population of Turks and
its small garrison of Allied troops. In the Ismid peninsula
there were plenty of Turkish troops, and to spare, but they
had not advanced steadily and menacingly as at Chanak.
The reason behind this apparent inconsistency was suggested
in a telegram which Admiral Brock, with Harington’s
approval, had sent to the Admiralty on September 26th,
arriving the next day. ‘The Nationalists,” said Brock,
‘hesitate to attack Ismid because of the danger of alienating
French and Italian sympathy by certain_massacres _that
would take place in the town and other contingencies.
The Christian population,” went on the Admiral, ‘were
in a highly nervous condition. A complete organisation
_exists in_Constantinople for arming large bodies of Turks

and the inﬁltr;ifiBh of undesirable elements by, train and
“feiry from Asia is uninterrupted.” It was obvious that if

-

~Kemal moved on Constantinople there would be fighting
on a large scale between Turks and Greek and Armenian
Christians. Inevitably the garrison would be involved, not
only British, but French and Italian as well. The French and -
the Italians had shown no disposition to leave. Kemal had___
said on September 27th, in an.interview with ‘the Daily
Telegraph correspondent, ‘we must have our capital,
“but not presumably at the risk of making two more enemies .
‘and perhaps creating another Smyrna. 1he possible damage
to foreign property and loss of life among the large inter-
national colony was not worth the risk for a city already
promised to him in any event. :
It was for precisely this reason that Gurzon now swung
round even more to the view that Constantinople should
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be held and Chanak abandoned. The British fleet would not
bombard the capital; Kemal for all his assumed indifference ’
would not want fighting in the streets. If the British took |
their stand over the capital of Turkey they could hope |
for French and Italian support, and thus preserve Allied \
unity up to and including the peace conference. It is im-
possible to say if it would have worked. Curzon for all }
l}i_gkemotionalmgpset_s was a tireless negotiator, and the
“hackneyed phrase about ‘exploring all avenues of approach’
might have been coined specially to describe his methods.
Sometimes in so_doing he lost sight of the ultimate goal.
~THis fimeé he was not given a chance. The rest of the Cabinet
had its eyes firmly set on Chanak.

On September 27th Chamberlain, Churchill, Lee,
Worthington-Evans and the Service chiefs met together at
the Colonial Office at g p.m. to prepare for the Cabinet
meeting at seven. Curzon was also present but said little,
presumably because there was little to say. His colleagues
seemed to have made up their minds to _ha»v“éi?ij@‘éi‘. i

~~Chanak could hold out now, it was estimated, for three
or four weeks. The difficulties of the situation were known
from Harington’s telegrams. General mobilisation would
provide two divisions which could be sent to Turkey.
Lord Cavan, the professional soldier present, wondered if
“Chanak ‘migilic_;ﬁi_')lg_ge\. evqguéted_ as_‘a beau ;gesté’. The
“normally pacific Austen Chamberlain would have none of it.
“Proposals for withdrawal,’ he said, ‘were based on purely
military considerations,” and it was his opinion that ‘we
could not now withdraw from Chanak with credit to ourselves
in order to avoid Kemal’s irregulars’. He would regard such a
withdrawal ‘as an humiliation to the British E{n_p'ire".”
“Chuichill agreéd with him. Later Churchill, in” dealing
\with the speed with which reinforcements could be sent on
mobilisation, assumed, with no one to contradict him, ‘a
serious collision on September goth’. The meeting adjourned
preparatory to the Cabinet meeting that evening. No answer
had been received from Mustapha Kemal save those passed
through Harington. The Cabinet had, four days before,
considered putting the whole matter in the hands of the

276




League of Nations. Churchill and Chamberlain had persua-~
ded Lloyd George that the French might induce the League’s
Council to insist that the British should leave Chanak before
a peace conference was held. This would have been un-
acceptable so the idea was dropped. Curiously, September
27th was one of the few days on which there was not a
rigorous attack upon some aspect of the government’s policy
in the Near East in any newspaper. The journalists seemed
to have assumed that because contact had been made with
Kemal and a conference suggested all would be well.
The Cabinet, when it met that evening, with the Prime
Minister presiding, dealt with a number of curiously
disconnected items. Once again Lloyd George wanted an
estimate of the fighting qualities. “of the Greek army. The
—Military Attaché in Athens was ordered to find out. Worth-
Tngton-Evans was Tnstructed o write to the Editor of the
Daily Mail pointing out that the morale of the troops in
the Near East was being affected by ‘the tenor of the
articles’ and that ‘the government would have to take steps
to secure that the military position was not prejudiced’.
The Service chiefs were given another impossible task, this
time to report by next morning on the feasibility of holding
Constantinople if Chanak were evacuated! The Cabinet
then considered, but made no decisionregarding, Harington’s
latest telegram to the War Office. £
He was still dealing with Hamid Bey but had also sent
a Eer%ﬁal telegram to ~Ketial “reqiestiiig that Turkish
froops “fiove back:~Coloniel Shuttleworth had issued an
ultimatum saying that he would be obliged to use force by
0700 hours on the 28th, but Harington had cancelled it. If
Kemal did not reply within forty-eight hours or withdraw
his troops he (Harington) would assume that more were
moving up. There were seven infantry and four cavalry
divisions (23,000) men in the area available to attack
Chanak. Dealing with evacuation or defence Harington said,
‘I can do whatever you wish. My own personal opmion 1s
that Mustapha will not attack seriously. He is trying to
force me into firing the first shot.” Again Harington wished
to be assured that if he committed himself to the defence of
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Chanak he would swiftly be provided with reinforcements.
At the present moment he would, he thought, have to
evacuate Constantinople to obtain from there a reserve
brigade. The Cabinet decided to tell the General that his
telegram was ‘being carefully considered’. ST
~—From now on, for a few days, the Cabinet or a Conference
of Ministers was in almost perpetual session. At 7 p.m. the
next day, the 28th, Lloyd George, Churchill, Curzon,
Birkenhead, Worthington-Evans, Lee and Robert Horne, the
Chancellor of the Exchequer, met together at Downing
Street. They had had two previous meetings that day but
this, the third, was to enable them to reach certain decisions.
_One of the matters rajsed by Kemal was the position of the
Greeks. They were at present allowed into the Sea of Marmora
~with warships, but not troop transports, whereas no Kemal-
ist vessel was allowed there at all. Kemal’s argument was
that the Sea was not a part of any neutial zone and therefore’
“he should be allowed the same freedom as the Greeks.
“Harington séems to have been impressed by the argument,
“But the Cabinet was not. If Kemal did not withdraw from
the neutral zone, which the Ministers thought was still
possible, then the Greeks would be allowed to move in
transports as well. For once there was some logic to the
government’s decision. Turkey was essentially a land power;
Greece still had an advantage at sca. If there was to be a
~conflict over Thrace then it would be quite unfair for Britain,
officially neutral, to allow Kemal to invade Thrace, but not
allow the Greeks full freedom to try to prevent him. It was
logical, but a sad prospect, meaning, as it would, the failure
of diplomacy and a resumption of the Graeco-Turkish War.
Presumably, however, even at this stage it was more than a
possibility in Lloyd George’s mind, as he wanted to know
about the state of the Greek army and was prepared to make
conditions about Greek vessels referable to Kemal’s behavi-
our towards the British at Chanak.

At 10 p.m. that night a telegram was despatched from
the War Office, on Cabinet instructions, to General Haring-
ton telling him of this decision and also emphasising that if

Mustapha Kemal replied suggesting a meeting it must be
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with the other Allied generals and a representative of the
Greek forces, and not with Harington alone. The second.
part of the telegram must have considerably surprised the
General. It read as follows: “‘We are without information
whether a clash has occurred at Chanak. We warmly approve
forebearance you have shown in face of repeated provocation
and the efforts you have made to avert hostilities. You can |
rely upon our whole-hearted support if, notwithstanding your
efforts, fighting breaks out or has broken out in the Chanak
zone or hostilities are forced upon you by attempts of the
Kemalists to net you in. As soon as it is clear that our
troops are seriously engaged we shall mobilise two divisions
and call for extra recruits so that reinforcements may be
sent to you at the earliest possible moment and meanwhile,
in order to reinforce Chanak, you may, if necessary,
Evacuate Constantinople and Ismid. Our policy is to hold
“Gallipoli at all ¢osts and to hold on to Chanak so long as
“this can_be done without undue military Tisk.”™ "
“Fifteen minutes later the Foreign Office despatched its
telegram to Sir Horace Rumbold, the High Commissioner.
It reiterated that a personal meeting confined to Kemal and
Harington was to be ruled out as being inconsistent with the
Allied note. Further, if there was to be a meeting at Mudania
then no concessions should be made beforehand, especially .
at the expense of the Greeks. The government was obviously
a little disappointed that Sir Horace had not communicated .
his own view on Kemal’s proposals, which had come through
Harington. Perhaps in those circumstances it was thought
fair that Sir Horace should in his turn be kept in the dark
about the instructions to the Commander-in-Chief, for
no mention was made in the Foreign Office telegram of
any of the orders or promises communicated to Harington.
Before the two telegrams were despatched the Cabinet had
the opportunity of studying a detailed document which was
. divided into two parts. The first part was ‘an appreciation of -
the position at Chanak—Constantinople’ prepared by the
Chiefs of the Naval, General and Air Staffs. The second was an
appreciation of the likely situation at Gallipoli and Chanak
in October 1922. The first part assumed that Harington,
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conforming to the Cabinet instructions, would evacuate
Constantinople. He could then, it was thought, hold Chanak
for three or four weeks. Both the Navy and the R.A.F.
would assist him in his task. There was no military reason
for evacuating Chanak, but the Turks must be prevented
from bringing artillery into the neutral zone. As soon as
Chanak was attacked two divisions would have to be
mobilised; the troops now on their way would arrive by
October _15th, and the two divisions by October 23rd.

~“The General Staff was of the opinion that the first Turkish
attack on Chanak would be repulsed, probably with
heavy losses to them. However, the force now at Chanak was
‘inadequate to stave off a prolonged attack’. Even when
the two new divisions arrived the whole force ‘could only
hold Chanak and Gallipoli and could not clear the neutral
zone’. In the second part of the document the General Staff
did its best with the task of forecasting events after the
first Turkish attack had been repulsed. It was assumed
that the Turks would attack ‘on or about September 3oth’,
and when repulsed would take up positions within striking
distance. Orders would be given in Britain on October 2nd
for ‘the mobilisation of the Interim Expeditionary Force of
two divisions and a cavalry brigade, and their despatch to
the Dardanelles for the purpose of driving back the Turks
and re-establishing control of the neutral zone’.

Once again, for the politicians, the soldiers did their
sums, and compared the strength of the opposing forces.
At Constantinople, if he could stay there, Harington had
4 infantry battalions, 2 field-gun batteries and a squadron
of cavalry. At Chanak and Gallipoli, 3 squadrons of cavalry,
5 field-gun batteries, 2 pack artillery batteries, 4 medium
batteries, 7 infantry battalions and a squadron plus a
flight of aircraft. The reinforcements on the way were
5 infantry battalions, 2 pack batteries, a medium artillery
brigade and a heavy brigade and 3 more R.A.F. squadrons.
All these would have arrived by October 5th. The latest
information about the Turks was that the grd Army (11,000
men and 24 guns) would probably stay in the Ismid penin-
sula and watch Constantinople. The 2nd Army (36,000 men
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and 112 guns) would attack Chanak. The 1st Army (18,000
men and 79 guns) would probably move north from Smyrna
and could join the 2nd Army some time after October 2nd.

Shorn of details the General Staff’s _opinion was that
the clearing of the neutral _ggneﬂwould _prove_to be a ‘task
of extreme difficulty’. The coming season of the year would

~ be ‘most unpropitious for field operations and the hardships
to which the troops will be subjected will be much more
trying to the British than the Turks who are more or less
inured to them’. Reinforcements by the Interim Expedition-
ary Force would not be enough to ensure success. The
message of the appreciation was very clear indeed.

The next morning the Conference of Ministers met
at 10 Downing Street at 11.30 a.m. and dealt with a lengthy
agenda. King Constantine could have a British warship to
take him from Athens to any non-British port. The British
Ambassador in Rome was to find out if the Italians had
left Constantinople. Lord Balfour at Geneva would be given
a free hand on the matter of the Smyrna refugees. The
government ‘would support the line taken in his speech to
the Assembly whatever it was’. The Greeks should be told
not to retire from eastern Thrace. The French High
Commissioner in Constantinople must be informed that the
“British would not withdraw from Chanak. The French and

" Ttalian admirals at CE)nstantmople should "be "asked to
\_‘H“T“reveﬁ”T’rks crossing to Europe. General Towiishend’s
'6?5;%0 to_go as an | emissary to “Miistapha Kemal shotld Beé
refused (he went Just the same and a/(l:hre‘\‘/“éd tisthing). All
to London. Officials of the Board of Trade should be warned
to be ready to requisition shipping. It was decided that the
Secr"ét"a/r? of mﬁWér sﬁould not after all write to the

P

“The Turkish Nationalists are obviously moving up
troops and seeking to net your forces in. Cabinet are advised
by the General Staff that if we allow continuance of this,
the defensive position will be imperilled and that the
moment to avert the disaster has arrived. It has therefore been
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¢ decided by the Cabinet that the Officer Commanding the
: Turkish forces around Chanak is immediately to be notified
i that, if his forces are not withdrawn by an hour to be settled
! by you, at which our combined forces will be in place,
_ all the forces at our disposal—naval, military and aerial—
i will open fire. In this latter event the air forces should be
;f used so long as the Turkish forces are inside the neutral
{ zone. The time limit should be short and it should not be
f overlooked that we have received warning regarding the
date—September goth, from our intelligence.’
The soldiers at Chanak had kept their heads, but the

statesmen in Downing Street had pulled the trigger.
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‘Like Sir Edward Grey in 1914
Winston Churchill

| The Cabinet had now sent General Harington an order. He
/ was to tell the Turks to remove themselves from the neutral
zone within a stated time;if they did not he wasto fire on them.
The ultimatum was not to be communicated to Ankara,
but simply to the Turkish commander on the spot. The time
limit was to be set by Harington and, as Cabinet discussion
revealed later, twenty-four hours was regarded as the appro-
NIl-i\rigie/]genod After twenty-four hourshad elapsed; ifthe Turks
ad not gone there would be war between Britain and Turkey.

If war came the official reasons were going to be very
flimsy indeed. Mustapha Kemal had not replied to the
Allied note delivered a week before. In that note, as part
of the proposals, the Turkish government had been requested
not to send troops into the provisional neutral zone. Yet
the troops were there, as Harington said, ‘grinning through
the wire’ at the British. Nevertheless, apart from grabbing
the bridles of the grd Hussars they had offered no violence

N TN e

to a British soldxer They had been difficult, provocatlve
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l/ and at times threatening, but they had not fired a single
bullet. The British had not one wounded man to show to
prove Turkish ‘aggression’. Furthermore, however much
the Cabinet closed their eyes to the fact, the Dardanelles
Defence Force was on Turkish soil. The boundary of the
neutral zone was in no sense a frontier, nor was the perimeter
wire fence round Chanak. Constantinople was promised to
the Turks and although there was always fear of a pro-Kemal
rising in the city, at this moment there were no signs that
this was likely to happen. Certainly there had been no
aggressive movements by the Turkish troops in the Ismid
peninsula, a likely precursor to any attempt to throw out
the Allied garrison by force. Of course, the government was
prepared to advance other arguments, but they were curi-
ously mixed and in some cases contradictory. The troops at
Chanak were now virtually surrounded save for the con-
nection by the sunken road with Nagara Point and behind
them the sea. There would be no more British reinforcements
arriving until October. If the Turks brought up more
artillery, undoubtedly the situation of Marderi and his men

—would be very dangerous indeed. Yet according to the
“intelligence report the Turks were due to attack on Sep-
tember goth; therefore they would not have time to bring
up more guns. For the British to anticipate a Turkish attack
would have no military advantage, not even that of surprise,
as the Turks would be warned by the terms of the ultimatum.
The strain on the troops at Chanak was naturally con-
siderable, never knowing when the Turks might attack,
being constantly on the alert manning sentry posts and
defences. For many of them committal to battle would have
been in a sense a relief. Nevertheless, as the War Office
had warned the Cabinet, it was a battle in which, although
the first attack might be repulsed, thereafter the Defence
Force would be in a state of siege waiting for the next attack.
Overall, the Cabinet had ordered Harington to demand
the evacuation of the whole neutral zone while the War Office
had stated quite plainly the military impossibility of clearing
it and then holding it with the forces at Harington’s disposal.
For the British to drive the Turks back permanently it
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Above Smyrna in flames, September 1922
Below Refugees on the quay at Smyrna, September 1922
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Above General Harington and Ismet Pasha at Mudania after the
signing of the Armistice.

Below General Harington about to inspect the last Allied
parade in Constantinople, 2 October 1923. From left to right
Nevile Henderson, Lady Harington, General Mombelli, General
Harington, Salahaddin Bey, General Charpy.




would be necessary for Marden’s force to be backed up by
the proposed Expeditionary Force, and quickly, thus em-
barking upon a minor invasion of Turkey.

In fact, the Cabinet had made history by consulting
the three Chiefs of Staff, Army, Navy and Air Force, jointly,
for the first time, only to act in a sense clean contrary to
their careful and detailed advice. The Cabinet knew that
Harington was in touch with Kemal; they knew also that if
it came to war they would have no allies. They had the
awful warning of the Greek defeat staring them in the face.
Yet at this moment they were resolved to embark upon a war
with Turkey over a city which they were prepared to give
up to the Turks and a neutral zone which was disavowed by
nearly all the nations which had created it.

The final argument of the members of the Coalition
government was a familiar one: they were acting to defend
the rule of law in international affairs and to preservé
the sanctity of treaties. It was an argument that had been-

“used on previous occasions and it was to be used in the
future. The formula of words had been invoked in 1914 when
/ the Germans entered Belgium; it was to be used when the

Germans invaded Poland in 1939; it was to be used again in

1956 at the time of Suez. Unfortunately, despite shelves

of books by eminent jurists on the subject, there is no such

thing as international law, in the sense of one body of rules
observable by all sovereign states and enforceable upon
them. International law, so called, when it does function
effectively as between states, corporate bodies or individuals,
does so only by agreement on both sides. Nearly fifty years
after the Chanak crisis there is no international body
capable of enforcing its universally accepted decisions
upon the states of the world. The strength of the United

Nations Organisation is only that of its individual members.”™ ¢~

y one nation may take the risk and defy if, and succeed.™

In 1922 the League of Nations was new-born, and, as
was to be shown later, powerless. In any event, even if
there had been an international body capable of judging
disputes and enforcing its decisions, the British had not got

a particularly good case. There had beemn a peace tieaty
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it, but the French and the Italians had not. Plainly the

) with Turkey. The Turkish puppet government had ratified

majority of Turks did not accept the peace treaty; equally
plainly Mustapha Kemal and his National Assembly was
the de facto government of Turkey, as Lioyd George had
admitted in the House of Commons. By the London Con-
ference the Allies had admitted that the Treaty of Sévres
Ec;_tf@fqd’jfe@fsibn, and that Kemal’s government was entitled
to have a say in that process. The neutral zone and the
“occupation of Constantinople had both been enforced by the
Allies upon the Sultan’s government. That the new Turkish
government should have Constantinople had been conceded.
There remained the question of eastern Thrace, in essence
a dispute between Turks and Greeks. The Greeks had in-
vaded Turkey and had been repulsed; the two nations were
still at war, a war in which Britain, France and Italy were
all declared neutrals. Kemal’s claim was that eastern Thrace
was part of Turkey inhabited by a majority of Turks, that
Greeks were molesting the Turkish population, and that he
was entitled to follow the war there, fighting the Greek army
wherever he could find it. All the counter-arguments of the
Allies referred back to the original peace treaty of Sevres,

A

—swhich had not been signed by the present government of

R

‘\.
|

!

Turkey. All the rights of the Allies were those of conquest.
Now, so far as most of Turkey was concerned, Kemal was
in turn the conqueror.

So much for the moral and legal content of the justification
of a war. There was one further consideration which had
nothing to do with morality but had considerable, if not
overwhelming, practical importance. The chances of success.
There were three possibilities. First, that the Turks would
yield, either by submitting to the ultimatum or else with-
drawing as soon as Harington’s guns began to fire. To think
that this was likely to happen was grossly to misread Kemal’s
character and position. Lloyd George may still have thought
of the Turkish leader as some sort of bandit chief whose
power would fade away in the smoke from the first discharge
of the heavy guns of the British fleet. Others had once held
the same view, but by September 1922, after the crushing
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defeat of the Greeks, the Prime Minister was probably the
only person capable of shutting his eyes to the evidence
before him. The second and third possibilities depended
upon the effect of the first British attack. Ifit were successful,
and the Turks were driven back, there would almost
inevitably be an armed uprising in Constantinople. At
Chanak the Turks would attack again, and the British would
be forced to send more men and guns to the Near East to
maintain their position, and might well be dragged into an
attempted invasion of Turkey. If on the other hand the
first British attack were not successful, there would still in
all probability be an uprising in Constantinople and the
British might be forced to evacuate there and at Chanak.
In which case the government would either have to swallow
a mammoth humiliation or else send out a much larger

force to exact revenge.

" As none of the three alternatives made military or political
sense, and as the facts behind them had constantly been
presented to the Cabinet by the Service chiefs and argued -
by politicians and press, the explanation for the telegram
of September 2gth must be sought in the characters of the
senders. Of the four men of weight in the Cabinet, one, Lord
Balfour, played no real part in the crisis and none in the '
decisions. He was strongly anti-Turk and might well on this
issue have sided with Lloyd George, but in fact throughout
the relévant tiffie he-was absent in Geneva as British repre-
sentative to the League of Nations. His only connection
with the crisis was that it became his duty to pass on to -
the Cabinet the complaints of the Dominion representatives,
also at Geneva, as to the paucity of information given them
about British intentions and actions.

The three remaining Ministers were Churchill, Birkenhead
and Lloyd George. Churchill has given his explanation for
his change from an opponent of the whole of British policy
in the Near East to being a supporter of war with Turkey.
Simply it lay in his pride and pugnacity. Whatever the
rights and wrongs, British soldiers were not going to be
pushed out by Turks. The whole of the British Empire was
not to be humiliated by Mustapha Kemal; therefore as
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much of the British Empire as could be persuaded was to
go to war with Turkey. For outdated reasons and with no
regard for the consequences. In the 1939-45 War there
were many comparisons made between Churchill and a
bulldog. The cartoonists were more accurate than perhaps
they knew. A fight produced a blind reaction. Before 1914
he had tolerated, even favoured, votes for women until
suffragettes demonstrated at one of his meetings; from then
on he had been opposed to them. Once into a fight he dug
his teeth in more and more, and closed his eyes. As a
war leader in the 40’s he frightened two of his own generals,
Wavell and Auchinleck, by growling at them. Alexander
kept him at bay with soft words and contrary actions.

%@%ﬁg&@.ﬁ{ﬂv"led back, and together they won_ the
paitle of El A amein. T “tg22 Churchill was convinced
~that Mustapha Keiial could be frightened away by growling,

~nd there was no one capable of keeping Churchill on a
“Teash or adninistering a sharp rap on the muzzle. Least of
—all his miaster Lloyd George who, as Prime Minister, and
much more than primus inter pares, was ultimately respon-
sible. Birkenhead, like Churchill, was naturally pugnacious,
his whole life had been a struggle. His grandfather, Thomas
Smith, had been a miner and the most renowned bare-fist
boxer in the West Riding of Yorkshire. A fight, whether in
the ring or the courts, came naturally to a Smith.
. Itis Lloyd George’s motives that are the most interesting.
I He was not; liké Birkenhead, the grandson of a pugilist
or Charchill, the grandson of a duke, a simple man. He was
wily but he was sensitive; he was pugriacious biit he was not
a warmonger. In the short term he could be cynical, but
in the long term he was often an idealist. Like all Celts he
“was subject to “altérnating mioods of bursting exuberance
- w@gﬁ; In September 1922, although he
preserved his outward cocky demeanour, he knew that his
popularity was fading, that many of his colleagues were
itching to desert him. His hopes of Greece had been dashed,
the French and the Italians had let him down. He was
temporarily disillusioned with politics. At this time he even
toyed with the idea of resigning and becoming editor of
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The Times. Fleet Street held its breath, and exhaled criticism
when he continued as Prime Mmlster Many of his critics
suggested that he was creating a war atmosphere to keep
himself, formerly a war leader, in office. The possibility
must have occurred to him. Perhaps he thought the Greeks
would help; perhaps he thought that the Turks would run
away. Even then there were many risks. It is more likely,
though, that Lloyd George’s mood was one of persb?ir
\dégﬁeratlon rather than pohtlcal calculation. Of Constantme‘-
@e sanctioned his i invasion of Turkey, mge .
had sald that he had acted ‘in a mad ¢ gﬁ“B"rea]E of regal ‘{/
‘vanity’. By his own order to start a war less than two years
later the British Prime Minister demonstrated that vanity -
is not a monopoly of kings. T
At this eleventh hotr, “while the telegram was on its
way, three very different men were still working for peace.
In Ankara, Franklin Bouillon, with his curious quasi-official
position, which undoubtedly gave him a great deal of person-
al satisfaction, was still in touch with Mustapha Kemal. He
argued for acceptance of the Allied note and a conference,
needless to say primarily in the interests of France, but
in the process he was also striving to avert a war. Haring-
ton regarded him as a nuisance, ‘a perfect curse’ he called
him, and in a way it was true, because, carried away by
optimism and his own estimate of his skill as a negotiator,
he happily misrepresented the willingness of both sides to.
come to terms. The danger was an obvious one, but for the
moment if he could get both sides round a conference table
he didn’t care. It is difficult to say that he was entirely wrong.
In Constantinople, General Harington, although confined
by his own official position to strict accuracy, was also
in touch with Kemal through Hamid Bey. Step by step he
was trying to persuade Kemal to attend a conference by
removing his doubts and fears. Of course the General did
not know if Kemal’s objections were sincere or not, but
with great patience and diplomacy he treated each one as
genuine and endeavoured to allay it. The Greeks had not
flown aeroplanes over Turkish troops at Ezine. The Greek
fleet had been withdrawn from Constantinople on September
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27th only ‘under the strongest British pressure’. The demo-
litions carried out at Chanak had only been those absolutely
necessary for military purposes. The only shots fired by his
artillery had been to register the guns, and with no aggressive
intent. His representative in eastern Thrace had reported
that there was no foundation in the allegation that Greeks
were burning Turkish villages. Kemal and his representa-
tives gave little away but slowly it seemed as if they might
be being persuaded.

* * *

In London, alone among the Cabinet, Lord Gurzon had
been active. At 4 p.m. on September 29th he had seen Nihad
Rechad, who was Ali Fethi’s deputy and had come at

“Curzon’s réquest from France. At 10 p.m. that Friday
evening there was a Cabinet meeting at Curzon’s house, I
Carlton House Terrace. Lloyd George was absent, but
Curzon had persuaded Austen Chamberlain to call the
meeting in view of the importance of what he had to an-
nounce. There were at the meeting, besides Chamberlain
and Curzon, Horne, Lord Lee, Churchill and Cavan, the
Chief of the Imperial General Staff. Lord Birkenhead and
Worthington-Evans arrived a little after the proceedings
had commenced and Curzon had begun his report.

Apparently the Foreign Secretary had got on well with
Nihad Rechad, whom he described as ‘a gentlemanly

“friendly outspoken man, friendly to this country’. Their

“orversation however had been Full of surprises. Nihad had
begun by saying that he thought that the decision in Paris
(i.e. with regard to the contents of the Allied note) was ‘a
work in the interest of peace’. Gurzon naturally enough
had replied that ‘at the moment it hardly looked like
peace, and that we appeared to be on the brink of hostilities’.
At which Nihad showed considerable surprise and asked
Curzon what on earth he meant. Gurzon answered by
stressing Kemal’s delay in replying and saying that at Chanak
the Turks were up to the barbed wire, ‘and were making
grimaces across it’. He then mentioned the Cabinet’s
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decision and the orders sent to Harington. Nihad had
exclaimed, ‘But that means war.” He had not realised the
“situation was so serious, and could he communicate the
conversation to Kemal? Curzon agreed, but suggested that-
if he did so he should also at the same time seek an explan-
ation of Kemal’s ‘dilatory and evasive’ attitude. Nihad
answered by saying that Kemal ‘was suffering under_two
great apprehensions’: “that the British government was in
S T e
conspiracy with Athens and was organising Greek thtary
resistance in Thrace and assisting their naval forces in the
Straits. Curzon denied any communication with Athens, where
in fact there had only been a government for the last two
or three days. Nihad then came to Kemal’s second fear:
that some sort of puppet government “would be set up t there
mrmsh ‘which would prevent the Turks c ming_into

~their own’. Curzon denied this too, and stressed that even

“an intérim administration during the peace conference
would have to be ‘mainly of a Turkish character’. After some
more conversation Nihad had promised to report all this to
Kemal the next morning. These were the facts, said Curzon,
and he then told the Cabinet of his proposals. On the
supposition that Nihad was genuine, and remembering
‘that a renewal of the war with Turkey would be ‘a most
deplorable occurrence and very unpopular’, could not the

“orders to Harington be suspended for twenty-four hours
or else the time limit in the ultimatum itself be extended
for twenty-four hours?

At first it looked as if Austen Chamberlain would agree.
Before Curzon had first seen him he had noticed the head-
lines in the evening papers which suggested that Kemal
had accepted the idea of a conference; one paper had a
headline ‘Better News’. ‘All this,” felt Chamberlain, ‘was
an ill preparation for the public reception of the decisions
taken by the Cabinet.” He had asked Sir Maurice Hankey,
the Secretary to the Cabinet, to obtain the Prime Minister’s
view, and no doubt it would be received later. For himself,
however, he felt about Curzon’s suggestion ‘very doubtful
whether military considerations would not render it imprac-
ticable’. Curzon sa1d that he personally trusted Nihad, but
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admitted that if ‘the military insisted that an additional
twenty-four hours would jeopardise the position it would
greatly influence him’. Plainly he hoped that they would not.
Birkenhead, who spoke next, was at his most bellicose.

He ‘had heard nothing which led him to think it [the
ultimatum] ought to be modified in the slightest degree’.
After all Kemal had received ultimatums before, which he
had ignored. Chamberlain intervened to say that Marden
had prepared an ultimatum but Harington had cancelled it.
Birkenhead said that “if that was the case he was shocked
to hear it’. He had ‘no doubt that Parliament and the
public would support the government if they proceeded with
their plan’. The Lord Chancellor was much concerned lest
‘the spirit of the troops be affected by the insolence of
the Turks’. Without doubt it had affected Lord Birkenhead.
Robert Horne, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, was
more sober and subtle in his judgment. ‘Nihad had been
sent to “blind”’ London.’ All the ‘secret information received’
indicated that Kemal had decided to take no mnotice of
British threats. He ‘was inclined to distrust Nihad’s sug-
gestions altogether’. Curzon demurred, but Horne thought
that even if Nihad himself was honest, ‘he might be an
unconscious agent’. He (Horne) ‘would be very sorry to
postpone action’. Curzon then asked Cavan for his pro-

¢ fessional view, but before the general could reply Birkenhead
% thtervened to say that the G.I.G.S. could only talk of the
| effect of the twenty-four-hours’ delay. Quite obviously he
'~ did not want a soldier expressing any wider view upon
the situation. Thus confined, Cavan said that the telegram
‘was a definite straightforward order’. It should be reaching
Harington at just about the present time (11 p.m.). There-
fore he estimated that Harington would communicate with
Marden and Marden with the Turkish commander by about

4 or 5 a.m., possibly 6 a.m. At this point Curzon was
apparently rather surprised that all this should go on
throughout the night. Hopefully he had assumed that
soldiers kept the same hours as the Foreign Office, say ten
in the morning to five at night. “There was no day or nightin.
carrying out military orders,’ $aid the General, sounding
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like King’s Regulations. A counter order in his opinion
could not now affect the situation, save to add confusion.
Curzon pointed out that he merely wanted a delay.
Chamberlain said that he thought Cavan’s opinion was
decisive. Lord Lee agreed. Then Churchill, speaking for
the first time, no doubt he meant it kindly, struck a note
of historic gloom. He sympathised with Lord Curzon ‘who
was bound to assure himself, like Sir Edward Grey in 1914,
that no stone had been left unturned to preserve peace’,
and he felt ‘he had the full right to clear his conscience
in the matter. After all, it was his duty more than anyone
else’s.’ Churchill agreed with the generally expressed view
‘that it was not physically possible to defer action without
the gravest risk. It would almost certainly make General
Harington feel that he did not know where he was. He
would probably say to himself that this goverment had
cold feet.” After reflecting that ‘the Cabinet could not undo
what had been done’, the Colonial Secretary then cheered
up a little with the opinion that there might still be peace,
at least eventually. “The Turks might scurry off with some
loss,” he thought, ‘and Lord Curzon could then again take
up the threads of the peace settlement.” Chamberlain was
less convinced, and said that ‘it was impossible to let off
guns without having in mind that greater events might
come out of it’. Again Birkenhead intervened impatiently,
rather as if he were still the toughest advocate at the
English Bar. Did Lord Curzon disagree with the general view?
The Foreign Secretary ‘still had his apprehensions’,
but accepted the physical difficulties of communication and
the military opinion. In the circumstances, he said, ‘they
could only hope for the best’. Then Chamberlain informed
them that through Sir Maurice Hankey he had learned that
Lloyd George thought ‘that the prospects of securing peace
by the proposed delay were ot cominéfisurate with the
Mh that the Cabifiet adjourned
~atT1.30 p.m. and they left Lord Curzon in his house with
his rejected plan.
On the next day, September goth, ‘as a matter of urgency’,
the Cabinet met at 10 Downing Street three times, at
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4 p.m., at 7.45 p.m. and again at 10.30 p.m., the first
two times because, to its surprise, it had received no acknow-
ledgment from General Harington to its telegram of Sep-
tember 2gth. It had, however, at the first meeting, received
a telegram from Hardinge in Paris. Poincaré, not surpris-
ingly, was protesting about the British decision to serve an
~dlfimatum on the Turks without consulting the French
governiient. 1t was deemed inadvisable to reply to that

—particular communication for the moment. Even Lord
Curzon seemed to think that in not consulting the French
some sort of revenge had been exacted for Poincaré’s action
in withdrawing his troops from Chanak. It was a curious
mentality for a government which was constantly complain-
ing of the bad faith of its allies.

With regard to Harington, the Prime Minister was
obviously both worried and annoyed, and expressed his
opinion that ‘General Harington was so much concerned
with the political situation—which was not rightly his—that
he did not devote sufficient attention to the military situation’.
Lord Cavan made some remarks about the heaviness of
Telegraphic communication with Constantinople in defence
of his brother general and the Cabinet adjourned, having

drawi up the draft of a rather rude reply to M. Poincaré.

At the second meeting the Prime Minister was still
concerned as to what resistance the Greeks could put up
in Thrace, and anxious that if Kemal did not withdraw his
troops in conformity with the ultimatum then Greek warships
and transports should again be allowed complete freedom on
the Sea of Marmora. It was obvious that he had never really
approved of Harington’s prohibitions in the first place.
Still no news had been received from General Harington.
The Cabinet Ministers were warned to attend again later
that evening, when a reply was confidently expected.

It was at the third meeting at 10.30 p.m. that it was
gathered from Admiralty and Foreign Office telegrams that
not only had hostilities not broken out, but that fairly
obviously General Harington had disobeyed the Cabinet’s
‘peremptory order’, and had not even delivered the ultima-
tum. The Cabinet expressed ‘extreme concern’. Apparently
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‘General Harington was intensely preoccupied with the

political situation which aroused misgivings as to whether
he was giving sufficient attention to the military situation’.
Though an anonymous Cabinet minute, the words are

obviously a repetition of Lloyd George’s comment at the .

previous meeting. It now appeared that Harington had

disobeyed orders and had “the support of Sir Horace

Rumbold; the High Commissioner, in so doing.

The normally impersonal and unemotional Cabinet
minutes positively seethe with indignation. The Cabinet
expressed concern on, among other points, the following:

I.

That Sir Horace Rumbold and General Harington

should apparently contemplate a meeting between the

General and Mustapha Kemal at Mudania while
the Turkish Nationalists, in defiance of several
remonstrances and warnings, were still actively
violating the essential condition laid down in the
Paris note of September 23rd .

That, notwithstanding the truculent attitude of

Mustapha Kemal, and his flagrant disregard of the

“Paris note, the British High Commissioner and
General Harington, besides putting pressure on the
Greeks with regard to the movements of their warships
and transports through the Straits, were anxious that
the Powers should compel the Greek army at once to
withdraw behind the Maritza line, before the line
had even been fixed . . .

As to the danger to peace which this attitude seemed
to involve.

Generally, as to the apparent progressive deterioration
of our political position and prestige, particularly
from the point of view of the Dominions, as resulting
from the failure up to now of our various attempts
to secure compliance with the Paris conditions by an
enemy whom we had defeated decisively in the Great
War and who possessed only a remnant of his former
strength.
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The third minute contained the most curious observation
of the lot, but overall it can only be assumed that the Cabinet
led by Lloyd George, havingscrewed upits courage for a war,
was now furious that due to Harington it had not got one.

In this unpromising mood the Ministers awaited a

‘telegram from the General which was reported to be on its
way. The Chiefs of Staff, Beatty, Cavan and Trenchard were
ordered to be present at the Admiralty at nine o’clock the
next morning to help cope with it.

It was a long telegram, and some of the phrases must have
infuriated Lloyd George. Harington, as was his way, had
not stuck to officialese and it was apparent that not only
had he not obeyed the government, but that he would not
obey it in the future if the same demands were repeated.

. The telegram started fairly mildly:

" I share,’ said the General, ‘the Cabinet’s desire to end
procrastinations of Kemal and I note decision of Cabinet
but I would earnestly beg that the matter be left to my
judgment for moment. There is no question of disaster or
danger to British forces until Kemalists bring up serious
force of guns and infantry.’ Harington then went on to

““stress that he could defend his positions at Chanak. Therefore,

he continued, “To me it seems very inadvisable just at
moment when within reach of distance of meeting between
Allied Generals and Kemal which Hamid says will be in
two or three days and Ankara government are penning
their reply to Allied note that I should launch avalanche
of fire which will put a match to mine here and everywhere
else and from which there will be no drawing back. I have
incessantly been working for peace which I thought was the
wish of His Majesty’s Government. To suppose my not
having fired so far at Chanak has been interpreted as sign
of weakness is quite wrong because I have been very careful
to warn Hamid that I have [undecipherable] powers of
England behind me and that I shall not hesitate to use
it if time comes.

‘I have very carefully considered whether, as we are so
far not at war with Kemal, the Turkish cavalry could be
best dealt with by using the minimum force to effect my
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object or whether I should at once employ full force. ':
In order to avoid England being interpreted as aggressor I

decided on the former. You must remember the repercussions *'

on Christian population here [i.e. Constantinople] if any
actions at Chanak. If we plunged this city into a panic it

would [be] deplorable and they are very frightened after "

Smyrna. My only reserve of troops is in Constantinople.
I may have to withdraw from there and it means the deser-
tion of Christian [? women] and [? children]. Confidence has
re-appeared in last few days since reinforcements marched
in and I was every day feeling more hopeful that ¥ might
see the end with principal [sic] of the neutral zones preserved
without firing a shot and with British flag flying high here.

/Mhangs 1n my oplnlon on what can be affected in

Thrace.’
" There had been no further Turkish advances at Chanak;
in fact some troops seemed to have been drawn back.

‘I look,” said Harington, ‘upon situation as improving

daily. [Marden] has now got elbow room he requires and

in a few days will be nearing maximum strength with .

leading units of 1st Brigade within reach and aeroplanes in
air. I am naturally anxious to get Kemalists further back
and await reply to my request for a Turkish Commander
to settle a provisional line on ground with General Marden.
Marden reported the position a few days ago as becoming
impossible but since then we have got more troops and guns
and it is evident Kemalists have had orders not to attack.

It was never dangerous. Will you at once confirm or other- .

wise whether my Judgment is overruled. If Kemal’s reply

to my Tast request is unsatisfactory I am all in favour of .

issuing. He does not intend to attack Chanak seriously in my
opinion. Have shown this to Brock and Rumbold who agree.’

Now it is only fair to say that there were inconsistencies
in Harington’s arguments, especially when compared with
his previous messages. He now played down the danger
to his own troops at Chanak, and perhaps over-emphasised
the amiability of the Turks. At the same time he stressed the

dangers in Constantinople if he took troops from there, as -

he indicated that he would have to do. He might be
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preserving the ‘principal’ of the neutral zones but little more.
Although he said that he was prepared to issue an ulti-
wiatom, the judgment on Kemal’s reply would be his own,

—andit 'was_obvious that he did not intend to use force

H

unlcgs_ﬂt_:_qmpqﬂé&iﬁy the Turks. From the point of view of
"the Cabinet his attitude might be intolerable, and plain
Tiobedience to a military order, nevertheless as Harington
“had received in‘the last few days a variety of changing and
conflicting orders it is not surprising that he had decided
to disobey the last and most dangerous of all. His mixed
arguments were obviously intended to forestall any attempts
by the Cabinet to change its reasoning and force him into
hostilities on other grounds.

What happened next depended upon the decision of
the Chiefs of Staff. Perhaps, however, Lloyd George was for
once a little naive to leave it to them. Dog does not eat dog.
Beatty, Cavan and Trenchard, after some thought and
reference to a variety of military considerations, decided
that ‘General Harington’s telegram entirely alters situation’.
There were some questions to which they still required
answers, about the Turkish dispositions, for instance, but
of disobedience to ‘peremptory orders’ there was not a
mention. Doubtless if the Cabinet wished to consider such
matters it could, but an Admiral of the Fleet, a General

' and an Air Marshal had presumably decided that discipline

Was Tiot @ subject with which they were competent to deal.

{

i T - am .
| Beatty, Cavan and Trenchard were not going to eat Tim
|

J

Harington.

Gurzon was later to confide to Harington that after
the third Cabinet meeting there had been a suggestion of
passing a vote of censure on his conduct, a proposal to which
he (Curzon) had been opposed. Ifit had happened the Lloyd
George government would have found itselfin a very curious
position indeed, for on October 1st General Harington was
informed that Mustapfia Kemal would meet him at Mudania

~"in conference with the other Allied generals. The Cabinet,

~ when it heard the news, sat down and began to draft some
very precise instructions for the Commander-in-Chief in
Constantinople.
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Typically, Harington’s first thought was not for his |

political masters, but for the soldiers under his command.
So on October 2nd a signal was sent to the 84th Brigade
(1st Irish Guards, 1st Buffs, 2nd Essex Regiment) in Con-
stantinople, and the 83rd and 8s5th Brigades at Chanak,
the men who had borne the day-to-day strain of imminent
war. The Commander-in-Chief, accompanied by Generals
Charpy and Mombelli, was going to Mudania on October
/| 3rd ‘to meet Mustapha Kemal Pasha with a view to arrang-

ing an armistice. He wishes all ranks to know how much

the world has appreciated their self restraint under most
| trying circumstances.’

At home in Britain those newspapers most against the
war, in particular the Daily Mail, which three days before,
through Ward Price, had predicted that Kemal would
accept, and the Dazly Express, were loud in their praise of
Harington. They did not know of the ultimatum which the

" Cabinét had prepared, but had sensed that the government’s
attitude was far more intransigent than that of the Com-
mander-in-Chief, and that if any credit accrued from the
affair it was his. London Opinion published a cartoon which
caught the feeling exactly. It was entitled, “The Soldier

Peacemaker holds back the Dogs of War’. The illustration-

deplcted a lean, military Harington pulling back from a
precipice, with some difficulty, two enormous surging hounds
with the heads of Churchill and Lloyd George.

In London, on Sunday October 1st at 10 a.m., the two
originals of the drawing, plus a Cabinet of sixteen members
(Balfour was still in Geneva), including the relatively
unknown Stanley Baldwin, President of the Board of Trade,
had met to consider the new turn to events in the Near
East. The Cabinet was obviously less than pleased with
General Harington. Although it was now willing to back-
pedal on its ultimatum telegram, it was only prepared to do
so very slowly indeed. As the events of the last few days
were revealed to those Ministers, the majority, who had not
been consulted, the inner quorum, Lloyd George, Birken-
head, Churchill, Chamberlain, Horne, Lee and Worthington-
Evans, were at great pains to stress that any orders given
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had been on the advice of the Chiefs of Staff. This was true
in the narrowest military sense, but not in the overall
political sense. This fact was also, ‘without any implication
of censure’, to be made clear to General Harington. The
transparent fiction was also resorted to that the informationon
which the Prime Minister and his confidants had acted was
‘received exclusively from the Constantinople Command’.
In other words, if Harington had been landed with an
/Tligiﬂrllatum to deliver, it was his own fault. Once again
“Lioyd George (it seemed to be something of 2 personal
“hazard) had been misled by unreliable information from
the military. 7 T e T
~~ Thé Cabinet then concentrated on the instructions to
be given to Harington for his guidance at the forthcoming
conference. There was still a feeling that perhaps the
General had not understood precisely the limits of his
authority. He had already disobeyed a clear order, but it
was as if the Cabinet could not bring itself to admit that
* he had done 5o because he thought it was foolish and
. “dangerous. Therefore instructions were sent from the War
" “Office with regard to Mudania, and repeated by the Foreign
. Office to Rumbold, whowas told to instruct the Commander-
in-Chief on the policy of His Majesty’s government.

In fact there had been no lack of comprehension on
Harington’s part. In the last month he had received from
London a variety of contrary instructions; his strategic
priorities had been changed almost daily. It must have
! been clear to him that the government did not know whether

. | to defend Constamtinople, Chanak or Gallipoli. Lloyd
|—George did Tiot want to submit to Mustapha Kemal, but

| was not sure how and where to defy him.
_Properly speaking, the Cabinet gave orders to Rumbold,
the High Commissioner, who then gave orders to Harington™
~~ and Brock. - Yet-if-those orders méant war then it was
~Harington’s responsibility to wage it, so that at the very
moment when the Cabinet exercised its full authority, it
abdicated power in Turkey to its general on the spot. The
only way that Lloyd George could avoid having to take

Harington’s military opinion was by getting himself another
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general in Constantinople. An obvious impossibility on
the eve of a peace conference, especially as it appeared
that Harington was supported by both Rumbold and
Brock. Indeed of the three men it now seemed that the
modest, quiet, ‘kind’ general was the most powerful person-
ality. It was not necessarily a development which was bound
to be appreciated by one of Lloyd George’s views and
temperament. Accordingly a long and detailed telegram
was despatched to Harington, informing him of many
matters which he must have understood already. In addition
he was told that the Cabinet policy on serving an ultimatum
on the Turks still held good, but that its implementation was
to be held in suspense for the moment. It was repeated
a number of times that he must confine Firmself to_the _
=purely military considerations and on polltlcal rafters sub- -
~ordiniate Himself to Rumbold. It is perhaps significant that
“In such a long telégram there was no room for a word of
congratulation or encouragement for the General in his
efforts to preserve peace.
The Cabinet then noted that M. Poincaré had informed
the British Ambassador in Paris, Lord Hardinge, that both r
the French and Italian governments ‘considered it essential
in the interests of peace that the Greek evacuation of
Thrace should take place as soon as possible, an opinion
he [Poincaré] understood which was held by the Allied High
Commissioners, in Constantinople’. Thrace was obviously |
going to be the important issue at Mudania and so it figured
large in the ‘master copy’ telegram sent to Rumbold, but
the Cabinet wanted to make sure that it was not given up
too easily.
‘Under Paris agreement sole object of this meeting is
to fix line of retirement of Greek forces in eastern Thrace,
in accord with Greek and Turkish military authorities,
the Ankara government in return for this intervention to
undertake not to send troops either before or durlng final
peace ‘conference into neutral zones and not to cross Straits
of Marmora.’

The Cabinet was also now concerned lest Harington
should take matters into his own hands:

301




N~
Vi

i

“These conditions must be borne strictly in mind. In
accordance with them General Harington, as allied Gom-
mander-in-Chief, was instructed by War Office on September
28th to communicate with Allied generals and the repre-
sentative of Greek forces, and to arrange for their presence.
It is presumed that this has been done.’

Lloyd George was determined that the Greeks should
not be left out and was not prepared to ‘exercise pressure’
until the Turks had ‘withdrawn entirely from the neutral
zones’. Throughout the last four years in the Near East
he had used the Greeks to achieve British objects; he was
still prepared to do so. That at the same time he favoured
what the Greeks regarded as their rights merely made his
policy more dangerous. If the Turks would not leave the
British alone at Chanak or in the Ismid peninsula then the
Greeks would not be deterred by their champion from
resisting the Turks in Thrace. Some part of his motive may
have been kindness to the Greek cause, but the Greek army
in Thrace was in no condition to resist the Turks, as Haring-
ton had frequently stated. A resumption of the Graeco-
Turkish War in a province with a mixed Greek and Turkish
population would have been disastrous for thousands of
innocent civilians, and would inevitably have carried the
war into the rest of Greece. It was, although Lloyd George
could not see it, a time wheén kindness, so often a selfish
sentiment, was scarcely removed from cruelty.

. One other instruction to Rumbold is significant in that
it shows that even now the British government, having
been saved from a war by Harington’s good sense, still
thought that it knew, as a Cabinet minute put it, how to
make ‘a bargain with an Oriental’. ‘We cannot contemplate,’
stated the Foreign Office telegram, ‘Mudania meeting being
spun out from day to day, in order to enable Mustapha
Kemal to strengthen his position at Ismid with a view to
invading Europe.’

With a wealth of similar instructions and advice, on
October 2nd General Harington embarked on the Iron Duke,
Brock’s flagship, for Mudania.
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“ < We cannot alone act as the policemen of the
wor R S

“Andréiv Bonar Law

R el e e

The scene chosen for the last peace negotiations of the war

which had not ended in 1918 was hardly impressive.

As a town Mudania was very much like Chanak: mos-
quito-infested, with white washed, thick-walled houses,
intersected by badly cobbled streets and narrow alleys, the
only tall buildings the onion-shaped mosques and the
accompanying thin towers of the minarets from which the
muezzin called the faithful to prayer at sun up and sun
down. It was a town marked by war, What had once been
“the Christian quarter was now deserted, and in the waters
of the little bay the occasional putrefying Greek corpse could
still be seen. The distant view did something to compensate
for the general flea-bitten appearance of the port itself:
behind the town shining grey aloe trees on the low hills, and,
discernible in the blue autumn haze across the water, the
disputed land of eastern Thrace.

On October 3rd, however, when Harington arrived, he
could not enjoy the view, for a raging seasonal storm in the
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Sea of Marmora washed the streets clean, scoured the

. crumbling waterfront and drenched a Turkish guard of

Y 0

honour of nearly 200 men, which, with a military band, was

! turned out in his honour.

For the first hour or so it must have seemed to the General
that this unfortunate initial impression was to set the tone
for the whole conference, if indeed there was to be a confer-
ence at all. For although the three Allied generals were at
Mudania, neither Mustapha Kemal nor the Greek repre-
sentatives were present.

It was soon learnt that Kemal had no intention of attend-
ing, for in his place was his most trusted subordinate, the
Commander of the Western Army, General Ismet Pasha, the
victor of Inonii. When the British government heard of the
substitution there was almost another crisis but by then it
was too late. Harington had taken the right view that Kemal
regarded himself as Head of State and had sent his senior
military commander to confer with his British equivalent.
Pride and calculation had no doubt played their part in
Kemal’s decision but Harington was not the type of man to
quibble over protocol; his mind was set on essentials.
Consequently he was in no mood to listen to what seemed a
transparent diplomatic” excuse to explain the absence of
the Greeks, that the destroyer that was to have brought them
had broken down. To make sure that they did not boycott
the conference out of pride a British destroyer was despatched
across the Sea of Marmora to fetch them.

The next difficulty was accommodation. Mudania
boasted of no buildings suitable for a full-scale conference.
The Turks had done their best with what they could find: a
modest house on the seafront which had once been the Russian
consulate. To give it some sort of appearance Anatolian
prayer mats had been hung on the walls and the rickety
wooden balcony which looked out over the sea had been
decorated with a Turkish flag. In the largest room that
overlooked the bay two deal tables been covered with
green baize, one for the maps, the other for the delegates.
The windows were small and barred and allowed in very
little light, so for evening work there were placed ready two
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kitchen oil lamps. There was hardly space round the main
“~table for all'the delegates and their staffs, and once they were

seated there was no room for anyone else to move. It was

a far remove from Versailles, Sévres and San Remo. )

So disposed, the delegates provided an interesting con-
trast in national types. Harington, tall and lean with
his quick nervous gestures, took the head of the table. He
had brought with him Colonels Gribbon and Heywood, a
legal expert, Major Simms-Marshall, and a young Gunner
officer employed on intelligence duties, J. S. Blunt. Lieu—
“rather than speak. Ismet Pasha, the principal Turkish -
delegate, was a tiny dapper man, black-moustached, and
with the placatory smile often worn by those who become -
hard of hearing at an early age!. With him was Tewfik Bey,
his Chief of Staff, whose wolfish smile was not placatory, and,
to everyone’s surprise, Hamid Bey, the Kemalist repre-
sentative from Constantinople. Hamid might have been of
a different race from Ismet and Tewfik; thick-necked and
“heavy-jowled, with his spiky hair en brosse and fierce upturned
moustaches, he looked like an imitation Hindenburg.
Opposite Ismet sat General Mombelli, grey-haired and
grey-faced. On Ismet’sleft, General Charpy, a film producer’s
idea of a handsome portly French general. Interspersed
between the principals sat the members of their staffs in
almost any order, crowded round the table virtually knee -
to knee.

There were other factors besides the primitive facilities
which emphasised the change in Allied fortunes vis-a-vis
the Turks since 1918. Mudania, though it was settling
peace or war, was essentially a military meeting between -
equals. In the bay the Jron Duke lay at anchor, providing
Harington with his sleeping quarters and wireless communi-
cation with Constantinople and demonstrating Britain’s - .
Tiaval might. On shore, however, the town swarmed with

1 Ernest Hemingway, who saw Ismet at Lausanne in 1923, maintained
thar e prétendeéd ‘to be deaf to disguise his bad French, a sotial failing
in any educated Turk. Apparently Hemingway alone realised this.
Mustapha Kemal, who knew Ismet for twenty years, never found out.
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Turkish soldiers. Cavalry regiments were constantly trotting
through the narrow streets. To the British it sometimes
seemed as if it was the same regiment which passed and
re-passed the windows of the conference room in order to
impress the Allies. Harington redressed the balance to some
extent by asking the conference guards, through Blunt, if
they had been British prisoners of war, and when a number
said they had, asking them if they had all been well fed.
The smiles and nods he received in reply seemed to indicate
they had never eaten so well before or since.

The big peace conferences after the war had of course
taken place in a blaze of publicity. At Mudania by contrast
there was very much a sense of isolation. Two visitors,
neither_entirely welcome, did however appear, and their
‘presence might almost have been predicted. Fresh from his
talks with Mustapha Kemal the loquacious Franklin
Bouillon burst upon the scene, with an assistant who turned
out to be a correspondent of Le Matin. Franklin Bouillon
was convinced thathis was the creditfor the whole conference.
He offered his services to Harington but was chillingly
dismissed. Thereafter he oscillated busily between the
“Turkish delegation and that of his own countrymen. The
other arrival was just as predictable—Ward Price of the
Daily Mail, who had followed every twist and turn of events
in the Near East for the last eighteen months. He quickly
demonstrated the enviable facility of possessing better means
of communicating his copy to London than those available
to Harington for official messages through the Royal Navy
and the Foreign Office. Of course Ward Price’s task was
simple compared with Harington’s, for the flow of official
telegrams was immense; from Rumbold in Constantinople,
from the Cabinet in London and, an added complication,
from Curzon, who was now in Paris working furiously to
keep the vestige of Allied unity alive while the conference
Jasted. Trievitably a number of mistakes and undecipherable
groups of words and letters occur in the telegrams; there
was a confusing number of duplications and often the
overlapping of instructions and reports. The problem of
accurate and speedy communication only added to the
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difficulties of the conference and in consequence the strains
placed upon Harington.

At home in Britain, now that it was learnt that the
Mudania meeting had begun, it was confidently assumed
in the newspapers that a peaceful settlement would be
reached within days. In a sense this was a reasonable assump-
tion for it was difficult to see what Britain had been preparing
to fight about. At the seedy little town on the Sea of Marmora
however, Harington was forced to see things differently.

On October 2nd Franklin Bouillon had seen the Allied
High Commissioners, Rumbold, Pellé and Garroni, in
Constantinople and had given them a glowing picture of
the Turks’ willingness to come to terms. Now at Mudania
it became obvious that his forecast had been hopelessly
over-optimistic and that he must have given the impression
to the Turks that the Allied generals would be able to take
political decisions on their own responsibility or else that
somehow he himself would be able to sway the governments
to authorise the generals to do so. To Harington it looked
like a gigantic bluff; one of his staff described Franklin

Bouillon as ‘a most amusing fellow, but a thoroughly
mﬂir politician’. In fairness, however, it was likely
that Frankhn Bouillon deluded himself. At Mudania he
does not seem to have realised that the British regarded
him as a dangerous nuisance, that the Italians did not trust
him and that his own countrymen had a much lower
opinion of his abilities than the one he held himself. He had
been a favourite of Briand’s and therefore cut very little ice

with Poincaré; General Charpy in any event, out of respect

and friendship, tended if he could to side with Harington.
Only with the Turks did Franklin Bouillon exercise an
influence, and it was counter-productive, as his indulgent
interpretation of Allied, especially British, intentions,
tended to stiffen their own resistance.

For this and other reasons the first sessions round the
cramped table were very difficult indeed. Despite the fact
that Ismet Pasha was there it was obvious_that all his
“décisions would Have to be ratified by Mustapha Kemal and

~—behind him the shadowy National Assembly in Ankara. In
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fact, although there were many ‘authoritative’ statements
from Paris that Kemal was about to do so, he had not yet
replied to the Allied note of September 2g3rd. Eastern
Thrace must be promised—before e would agree. 1his
Harington could not do; he had to be assured about the
neutral zones first and the Greeks, in occupation of eastern
Thrace, had not yet appeared. Needless to say the Turks
saw this reluctance on Harington’s part as confirmation of
their suspicion that the British were somehow still in league
with the Greeks.

It was not only Mustapha Kemal and his delegation
at Mudania that harboured the suspicion. Lord Beaver-
brook’s Daily Express, which on October 1st had hoped that
the government ‘will be more than careful in its dealings
with Veniselos’, carried on the 2nd a headline ‘VENISELOS
THE WARMONGER’. During the next few days the Express in-
formed its readers of the arrival in London of Sir Basil Zaha-
roff to join Veniselos, and ‘the eloquence and the money bags
of the Greek mission being then united they will plan a new

~descent on the Foreign Office’. According to the Express,
there existed a ‘great intrigue to save Greece’; there were
secret conferences being held at Sir John Stavridi’s house
in Surrey and the Highgate home of Sir Arthur Crosfield,
whose wife came from a prominent Greek shipping family.
It was in fact not just a good newspaper story. Veniselos was
undoubtedly trying to gain support in London for the Greek
cause. Lloyd George had promised Curzon that he would be
very careful and have nothing to do with the Greeks but it
is extremely doubtful if he kept his promise. Once more
there was an atmosphere of backstairs intrigue about the
Prime Minister’s concern for Greece.

At the centre again was Sir Basil Zaharoff, whose alleged
influence on Lloyd George caused angry questions in the
House of Commons. A confidant of Veniselos, his detractors
said that he had begunlife as a brothel toutin Constantinople;
certainly hi§ origins were obscure and made more obscure
by his“own carefully cultivated air of an international
mystery man..By occupation he was a financier and arma-

ments agent and had been knighted by the British after
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the 1914-18 War for his services. Professionally and patrioti-
cally, if the word applied, he had been concerned with the
supply of arms to the Greeks in the recent war and had
shared Veniselos’ dream of a Greek empire in Asia Minor.
At one stage he was supposed to be financing the Greek army
out of his own pocket. Reasonably enough the Daily Express
-and Lord Curzon shied away from such contacts, but there
was in reality little to fear. The cause of the Greeks was not
to be revived even by the British Prime Minister, whom Sir
John Stavridi customarily addressed in correspondence as
"My dear Great Man’.

While General Harington was still locked in negotiations
at Mudania with Ismet Pasha, who was proving infuriatingly
obstinate, on October 7th a letter was published in both

“The Times and the Daily Express. It was the day after the
Greek delegates had at last arrived at Mudania, seasick from
They were General Mazarakis, and Colonel Sarryanis who
in happier days had been at the London Conference and had
once been confident of a Greek victory in Anatolia. The
letter was written by Andrew Bonar Law, the ex-Conserva-
tive leader. At first it seemed to agree with the stand taken
by the government:

‘When the Greek forces were annihilated in Asia Minor
and driven into the sea at Smyrna, it seems to me certain
that unless a decisive warning had been issued the Turkish
forces flushed with victory would have attempted to enter
Constantinople and cross into Thrace.’

In which case Bonar Law thought war in the Balkans
might have resulted.

‘It was therefore undoubtedly right that the British
government should endeavour to prevent these misfortunes.’

That said, however, Bonar Law came to the real point of
his letter: e e T T e
T *Ifis not however right that the burden of taking necessary

| action should fall on the British Empire alone.The prevention
! of war and massacre in Constantinople and the Balkans is
/ | not specially a British interest, it is the interest of humanity.
| The retention also of the freedom of the Straits is not
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especially a British interest; it is the interest of the world.
We are at the Straits and in Constantinople, not by our own
action alone, but by the will of the Allied Powers which
won the war, and America is one of these Powers. :

‘What then in such circumstances ought we to do? Clearly
the British Empire, which includes the largest body of
Mahomedans in any state, ought not to show any hostility
or unfairness to the Turks.

‘] see rumours in different newspapers, which I do not
credit, that the French representative with the Kemalist
forces has encouraged them to make impossible demands.
The course of action for our own government seems to me
clear. We cannot alone act as the policemen of the world.
The financial and social condition of this country makes that
impossible.’

The letter concluded by suggesting a tough approach
to the French to preserve mutual interests, but it was the
phrase ‘we cannot alone act as the policemen of the world’
which stuck.

Three days before, Veniselos, in an eloquent letter, had
challenged the slur of warmonger by much reference to
Greek assistance during the war, and had made an appeal
on behalf of the Greeks in eastern Thrace who would be
annihilated by the Turks, as would their compatriots in
Constantinople. The Daily Mail unfairly stigmatised his
appeal as a call for ‘a holy war against Moslems’. It was a
long letter and he related much past history from the Greek
and his own point of view, but did conclude with what was
in effect his minimum suggestion, that the Allies should
occupy eastern Thrace and supervise its handover to the
Turks. Veniselos’ letter had sparked off a heated and
detailed correspondence. Nihad Rechad, for instance, put
the Turkish case, and Caclamanos, the Greek Minister in
London, supported Veniselos, but Bonar Law’s letter
concentrated his readers’ minds on the present British
position and not in a sense favourable to the policies of
the government. His arguments were immediately praised
by both The Times and the Daily Express and from the
evidence of the correspondence columns they struck chords
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\ of response in the breasts of many Tory back-bench Members
of Parliament. Obviously there was trouble ahead for the
'Coalition government and its leader Lloyd George.

Meanwhile at Mudania Harington still endeavoured to
soften the Turks and at the same time convince them of his
sincerity. Kemal had now formally accepted the Allied note
of September 23rd and at Chanak General Marden had
managed to persuade the local Turkish commander to
withdraw his men a thousand yards from the British defences.
Lord Curzon was again in Paris, attempting to preserve
some measure of Anglo-French understanding and co-
operation. This, however, was the moment chosen by the
"Turks, presumably on Kemal’s instructions, as he and Ismet
were in constant contact by telegram and telephone, to
demonstrate that obtuseness and arrogance in negotiation
which had infuriated even pro-Turkish Englishmen for a
century. The pressure was relaxed at Chanak but Harington
began to receive reports of a build-up of Turkish forces in
the Ismid peninsula. Ismet indicated that unless eastern
Thrace was handed over immediately and all Allied units
- departed he would be compelled to put his army into
motion.

Harington had worked hard for peace, probably, as he
realised, having jeopardised his career in the process, but
there were limits to his tolerance and patience. Technically
speaking, according to his instructions from the Cabinet,
he still had the power originally vested in him to deliver °
an ultimatum of short duration and on its expiry to give
the order to open fire.

He returned to Constantinople to consult with Rumbold,
but also in order, as far as it was possible, to prepare the
city to resist a Turkish attack. There he had the consolation
of seeing more reinforcements arriving, including the 2nd
Grenadier Guards, who marched through the city led by
the pipes and drums of the Irish Guards and the regimental
band of the Buffs. A few days later the grd Coldstream
Guards were also to disembark along with the Royal Fusiliers
and a battalion of the Royal Marine Light Infantry. The
arrival of so many crack troops as proud of their ceremonial
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as their fighting traditions was not entirely appreciated
by the population of the city still used to the languors of
. the Ottoman. One commanding officer received a letter from

/. a Turk saying that ‘the residents near the Barracks would

be much obliged if you would stop such frequent use
of the bugle as it is very disturbing for many who wish to
rest in the early part of the morning’. :
The telegrams between Constantinople and London
flowed thick and fast. The Admiralty telegraphed Admiral
Brock, who was warned not to take hostile action until
further instructions if the Turks advanced across the Ismid
peninsula because ‘the French and Italians have in effect
gone back on the Paris note. If on the other hand we are
attacked at Chanak this will be an act of war against the
British Empire.” However, ‘in event of Turkish advance on
Ismid neutral zone your orders to stop Greek men-of-war
and transports entering Sea of Marmora are cancelled’.
Rumbold telegraphed to the Foreign Office: ‘Generals
hoped that this protocol [giving the Turks most of their
demands] would have been signed today but at the last
moment Ismet Pasha demanded that eastern Thrace should
be handed over to the Turks before the peace treaty and
that all the Allied contingents and missions should be
withdrawn. The demand is of course entirely at variance
with Allies proposal of September 23rd. Ismet Pasha
intimated that he would set his troops in motion if Allied
generals did not agree to this proposal, which annuls the
whole basis of the conference. Turks [have?] just requested
permission to transport to eastern Thrace an unlimited
force of gendarmerie which might in effect be an army . . >
Rumbold went on to say that the French and Italian High
Commissioners were prepared to concede almost anything
but that General Harington suggested that the British
government should authorise him to tell the Turks that
Britain would ‘summon’ the Greeks to leave eastern Thrace
at once but Allied troops would then replace the Greeks.
The meeting between the High Commissioners and their
generals had been acrimonious to a degree. The ubiquitous
Franklin Bouillon had wormed his way in again and was
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told by Rumbold that his ‘impolicy was pernicious’. Even
the Marquis Garroni had felt impelled to remind the
Frenchman that he did not represent the Italian government.
The Turks had now demanded Karagatch, a suburb of.

- Adrianople. Rumbold began to think that they would try

to grab western Thrace as well.

Lord Curzon in Paris was still having great difficulties
when Harington returned to Mudania. The French and
Italian generals, unlike their High Commissioners, were in
favour of Allied troops replacing the Greeks in eastern
Thrace. To have got this far, Rumbold realised, was an-
achievement, because the Turks’ stratagem had been, with
Franklin Bouillon’s help, to persuade the generals to sign
an-agreement allowing the Turksin straight away. Harlngton

at Mudania, where the crew of the Iron Duke were fusing -

shells preparatory to action, was instructed to play for_,
time. He took the opportunity to upbraid Ismet for his

“breach of faith in ordering the advance of 3,000 cavalry and
infantry with artillery into the Ismid peninsula and threat-
ened to oppose him with all available forces unless he with-
drew.In fact, as Rumbold informed Lord Curzon, heintended
to wait upon events in Paris. At this time Ward Price
recorded that the General was looking fine-drawn and had
taken to smoking cigarettes on the balcony overlooking the
sea in the interludes from the conference table.

Thus the prospects for peace now depended upon Curzon
in Paris and Harington at Mudania, with Rumbold in
Constantinople acting as intermediary and interpreter.
Lloyd George, Churchill and Birkenhead, who dominated
the Cabinet, were silent, presumably now content to rely
upon the decisions of a general who had disobeyed them
and a Foreign Secretary who disagreed with them.

At Mudania, still buffeted by autumn storms, the sessions
continued with frequent interruptions and adjournments -
so that the delegates could send and receive telegrams.
Turkish regiments continued to move through the town
and occasionally a military band would strike up strident
Turkish airs presumably on orders to entertain the delegates.

The British, French and Italian officers str_gtched their . . -
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legs in the uninspiring little town and were saluted punctili-
ously by the Turkish soldiery. General Mazarakis seemed
to-have resigned his country’s affairs into the hands of his
former alliesand took little partin the discussions. Harington,
realising that it was his only advantage, worked hard at
preserving unity between himself and Charpy and Mom-
belli. The three generals had, of course, known each other
for some time and had worked together amicably in Con-
stantinople. A memory of common effort during the Great
War still lingered among the generals, even if it was sadly
absent among the statesmen. This residual cameraderie was
undoubtedly encouraged by the attitude of the one other
principal at the conference, Ismet Pasha.

The part he played is difficult to assess. Small and
unimpressive, yet he was reputed to be the most popular
general in the Turkish army. Like many deaf men he often
appeared stupid; certainly he did not like the task of negoti-
ator which had been thrust upon him. What Harington
could not know was the amount of discretion he had been
given by Kemal, whether his frequent consultations with
the Ghazi were necessary or mere subterfuge. Whatever the
instructions he received, the combination of his deafness
and suspicion succeeded in irritating the three European
generals and thus inadvertently increased their regard
for each other. One of Harington’s staff talked of the
Turks’ ‘moments of dense and almost childlike obstinacy’.
There were rumours that Kemal, although officially in
Ankara, was nearer at hand, in Brusa for instance; the
temptation upon Harington to demand a decision must have
been almost insupportable.

Finally, on October 8th, when almost all hope had been
abandoned Rumbold was able to signal to Harington that
Curzon had managed to persuade the French, not without
difficulty as M. Poincaré was helpfully out of Paris, that
there must be a provisional inter-Allied occupation of
Thrace before the Turks were allowed to move in. Veniselos
had agreed to a period of thirty days. Accordingly Harington
could present his terms to Ismet, requesting the withdrawal
of Turkish troops from the British positions at Chanak and
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the Ismid peninsula as a compensation for Greek withdrawal
beyond the Maritza. Now Harington could stress that
there was no question of a majority decision at Mudania;
on paper at least the Allies were united. The General’s
task was to persuade Ismet and behind him Kemal. He
prepared with great care a speech which was full of tactful
assurances of mutual trust, which painted in the rosiest
colours the offers being made to the Turks and finally gave
solemn warning of the dangers of non-acceptance. A
professional diplomat could not have done better and would
probably have done much worse.

Ismet’s first response was not encouraging and Harington
broke off the negotiations to return to Constantinople for
his final instructions, leaving Charpy and Mombelli at
Mudania. On his return the next day on board H.M.S.
Carysfort he was so convinced that the conference would
break down that he prepared his final speech: ‘We feel
that we have done all that is humanly possible. It is useless
for me to repeat what I said yesterday. We have given you
all in our power. You were asked by the Powers to give
very little in return. You have given nothing. I am forced
to repeat—nothing . . . We are now at the parting of the
ways. Peace on the one side and a very dark future on the
other. Your government refuses the former and prefers
to plunge a large portion of mankind into . . .’

Harington never finished the draft, for on landing at
Mudania he was met by Charpy and Mombelli who told
him that the situation had visibly improved, that Ismet had
been talking to Kemal several times during the night and
that they thought there were only six minor points outstand-
ing.

Even at this last moment, however, General Harington
was again to be placed in a personal dilemma by the
government at home. Waiting for him in the conference
room was a telegram authorising him to start operations.
A second arrived confirming the first. The flicker of Allied
unity kept going by Curzon had had its effect on Lloyd
George. Harington put both telegrams in his pocket, with
another from Marden at Chanak informing him that the
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position there was again becoming impossible and that he
could hold it no longer. Harington authorised him to open
fire at a stated hour and then faced Ismet Pasha. In his own
words:

‘We agreed to transfer the first two points, being
purely political, to Lausanne. The next two I won; I don’t
think they were very important. The next point was the
area I had claimed round Chanak. Ismet Pasha said that he
could not agree and there was a deadlock. I had been in-
structed from home that I must get that area. The scene is
before me now—that awful room—only an oil Jamp. I can
see Ismet’s Chief of Staff—he never took his eyes off me. 1
paced up one side of the room saying that I must have that
area and would agree to nothing less. Ismet paced up the
other side by saying that he would not agree. Then quite
suddenly, he said: “Jaccepte.” 1 was never so surprised in
my life! I have never done any acting, but I think that I
must have impressed him as I walked up and down that
awful room.’

There only remained the question of the numbers of
Turkish gendarmerie to be allowed into Thrace. Major
Simms Marshall, the legal adviser, whispered, ‘Get a number,
it doesn’t matter a damn.’ Ismet asked g,000; Harington
retired with Charpy and Mombelli and then offered 7,500.
Ismet hesitated and Harington stretched across the table,
shook his hand and said, ‘Here is another 500’—‘and we
closed on 8,000 well knowing that they would not abide by
any number laid down.” Harington realised that it was all
over and sent a telegram to Marden cancelling his previous
order. The cancellation arrived an hour and a quarter
before Marden would have given the order to open fire.

As Harington wrote, ‘I did not think of the telegrams
in my pocket. I only thought that our nation did not want
another war so soon.’

There was still one more thing to do. Charpy and Mom-
belli were in favour of signing the agreement next day.
Harington, who feared that Ismet or Kemal would go back
on their word, insisted that the document be drawn up there
and then. So the conference sat for another fifteen hours
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straight through the night. The agreement was rendered
into English, French, Italian, Greek and Turkish with some
doubtful translation and much slow typing. At 7.15 on the
morning of October 11th the agreement was signed by all
‘but Mazarakis, who had retired to a Greek warship. He
said he had no authority and anyhow could not contact”
Athens by wireless. The space for his signature was therefore
left blank. The delegates signed the backs of Turkish piastre
notes as souvenirs, a Turkish military band struck up again
and some of the soldiers sang choruses. Harington returned to
Constantinople in the Carysfort, saluted by the other British
warships on the way.

Announcing the result to London the last two sentences
of his telegram said, ‘Am distinctly pleased. Can you
suppress my name from papers as it is hateful to me.” The
Prime Minister, however, had more pressing matters on his
mind than the inexplicable susceptibilities of modest generals.

The Mudania convention was to come into force at
midnight on 14/15th October. Only on the last day did the
Greek government signify its assent, without ever having
The heart to sign the document, so its operation was delayed
for one day until midnight on October 15th.

The actual terms were simple. The hostilities between
Greeks and Turks would cease. The Greek forces would
retire to the left bank of the Maritza from its outlet in the
Aegean to the point where it met the frontier of Bulgaria.
The Allies would occupy the right bank of the Maritza. The
Greek civil administration would then hand over to Allied
military commissions. Seven Allied battalions would stay
in Thrace for a maximum of thirty days to preserve law and
order. In return the Turks at Chanak would retire fifteen
kilometres from the coast and not increase the numbers of
their troops. A similar provision applied to the Ismid
peninsula. At Constantinople and in the Gallipoli peninsula
the Allies would remain until the conclusion of a formal
péace freaty. Until then also the Turks would not transport
“troops to eastern Thrace nor attempt to raise an army there.
In a sense both sides could congratulate themselves. The
Turks had gained all that they expected and the Allies had
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given nothing away for the moment. The only losers were
the Greeks.

Immediately the armistice was announced the Greek
population of eastern Thrace began its trek towards the
banks of the Maritza. According to the League of Nations
figures over a quarter of the population began to move. The
population of eastern Thrace was a peasant population; its
wealth was in its crops and its livestock. The crops and
the dwellings had to be left behind; the livestock they
endeavoured to move. Both Ernest Hemingway and Ward
Price witnessed the exodus. Thousands of families, some
“walking, some with carts pulled by donkeys or oxen, moving
along at a snail’s pace shepherded by listless Greek cavalry-
men. There were disputes, there was violence. Greeks
attempted to denude the countryside before the Turks
arrived. The British troops transferred from Chanak and
Constantinople kept Greeks and Turks apart and became
accustomed to scenes of viciousness, brutality and misery
ifiexplicable to men brought up in the quiet and safety of
English towns and villages.

Soon the kindest of hearts became indifferent. Greeks
and Turks, with their hatreds and their incomprehensible
languages, became merged, and from feelings of compassion
the ordinary British soldier passed to one almost of contempt.
With full stomachs, an ordered life and no fear it was easy
to do. The crowds of refugees with their bundles on their
backs and their children beside them stumbled on.
~So ended Veniselos’ dream of a Greek empire and Lloyd
George’s postwar foreign policy.




18

‘A dynamac force is a very terrible t/zm&
Stanley Baldwin

In the Daily Mail Ward Price announced that ‘General Sir
Charles Harington has brought back peace with honour’.
The phrase had been originally Disraeli’s when he returned
from the Congress of Berlin.

The triumph this time was a general’s, not a Prime
Minister’s. For a moment, however, it looked as if Lloyd
George might profit now that the danger of war was averted.
One of Harmgton s staff, writing home to his parents, was of
the opinion that ‘the Chief had saved Lloyd George

In fact Chanak proved to be the last nail in the coffin
of the Coalition government. The Conservative backbench -
M.P.s had always had a slight penchant for the Turks, as
Lloyd George’s secretary, Miss Stevenson, had noted. It
went back in its origins to Disraeli’s day. On the other
hand Lloyd George’s fervent espousal of the Greek cause
had struck them as being an unfortunate relic of his own
Liberal past. Even after the passage of more than forty
years they were not happy to be saddled with a Gladstonian
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policy. Now that policy had ended ignominiously. The Turks,
as so many had predicted, were triumphant and Britain had
been pushed to the brink of war. How near, of course, few
of them knew. Nevertheless, even from the reports in the
- press and information that was public it was easy to draw
a contrast between the moderation of Harington, the soldier-
diplomat, and the reckless belligerence of the Prime Minister.

Out came the old grudges against Lloyd George: his
slipperiness over the Coupon Election, his handling of
Ireland, the ‘Honours Scandal’, his Garden Suburb method
of government, his failure with Soviet Russia. Added to
these now was the most dangerous of all, as it came to be
labelled, ‘the Chanak crisis’.

The hopes of the critics and the dissidents inevitably
centred on Bonar Law. His letter to The Times and the
Duaily Express had brought him many expressions of agree-
ment and pledges of support from Members of Parliament
and Conservative laymen alike. Bonar Law was himself,
apparently, restored to health and not tainted by recent
service under Lloyd George. His only rival, Austen Chamber-
lain, his successor to the leadership of the Conservative party,
was still unshakeably loyal to Lloyd George and the Coali-
tion.

Outside Parliament the government was unpopular; by-
elections, those pointers to popularity, had not gone well.
The public, sick of war, had been thoroughly frightened
by the imminence of another, without allies and for reasons
which seemed either inadequate or incomprehensible. The
press was almost unreservedly opposed to a continuance of
the Coalition. The Express, which had, under Lord Beaver-
“brook’s guidance, momentarily held its hand while Britain
had been on the brink of hostilities, now came out firmly
on Bonar Law’s side. Lord Rothermere’s Daily Mail, which
" had been so critical of the policy in the Near East as nearly
to provoke government action, continued to praise Haring-
ton, blame Lloyd George by contrast, and began to support
Bonar Law as an alternative. The influence of The Times
was also brought to bear. Lord Northcliffe, its proprietor,
had degenerated into insanity, ending in death. For a brief
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period the policy of the newspaper was in the hands of its
powerful editor, Wickham Steed. The Times had certainly
not been overkind to Lloyd George’s foreign policy; its
editor was now, in addition, convinced that the continuation
of the Coalition would be positively detrimental to British
political life. So the paper in public, and the editor in private,
both urged Bonar Law to follow up his letter and make a
stand against Lloyd George.

Among the inner circle of the Cabinet, Lloyd George,
Churchill, Birkenhead, Balfour, Chamberlam, Worthington-
Evans and Horne, the danger seems to have been ill com-
prehended “or underestimated. They were not repentent
over the part they had played in the recent crisis, rather
tHe reverse, and its successful conclusion may even have.
persuaded them of their own ability to ride out another
storm. The poht1c1an s disease, the delusion. of thinking
oneself irreplaceable in the favour of party and public, had
€ntered into their systems and rotted their judgment. Alone
among his colleagues Austen Chamberlain, perhaps more
cautious, perhaps more modest than the rest, had some faint
glimmerings of the force of the criticism about to be unleash-
ed. Confidently, back in September, as the Daily Express had
revealed, the Cabinet had planned a general election,
des1gned to anticipate the Conservative Party Conference on
November 15th. The crisis and the preparations for war
had for the last month taken precedence The crisis over, and
ignoring or mlsmterpretlng its effect, plans for an election -
were again put in train.

“Now an election was precisely what many Conservatlves
ardently desired, but not so that they could agaifi support

a coalition led by Lloyd George. The Chief Whip and the - -

party agents reported their misgivings to Austén Chamber-
ldin, as léader of the party. He determined on a showdown’
Wlth the critics to take place at a meeting of Conservative
M.P.s. It was finally decided that it should bé hield on
"QOctober 19th at the Carlton Club,! the stronghold of.

1 The origin of the present ‘1922 Committee’, consisting of all Conser-
: . vative Members of Parliament who are not Ministers, which meets -
" | weekly in the House of Commons during the sitting of Parliament. It
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traditional Conservatism. At this stage he was still confident
that the idea of continuing the Coalition would carry the
vote. Some part of his confidence was no doubt due to the
fact that apparently the Conservative party had no leader of
substance other than himself.

For Bonar Law had not yet declared his hand. His
personal dilemma was acute. He still retained a sense of
past affection and loyalty towards Lloyd George, in whom
once he had had so much confidence. He had misgivings
about his own health and his general fitness for the task that
lay ahead: the leadership of the Conservative party and
the ranging of that party against some of the most powerful
and skilled politicians of the day.

What final influence, whether person or principle, per-
suaded him, it is impossible to say. Convinced, however,
that the prolongation of the dominance of Lloyd George
would split and ruin his own party, at the last moment
Bonar Law made his decision to speak at the Carlton Club
meeting in favour of Conservatives fighting the election
as an independent party.

The day before the meeting Bonar Law gained an
unexpected and belated ally. Originally Lord Curzon had
promised to throw in his lot with his colleagues of the
government. Not that he had any reasons to be fond of Lloyd
George, but perhaps because, with some justification, he
thought of himself as the man most fitted to be Foreign
Secretary. The habit of government was ingrained into his
soul; he could not imagine himself being outside one.
However, on October 14th Lloyd George made a speech in
Manchester in which he aired all his old prejudices: hatred
for the Turks, admiration for the Greeks and criticism of the
French as allies. This at a time when the Mudania conven-
tion was not yet in effect; when it was still important not to
offend the Turks and to hold on to the French. It proved too
much for Curzon, who had laboured hard, without thanks, to
preserve British foreign policy from the attentions and
interference of the Prime Minister. So he saw Bonar Law

has an elected Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer, etc. Customarily
abbreviated to *22 Committee. e
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and pledged himself to fight the Prime Minister, who had

always thought of him as ‘the gilded door-mat’, incapable of

that much courage.

Bonar Law had decided, Curzon had decided; so had
the right wing of the Conservative party which had always
been uneasy with Lloyd George, the ex-Liberal; so had a
number of junior Ministers dissatisfied with the Prime
Minister’s methods of government and management. It still
remained to convince the rank and file of the Conservative
back-benchers. It seemed likely to be a considerable task;
the odds were not good. Those who remained loyal to
Lloyd George had all the prestige of seniority and office
around them and the Conservative party has never been
noteworthy for its revolutionary tendencies. Up until the
morning of the Carlton Club meeting those Conservatives
who stayed loyal to the Coalition government were confi-
dent of success and their opponents were apprehensive of
failure. On the very morning the result of the Newport by-
election was printed in the newspapers; in 1918 in the Coupon
Election the results had been Coalition-Liberal, 14,080,
Labour, 10,234, Independent, 647. This time there was no
Coalition candidate but a Conservative, a Labour and a
Liberal candidate. Everyone assumed that Labour would
win. Reginald Clarry, the Conservative candidate, had

campaigned openly against the Coalition, attacking it .

throughout the three weeks’ election period, and defining
his own position as an ‘Independent’ Conservative, that is -
in favour of Conservatives breaking free from the Coalition
and standing on their own again as one party. It was, how-
ever, assumed that Labour would win the seat. Newport,
like most of Wales, was traditionally Labour in its allegiance,
‘Wwith some regard ‘still for the old Liberal party. The victory
in 1918 had been won by a Liberal but, as in many other
seats, in the immediate aftermath of the successful conclusion
of the war. Everyone knew that the Coalition was now
unpopular but it was difficult to apportion accurately the
blame for its unpopularity. Disraeli had said that ‘England
does not love coalitions’. That was probably still trie, Biit
“the vital calculation now was whether the odium of mem-
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bership . rubbed off on Liberals or Conservatives, or on
both equally. The country might be dissatisfied with its
present government, covered with their camouflage garments
of coalition, but what would they think of them dressed
again in their old party colours? Naturally the answer to
this question was the one that most concerned Conservative
M.P.s—without the wartime giants could their party stand
alone and stand successfully?

The result of the by-election in Newport seemed to
provide that answer. Before they went to their meeting
at 11 a.m. on October 1gth, Conservative M.P.s had read in
their morning papers that Clarry had gained 13,515 votes,
Bowen for the Labour party 11,425, Lyndon Moore the
Liberal 8,841. On a very high poll for a by-election, 8o per
cent of the electorate having voted, there had been a
Conservative victory with a majority of 2,090.

Properly speaking the proceedings at the Carlton Club
were private and confidential. The minutes taken at the
meeting have been accidentally destroyed, but it hardly
matters as it was one of those not untypical political gather-
ings where secrecy was enjoined and every word uttered
immediately appeared set out verbatim in the newspapers.
Two hundred and seventy-five members attended and when
Bonar Law entered gave him a vociferous and enthusiastic
welcome. Austen Chamberlain spoke first and on the princi-
ple that Balfour had enunciated in private the night before:
‘this is a revolt and it should be crushed’. Chamberlain,
consequently, made no concessions to Conservative feelings
and so appeared to treat the members of his own party in a
rather high-handed way. Back in July a group of Conserva-
tive junior Ministershad aired their complaints and grievances
to the Cabinet Ministers and had beenlashed by Birkenhead’s
contemptuous tongue. A similar speech, even if less cutting
and arrogant, from Austen Chamberlain in October was too
much to bear, and so the words of the leader of the party
were received coldly and in almost dead silence. Thus Cham-
berlain, because of his devotion to Lloyd George, threw away
the prize that could have been his: leadership of an indepen-
dent party and the premiership of Great Britain.
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The next speaker was Stanley Baldwin, President of
the Board of Trade. Short and stocky, with a big ponderous
head, he had been in office for only a few months, and had
‘ade no particular mark. A rich businessman by profession,
he had brought with him into the Cabinet room a quality of
sober commercial rectitude and apparently little else.
. With Curzon and Sir Arthur Griffith-Boscawen, the Minister
of Agriculture, he had been opposed to the handling of the

Chanak crisis, but he was not an expert on foreign affairs
and had no reputation as an orator, unless dullness pursued
as a positive virtue be considered oratory.

On this occasion he surprised his hearers. The root of
the difficulty, he thought, was the position of the Prime
Minister. “The Prime Minister,’ said Baldwin, ‘was described
this morning in The Times as a live-wire. He was described
to me, and to others, in more stately language, by the Lord
Chancellor as a dynamic force and I accept those very
words. He is a dynamic force, and it is from that very fact
that our troubles, in our opinion, arise. A dynamic force
is a very terrible thing, it may crush you; but it is not
Tiecessarily right. It is owing to that dynamic force, and that
remarkable personality, that the Liberal party, to which he
formerly belonged, is smashed to pieces, and it is my firm
conviction that, in time, the same thing will happen to our
party. ...

Mr. Chamberlain was prepared to go into the wilderness
if compelled to forsake the Prime Minister. ‘I am prepared
to go into the wilderness to avoid him. ...

Two M.P.s., Pretyman and Lane-Fox, proposed and
seconded a motion in favour of the Conservatives fighting
the general election as an independent party. Lane-Fox
took up Baldwin’s description, ‘It is impossible for a coalition
to have principles. They are only a sort of improvisation
based on the brain-waves of a dynamic force. . ..’

There followed a few short speeches. Sir Henry Craik
said, ‘I feel we have been led on to a slippery, dangerous
and doubtful path,’ and thén, as if by general consent,
“Bonar Law rose to address the meeting. He too had never
been an inspiring speaker; indeed nearly all the great phrase-
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spinners of the day were collected together in the Lloyd
George camp. He spoke slowly and almost hesitantly, and as
always, with curious syntax.

‘A coalition in any form is so alien to all our habits that
the necessity for it, since the war was ended, we are bound
to challenge. ... I confess frankly that in the immediate
crisis in front of us I do personally attach more importance
to keeping our party a united body than to winning the
next election. . . . This coalition is like a marriage without
any law of God to interfere with your decision; it is like a
marriage where one of the parties is determined to go away;
and if so nothing that you can do can make it a real union.
I am sorry that is the conclusion to which I have come....
I say today that whether it is Mr. Lloyd George’s fault or
the force of circumstances—and I think in the main it is
the force of circumstances . . . there is precisely the same feel-
ing in our party today that it must end’ [as with Asquith’s
wartime coalition] ‘and for that reason there is no good
trying to keep it alive.’

Finally, Bonar Law stated that he would vote for the
motion. It was carried by 187 votes to 87.

The night before Lloyd George, Churchill, Birkenhead
and Balfour had spent a convivial evening together. In-
formed of the decision of Bonar Law and Curzon to oppose
them, they deplored Bonar Law’s conduct but regarded
Curzon’s as dishonest to the point of treason. As Viceroy,
in collision with Kitchener, then Commander-in-Chief in
India, he had threatened resignation and been taken at his
word. Those who knew him confidently assumed thereafter
that he would never resign again. There was something about
Curzon that brought out a cruel bullying streak in Lloyd
George, and he had certainly given his Foreign Secretary
ample provocation, personal and political. Yet Curzon had
soldiered on. Now he had resigned. It could only be assumed
that he thought he was leaving a sinking ship.

For the rest of the evening they talked. Lloyd George
amused them with his witty parodies of Curzon’s pomposity.
Together they were rude and silly about L. S. Amery, the
leader of the junior Ministers opposed to the Coalition.
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Birkenhead, of whom Vansittart said ‘he could no more
keep off wit than spirits. Neither did him any good,’ was at -
the top of his best coruscating form. Maybe they were
whistling to keep their courage up. Curzon’s defection had
affected all of them more than they would have cared to
admit. .

The next morning, before lunch, Lloyd George walked
from the Cabinet Room to the office next door where his two
Civil Service secretaries, A. J. Sylvester and J. T. Davies,
were working. Cheerfully he greeted them and asked if there
was any news. Both Sylvester and Davies knew what he
meant. There was none. Lloyd George remained standing,
twisting his pince-nez round and round on their black silk
ribbon. The telephone rang. Davies answered it and then
told the Prime Minister of the result of the voting at the
Carlton Club. “That’s the end,’ said Lloyd George and walked
out of the room.

At 5 p.m. the same afternoon he had an audience of

the King and tendered his resignation as Prime Minister.
Afterwards George V wrote in his diary, ‘I am sorry he is
going, but some day he will be Prime Minister again’; but™
the King was wrong and the Prime Minister was right. The
next day The Times leader observed, “The Coalition fell
like an overripe pear, it was so rotten that the passer-by
did not even stoop to examine it.’
-~ The series of events which had been put in motion when
some Greek troops had landed on the quayside at Smyrna
and which had involved two Greek kings and a prime
minister, a Turkish general, a British general who had
saved his country from war, and thousands of dead Greeks
and Turks, had now brought down the most renowned
statesman in Europe. The Liberal H. A. L. Fisher, one of the
Ministers carried away with Lloyd George, who subsequently,
achieved greater eminence as a scholar than as a poht1c1an,
‘wrote in his History of Europe, somewhat inaccurately and
bitterly, ‘Providentially delivered from the ghost of Mr.
- Gladstone and the aeroplanes of Mr, Lloyd George, Musta-
pha Kemal, beneficiary of the Carlton Club, quietly ¢ crossed
the” Dardanelles
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On the same day as Lloyd George resigned Bonar Law
was granted an audience by the King. In his own view he
could not form a government until he had been elected
leader of his party. This formality was carried out four days
later at a meeting of Conservative peers, M.P.s and candi-
dates. His proposer was Curzon, his seconder Stanley
Baldwin. He went straight from the meeting, at the Hotel
Cecil, to Buckingham Palace to be appointed Prime Minister.
The next day the names of his Cabinet were announced.
The former rebels received their rewards: Curzon remained
as Foreign Secretary, Baldwin was Chancellor of the Exche-
"quer, Griffith-Boscawen became Minister of Health, and
L. S. Amery First Lord of the Admiralty. Outside the
Cabinet Sir Samual Hoare, another leader of the back-bench
revolt, became Secretary for Air. Perhaps the most surprising
appointment was that of Neville Chamberlain (Lloyd
George called him ‘a pinhead’) to the Office of Postmaster-
General. Neville was Austen’s brother. Winston Churchill,
not without truth or bias, called it ‘a government of the
second eleven’. On October 26th Parliament, which had
not met since August 4th, was dissolved, and Bonar Law
announced that he would take his ‘second eleven’ and the
Conservative party to the polls on November 15th.

The election campaign which followed was a bitter one.
Lloyd George and Bonar Law tended to abstain from
personal criticism of each other, but no such restraint was
exercised by their licutenants. Lloyd George regretted that
Bonar Law’s judgment had been overborne by diehard
Tories, and talked of the Carlton Club decision as a ‘crime
against the nation’. Birkenhead laid about himself in fine
style: the new Ministry was composed of ‘second-class
intellects’ and ‘their mediocrity frightened him’. But
Birkenhead’s tongue ‘made him enemies as flies breed in
summertime’, as Churchill observed, and he had made too
many by now for his criticisms to carry any political weight.
Churchill himself had been stricken with gastro-enteritis on
the night of October 18th and was admitted to hospital for
an appendix operation. Consequently he was only able to
get to his constituency of Dundee for the latter part of the
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campaign and then had to be carried in a chair to meetings.
On October 28th, however, he sent a message to the Dundee
Liberal Association. In it, among other things, he gave his
views on the recent crisis in the Near East. It was good
resounding stuff and there were no apologies.

. I am very proud indeed to have taken part in the -

decisions and energetic action of the British Cabinet which
prevented the Turks from carrying a new war into Europe.
When I read the official reports of the massacres and burnings
in Smyrna, when I read in the newspapers of the hundreds of
thousands of Christians who are now fleeing from Thrace, I
thank God that a voice went out from this land strong
enough and clear enough to halt advancing armies and to
cast a merciful shield between the hapless fugitives and their
fierce pursuers. General Smuts, the great Liberal statesman
of South Africa, has vindicated the action which we took.
Australia and New Zealand have stood at our side. Through-
out the United States you will find only gratitude and re-
spect for what Britain has done and done alone and unaided
by her Allies. So far from excusing the course we adopted, I
“regard my association with it as one of the greatest honours

in my long political life.
‘I have yet a word to say. In the political confusion

that reigns, and with causes so precious to defend, I take___

_my stand by Mr. Lloyd George. I was his friend before he

was famous. I was with him when all were at his feet. And_

now today, when men who fawned upon him, who praised
‘even his errors, who climbed into place in Parliament upon
his shoulders, have cast him aside . . . I am still his friend
and lieutenant. . . .’

Those of Lloyd George s Ministers who stayed bound to
him were especially vicious in their attacks upon those such
as Curzon whom they accused of treachery and disloyalty
Personal accusations and eounter-accusations filled the air,

To make things even more complicated it was a ﬁve-partym_ &

fight, between Bonar Law’s Conservatives, Lloyd George’s
Tiberals and a dissident rump of Conservatives who stayed
loyal to Lloyd George, Ramsay MacDonald’s Labour party
and Asquith’s old Liberals. The conduct of affairs in the
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Near East inevitably bulked large in nearly all the candidates’
speeches. The Coalitionists like Churchill, who stood as a
‘National Liberal’, remained unrepentant, and their critics
were niot armed with their secret information. Nevertheless
Bonar Law’s watchwords of ‘tranquillity and stability both
at home and abroad’ implied criticism of foreign adventures.
Wittily, Violet Bonham Carter, speaking in support of her
father Asquith, observed that Britain was being offered a
choice between a Prime Minister suffering from sleeping
sickness and one afflicted with St. Vitus’ dance. Wittily,
but hopelessly; for when the results were declared, despite
the personal brilliance and expertise of its opponents, the
party of tranquillity carried the day. Conservatives had won
* 344 seats, Labour 138, Asquith Liberals 60, Lloyd George
Liberals 57. Bonar Law had a majority over all other parties
combined of 77.
A number of Bonar Law’s prominent opponents lost their
seats. Sir Donald Maclean, who had led the Liberals in
Asquith’s absence from the House of Commons; Hamar
Greenwood, who had first mentioned in Cabinet the approach
to the Dominions for help against Turkey. In Dundee, which
returned two Members, Winston Churchill gained 2,000
fewer votes than the other National-Liberal candidate, and
was ejected from Parliament in favour of the only Prohibi-
fionist ever elected to the House of Commons. Of the other
ex-Ministers closely connected with Chanak, Horne, Mond,
Greenwood and Lord Lee, apart from Lloyd George =
himself, were never to see office again.
““Needless to say the world had not stood still while Britain
had fought out a general election. Among the speeches,
manifestos and the photographs of candidates, readers of
the newspapers would have observed that, after a comic opera
~~march on Rome, on October 31st an ex:Communist journa-
list called Benito Mussolini had become Prime Minister
\ of Italy. Sforza, although invited, had refused to serve in
" his government. There were photographs and descriptions
too of Greek refugees entering Greece from Thrace, and of
Turkish cavalry, made more sinister by dust goggles, trotting
in to take their place.
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At Constantinople too the signing of the armistice at
Mudania had its effect. There was now to be a full peace
conference at Lausanne between Britain, France, Italy and

ATurkey and other concerned nations. Until then the Allied

garrisons would remain but the situation was a curious one;
“Britain, France and Italy had 51gned an agreement with the
new government of Turkey but in Constantinople it did not
exist. There lingered Tewfik Pasha, the Grand Vizier, and
the Sultan himself, presiding over a government which had
outlawed Mustapha Kemal and condemned him to death.
It was a situation which concerned Kemal more than
the Allies, for properly speaking it was no part of their
function to differentiate between two rival governments.
Kemal’s problem was that he knew that a large number of
Turks still held the Sultan and Caliph in high regard.
They were a conservative people. Some of the older
generation, incredible as it may seem, still resented the
Young Turks’ removal of Abdul Hamid. The three years
which Kemal had employcd to increase his own power were

many Turks Kemal was still only a superbly successful

general; the realities had not yet dawned upon them. Even

among Kemal’s own entourage there were men who confessed
to an ineradicable sentimental regard for the office, if not
the person, of the Sultan.

As it turned out the British, almost accidentally, solved
Kemal’s problem for him. Just as for the London Conference,
so for Lausanne, invitations were sent not only to the
Grand National Assembly in Ankara, but also to the
Sublime Porte at Constantinople. Meanwhile Kemal had
sent Refet Bey as military governor of Thrace to take up his
headquarters in Constantmople He had two tasks: to act
as Kemal’s representatwe in the capital and, as he Tater
“confessed to Harington, ‘to make as much of a nuisance of
himself as possible’ to the Allies. Refet’s reception by ‘the

: delirious Turks in Constantmople surpassed all expectations,

with flags, processions and cheering crowds. The Allies
wisely stayed aloof while Refet happily acted out the part
of popular hero.
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There was now less doubt in Kemal’s mind about the
popularity of his own regime; if they had mobbed his deputy
what would they not do for him? A brief interlude of

negotiations, through Refet, with the Sultan, when the

+ possibility of some form of constitutional monarchy was
.“discussed, decided him. The Sultan, buried in the past, was

either too stupid or proud to co-operate. The invitation
* to Lausanne provided Kemal’s opportunity; the Nationalists

were incensed, once more it appeared as if the Allies were
trying to play off one set of Turks against the other. Resent-
ment against the Constantinople government, which had
contributed nothing save opposition to the glorious events
of the last three years, increased, especially among the
younger generation. Kemal steam-rollered a bill through
the Assembly in Ankara separating the spiritual powers of
the Caliphate from the temporal powers of the Sultanate.
The latter office was abolished, retrospectively, back to the
date of the Allied military occupation of Constantinople.
As for the Caliphate, the occupant of that position would
be chosen by the Assembly.

In Constantinople on November 4th Tewfik, the last
Grand Vizier, surrendered the seals of office to the last
“Sultan. Refet informed Rumbold, Pellé and Garroni that he
was now thé tepresentative of the new government of Turkey.
The Allies stayed neutral, but had on their hands the
embarrassment of an ex-Sultan. He, Mehmed Vahid ed Din,
was now frightened for his life, the history of his House
‘scarcely provided precedents to reassure him, and attempted
to enlist the support of the British. Rumbold could only
inform him that in future Britain would have to deal solely
with the government in Ankara, but that the Sultan could
rely on him for personal protection. Mehmed obviously
feared arrest or worse at the hands of the Kemalists, but
in reality he was probably perfectly safe. Kemal had no
intention of causing a popular outcry by laying hands on a
harmless but still respected old man. The one danger was
the action of some fanatic or an enthusiast anxious to

_ingratiate himself with the new regime. Turkish history

was not without previous examples.
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On November 16th Harington received a message from
the Sultan’s bandmaster, father of one of the Sultan’s
wives, that the ex-monarch had been deserted by all save
“a Tew of his followers and had heard rumours that he was
to be assassinated on his weekly Friday Selamlik, during his
procession through the streets. He therefore threw himself
on the protection of the British.

Rumbold was in Lausanne, so Harington asked for
confirmation of the request. He received the following
letter:

Sir,

Considering my life in danger in Constantinople,
I take refuge with the British government, and request
my transfer as soon as possible from Constantinople
to another place.

November 16th 1923,
Mehmed Vahid ed Din,
Caliph of the Mussulmans

The request made formal, Harington obviously enjoyed
himself devising a John Buchan-like plan.

On the Thursday night before the morning of the Selamlik,
the Sultan with his son, his chamberlain, the faithful band-
master, a few servants and a couple of eunuchs, having
previously announced their intention of spending the
night in one of the kiosks in the Palace gardens, packed
valuables and jewellery into trunks.

Before 6 a.m. on the Friday morning—‘the rain wascoming.
down in buckets’—the Palace was surrounded by British
“troops, all of whom seemed to have decided to take an early
morning stroll. On street corners officers, armed with
revolvers, lounged and talked. On the seafront by the Dolma
Bagtche Palace a hundred armed blue-jackets had been
landed to stretch their legs. In all the streets leading from
the Sultan’s palace to the quay, lorries containing machine-
guns and their crews under the tarpaulins had unaccounta-
bly broken down. Perhaps the only part of the charade that
occasioned little surprise, at least from the British, was
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the battalion of the Grenadiers solemnly carrying out
punctilious arms drill on the square, within sight of the
small back entrance to the Palace.

At 6 a.m. two army ambulances sped across the square
and up to the gate. With umbrellas over their heads the
Sultan and his suite left the Palace and climbed awkwardly
aboard. At the naval yard Harington and Nevile Henderson
awaited the Sultan. He arrived late in the second ambulance;
despite the careful arrangements a tyre had blown and
a wheel had had to be changed. Harington and Henderson
breathed again, saluted the Sultan and escorted him to the
Commander-in-Chief’s launch, which soon took him to
. H.M.S. Malaya. In the launch, in Harington’s words, ‘I
i perhaps hoped that he might give me his cigarette case as a
| souvenir, instead he suddenly confided to me the care of his
" five wives.” On board Malaya Henderson asked the Sultan if
Malta would be a suitable destination. The Sultan seemed
to have no preference and agreed. So the British battleship
steamed out across the Sea of Marmora, leaving Constanti-
nople without a Sultan for the first time in 500 years.

‘I think that the Nationalists were very glad when they
found he had gone,’ said Harington, and he was right.
After 2 moment of surprise and annoyance Kemal accepted 2
situation which was to his own advantage. The Sultan had
away, a pathetic figure, guarded against his former subjects |
by the British. The way was now open to approach Abdul
Medjid, the fifty-four-year-old cousin of Mehmed, with the
suggestion that he should become Caliph and confine him-
self to spiritual matters, leaving temporal power with the
National Assembly and, of course, Kemal.

Vahid ed Din did not stay long at Malta, but soon
settled down in a villa at San Remo. The British arranged
the transfer of the bulk of his private wealth and he took
no further active interest in the affairs of Turkey. Nor
did any of his Aiumerous descendants and relations. So ended,
in comfortable obscurity, the house of Osman, once the most
powerful dynasty in the world.
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“With the British Union Fack flying high’
Lieutenant-General Sir Charles Harington

The last act of the old Turkey was played out at Lausanne,
Turkey herself had changed, but Europe seemed not to
have realised it. The overall object of the Conference was
to re-define her relationship to her former conquerors and
other concerned states, to settle the vexed question of the
Straits, and to deal with a number of economic, commercial
and legal subjects.

There was still something of the air of the old nineteenth
century congresses about it all: the Great Powers were
assembling to have yet another attempt at the Eastern
Question and decide Turkey’s place in the world. Therefore,
although the Lausanne Conference had a long, if interrupted,
run, it was not a very good play; at times it seemed to verge
on tragedy, at others farce, and it had a number of touches of
low comedy.

The cast was more interesting than the theme and there
were a number of effects off-stage. The delegates assembled
in Lausanne for November 2oth. Needless to say, the
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Marquess Curzon represented Britain, assisted by Sir

~Horace Rumbold, of whose abilities, curiously, Curzon had
no very high opinion. Rumbold was now, officially, as well
as High Commissioner, Ambassador to Turkey. Among
Curzon’s advisers was Harold Nicolson. France sent Barrére,
‘her Ambassador to Italy, Maurice Bompard, and General
Pell¢, the High Commissioner in Constantinople. Garroni,
the Italian High Commissioner, headed his country’s
delegation, although it was to be reinforced at times by the
presence of Mussolini for purposes of prestige.

The United States was represented by Richard Child,
the Ambassador to Rome, Joseph Grew, the Minister in
Berne, and the unpopular Admiral Bristol, now described
officially as High Commissioner at Constantinople. The
Japanese, Romanians, Bulgarians, Yugoslavs and Belgians
also sent delegations, and the Portugese their Minister at
Berne. Of more interest than any of these was the Soviet
delegation, led by Georgi Chicherin, a former Tsarist

|/ diplomat, with a meagre reddish beard and a particularly
unpleasant high-pitched voice. It was he who had seduced
the Germans away at Rapallo. There were shades of 1918
again in the presence of Veniselos as head of the Greek
delegation, with Caclamanos, the Minister in London, who
‘had supported him in The Times, as his second-in-command.
It was, however, the Turkish delegation which provided the
biggest surprise of all, because it was headed by Ismet
Pasha. Now Ismet had few advantages as a diplomat. He
had been thoroughly miserable at Mudania, he was a
soldier by profession, he was deaf, he had hardly set foot
in Europe all his life. He did speak French, despite Ernest
Hemingway, but so did most educated Turks. He certainly
did not want the task, but Kémal had created him Minister
for Foreign Affairs specially so that he could fulfil it. Indeed
Kemal had been forced to order him to do so, and there,
simply, lay the reason for the choice. Ismet was a soldier,
he obeyed orders, and he was at Lausanne to do just that:
"to 6bey orders from Kemal to give nothing away.

* * *
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Rightfully, as he always received something less than
justice, the Conference was Lord Curzon’s. On three
counts: for what he did achieve, which was considerable in
the circumstances; for the sheer volume of his spoken words,
which was stupendous; and for the number of anecdotes of
which he was the subject, which were legion. With his
erudition and eloquence and charm, not always wasted on
his fellow-countrymen, his stiff, corseted back, immaculate
dress, and alabaster countenance (the Foreign Office called
it ‘Alabasster’ as the Marquess pronounced his a’s short), he .
dominated the Conference. .

Unfortunately this combination of qualities impressed
everyone but the Turks. ‘He treated us all like schoolboys,’
said_Ismet, but the schoolboys were not abové™ giggling
behind the headmaster’s back. Like schoolboys they had
their private jokes and Curzon’s appearance, which put less
well-dressed Europeans—and there were many—in awe, had
the opposite effect on the Turks. Slatin Pasha, once an_
Austrian subject and a prisoner of the Mahdi’s in the Sudan,
confided to a British staff officer, “With his smooth cheeks
and frock coat he looks like a court eunuch; you should have
sent a big man with a moustache in a Life Guard’s uniform.’
Of this, of course, Curzon was sublimely unconscious, as
also of the reason behind a minor personal irritant. There
existed in London at the time a Servants’ ‘Black List’: a list
of those houses in which domestic servants would not seek
posts unless desperate. As Curzon paid as much attention to
the layout of a table, the household accounts, or even the
contents of the jam cupboard, as to an international treaty,
his numerous establishments headed the list. In consequence,
just before the Lausanne Conference, he had acquired, like
so many heroes of fiction but less happily, a comic man-
servant, who admitted that he was ‘ambitious to get into
the service of a famous man’.

To be fair, an early incident had rather tickled Curzon’s
fancy. The new valet was helping the crippled Foreign

. Secretary on with his socks when he stumbled and fell. “You _

* are either very ill or very drunk,’ said Curzon. ‘Both, my
lord rephed the man.
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Later incidents were, at least to Curzon, but not to
Nicolson or Vansittart who also knew the valet, less amusing.

At first the Conference had a delusive air of going very
well indeed. Many of the divisions between British, French
and Italians had been smoothed away. Curzon had worked
hard to bring this about, and no doubt the disappearance of
Lloyd George, at daggers drawn with Poincaré and in French
eyes ridiculously pro-Greek, had helped him. Further, now
that the French and Italians were seated comfortably
round a conference table and were not liable to be asked to
commit troops to battle, their mood was much more co-
operative. Rumbold and Curzon were also much relieved
that a rumour that Franklin Bouillon was to be the principal
French delegate proved to be false. So the old Allies were
able to present something of a united front.

With his sense of history and the interests of the British
Empire well to the fore in his mind, Curzon concentrated,
naturally enough, on the question of the Straits and Turkey’s
external boundaries. To the French and Italians, with their
economic interests in Turkey and their colonies of business-
men and merchants, he left those matters which would
affect the future status of foreigners inside Turkey. Gurzon’s
was the strategic approach, and inevitably he came into
collision with the Russians, who, although they were now
Communist at home, were still very Russian in their
external diplomacy. Chicherin’s interest in the exit to the
“Black Sea was just as obsessive as that of any of the Foreign
Ministers of the Tsars. He had, however, he thought, an
advantage over his predecessors in the relationship already
established with the new revolutionary Turkey. Having
given financial aid to Kemal, having settled the disputed
Russo-Turkish border, and having co-operated in the final
settlement of the Armenian problem, Russia adopted an
almost_paternalistic' attitude to Turkey. In this Chicherin
made just as big a mistake as Western diplomats in the past.
Tsmet was a Turk and he was proud and obstinate. He and
his countrymen had driven out the Greeks and dealt on
terms of military equality with Britain. He was not now
going to be patronised by Russia. Curzon, although addicted
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to paternalism himself, saw this, and cleverly drove a wedge-
_between Turkey and Russia. Chicherin’s voice became™
higher and higher and his protests about unfairness to
Russia were positively spat out, but it was of no avail. The
draft agreement with regard to the Straits was therefore
eminently sane and reasonable, almost as if the fulminations
of Lloyd George a month ago had never been. A matter
_which had vexed the Great Powers and Turkey for a century
was at last settled. B
In time of peace and of war, if Turkey were neutral, there

was to be complete freedom for all merchant vessels. If
Turkey were involved in a war, she was to be allowed to
prevent enemy merchant ships from using the Straits. More
important, though, was the question of warships. In time™
of peace the only restriction was that no one nation could
send into the Black Sea a fleet more powerful than that of
the most powerful fleet of the littoral powers. In time of

a war in which Turkey was neutral, similar provisions were~
to apply, but with rather stricter regulations to protect
theinterests of the Black Sea powers, and with the additional
provision that no hostilities were to be permitted actually -
“within the Straits. Finally, if Turkey were at war, how she
dealt with her enemies was her affair, but the rights of
neutrals would still be preserved, providing that they
observed more stringent rules for their own safety.

The next matter was the military dispositions on land
adjoining the Straits; and again it seemed almost incredible
that a month ago Britain had been prepared to go to war -
over this very issue. At Constantinople Turkey was allowed to
maintain a garrison not exceeding 12,000 men, with an
arsenal and a naval base. Throughout the whole of the
coastline of the Straits a demilitarised zone was to be
maintained, lying back some fifteen to twenty kilometres
from the shore. Both Greek and Turkish islands in the area
were also to be demilitarised, and the frontier zone along
the Maritza. o
A Straits Commission was to be formed, consisting of a
Turkish president and representatives of the signatory
powers at Lausanne. The Commission was to operate under

339



the auspices of the League of Nations and to supervise the
maintenance of the demilitarised areas. In the event of
violations which imperilled the freedom of the Straits or
the security of the demilitarised zones, France, Britain,
Ttaly and Japan were to actin conjunction, under the control
of the Council of the League of Nations.

The draft was simple as well as sensible, and it seemed
unlikely that there would be violations of its provisions as
at last Turkey was master in her own house, but with
certain obligations to those using the waterway which
passed through her territory.! So far Lord Curzon had every
reason to feel pleased with himself despite the presence of his
drunken valet, whom Lady Curzon called ‘your horrid man’.

The next problem was the future relationship between
Greece and Turkey. Here again the prospect for amicable
settlement was hopeful. Veniselos seemed almost resigned
to the complete defeat of all his grand designs and prepared
to accept the realities of the situation. Some part of his
public attitude may have been attributable to the news from
Athens, which caused Curzon great concern. There, on
November 13th, the trial by court martial had begun of
Gounaris, the forer Premier, Protopopadakis, the former
Finance Minister, Theotokis, War Minister, Baltazzis, who
had been Foreign Minister, Stratos, the Minister of the
Interior, and Admiral Goudas, General Strategos and
General Hajianestis. Rumours were in the press of further
arrests and future trials. The new Plastiras regime was
seemingly determined to place all the blame for the Anatolian
disaster on the previous government. Presumably Veniselos
agreed with this policy, for without any apparent twinges
of conscience over the part he had played himself, he sat
contentedly at Lausanne negotiating with the Turks.

Few difficulties arose. The frontier of eastern Thrace
and Adrianople was agreed, following the lines drawn up at
Mudania. The next decision was the wisest ever arrived at

1In 1946, after an international conference, the Montreux Convention
was signed. Turkey re-occupied the demilitarised zones and the Straits
- Commission was abolished. The Turkish Republic, just like the Otto-
! man Empire, controlled the waterway which ran through its territory.
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in the long history of Graeco-Turkish relations. To avoid
sources of future conflict the two nations agreed that under

the aegis of the League of Nations there should be an -

exchange of minority populations. Greeks in Turkey should
go to Greece; Turks in Greece to Turkey. Of course there
were hardships involved and many difficult personal decis-
ions had to be made by the individuals concerned, but
generally speaking the wholesale decision was acceptable.
By this drastic piece of surgery a cancer was to be removed
_from both bodies politic. A few Turks were to remain in
western Thrace and a few Greeks in eastern Thrace, and a
sizable Greek minority in Constantinople, but otherwise
‘the only potential battleground lefc between Greek and
“Turk was Cyprus. However, that island’s troubles were in
the future. It was the only sensible solution, but in two
respects the Greeks were the losers, and it was one of the
ironies of history that Veniselos was to be the negotiator and
ultimately the signatory of the agreement. For in 1919
"Greeks, although unredeemed, had extended their com-
! mercial and maritime influence throughout the littoral of
the Aegean. Now, by a process begun by Veniselos, that

" had been sacrificed and whole populations uprooted, and
Greece itself was flooded with poverty-stricken and jobless
refugees, an unwelcome burden upon her already over-
strained economy.

As the mechanics of the migration were discussed at
Lausanne, the trials proceeded in Athens. Much of the
evidence must have made unwelcome reading both at
Lausanne and in London. Gounaris had contracted severe
‘para-typhoid and so was unable to give evidence on his own
behalf, but General Hajianestis, as might have been expec-
ted, put the blame for the military defeat on his predecessor,

! General Papoulas, and what he called ‘the moral fatigue of

-, the Army’. However Theotokis said that King Constantine
: had only been appointed Commander in-Chief in Anatolia

! bécause ‘a friendly great Power’ had given the government

| 6 tinderstand that the moral force of the King ought to be
used. General Strategos was even more specific, and said

reA—z

influence, and profit, had disappeared. Thousands of lives -
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that Gounaris had received encouragement from Lloyd
George and Curzon, and that Sir Robert Horne had written
to Gounaris a letter promising financial assistance.

Curzon was troubled by the pattern the trials were taking
and tried to persuade Veniselos to intervene, but the latter
took refuge in the ‘justice must run its course’ argument,
and with perhaps more honesty revealed his personal opinion
that the accused deserved their fate. This was not the
point that concerned Curzon, but the whole issue of trying
politicians and generals by court martial for policies for
which they were not entirely responsible but which had
failed. Accordingly, on November 26th, the British govern-
ment despatched a formal note to Athens urging clemency
for the fallen Ministers and officers.

The appeal was ignored. On the 27th General Othonaios,
the President of the Court and the only Greek general to
have been wounded in Anatolia, read out the sentences in
a ‘noticeably tremulous voice’. Gounaris, Theotokis, Bal-
tazzis, Stratos, Protopopadakis and Hajianestis were all
sentenced to death, and Plastiras, now a General, signed
the death warrants, The next morning all six were shot by
firing squad. Gounaris was strapped to a chair, being unable
%o ‘stand on account of his illness. General Hajianestis’
medals were stripped off before he was shot. Stratos had
time to hand his cigarette case to the officer in charge,
requesting him to give it to his son with the advice never
to enter politics. The Times reported that all six ‘had faced
death bravely’.

Admiral Goudas and General Strategos were both senten-
ced to life imprisonment. The British, with their traditions
of fair trial by the civil courts, accompanied by the right
of appeal, were especially horrified. Some part of Curzon’s
indignation must have penetrated to Veniselos, who did at
this late and useless stage protest to his government, at
least about the executions. The Revolutionary Committee
in Athens, however, showed no signs of remorse; a spokesman
even describing ‘the British intervention as ‘a great error’,
and adding that ‘to encourage the Constantinists would be
harmful to British interests’.
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~In disgust the British government broke off diplomatic
relations with Greece, and the Minister was ordered to leave
“Athens. The execution of the six men had brought the
British, government and people alike, to the point where
they simply did not want to have anything more to do with
the Greeks, whatever their political complexion. This
spontaneous gesture of exasperation did probably have a
beneficial effect. A large number of other generals had been
arrested and were due for trial, including Prince Andrew,
Papoulas, Dousmanis and Exadactylos. This ‘second string’
was dealt with much more leniently than their unfortunate
predecessors. Even luckier was Stergiades, lately High
Commissioner in Smyrna, who had left Greece and so was
tried in his absence. Papoulas, who had once before been
tried by a Veniselist court martial, was found to have acted
fairly and honestly and was released. Exadactylos and others
were released without formal trial. Prince Andrew, how-
ever, was tried by court martial. The trial was to a large
. extent merely an attempt to shift more of the blame for
Greece’s defeat onto the shoulders of the Royal Family
and Constantine’s Ministers and generals, and conversely
- to divert any blame from the members of the new ruling
clique. Prince Andrew was charged with disobeying military
orders in refusing to advance against the enemy in the late
part of 1921. The Prince had certainly disagreed with G.H.Q.
but then so, for that matter, had Colonel, now General,
Plastiras. Similarly, Veniselos could have been charged
with the same offence as Gounaris. General Papoulas gave
evidence reluctantly and in fact almost provided Andrew’s
defence. Nevertheless the verdict was a foregone conclusion:
Prince Andrew was found guilty, deprived of his military
rank and his estates in Greece, and sentenced to be
banished.

John Buchan’s novels were very popular that year, and so
King George V, concerned for the Prince’s safety, managed
with the help of a Commander Talbot, who had been a
Naval Attaché in Athens, to get Prince Andrew and his
wife and family quickly on board H.M.S. Calypso and away
from Greece the night after the conclusion of the trial. The
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Prince and his family, including his eighteen-month-old
son, Prince Philip, settled in London.

Although producing a break-up in the Cabinet in Athens
and an atmosphere of coldness between Gurzon and Veniselos
the trials in Greece did not seriously affect the progress
of negotiations in Lausanne. Lady Gurzon travelled out to
join her husband, and ‘was delighted to find George so
well and happy’. She attended a gala banquet for Ismet and

- afterwards danced with the little general. Apparently

she found him most difficult to talk to, ‘as indeed George
also found him—in Conference’. Lady Curzon also informed
her husband, with some pleasure, that at a dinner in London
she had ‘merely shaken hands with Sir Robert Horne’, but
had cut Birkenhead and his wife in public. Mussolini was

another less charming visitor to the Conference. Lady | &
" Curzon recorded that ‘his conceit and vanity were beyond ;

belief’. Her husband realised this, but was prepared to/
pander to the Italian demagogue’s little stratagems, such as’
keeping everyone else waiting for his arrival. The French

were irritated, but Curzon had his reward. Mussolini

classified the Foreign Secretary as ‘friendly’, which was not

everyone’s judgment, and a little more cement was applied

to the wall of Allied solidarity. Nicolson, often with a more

snobbish and less realistic eye than his master, was merely

struck by the dictator’s lack of ease, constantly wriggling in

badly fitting clothes.

Lord Curzon’s apparent success was beginning to be
noticed in the British press, and on November 28th he wrote
a most revealing letter to his wife, who had now returned to
England: ‘I have suddenly been discovered at the age of
sixty-three. I was discovered when I was Viceroy of India
from thirty-nine to forty-six. Now I have been dug up and
people seem to find merit in the corpse.’

Then, towards Christmas, the Conference began to slow
down. Ismet was digging in his toes, with Britain so far as
Mosul and the border with Iraq were concerned, and with
France and Italy with regard to their demand for special
internal concessions. Curzon had assumed that the French
and Italians would be able to reach conclusions as quickly
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as the British, and he was wrong. Neither Kemal nor Ismet

_was prepared to give up their country’s hard-earned’

independence. Curzon’s letters record the deterioration
Trom the rapid progress of the earlier days. “The Turks are
becoming impossible,” he wrote. ‘We have Tade every
conceivable concession but the Turks fight every point as
“though they were the conquerors of the world.” T
Curzon was particularly irritated by the fact that although,
with his great knowledge of Asia, he was able to demolish
all Ismet’s arguments on ethnic, religious and historical
. grounds, the Turks would still not give way. Even his
sarcasm was of no avail. Mosul, occupied by the British,
was important for its oil fields and its strategic position with
régard to the frontier with Iraq; its population contained
fifany more Kurds and Arabs than Turks. But ‘one might
just as well alk to the Duke of York’s column’, said Curzon.
Eventually, however, perhaps because the mere volume
of Curzon’s arguments began to tell, Ismet agreed that the
question, like that of the Christian minorities in Turkey,
should be referred to the League of Nations. (In 1925 the
League fully endorsed Curzon’s arguments.)
The British Foreign Secretary, often by holding out
membership of the League of Nations to the Turks, which
they regarded as a status symbol, had achieved all that he

really wanted. Now he became impatient of the French and__

Ttalian concern with financial and commercial matters; with
détails, as he saw them, of railways and banks, businesses
and services. All these, dating from the days of the Capitu-
lations which gave tax and customs concessions to foreigners,
were in fact small independent empires within Turkey,
and the French and Italians wanted to hold on to them.
They had been the reason behind their desire to keep on
friendly terms with Turkey before and during the Chanak

crisis. Now, paradoxically, they had become the st'limbling
Block to the signing of the treaty, for the Turks.had n
intention of remaining an economic vassal_state. Unwisely,
. perhaps, Curzon recalled the success of Disraeli at the
} Congress of Berlin, achieved, it was said, by ordering his
‘ train to be ready to leave the capital at a publicised hour if
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the treaty were not signed. Curzon decided to try the same
approach. On January 315t 3 draft treaty was presented to
‘Ismet. Ismet asked for time to consider and prepare his
arguments and objections, but Curzon was growing increas-
ingly impatient.

There were perhaps other reasons besides emulation of
Disraeli why Lord Curzon should decide to vent his impati-
ence on Ismet. Apart from the constant pain in his spine
he was also troubled by phlebitis and recurring bouts of
insomnia, both of which afflicted him when he was over-
working. On December 3rd, as an aftermath of the trials
' in Greece, the Sunday Express had published a letter from
' Gounaris to Curzon, written on February 15th, 1922, in
~ which the Greek Prime Minister had called attention to the
" declining strength of his own country and the increasing
might of the Turks, and had said that unless arms and money
could be made available by Britain, Greece would be forced
out of Asia Minor. Gounaris had caused the letter to be
produced at his trial in an effort to save himself from
blame. Lloyd George, Worthington-Evans, Austen Chamber-
lain and Birkenhead denied having seen the letter, and
suggested that Curzon had neglected to perform his duty and
inform his Cabinet colleagues. They argued that if they had
known those facts their subsequent actions would have been
vastly different. Questions were asked in the Commons and
the Lords, and Birkenhead mounted a full-scale attack on
Curzon in the latter House. In the event the ex-Ministers
all made fools of themselves. The letter had been circulated
with the Cabinet papers and they had initialled their
copies. Lloyd George wriggled dishonestly, but Birkenhead
and Austen Chamberlain apologised handsomely. Curzon
was vindicated but incensed, no doubt as much by the
revelation of his ex-colleagues’ dislike of him as by the
suggestion of incompetence. On December 16th the Daily
Express revealed some of Lloyd George’s part in encouraging
the Greeks to fight even after the fall of Smyrna, an accusa-
tion that Lloyd George never refuted. Curzon was mollified,
but still hurt.

On a lower plane, his valet still added to his master’s
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. problems. Chancing to walk down to the ballroom of his
éf hotel with Nicolson, Curzon espied him dancing amorously -
¢ with a much bejewelled American woman. Unfortunately,
1 when he became aware of Curzon’s eye upon him, the valet
i fell drunkenly between his partner’s legs, bringing her down

. on top of him. ‘I think he had better leave,” observed the
Foreign Secretary, and leave he did, but on going, as a last
gesture, hid all Curzon’s trousers.

However, spurred on by whatever combination of motives,
calculations, and quirks of temperament, Curzon decided to,
be high-handed with Ismet. He would leave Lausanne on -
February 4th. On February grd there were a series of last-"
minute meetings between Curzon and Ismet, assisted by the
Italian, French and U.S. delegates. It was confidently,
expected that Ismet would yield, but he did not. Lord
Curzon, unlike Disraeli, left on his ordered train. He did not”
return to Lausanne.

In retrospect it seems a pity that no one told Curzon

of his effect on one of the delegates: Stambolisky, the
‘Bulgarian, and leader of his country’s Peasant Party, who
was to meet a foul death at the hands of his enemies a few
years later. At one stage in the Conference he had an
audience, no other word applies, of the British Foreign
Secretary. Curzon was superb, polite, aristocratic and
charming. At the end of their conversation Curzon escorted
his guest to the door, and in so doing placed his hand on
his shoulder. The Bulgarian was much impressed by this
condescension, a colleague reported later; ‘ce geste ld étart
rare pour un lord,’ he said. -
" Curzon would have liked that, but it would not have
consoled him for a lost conference.

* * *

The breakdown at Lausanne had its effect at Constanti-
nople. Throughout the period while the Conference had
been sitting, the British had stayed in their positions at
Chanak, Nagara Point and in the Ismid peninsula. As
news had been telegraphed through of apparent successes or
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failures, the soldiers had been allowed to relax or ordered
to be ready to repel possible Turkish incursions. The last
drafts of troops in October had strengthened the British
forces, but it was a trying time, not improved by the freezing
cold of the Anatolian winter. The Highland Light Infantry
were usually apprised of some hitch at Lausanne by the
appearance among them of their fiery colonel, shouting at
the top of his voice, ‘it’s war, bloody war’. It never was,
however, and the pipe-major occupied some of his time
in composing a slow retreat march entitled ‘Nagara Point’.

The real crisis centre was now Constantinople. The
British managed to preserve a calm imperial front. Sports
were played, officers ran a pack of fox-hounds and hunted
the local fox; there was some very good duck shooting. The
presence of three battalions of the Foot Guards and the
Rifle Brigade even permitted of a performance of the Eton
Wall Game, not always comprehensible even to participants.
At the centre of it all Harington remained his usual charming
outwardly imperturbable self, caring for his troops and
cosseting his allies, and keeping on friendly terms with
the Turks. There was a great deal of entertaining. Lady
Harington on one occasion surprised Mombelli, a stiff,
dignified man, by sliding downstairs on a tea tray to a
reception. Generally, the French and Italians were confirmed
in their view of the strangeness of the English.

There always existed, however, the danger of a popular
uprising in the city. Almost every day Harington, Charpy
and Mombelli, or the High Commissioners, met with Refet;
‘an aggravating little man with his highly polished manners’
and his gold pencil’, was how one of the officers present
described him. There were a hundred and one petty argu-
ments, but the theme was always the same: the Allies
maintaining that they were in Constantinople as of right,
Refet arging that he was the new Turkish government.

When t},l;éf_'icaﬁ"ft?f&iéé“'Hiamﬁ’ﬁﬁﬂy' collapse, plans had
once again to be made to defend the city, and once again the
British garrison was put on a war footing. The breakdowni
also had its effect in Ankara. The deputies of the Grand
National Assembly criticised Ismet, and more seriously
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Kemal. As a foretaste of things to come Kemal finally
dissolved the Assembly and elections were held throughout”
Turkey. There was in reality only one party: his own. The .
results confirmed him in power, and once more an attempt
could be made to reach a settlement at Lausanne. In the
event it was all rather an anti-climax. Curzon did not..
attend, sending Rumbold in his place. The other nations
' 2156 merely sent their High Commissioners, Commercial
tealism triumphed over diplomatic protocol. Minister Grew
| of the U.S.A. was naturally concerned for the newly formed
|/". Chester Group, now establishing considerable interests in’
Turkey. The French and Italians had taken the hint; the
old economic subservience of the Ottoman Empire had gone
for ever.

The treaty was finally signed on July 24th, 1923. Rumbold
alone wore a grey top hat to give the proceedings a bit of
tone, and an era had closed.

In fact, of course, the British are as concerned with
‘face’ as mitich as any Oriental. The Allied Force of Occu-

" pation were to leave Turkey in October, and for ten weeks
staff officers prepared embarkation schedules and loading
programmes. A whole army had to be moved: men, horses,

~ guns, vehicles, kitchens and field hospitals. Engineer and

— - ordnance officers worked night and day. There still remain-
ed the non-warlike stores: tents, boats, ground sheets, and

the thousands of items from tins of paint to pontoon bridges

~+ that an army collects in four years of static existence.
. Much was immovable; for example huts, ‘temporary’ bar-
o racks and store houses. Finally, a solution was arrived at, and
the nightmare task of counting every nail and coil of rope

- was abandoned. Whole mountains of clothing and stores
s were sold to the Red Crescent—the Turkish Red Cross—

at knock-down prices. Such was the hurry that one artillery

. unit spent its last nights in Anatolia sleeping in the open air,
o~ because its tents were dismantled ready to be sold to the

. Turks.
) %™~ Presumably a large number of Turks, and not all members
Q“ﬁ";- of the Red Crescent organisation, made a handsome profit.

%% | The British tax-payer made a fantastic loss. For £32,000 the
o S B, 349
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British Army sold something like £600,000 worth of equip-
ment, including huts, lorries, light railways and boats.
These matters disposed of, the British were now pre-
pared to make their final exit from Turkey. The French
and Italians may have been a trifle hesitant, but Harington
was determined to leave, as he put it, ‘with the British Union
Jack flying high’. It is difficult to say he was wrong, for
as well as persuading the Allies to participate in a final
parade he roped the Turks in as well. When they pointed
out that their soldiers were ill-equipped for such ceremonies
the Coldstream Guards obligingly fitted out a whole regi-
ment with a complete set of new boots.

On the morning of October 2nd, 1923, Constantinople
was en féte. True, many of the restaurants and little
tobacco shops were closed, as well as the establishments of
dried fruit and carpet vendors. They had been owned by
Greeks, and many Greeks had left. An enormous Turkish
flag floated over the Tophane naval depot, which had been
handed over the day before. Round the square at the Dolma
Bagtche Palace a large crowd, kept back by Turkish gendar-
merie, watched as guards of honour, French, British, Italian
and Turkish, were assembled. With the characteristic
high-pitched scream of the drill sergeants, the British
contingent of the grd Grenadier and 2nd Coldstream Guards
was dressed by the right. In the centre was the colour party
of the Irish Guards, picked from the tallest soldiers of the
Battalion, every man well over six feet tall. This was the
finest drilled infantry in the world, and so it looked, towering
over the French, Italians and stocky Turks.

At 11.30 a.m. the official party appeared: Harington
and Lady Harington, Charpy and Mombelli, the Turkish
commander, General Salahaddin Bey, and the High Com-
missioners—Nevile Henderson in immaculate morning
coat and top~hat; The guards were inspected and the
colours saluted. When Harington saluted the Turkish flag
the crowd pushed aside the not very efficient gendarmerie,
and spilled out on to the parade ground. Harington was
separated from his wife, and the other Allied generals had
to fight their way through a mob of not unfriendly Turks.
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The National Anthems were played in an attempt, perhaps,
to restore order. As few people recognised the new Turkish
national anthem the plan was not entirely successful. The
guards began to march off towards the quay. The departure
of the French and Italians was marked by silence, punctuated -
by a few shouts and whistles. The slow, steady tramp of the
Brigade of Guards did, however, have its effect; and the
Turks, who do not cheer in admiration, began to clap. It
may have been some lingering respect for the British; it
may simply have been the superb bearing of those tall
impassive soldiers. Whatever the cause—and the Coldstream
band played the popular Turkish tune, its refrain, ‘Mustapha
Kemal Pasha’, as it left the square—the British were pleased
with the compliment. .

Soldiers and crowd all moved towards the quay. Harington
and his wife were squeezed into a gateway to get them out
of the way of the surging mob. The Italian High Commission-
er had his pocket picked. The last troops began to embark
‘on the transports. Henderson prepared to return to what
was now the British Embassy. Almost the last soldier to
embark was Harington himself. He had exchanged a number
of friendly letters with Ismet, and had left a final message
for him which included a soldierly reference to the service of
both British and Turkish troops in the Crimea. The General
had hoped to meet Mustapha Kemal, and had indeed made
plans for a meeting on a warship in the Black Sea, but ‘the
Foreign Office had stopped it’. Harington stepped out of
his official Rolls-Royce and it was left on the quay. The
ship’s sirens hooted and a naval band played ‘Auld Lang
Syne’.

The day after the British left, a mob broke into the
British Crimean War cemetery and broke some of the head-
stones with crowbars. The awning in front of one of the
largest hotels, being blue and white, the Greek colours, was
destroyed; and Constantinople as a true Moslem city went
dry, seals being placed on all the wine shops and cafés.
Three days later, along streets covered in Turkish flags,
interspersed with garlands of greenery on what had once
been British tentpoles, the Turkish army marched into thecity.
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A Turkish newspaper commenting on the British with-
drawal had this to say:

‘At last they are gone, they are gone after having embarked
their guns, their rifles and their soldiers under the scornful
and despising looks of the noble Turkish people, and after
having saluted with the deepest respect our glorious flag.
They told us that they were bringing us to justice and
civilisation, their justice consisted in knocking off pedestrians
at street corners, in shots fired by drunken men on the
peaceful population, in beating innocent folks with sticks.
As for their civilisation, it consisted in debauching the
civilised families of Pera, Pera which was already a univer-
sity of dirt and filth, which became a house of ill-fame. It
consisted in opening gambling houses all over the town and
in transforming our seaside resorts into exhibitions of most
repugnant scandals. We bear witness today to the superiority
of Eastern civilisation and to its triumph over that of the
West.’ -
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Finale

/&' he night before he left Constantinople General Harington

v

destroyed nearly all his correspondence and papers. Although
not meant as such, it turned out to be a symbolic gesture.
By his actions a disaster had been averted and most
others directly concerned were anxious to turn the page.
Nations and men went their separate ways. In the relations
between Britain and the Dominions the Chanak crisis proved
to be a lesson learned on both sides. Henceforth there were
to be no more attempts to dictate foreign policy from
“London. Significantly, the first treaty between a Dominion
and a foreign power (Canada and the U.S.A.) was signed in
March, 1923. T
For Mustapha Kemal the signing of the treaty at
Lausanne was only the beginning. H. A. L. Fisher, who did
not like the Turks, contemptuously described them as ‘a
nation of private soldiers’; yet private soldiers have
qualities which can be put to good use. The soldier-statesman
at the head of the Turks ordered them to march into the
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twentieth century and they obeyed. That his methods were
rough by the standards of Westminster was irrelevant.

Abdul Medjid proved to be the last Caliph. The office
was soon abolished, and although most Turks are still
Moslem, Turkey became a secular state, and thus divorced
from the last vestige of connection with her former dominions
in the Middle East. The fez disappeared by order; a statue
of Kemal in full Western evening dress was erected in
Smyrna, presumably to set an example, but the head-dress of
Anatolia became a singularly unattractive cloth cap. The
yashmak over the faces of the Turkish women also dis-
appeared, as a sign of their new emancipation. In private
Kemal may have said that the only quality he admired in
women was availability, but publicly he brought Turkish
women educationally and socially to equality. The process
of modernisation was continued into the vital field of
education. The Western alphabet was introduced and
illiteracy drastically reduced by the provision of schools and
a compulsory education system. As his detractors are
quick to point out, Kemal was the first of modern dictators,
but his dictatorship remained reasonably benevolent and
his country stayed at peace. When he died on November
10th, 1938, he was truly, as entitled, Kemal Ataturk—father
of the Turks. His successor as President of Turkey was Ismet,
who, when Turks had acquired surnames, another sign of
modernisation, had taken Inénii after his double victory.
Ismet Inénii remained President until 1950, becoming in
the process an ally of Britain in the latter part of the 1939-45
War. He and Churchill met amicably after the Yalta
Conference.

Greece, until invaded by the Italians in 1940, also avoided
war, but her internal politics were chaos. The memories,
hatreds and rivalries bred by her Anatolian imperialism
died hard. In the fourteen years after her defeat she experi-
enced nineteen changes of government, three changes of the
constitition and seven m111tary coups A6 Ziat. In December
1923—it was the year in which his father Constantine
died—King George II was compelled to leave Greece, and
soon after a republic was proclaimed. Mr. Morgenthau,
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prematurely, was delighted. In June 1925 a Cabinet of
generals was replaced by one general. He, Pangalos, saw
himself as the strong man of Greece, and proved it by heavy
censorship of the press and a decree with regard to the
length of women’s skirts. A year later, by another coup, he
was dismissed in favour of General Kondylis, who had more
merit in that he attempted to make way for an elected
civilian government. However, the kaleidoscope continued
to be shaken; fragmented parties and diverse personalities
appeared in a variety of temporary attachments. Presidents,
prime ministers and their deputies came and went. Generals
Plastiras, Pangalos, Kondylis, Metaxas, Admirals Kondour-
iotis and Hadjikyriakos, and the odd embarrassed civilian.
At all times there were more generals and politicians in
exile or prison than government.

In July 1928 Veniselos, who had made brief appearances
béfore, was elected Prime Minister of Greece and received a
letter of encouragement from his old friend Lloyd George.
Sensibly, no doubt, Veniselos concentrated on external
affairs and succeeding in improving considerably Greece’s
relations with her Balkan neighbours and with Turkey.
In 1930 a final settlement was made with Turkey with regard
to the property of emigrants and the status of non-exchanged
minorities. In October of the same year Veniselos, braving
a storm of criticism at home, visited Constantinople (by then
renamed Istanbul) and Ankara. In the new Turkish capital
he signed a treaty ‘of neutrality, conciliation and arbitration’,
an agreement limiting naval re-armament and a commercial
convention. In October 1931 Ismet Inénii, then Prime
Minister, paid a return visit to Athens. In the same month
Veniselos again courted domestic unpopularity by denying
support to the Greek Cypriots, who were in a state of minor
rebellion against British rule. Nothing, in the Prime Minister’s
View, “miiist alienate British friendship for Greece’. A statue

1 Metaxas was dictator, under the returned King George II, when the
Italians invaded Greece. Plastiras emerged again as an influence in
the civil war which followed the end of the German occupation. A
meeting with Churchill at this time occasioned the comment: ‘I hope
that General Plastiras hasn’t got feet of clay.’
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of Canning was unveiled in Athens, and of Rupert Brooke on
Skyros, for it was the 100th anniversary of the declaration
of Greek independence.

In 1932, having failed to persuade the League of Nations
to lend more to Greece than an offered £2 million, Veniselos
resigned, and his career entered into a steep decline. In 1935
the monarchy was restored and George II returned to Greece
from his exile in Britain. By then, however, Veniselos had
been concerned with various unsuccessful military coups
and he eventually took refuge on Rhodes as a somewhat
discredited conspirator. He died in Paris on March 18th,
1936. Lloyd George’s telegram of condolence to his widow
called him ‘the greatest Greek statesman since Pericles’.
His body was returned to his native Crete, but not via
Athens, for fear of disturbances. Vansittart, who had known
him since the Peace Conference, wrote in 1958:

‘The Cretan was the worst influence in Lloyd George’s
life, and in the end its undoing. He was a courteous fox,
an affable barmecide of reason, the best foul weather friend
we ever had, benign and transparent beneath a black skull
cap. Invincible eyes glinted behind his glasses. I admired
and distrusted him immensely.’

As an epitaph it will serve.

By 1936, when Veniselos died, a number of those closely
concerned with Greece’s tragic years had gone before.
Bonar Law had resigned as Prime Minister on May 20th,
1923. His reason was his failing health, and he died on
October goth. On November 5th he was buried in West-
minster Abbey, his coffin borne on the shoulders of sergeants
of the battalion of the King’s Own Scottish Borderers which
had been at Chanak. Of his two sons lost in the war the
younger had been killed with the regiment fighting the
Turks at Gaza. To Asquith was attributed the remark:
‘It is fitting that we should have buried the Unknown
Prime Minister by the side of the Unknown Soldier.’

Bonar Law’s resignation left the premiership and the
leadership of the Conservative party open. Curzon confident-
ly expected it, but the ultimate political prize was to be
snatched away from him. Bonar Law, in his declining

356



health, had been in no state to advise King George V as to
a successor, but Balfour was consulted. Officially his argu-
ment against Curzon was that he was a peer and that the
Prime Minister must be in the House of Commons. However,
Balfour had never liked Curzon and had resented his going
over to the rebels in 1922. When Balfour returned home to
his house guests, among whom was Edwin Montagu and his
wife, Lady Blessington asked, ‘Will dear George be chosen?”’
There was a ring of satisfaction in Balfour’s reply: ‘No,
dear George will not.” The new Prime Minister was Baldwin,
‘a person of the utmost insignificance’ in Curzon’s view.
After tears in private, Curzon accepted the situation, and
“continued to serve as Foreign Secretary. Eventually he
had to relinquish the seals of that office to Austen Chamber-
lain and accept that of Lord President of the Council,
a high-sounding demotion. In that post he died on March
2oth, 1925. Churchill wrote: ‘The morning had been golden,
the noontide was bronze, and the evening lead. But all
were solid, and each was polished until it shone after its
fashion.” One of Curzon’s doctors, on leaving the funeral
service in Westminster Abbey, was less sonorous: ‘He tried
to teach us all our business,” he said.

Birkenhead, having been created an Earl in 1922, was
an indifferent Secretary of State for India from 1924 to
1928. He died two years later. He left behind a store of

sarcastic remarks and a smaller number of friends. Worthing-

ton-Evans, having been Postmaster-General from 1923 to
1924, died a year later. Balfour left the world he had
always pretended to disdain in the same year as Birkenhead.

By 1930 Horace Rumbold had completed two years of his
five-year term as Ambassador in Germany, and was finding
that his warnings to London about developments there were
receiving scant attention. Harington had been promoted
full General in 1927, and was now G.O.C.Western Command
in India. His part at Chanak was beginning to be forgotten.
Cavan was succeeded in 1926 as Chief of the Imperial
General Staff by General Sir George Milne, who occupied
the post until 1933. In that year Harington finished his tour
of duty as G.O.C. Aldershot Command, whence he had gone
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from India in 1931. Naturally enough he now wondered if
the highest post in the Army might be his, with the eventual
dignity of Field Marshal. At Chanak he had thought that
his independence and disobedience to orders might preju-
dice future governments against him. Whether his prognosti-
cation was correct or not it is impossible to say. The post
was, however, given to a lesser man, and many of Harington’s
friends thought that he had not received his due reward.

Disappointed, Harington accepted the post of Governor
and Commander-in-Chief of Gibralter, which he held from
1933 to 1938. It was the period of the Civil War in Spain and
there were numerous crises, but it was not an unpleasant
way to round off an army career. Until his death on October
22nd, 1940, he frequently corresponded with Ismet, who
signed himself ‘your comrade at Mudania’.

In the same year Robert Horne died. Since his days
as Chancellor of the Exchequer he had occupied himself
in a welter of commercial activities, being a director of
the Suez Canal Company and of Lloyd’s Bank, and chairman
of the Burmah Corporation and the Great Western Railway.
Presumably for these services he had been created a Viscount
in 1937. Rumbold died in 1941. The last ambassador in
Berlin before the outbreak of war in 1939 was his former
deputy in Constantinople, Nevile Henderson. Marden also
died in 1941. After his command at Chanak he had held
only one more post, as a major-general commanding the
Welsh division until 1927, when he retired. He was knighted
in 1924. Shuttleworth held a number of posts after 1923,
all in India, progressing from Colonel to Major-General,
and finally commanding the Kohat District from 1932 to
1936. He retired in that year and was created a Knight
Commander of the Order of the Indian Empire. He died
in 1948.

* * *

From 1929 to 1939 Winston Churchill was in the political
wilderness but not in obscurity. Baldwin, still apprehensive
of Lloyd George’s influence, had separated him from his
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principal ally by offering Churchill the surprise appointment
of Chancellor of the Exchequer in his second administration,
from 1924 to 1929. Churchill had rejoined the Conservative
party and come to rest in the secure parliamentary constitu="
“ency of Epping. Thus when Baldwin’s government fell in
1929 Churchill was a somewhat more ‘respectable’, if still
rebellious, Cabinet colleague. He was a Conservative, his
natural place in the political spectrum, he was an ex-
Chancellor of the Exchequer in a Conservative admini-
stration, and he wasstillan M.P. with a platform in Parlia-
ment.

He devoted much of his vast energy to writing, producing
during this period his life of his ancestor, the 1st Duke of
Marlborough, and his history of the Great War and its
aftermath. In the latter he put forward a highly personalised
account of the Chanak crisis. He sent the proofs of the book
to Lloyd George and on his treatment of that subject received
by letter the following comment:

‘French statesmen played a mean and treacherous game
over Greece. The Italians were beneath contempt. Had
Mussolini been there he would have stuck to Adalia and
found an outlet for his surplus population in developing
that derelict country. As you point out our active support
of a Greek policy was rendered impossible by the fact that
the Tory members of the Cabinet (except Balfour) were all
pro-Turk.’

A year before Lloyd George had written to Veniselos:
‘What an opportunity they [the Greeks] threw away of
becoming the greatest power in South East Europe.’ '

In enforced retirement from government, though still
a Member of Parliament, Lloyd George had seen no reasons
to change his opinion or regret his actions.

Like Churchill in the period of the 1930, Lloyd George
was out of office, but unlike Churchill no particular cause
captured his interest. Churchill was soon to be demanding
rearmament and drawing attention to the German menace.
Lloyd George, like many others, met Hitler and was not
unimpressed. He was, of course, by now an elder statesman
(he had celebrated his seventieth birthday in 1933), and
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although still a devastating performer in the House of
Commons, the chances of power again were fast receding.
The personalities of his premiership were disappearing too.
Beatty hastened his own death by insisting on marching in
the funeral procession of his old friend, Jellicoe, in the winter
of 1935, and then following the coffin of King George V in
January 1936. Cavan’s last command of troops was of those
ceremonially employed at George VI’s Coronation in May
1937. Trenchard, the other member of the triumvirate, was
to live to inspect the air force which he had fostered in a
previous war fighting in a second.

That war and the appointment of Churchill as Prime
Minister brought home to Lloyd George the fact that his
political course was run. Churchill was prepared to give
him an appointment but sensibly Lloyd George refused. He
was to die on March 27th, 1945, when victory was assured
but not yet concluded. In 1941 his wife had died and in 1943
he married Miss Frances Stevenson, who had worried about
the telegram to the Dominions in 1922. It was hardly a
surprise. As she put it, ‘our real marriage had taken place
thirty years before’. Almost in his last year her husband

“decepted an earldom, becoming Earl Lloyd-George (the
first use of the hyphen) of Dwyfor. His last public utterance
was in Caernarvon at a dinner for the new mayor. Looking
forward to a new peace settlement he had said by way of
warning: ‘Great men sometimes lose the reins and lose their
heads.’

After Lloyd George’s death there came to his widow
a small bag of soil from the Acropolis, with the request

¢ that it should be sprinkled on his grave. The senders were

the Pan-Hellenic Union of Reserve Officers, the survivors
of the movement which had put Veniselos in power during
the Great War.

* * *

On the morning of January_ goth, 1965—it was one of
the coldest days of the year—the Horse Artillery guns
thudded from Hyde Park and the British prepared to bury
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their last hero. Winston Churchill, who in 1922, when

writing to the Dundee Liberals, had spoken of ‘my long .

political life’. The years between had been filled with adver-
sities and triumphs. His active political life had spanned

three generations; he had in his time filled almost every "

“political office; he had been a member of two political
“parties; he had broken almost every rule for success and yet
succeeded. '

The bands of the great-coated regiments clanged out
the Dead March from Handel’s Saul. The Union Jack

draped coffin on its gun-carriage was pulled steadily by -

blue-jackets through the London streets to St. Paul’s
Cathedral. There the stone faced guardsmen of the Inkerman

Company of the Grenadiers lifted the heavy lead-lined -
coffin. Among the pall-bearers on both sides were Field

Marshall Slim, who had fought the Turks at Gallipoli,

Earl Attlee, who before taking to politics had commanded -
his infantry company in the same campaign, and Field-

' Marshal Alexander, who had commanded the 1st Irish
Guards in Constantinople in 1922.
After the funeral service the coffin was borne down the
steps for its final journey and the mourners emerged from
the cathedral to pay their last respects. Princess Marina,

Duchess of Kent, daughter of Prince Nicholas of Greece; -

the Vice-President of Turkey; the young Constantine, King
of the Hellenes, in his dark blue military cloak, great-
grandson of that other Constantine who had twice lost his
throne. At the Queen’s side, standing to the salute in his

uniform of Admiral of the Fleet, was Prince Phlhp,]?like ‘/

of Edinburgh, son of Prince Andrew who had once comman-
ded an Army Corps in Anatolia. ~

There only remained Ismet Inéni, living in retirement

in Ankara.

s
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Unpublished

The Records of the Cabinet Office, 1920, 1921, and 1922.
The Public Record Office, London. '

By kind permission of H.M.S.0O. (Crown-copyright records are
quoted by permission of the Controller)

These were made available for inspection and photographic
reproduction in December 1966. The records which are relevant
to the Chanak crisis contain as well as the minutes of discussion
within the Cabinet all communications to and from the Cabinet,
e.g. Curzon’s telegrams from Paris, the Cabinet’s telegrams to
Harington and Rumbold in Constantinople, and their replies.
The records also contain all reports to the Cabinet, e.g. the
military appreciations of the Chiefs of Staff and the War Office,
the conclusions and recommendations of all Committees and
Sub-Committees and personal reports such as that of Churchill
and Wilson on their interview with Veniselos.

The Lloyd George papers.
The Daily Express Beaverbrook Library, London.
By kind permission of the Trustees.
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This collection, opened to historians in 1967, contains, in
addition to official documents and correspondence, Lloyd
George’s private letters and papers, for instance his letters to
Churchill and Veniselos and their replies. Quotations are by
permission of the Beaverbrook Newspapers Ltd.

The Dardanelles Sector Defence Force.

Report by Colonel Commandant D. I. Shuttleworth.

R.H.Q. the Queen’s Regiment (Royal Sussex), Chichester.

By kind permission of Major J. F. Ainsworth.

This is a detailed and lengthy report prepared by Shuttleworth
for Harington.

The Diary of Brigadier J. 8. Omond.

The R.A.O.C. Museum, Camberley.

By kind permission of Lieutenant-Colonel W. H. J. Gillow.
Omond was an indefatigable diarist who typed a foolscap sheet
a day describing his own part as an Ordnance Officer on both
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Shuttleworth, 245; views on
Kemal’s intentions, 245-6;
Kemal’s estimate of him, 247;
concerned for defence of
Constantinople, 250; request for
more troops, 252; ordered to
warn Kemal again, 254; gives
Marden permission to fire if
attacked, 259; cables
suggestions to avoid war, 261-2;
restrains Marden at Chanak, 271;
negotiates with Kemal, 274;
disagrees with Cabinet, 278;
receives further instructions,
279; receives Cabinet’s ultimatum,
281-2; in touch with Kemal,
289—9o; reply to Cabinet, 2g6-7;
Chiefs of Staff consider conduct
of, 298; arranges meeting with
Kemal at Mudania, 2g9; receives
instructions for, 2g9—300;
conducts Mudania negotiations,
303-18; smuggles Sultan out of
Constantinople, 333-4; negotiates
with Turks in Constantinople,
348; leaves Constantinople,
350~1; destroys his papers, 353;
subsequent career and death,
357-8

Harmsworth, Cecil, go

Hemingway, Ernest, 120, 318

Henderson, Nevile: deputy High
Commissioner, Constantinople,
130; opinion of Harington, 132;
opinion of High Commissioners,
133; decides to defend
Constantinople, 167-8; helps
Sultan leave Constantinople,
334; becomes Ambassador to
Turkey, 351

Hepburn, Captain, U.S.N., 171, 177

Heywood, Major T. G. G. (later
Colonel), 194, 305

Hoare, Sir Samuel, 328

Horne, Sir Robert, 113, 330, 358

Horton, Mr., 173

Hughes, Lieutenant-Colonel, 208

Hussein Kamal, 30

Inénii: first battle of, 115; second
battle of, 120

Inénd, Ismet; see Ismet Pasha

Ireland: Easter Rebellion, 108;
terrorism in, 122; truce signed
with, 135; Government of
Ireland Act, 136; troubles
continue, 237

Isaacs, Rufus; see Reading, Marquis
of

Istanbul; see Constantinople

Jellicoe, Admiral Lord, 21, 253, 360
Johnston, Major M. A. B., 194
Jonnart, Charles, 51

Kaiser Wilhelm II, 23, 34, 53

Kalogeropoulos, Greek Prime
Minister, 116, 229

Karaburun, 47

Karagatch, 313

Kars, 85

Kelly, Rear-Admiral, 98, 209, 244

Kemal, Mustapha (Kemal Ataturk): -
reputation at Gallipoli, 42;
without a job, §8; in Anatolia,
74; dismissed by Sultan, 75;
reputation grows, 76; establishes
H.Q.in Ankara, 79; agreement
with Russia, 85; denounced by
Sultan, gg; Turkish opinion turns
to, 100; position in 1920, 103;
character, 103; British consider
offers to, 141; at battle of
Sakarya river, 152—4; entitled
Ghazi, 154; enters Smyrna, 175;
his peace terms, 182; attitude to
neutral zone, 220-1; talks to
Pellé, 231; Allied Note to, 242;
his intentions, 246-7; delays
reply to Note, 248; military odds
lengthened against, 252; increases
pressure at Chanak, 26g9—70;
negotiates with Harrington, 274;
in contact with Harington,

375



280-go; decides not to attend at
Mudania, 304; separates Caliphate
from Sultanate, 332; dissolves
Turkish Assembly, 349;
subsequent career and death, 354

Kenworthy, Lieutenant-
Commander, 78

Kinross, Lord, 103, 152

Kitchener, Field Marshal Lord, 21,

49
Kondouriotis, Admiral, 49, 148, 355
Kondylis, General, 355

Lamb, Sir Harry, 147, 175

Lansbury, George, 238

Lausanne, Conference, 335—41,
3447, 349

Lausanne, Treaty of, 349

Law, Andrew Bonar: agreement
with Lloyd George, 61~2; attitude
to Constantinople question, 78;
attitude to new Greek Govern-
ment, go; resigns, through
ill-health, 113; letter to The
Times and Daily Express, 309-10;
decides to speak at Carlton Club,
322; speech at Carlton Club,
325-6; resigns as Prime Minister,
death, 356

League of Nations, 233, 242, 318

Lee, Lord, 180, 223, 330

Lemnos, Island of, 54~5

Lichnowsky, Prince, 36

Limpus, Admiral, 23, 27

Lloyd George, David: attitude to
Britain’s entry into war, 20;
character, g1; plans to help
Serbia, 43; replaces Asquith, 51;
member of Council of Four,
Versailles, 59; wins General
Election, 61; under spell of
Veniselos, 67; gives Smyrna to
Greeks, 67-8; debate on
Constantinople, 77-8; opinion of
Haig, 82; inclination to use
Greeks, 83—4; speech on Near
Eastern policy, 94-5;
political reputation declining,
107-8; isolated in foreign
policy, 110; plots against, 122;
Greeks still believe in, 123;
antipathy towards soldiers, 124;
Wilson’s opinion of, 125; spirits
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revive, 135; speaks on policy in
Cabinet, 145; dismisses Montagu,
161; meets Briand at Cannes,
162; attitude after capture of
Smyrna, 178-g; attitude to peace
treaties, 188—90; his optimism,
198; favours reinforcements,
212-13; telegram to Dominions,
215; method of government,
217-18; glamour fades, 227;
meeting with Morgenthau,
227-8; tries to win over Canada,
229~30; reputation suffers after
Genoa, 237; Honours scandal,
237-8; receives T.U.C.
deputation, 239-41; Kemal’s
view of, 246; resolute against
Turks, 247; puts Churchill in
charge of preparations for war,
248; on naval operations, 254;
prepared to ‘go it alone’, 255;
grows impatient, 258;
responsibility for ultimatum,
287-9; still supports Greeks, 302;
further orders to Harington, 315;
Conservatives’ opinion of, 319-20;
decides to face Conservatives,
g21; attitude before Carlton Club
meeting, 326; resigns, 327;
denies seeing Gounaris letter,
346; subsequent career and death,
358-60

London Conference, 116-20;

Treaty of, 6o

London Opinion, 299

MacDonald, Ramsay, 238
Mackenzie, Compton, 47, 48
Mackenzie King, 215-16, 230
Maclean, Sir Donald, 77, 90, 330
Mahon, General, 47
Maitland-Wilson,

Lieutenant-General Sir Henry, 57

Manchester Guardian, The, 120, 268
Manos, Aspasia; see Aspasia
Manos, Colonel, 85

Marden, Major-General T. O.:

inspects Greek army, 194-6;
takes command at Chanak, 251;
observes Turkish advance, 259;
command reinforced, 270;
restrains Shuttleworth at Chanak,
271; his difficulties, 272-3;




telegram to Harington, 315;
subsequent career and death.
358

Marshall, General Sir William, 56

Mazarakis, General, 314, 317

Mehmed V; see Sultan

Mehmed VI; see Sultan

Metaxas, Colonel (later General),
37, 38, 355

Milne, Admiral Sir Archibald
Berkeley, 26-8

Milne, General Sir George, 56, 81,
104, 106

Mombelli, General: commanding
Italian forces, Constantinople,
133; ordered to withdraw troops
from Chanak, 222; at Mudania,
304—18; at Constantinople, 348;
leaves Constantinople, 350

Mond, Sir Alfred, 139, 330

Montagu, Edwin: Secretary of
State for India, 109; concern for
Indian Moslems, 112; on special
Cabinet Committee, 138;
explains London Conference to
Indian Moslems, 140; concerned
for Prince of Wales in India,
157; publishes Viceroy’s telegram,
160; dismissed by Lloyd George,
161; death, 162

Montreux Convention, note, 340

Morgenthau, Henry, 24, 227-8,
264, 355

Morley, Lord, 20

Morning Post, The, 212

Moslems: as troops, 30; Cretan,
35-6; Indian representatives,
140; agitation in India and tele-
gram from Viceroy, 149;
opinion in India, War Office
assessment of, 159

Mudania: Curzon suggests Harington
should meet Kemal at, 236; in
Note, 242; Harington to meet
Kemal at, 299; negotiations at,
303-18

Mudros Agreement, 55

Murray, Gilbert, 40

Mussolini, Benito, 330, 336, 344

Mutessarif of Chanak, The, 199,
203, 204, 207

Nagara Point, 200, 251, 348

National Pact, 75

Navy: Royal, see Ships; Royal
Hellenic, g6

Naylor, Lieutenant, 2434

Nehru, Jawaharlal, 157

Neutral zone: delineation of, 191—2;
Kemal’s attitude to, 220-1;
Turkish cavalry cross boundary of,
242; attitude of Turkish officer
to, 244; size of, 260; Kemal’s
argument about, 278; ultimatum
to Turks in, 283; principle of,
297; at Ismid, 312

Newfoundland; se¢ Dominions

New Zealand; se¢ Dominions

Nicholas II, Tsar of Russia, 48

Nicolson, Harold: comments on
Veniselos at Versailles, 66; note
on career, 66; opinion of Smyrna
project, 68; at Lausanne, 336,
338, 344, 347

Nihad Rechad, 290-1, 310

Northcliffe, Lord, 62, 320

Nourredin Pasha, 71, 176

O’Connor, Rory, 165

O’Connor, T. P., 78

Orlando, Italian Prime Minister,
59, 68, 185

Othonaios, General, 342

Pangalos, General, 355

Papoulas, General: appointed
C.-in-C., Smyrna, 96; hopes to
destroy Turkish army, 151; at
battle of Sakarya river, 152-4;
resigns, 166; welcomes Marden,
195; blamed by Hajianestis, 341; .
gives evidence at trial of Prince
Andrew, 343

Paraskeropoulos, General, g6

Paul, Prince of Greece, 88

Pellé, General, 133, 168, 231

Philip, Prince of Greece, 344, 361

Pilsudski, 110

Plastiras, Colonel, 262, 266~7, 342,

355

Plumer, General Sir Herbert,
(later Field Marshal Lord),
126, 204, 207

Poincaré, Raymond: succeeds
Briand, 162; meeting with Lloyd
George, 211, talks with Curzon,

377



231-7; joint note to Ankara,
241-2; does not want to fight
Turks, 258; disagrees with British,
301; absent from Paris, 314

Polymenakos, General, 173

Price, J. Ward, 176, 182, 230-1,
299, 306, 318

Protopopodakis, Greek Finance
Minister, 340-2

R.AF,, 256

Rapallo Agreement, 237

Rauf Bey, 545

Rawlinson, Major, 164

Reading, Marquess of: appointed
Viceroy of India, 112; telegram
on Moslem agitation in India,
149; concerned for Prince of
Wales in India, 157; his telegram
about Indian opinion, 161"

Refet Bey, 331, 332, 348

Regiments: British—Buffs, 1st,
252, 299, 311; Coldstream
Guards, 3rd, 252, 270, 311, 348,
350; Duke of Wellington’s
Regiment, 1st, 252; Essex
Regiment, 2nd, 252, 299;
Gordon Highlanders, 1st, 81, 207,
218, 250, 271; Grenadier Guards,
2nd, 252, 270, 311, 348, 350;
Hampshire Regiment, 111;
Highland Light Infantry, 2nd,
251, 271, 348; Hussars, 3rd, 199,
201, 204, 207, 243, 259, 273;
Hussars, 20th, 73;
Irish Guards, 1st, 250, 299, 311,
348, 350; King’s Own
Scottish Borderers, 1st, 251, 271,
256; Loyal Regiment, 1st, 199,
202, 231, 250, 250;
Middlesex Regiment, grd, 56;
Nottinghamshire Yeomanry, 49;
Rifle Brigade, 2nd, 257, 270, 348;
Royal Corps of Signals, 163;
Royal Fusiliers, 2nd, 252, 270,
311; Royal Marine Light
Infantry, 11th, 252, 311; Royal
Sussex, 2nd, 207, 218, 250, 271;
Sherwood Foresters, 2nd, 251;
South Staffordshire, 1st, 252.
French—66th Regiment, 208;
148th Regiment, 57; Moroccan
Spahis, 1st, 208
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Reshid Bey, 54-5

Rhallis, Greek Prime Minister, 95

Ribot, Monsieur, 51

Robertson, General Sir William,
31-2, 46

Rothermere, Lord, 320

Rumbold, Sir Horace: High
Commissioner, Constantinople,
106; instructions from Curzon for,
181; agrees to defend Chanak,
193; receives F.O. instructions,
270; Harington consults with, 311;
telegram to F.O., g12-13; at
Lausanne, 336, 349; Ambassador
to Germany, 357; death, 358

Sadullah Bey, 54-5

Said Halim Pasha, 26

St, David’s, Lord, 264

St. Jean-de-Maurienne, Treaty of,
60, 68

Sakarya, River, 150, 152—4

Salahaddin Bey, General, 350

Salonika, 41, 45, 46, 49, 51, 54, 246

Samsun, 74

San Remo, Conference, 80

San Stefano, 57

Sarakamish, 30, 31

Sarracheli, 207, 243-4

Sarrail, General, 46-7, 49

Sarryanis, Colonel, 116, 148

Sassoon, Sir Philip, 113

Sazonov, Russian Foreign Minister,
42

Secret Treaties, 38

Sevres, Treaty of, 79-81, 92, 116,
185, 190

Sforza, Count Carlo: Italian
High Commissioner,
Constantinople, 56;
anti-Greek attitude, 105; at
London Conference, 11%; present
at talks between Curzon and
Poincaré, 231-6; signs joint
Allied Note to Ankara, 241-2

Ships: British—Agamemnon, H.M.S.,
54, 55, 187; djax, H.M.S,, 167,
171, 203; Antioch, 8.5., 172;
Benbow, H.M.S., 167, 252;
Braemar Castle, S.S., 256;
Calypso, H.M.S., 343; Cardiff,
H.M.S., 171; Carysfort, HM.S,,
315, 317; Centurion, H.M.S., 167;




Duncan, H.M.S., 50; Exmouth,
H.M.S., 50; Iron Duke, H.M.S.,
167, 171, 305, 313; King George V,
H.M.S,, 167, 171; Magira, S.S.,
172; Malaya, H.M.S., 334;
Marlborough, H.M.S., 167, 207;
Montrose, H.M.S., 251; Pegasus,
H.M.S., 207; Renown, HM.S.,
156. French—Edgar Quinet, 11,
Ernest Renan, 171; Jean Bart, 171,
Waldeck-Rousseau, 171.
German—ABreslau (later Midilli),
22—7; Goeben (later Sultan Yavuz
Selim), 22—7. Greek—Auveroff, g1,
171; Helle, 171; Kilkis, 171;

Lemnos, 171, Ttalian—Venezia, 171.

Turkish—Makouk, 134; Midilli,
27; Reshadieh, 24-5; Sultan
Osman, 24~5; Sultan Yavuz Selim,
27, 28, 190. United States—
Edsal, U.S.N., 171; Idaho, U.S.N.,
24; Lawrence, U.S.N., 171;
Litchfield, U.S.N., 171;
Mississippi, U.S.N., 24; Simpson,
US.N, 171

Shuttleworth, Colonel D. I.;
takes command at Chanak, 1g8;
builds up supplies, etc., 208;
his plans, 221; Ward Price sees,
231; in dilemma, 244; order from
Harington, 245; no reply from
Turks, 251; restrained by
Marden, 271; subsequent career
and death, 358

Simms-Marshall, Major, 305, 316

Slatin Pasha, 337

Smith, F. E. se¢ Birkenhead, Lord

Smith, Herbert, 135

Smuts, Jan, 216

Smyrna: offered to Veniselos, 37;
history of, 38; secretly offered to
Italy, 60; given to Veniselos,
67-8; Greek troops land at, 70;

disorder in, 70-2; effect on Turks,

74; Greeks refuse plebiscite on,
118; King Constantine sets up
H.Q. at, 138; Sir Harry Lamb
reports on, 147; Turks enter, 168;
burning of, 177; Turkish troops
in area of, 261

Sonnino, Italian Foreign Minister,
185

Sophie, Queen of Greece, 33, 50, 184

Souchon, Admiral, 22-6, 27, 28

South Africa; see Dominions

Stambolisky, Bulgarian leader, 347

Stamfordham, Lord, 253

Stavridi, Sir John, 139, 308-9

Steed, Wickham, 321

Stergiades: Greek High
Commissioner in Smyrna, 71;
views on situation in Smyrna, 147;
leaves Smyrna, 173; tried in
absentia, 343

Stevenson, Frances, 114, 123, 215,
319, 360

Straits, The: military and naval
situation at, 141; Turkish control
of, 189; public view of crisis over,
238; Daily Express backs freedom
of, 239; in Allied Note, 242;
Russian ships to be warned off,
255; traffic through settled at
Lausanne, 33g—40

Straits Commission, 339-40

Strategos, General, 3402

Stratos, Greek Minister of Interior,
3402

Suda Bay, 35

Sultan Mehmed V, 29

Sultan Mehmed VI: rage at Smyrna
landing, 73; dismisses Kemal, 75;
denounces Kemal, gg; position
in Constantantinople, 134; seeks
British protection, 3314

Sunday Express, 346

Sykes-Picot Agreement, 6o

Sylvester, A. J., 213, 327

Talaat: Young Turk leader, 29;
resigns as Grand Vizier, 54; .
exiled, 58; in Moscow, death, 102

Talbot, Commander, 343

Tewfik Bey, 305

Tewfik Pasha, 106, 116, 331, 332

Theotokis, Greek War Minister,

148, 3402

Thesiger, Captain, R.N., 174

Thomas, J. H., 135, 23g—41

Thrace: E. Thrace occupied by
Greeks, 84; Greek claims to, 117;
Curzon on E. Thrace, 233;
Poincaré on E. Thrace, 235;
Sforza on E. Thrace, 236;

Curzon refuses to concede, 236;
in Allied Note, 242; Turkish claim -
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to, 286; Ismet demands, 312;
Turkish gendarmerie in, 316;
evacuated by Greek army, 318;
occupied by Turkish army, 318
Tillet, Ben, 239—40

Times, The: reports on Crete, 35;
anti-Lloyd George, 62, 123; Sir
Edward Grey’s letter to, 238;
not pro-war, 268; Bonar Law’s
letter to, 309—10; criticises Lloyd
George, 320; comment on Lloyd
George’s resignation, 327
Toronto Daily Star, 120

Townshend, Major-General Sir
Charles, 54-5, 94, 281

Toynbee, Arnold, 120
Trades Union Congress, 239
Trenchard, Air Chief Marshal,

2489, 256, 261, 360
Trewby, Captain, R.N., 203
Trials, Greek, 340-3

Tricoupis, General, 170, 171
Troubridge, Rear-Admiral Sir

Ernest, 26, 28
Tsar Nicholas 11, 48
Tuchachevsky, General, 111

Veniselos, Eleftherios: background,

35~-6; becomes Prime Minister of
Greece, 36; Allied price for
Greek participation in war, 37;
accepts offer of Smyrna, 39;
admired by Grey, 41; offers help
to Allies, 41; resigns as Prime
Minister, 42; wins General
Election, 43; disagrees with
King, 44-5; asks Allies to land
at Salonika, 46; resigns, 46;

flees to Crete, 49; in Salonika,
49; received by King Alexander
as Prime Minister, 51; attitude
at Versailles, 65; Harold
Nicolson’s comments on, 66;
accepts Smyrna for Greece, 67-8;
orders inquiry into violence at
Smyrna, 71; supported by Lloyd
George, 83; attempted

assassination of, 85; relations with
King Alexander, 85,-6; calls
election, 88; defeated and goes
abroad, 8g; sees Stavridi, 139;
advice to Allies, 145; in London
as emissary of Colonels, 267;
article in Daily Express about,
308; replies to Daily Express,
310; at Lausanne, 336—47;
refuses to intervene in Greek
trials, 342; subsequent career and
death, 3556

Versailles, Peace Conference, 53-8,
60-1, 18g; Treaty of, 190

von Sanders, General Liman, 23,
56

Wales, Prince of; see Edward

Wangenheim, Baron, 25

Washington Naval Conference, 156

Webb, Rear-Admiral, 260

Wilhelm IT; see Kaiser

Williams, J. B., 239

Wilson, Field Marshal Sir Henry:
new C.1.G.S., 51; doubtful over
Smyrna project, 67; attitude to
occupation of Constantinople, 81;
comments on London Conference,
119-20; career and character,
124~5; Harington serves under,
126; assassinated 165

Wilson, President Woodrow:
enchanted by Veniselos, 35; at
Versailles, 54-9; failure of policy
and death, 1845

Wingate, General Sir Francis, 56

Worthington-Evans, Sir Laming,
139, 180, 191, 346, 357

Wrangel, General Baron, 110, 111,
197

Young Turks, The, 23, 29
Zaharoff, Sir Basil, 308

Zaimis, Prime Minister of Greece,
46, 48









continued from front flap

have been a calamitous war, but for
the wisdom and coolness of General
“Tim” Harrington, the commander-in-
chief at Constantinople.  Disobeying
orders, he risked his career and exercised
great skill and patience to bring the
Turks to a negotiated peace.

Using Cabinet papers and testimonies
of participants, David Walder brings
incisive historical scholarship to this
dramatic tale of international intrigue
and diplomatic bungling.
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the powerful playboys of Europe—an international caste
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